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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

FIDELITY INTERNATIONAL
CURRENCY ADVISOR A FUND, LLC,
by the Tax Matters Partrner,

Civil No.
05-40151-FDS
06-40130-FDS

Plaintiff,
v,
UNITED STATES of AMERICA,

Defendant.
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FIDELITY HIGH TECH ADVISOR
A FUND, LLC, by the Tax

Matters Partner,

Civil No.
06-40243-FDS
06-40244-FDS

Plaintiff,
v,
UNITED STATES of AMERICA,

Defendant.

R e g T ol g g

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

SAYLOR, J.

This 1s a dispute concerning two complex tax shelter transactions. The plaintiffs in these
consolidated actions are Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC and Fidelity High
Tech Advisor A Fund, LLC. The tax matters partner, and the principal taxpayer who invested in

and benefitted from the tax shelter transactions at issue, was Richard J. Egan.'

i

Richard Egan has since died, and his sons Michae! J. Egan and Jokn R. Egan, as co-executors of his
estate, have been substituted as tax matters partner.
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Richard Egan was one of the founders of EMC Ceorporation and the former ambassador to
Ireland. He entered into the tax shelter transactions to avoid large tax liabilities on the sale of
EMC stock and the exercise of non-gualified stock options. Together with his wife, Maurcen,
Richard Egan claimed a tax loss of $158.6 million in 2001, a further tax loss of $1.7 millien in
2002, and capital lesses of $167.1 million in 2002 as a result of their participation in the tax
shelter transactions.

The IRS disallowed the tax treatment claimed by the Egans and issued Fina! Parinership
Administrative Adjustments adjusting various partnership items and assessing accuracy-based
{ax penaities. This litigation followed.

The case was tried before the Court over 44 trial days beginning in late 2008, The Court
also received more than 3,700 exhibits, and heard extensive testimony from multiple expert
witnesses. For the reasons set forth below, the Court concludes that the parinership item
adiustments made by the IRS are correct, and accordingly will enter judgment for the United
States. The Courf also makes certain factual determinations that are relevant to the assessment of
accuracy-based penalties. The Court will not, however, address the assessment of specific tax

penalties in this proceeding, as it is without jurisdiction to do so.
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. INTRODRUCTION

A Summary of Facts

Richard J. Egan was one of the founders of EMC Corporation, a large, publicly-traded
manufacturer of computer storage devices. By the year 2000, Richard Egan and his wife
Maureen had amassed encrmous personal wealth, the great majority of which was in the form of
EMC stock.

The Egans were highly sophisticated taxpayers; Richard Egan was one of the most
suecessful businessmen in the history of the United States. His personal and family financial
affairs, including the management of his wealth and the payment of his taxes, cccupied an entire
organization of twenty or so employees, which included his three sons, at least two certified
public accountants, and a variety of other business and financial specialists. Richard and
Maureen Egan expressly delegated power over their tax affairs to their son Michael, and
explicitly and implicitly delegated authority for those matters throughout the family organization.

With the Egans’ wealth and income came potentially large tax [iabilities. As of 2000, the
Egans beneficially owned approximately 25 million shares of EMC stock. At its peak in
Septermber 2000, EMC shares traded at more than 5100 per share. Because the Egans’ basis in
those shares was extremely small—approximately two cents per share—the szle of any
substantial portion of that stock would have produced huge capital gains, subject to a long-term
capital gains fax &t a rate of 20%.

In addition, the Egans owned non-qualified options to purchase more than 8 million
shares of EMC stock at very low strike prices. The exercise of those options would generate
large amounts of ordinary income, subject to taxes at 2 marginal rate that approached 40%.

In early 2000, Richard Egan and his son Michael becaine interested in investing in tax
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shelters to avoid taxes on the capital gains and ordinary income that was likely to result from the
sale of EMC stock and the exercise of the options, With the assistance of an attorney from
Chicago named Stephanie Denby, the Egans interviewed several tax shelter promoters in May
2000. They eventually selected the large international accounting firm KPMG. Through KPMG,
the Egans were introduced to a small firm called Helios, which (with a related company called
Eiversified Group Intermational, or DGI) had designed a highly complex tax shelter transaction
that it was marketing to wealthy individuals.

The original tax shelter scheme invelved the contribution of both paired offsetting
options (in large notional amouats) and appreciated assets (such as EMC stock) to ar entity taxed
as a partnership. In simplified terms, the promoters claimed that the purchased option was an
asset, but that the sold option was not a iiability; the taxpayer thus supposedly contributed assets
to the partnership entity, but not liabilities, creating a grossly inflated basis in his interest in the
entity. The taxpayer’s interest would then be sold, and the taxpayer would claim that the inflated
basis (from the contribution of the options) “eliminated” any gain from the disposition of the
stock or other assets. Variations of the scheme were designed to create artificial losses to offset
oréinary income.

A significant feature of the scheme was the fact that four major law firms—including
Proskauer Rose and Brown & Wood, eventually Sidley Austin Browr & Wood—had been
recruited by the promoters to provide favorable opinion letters. The taxpayers were told in
advance that they could choose one of the four firms for their favorable opinior. The opinion
letters were in essence intended to serve as insurance against tax penalties should the IRS ever
discover the transactions, and thus to induce investors to invest in the tax shelfers.

By early August 2000, the Egans were on the brink of engaging in a transaction with
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KPMG and DGI/Helios that was designed to eliminate up to $200 million in capital gains by
artificially inflating basis, and were considering a follow-up transaction designed to create up to
$200 million in artificial losses to offset ordinary income.

In August 2000, the IRS issued Notice 2000-44. That notice directly attacked the types of
tax shelter schemes that the Egans were about to enter into, and stated that the IRS would not
recognize transactions of the type described in the Notice.

In the wake of Notice 2000-44, the promoters and their law firms concluded that it was
too risky to proceed with the ordinary income porton of the scheme in its present form. The
promoters and the Egans nonetheless pressed forward with the capital gains strategy, with 2
transaction designed to create $160 million in artificial basis. The strategy involved an
orchestrated series of steps that were principally conducted through Fidelity High Tech Advisor
A Fund, LIC. The essential steps of the transaction, other than the sale of the stock, were
completed by early 2001. Unfortunately for the Egans, however, the price of EMC stock
declined, to the point where they had created a purported “basis” of $160 million without
sufficient offsetiing assets to take advantage of it. The Egans accordingly decided to “stuff”
additional low-basis stock into Fidelity High Tech in an effort to use the artificial basis they had
created.

In the meantime, the Egans continued te speak with the promoters about a possible tax
shelter strategy for ordinary income from the exercise of the options. By early 2001, the
promoters had devised & new variation of the strategy that they called the “Financial Derivatives
Investment Strategy,” or FDIS. The FDIS strategy, among other things, generated paper “losses”

for taxpayers by assigning any offsetting “gains” offshore—to one of two Irish confederates of

the tax promoters {neither of whom, of course, filed U.8. tax returns).
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The Egans exercised their stock options at various peints in 2001, resulting in a gain of
$162.9 million. By early October 2001, the Egans had decided to use the FDIS strategy to shelter
that income from taxes. Like the prior transaction, the strategy involved an orchestrated series of
steps, this time through Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LL.C. The varicus steps
of the transaction were completed by the end of 2001.

The IRS, however, continued its efforts to crack down on tax shelters. In June
2002—before the Egans had filed their individual tax return for the year 2001—the IRS adopted
a temporary regulation that required the filing of & disclosure statement if a taxpayer had
participated in certain tax shelter transactions. KPMG, which was preparing the Egans’ return,
concluded that such a disclosure statement was required with the Egans’ retugm. Rather than
make the disclosure, however, the Egans fired KPMG and hired an accountant at ancther law
fimn—who was also a confederate of the promoters—to sign their returm.

Around the same time, and as promised by the promoters, the Egans received opinion
ietters from Proskeuer Rose (as to the Fidelity High Tech transaction) and Sidley Austin (as to
the Fidelity Intemational transaction) purporting to opine that it was “mmore likely than not” that
the proposed tax treatment would be upheld. The Egans alsc received a separate letter from

roskauer Rose opining that the disclosure insisted upon by KPMG was not required.

The Fidelity International transaction resulted in the creation of artificial “losses™ of
$158.6 million in 2001, which the Egans used to offset the ordinary income of $162.9 million
from the option exercise on their 2001 income tax return that year. The disclosure statement that
was prepared by KPMG, and never filed, stated that “expected reduction in federal income tax
liability” from the Fidelity International transaction was $65.5 million. The Egans also claimed a

loss of 1.7 million from Fidelity Intemational on their 2002 tax return.
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The Egans sold all of the stock in Fidelity High Tech in 2602, for $76.2 million in
proceeds. The real basis for that stock was $8.7 million; the inflated claimed basis was more
than $163 million. Instead of reporting a capital gain of $67.4 million from the sale of that stock
for 2002, the Egans reported & huge loss.

The IRS eventually learned of the scheme, and disallowed the treatment of the transaction
on the various partnership returns on multiple grounds.

B. Summary of Legal Conclusions

In substance, plaintiffs Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International seek to overtum the
various adjustments made by the IRS to items on the partnership tax returns. The principal
arguimernt advanced by the government in response is premised on the economic substance
doctrine, sometimes referred to as the sham transaction doctrine.

A fundamental principle of tax law is that transactions without economic substance, or
sham transactions, wiil not be recognized. The precise contours of the economic substance
doctrine have not been set, and vary from circuit to circuit. Nonetheless, it is clear that courts are
required to consider the substance of a transaction, rather than its mere form, in considering the
tax effect to be given to it. In making that determination, courts normally are required to
consider twe aspects of a transaction: the subjective purpose of the taxpayer (that is, whether the
taxpayver actuelly had a non-tax business purpose for entering into the transaction) and the
objective purpose of the transaction (that is, whether the transaction, obiectively viewed, had a
reascnable possibility of profit or other business benefit).

Here, the Egans claim that the principal purpose of the transactions, viewed objectively,
was to serve as a hedge: to mitigate the risk of a decline in the price of EMC stock (in the case of

the Fidelity High Tech transaction) or t¢ mitigate the risk of fluctuating interest rates or foreign
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currency values (in the case of the Fidelity International transaction). From an objective
standpoint, however, the transactions were entirely irrational; they were unnecessarily and
extravagantly expensive, and did not hedge the purported risks effectively (or at afl). The Egans
also appear to claim that the transactions were entered into for profit. If so, they were alse
irrational for that purpose; the transactions were designed and intended to lose money, and in fact
did so.

The objective features of the transactions were irrational because, of course, the Egans
subjectively had no actual business purpose for entering into them. None of the participants in
these complex transactions believed that they were real business transactions, with any purpose
other than tex avoidance. Indeed, it is highly doubtful that any participant believed, even fora
minute, that the fransactions would withstand legal scrutiny if discovered. No one with the
stightest understanding of the tax laws could reascnably believe that $16C million in basis could
be created out of thin air, or that $160 million in income could be made to vanish in a puff of
smoke. In accordance with that belief] the Egans and their advisors went to great lengths to try to
ensurs that the IRS would never find cut about the transactions—including, among otker things,
the filing of partnership and individual tax returns with multiple false and misleading entries.

Th@ Egars conterd that their subjective intentions are irrelevant. In substance, they
contend that as long as the transactions were not fictitious—that is, as long as the entities existed,
the money was transferred, and the options were purchased and sold—the economic substance
doctrine does not apply. But the transactions at issue were “real” only in the sense that a
performance by actors on stage is “real.” The actors are real human beings, and the stage sets are
made of real wood and real paint. But the actors are reading from a script. No one watching

“Macbeth” believes that they are witnessing the murder of a Scottish king, and the actors do not
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believe it either. Here, too, the participants were simply following a seript—a script that had
little or no connection to any underlying business or economic reality.

The Egens also make a number of technical arguments, all of which assume that the
fransactions were real and should be respected. The linchpin of the scheme from a technical
standpoint was 2 potential anomaly in the tax code: under a line of cases interpreting Section
752, & purchased option is an asset, but a sold option is only a contingent liability. The Egans
thus take the position that a taxpayer can purchase offsetting options and contribute them to a
partnership entity, and thereby contribute an asset but not & liability. From there, it is but a few
steps to use the “asset” to inflate the basis of the partner’s interest in the entity. If the tax system
depended entirely on form over substance, the argument might well pass muster.

But tax liabilities are not so easy to dodge. It would be absurd to consider offsetting
options—purchased and sold at the same time, and with the same counterpartics——as separate
items, and to act as if the one item existed and the other did net. That is particularly true where
(as here) the individual option positions were gigantic, and might bankrupt the taxpayer or the
options dealer if no offset were in place.

The Egans also point to the longstanding principie that it is perfectly legitimate to arrange
one’s affairs so as to pay as low a tax bill as possible. That assertion is true, as far as it goes. It
is entirely appropriate, for example, for a taxpayer to decide to buy a house rather than to rent, in
crder to tzke advantage of the many tax advantages of home ownership. A taxpayer may buy a
house with a mortgage in crder to take advantage of the deductibility of mortgage interest. Rut a
taxpayer cannot undertake phony or meaningless transactions and claim a tax advantage; he
cannot, for example, lend money to himself, pay “interest” on the loan, ard claim the interest

deduction. If the tax laws permitted such a result, they would be nensensical, and anyone who
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paid taxes would be a fool. The tax laws are neither so simple nor so easily evaded.

Finally, the Egans claim that they relied in good faith on formal legal opinions issued by
Proskauer Rose and Sidley Austin, two highly prominent law firms. It is true that both firms
issued opinions to the Egans. And it is true that both firms opined that it was more likely than
not that thelir tax treatment of the transactions would be upheld.

But those opinions, too, were just additional acts of stagecraft. The lawyers were not in
the slightest rendering independent advice; the promoters of the tax shelters had arranged
favorable opinions from those firms well in advance, and as part of their marketing strategy.
Indeed, the promoters (not the Egans) paid the law firms’ fees. More fundamentally, the
opinions were themselves fraudulent: they were premised on purported “facts” that the Egans
and the law firms knew were false, and reached conclusions that everyone involved knew could
not possibly be correct. The opinions had but one purpose: to serve a5 a form of insurance
against the imposition of penalties if the transactions were ever to come to light.

The claim of good faith reliance on counsel ts thus wholly without merit. The Egans
knew that the opinion letters were simply part of the tax shelter scheme, and did not fora
moment belicve that they were receiving independent legal advice after a full disclosure of all
underlving facts.

In short, the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International transactions were complete
shams, without any economic substance of any kind. For that reason, and for the other reascns
set forth below, the transactions should not be recognized, and the adjustments made by the IRS
will be upheld.

i, NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

These consclidated cases were brought by Richard J. Egan pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 6226
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te challenge adjustments made by the Internal Revenue Service to tax returns filed by Fidelity
High Tech Advisor A Fund, LLC and Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC for
their 2001 and 2002 tax years. Richard Egan brought the matters in his capacity as tax matters
pariner and notice partner of both entities. See 26 U.S.C. § 6226(a). The IRS’s adiustments were
set forth in various notices of Final Partnership Administrative Adjustment (“FPAAS”™), issued in
2005 and 2006. Plaintiffs calculated the taxes due by reason of those adjustments and made
deposits of those amounts with the IRS. Plaintiffs then filed these actions t¢ obtain a refund of
the deposits.

Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International are limited liability companies (“TLLCs™}.
As LLCs, they are treated as partnerships for federal income tax purposes. See Treas. Reg.

§ 301.7701-2(a). Partnerships are “flow-through™ entities and are not subiect to an entity-level
tax, although they must file annual informational returns (Forms 1G65) reporting various items.
26 1J.8.C. §§ 701, 6031(a). Tax liability on a partnership’s income is calculated and imposed at
the partner level. Accordingly, Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity Infermational did not pay federal
income tax on their income; instead, they allocated their income among their partners.

This Court has jurisdiction to determine all partnership items of Fidelity High Tech and
Fidelity International that were raised in the FPAAs. See 26 U.S.C. §§ €221 and 6226(f). Unlike
other judicial tex proceedings, such a decision does not determine the amount of tax owed by a
taxpayer or the amount of any refund of tax due to a taxpayer. Instead, the determination of
parimership items in a case such as this is in the nature of a declaratory judgment. This
proceeding determines the nature or amount of partnership items, and those determinations are
then applied uniformly in subsequent, separate, partner-level proceedings to determine each
pariner’s separate tax Hability. 26 U.S.C. § 6231(a}5), (6).
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Although this proceeding generally addresses partnership-level items, not partner-level
matters, it does not mean that the treatment of the two transactions on the Egens’ individual tax
returns is irrelevant. To the contrary, the goal of the entire enterprise was to minimize the tax
ligbility of Richard and Maureen Egan, and the tax shelter scheme included the making of false
entries on the Egans’ individual tax returns in order to minimize the risk of audit and detection.
The tax returns of the Egans are therefore discussed at some length in this opinion, although no
adjustments to those individual retums, and no penalty assessments, are made in this proceeding.

In summeary, and for the reasons stated below, the Court will uphold the administrative
adiustments made by the IRS as to the nature of the partnerships and the relevant transactions.
Among other things, the Court concludes that {1) the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity
International transactions lacked economic substance; (2) that Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity
International were sham parinerships, and should be disregarded for federal income tax purposes;
(3) that Samuel Mahoney, the Irish citizen who was a purported “partner” in Fidelity
Interrational, was not in fact & true partner; and (4) that the offsetting opticns pairs should be
ireated as a single position for federal income tax purposes. The Court also males certain
partnership-level factual determinations that are potentially relevant in connection with the
imposition of accuracy-related penalties by the IRS. In this partnership-ievel proceeding,
however, this Court is without jurisdiction to determine whether any undernayment of tax
resulting from the adjustments at issue is subjéct to one or more accuracy-related penalties under
26 U.S.C. § 6662. See 26 U.8.C. § 6226(1).

For the sake of convenience, the Court will use the following terms, unless the context
indicates otherwise:

“Fidelity High Tech” means Fidelity High Tech Advisor A Fund, LLC.
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“Fidelity International” means Fidelity Intemational Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC.

“The Egans” means Richard and Maurcen Egan and their son Michael, when acting on

their behalf under a power of attomey or otherwise as their agent or representative.

I, FINDINGS OF FACT

AL Jurisdictional Facts
i. Fidelitv High Tech
1. Fidelity High Tech Adviser A Fund, LLC (“Fidelity High Tech”) timely filed its

U.S. Return of Partnership Income (Form 1065) with the IRS for its December 21,
2001 tax year by mailing it on April 15, 2002. (Id).

Fidelity High Tech timely filed its tax return with the IRS for its December 31,
2002 tax year by mailing it on April 15, 2003, (Jd).

At the time he filed these actions, Richard Egan was the Tax Matters Partner
(“TMP™) of Fidelity High Tech for its 2001 and 2002 tax years. (Ex. 108).
Richard Egan was the authorized and proper party 1o bring the Fidelity High Tech
cases under section §226(a). (Id).

As a notice partner of Fidelity High Tech, Richard Egan was the authorized and
proper party to bring the Fidelity High Tech cases under section 6226(b). (J4.).
On October 11, 2006, the IRS sent a Notice of Beginning of Administrative
Proceeding (“WBAP”) to the TMP of Fidelity High Tech with respect to its
December 31, 2002 tax year., (I4.).

On October 13, 2006, the IRS mailed a Notice of Final Partrership Administrative
Adjustment (“FPAA”) to the TMP of Fidelity High Tech with respect to its
December 21, 2001 tax return. (Jd).
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i4.

I6.

On October 13, 2006, the IRS mailed an FPAA to the TMP of Fidelity High Tech
with respect to its December 31, 2002 tax return, (Jd.).

On November 13, 2006, Richard Egan timely filed 2 complaint with respect to
Fidelity High Tech's December 21, 2001 tax year pursuant to section 6226. (Id.).
On November 13, 2006, Richard Egan timely filed a complaint with respect to
Fidelity High Tech’s December 31, 2002 tax year pursuant to section €226, {Id).
Prior to filing the complaint in the Fidelity High Tech cases, Richard Egan
deposited $13.6 million with the IRS. (Jd.).

At the time the complaints in the Fidelity High Tech cases were filed, Fidelity
High Tech’s principal place of business was located in Westberough,
Massachusstts. (Id.).

Fidelity International

Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC (“Fidelity International™)
timely filed its tax return with the IRS for its 2007 tax year by mailing it on April
15,2002, (Id).

Fidelity International timely filed its tax return with the IRS for its 2002 tax year
by mailing it on April 15, 2003, (/d).

Richard Egan was the TMP of Fidelity International for the 2001 and 2002 tax
years. (id.).

In his capacity as both the TMP and a notice partner of Fidelity International,
Richard Egan was the authorized and proper party to bring the Fidelity
International cases under section 6226(a) and (b). (I4d.).

On April 6, 2603, the IRS mailed an FPAA with respect to Fidelity International’s
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2001 tax return to the TMP of FICA A Fund. (J4).

18.  On September 1, 2003, Richard Egan timely filed a complaint with respect to
Fidelity International’s 2001 tex year. (Id.).

19. On April 26, 2006, the IRS mailed an FPAA to the TMP of Fidelity International
with respect to its 2002 tax return. (Ex. 265).

20, On June 30, 2006, Richard Egan timely filed a complaint with respect to Fidelity
International’s 2002 tax year. (Ex. 108).

21.  Prior to filing the complaints in the Fidelity Internaticnal cases, Richard Egan
deposited $62,600,000 with the IRS (362,100,000 for its 2001 tax year and
$300,000 for its 2002 tax year). (Id).

22, At the times that the complaints in the Fidelity International cases were filed,
Fidelity Intemational’s principal place of busiress was located in Westborough,
Massachusetts. (/).

23.  Richard J. Egan died on August 28, 2009, (Docket # 513).

24.  Michael J. Egan ard John R. Egan, as co-executors of the estate of Richard J.
Egan, have been substituted as plaintiffs for Richard J. Egan. (Docket# 513).

EMC. the Ecans, and Related Parties

1. EMC znd Richard Egan

25. EMC Corporation is a large, publicly-traded corporation headquartered in
Hopkinton, Massachusetts. It develops and sells, among other things, data storage
and retrieval technelogy and products. In 2000, it had revenues of more then $8.8
billior and more than 24,000 employees. (Ex. 108; Ex, 788).

26.  Richard Egan co-founded EMC in 1979, (Ex. 108).
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27.

2&.

29.

32.

(OB
L

33.

Richard Egan held the position of Chief Executive Cfficer from the founding of
EMC untii 1992, (R. Egan, 1:111-12).

Richard Egan was the Chairman of the Board of Directors of EMC from January
1988 unti! January 17, 2001, when he was named Chairman Emerituos. (Ex. 108).
Richard Egan resigned as Chairman Emeritus of EMC on September 10, 2001.
(Id).

Richard Egan served as the U.S. Ambassador to Ireland from September 16, 2001,
until January 31, 2603. (Jd).

EMC had its initial public stock offering, and became 2 publicly-traded company,
in 1986. (R. Egan, 11110, Exs. 108, 788).

Prior to EMC’s first public offering, Richard Egan owned approximately 70% of
ihe stock of EMC. (R. Egan, 1:110). All, or almost all, of the EMC stock that the
Egan family owned at the beginning of 2000 was unregistered founders stock.

(id at 2:13; Denby, 28:42).

The number of EMC shares held by Richard Egan grew over time due to multiple
stock splits. (R. Egan, 2:25-30}.

As of September 7, 2001, Richard and Maureen Egan beneficially owned
approximately 25 million shares of EMC stock. (Ex. 108). As of January 1,
2001, Richard and Maureen Egan alsc owned fully-vested options to purchase
8,320,600 shares of EMC stock at relatively low strike prices. (Ex. 1414}
Richard and Maureen Egan were subject to varicus restrictions on the sale of their
stock, inclading SEC rules and EMC policies that restricted stock trades to certain

windows of time. (Exs. 21, 22, 326).

36



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 31 of 357

37.

38.

39.

40.

I
o

44,

45.

On August 28, 2009, after the trial of this matter, Richard Egan died. (Bocket #
507).

The Egan Family

Richard and Maureen Egan were married. (R. Egan, 1:107-08).

The Egans had three sons, Michae!, John (also known as “Jack™) and Christopher,
and two daughters, all of whom were adults at the relevant times. (I, at 1:108).
Richard Egan was a resident of Massachusetts. (Jd at 1:107).

During the relevant years, Maureen Egan ¢laimed residency in Floride, although
the couple was not legally separated. (/d. at 1:108; M. Egan, 5:47).

Maureen Egan was a director of EMC from March 1993 until she resigned
effective January 17, 2001. (Ex. 108).

Carruth Management and Subsidiaries

The appreciation in the price of EMC stock in the 1990's rapidly increased the
Egan family’s weelth. (R. Egan, 2:28; M. Egan, 3:36, 44),

In the early 1990's, Richard Egan formed a “family office” to manage his wealth,
make investments, and handle personal administrative matters. (Ex. 108; R.
Egan, 2:26-30).

Michael Egan, who previously had worked at EMC, began working full-time at
the family office in approximately 1992, (M. Egan, 5:29, 36). Jack Egan and
Christopher Egan also began working for the family office in the 1990's. {Id at
5:78-79).

In the 1990', the Egan family office began to operate under the name Carruth

Management. (/4. at 5:26).
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46,

47.

48,

49,

50.

51.

52,

53.

Carruth Management LLC was formed in Delaware in 1997, (Ex. 120). itis
[ocated in Westborough, Massachusetts. (M. Egan, 5:26). Carruth is owned in
equal parts by Michael, Jack, and Christopher Egan. (Exs. 120, 108).

Michael Egan is the Chief Executive Officer of Carruth Management, During the
relevant time, he had general authority to invest and manage Egan family assets.
(R. Egan, 2:31, 39, 50).

In 2000-2001, the Egan family’s investments consisted principally of the
following asset classes: EMC stock and options; commercial real estate; publicly-
traded stocks and other securities; and private equity investments. (Exs. 73, 120,
261).

Christopher Egan larpely handled real estate investments for Carruth, and Jack
Egan largely handled venture capital and private equity investments. (M. Egan,
5:78-79; Ex. 120).

Carruth Partners is a wholly owned subsidiary of Carruth Management, (M.
Egan, 5:79). Carruth Partmers was used to control the commercial real estate that
the Egans owned. (Jd.; Ex. 120).

Carruth Associates LLC was formed in Delaware in 2000, and is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Carruth Management. (Ex. 120).

During the period from 2001 to 2003, Carruth Associates hed approximately
twenty employees. (Reiss, 26:119).

The following persons were employees of Carruth Associates during the relevant
time:

(a) James Reiss was the Chief Firancial Gfficer of Carruth Associates. (74 at

32



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 33 of 357

34,

55.

)

()

(@

(©

&

26:112; Ex. 120). He has been a certified public accountant since [989.
(Reiss, 26:114). He joined the Egan family office in 1996, (/d. at 26:117).
Patrick Shea was the Chief Operating Oificer of Carruth Associates.
{Shes, 14:91; Ex. 120). He has been 2 certified public accountant since
1981, {Shea, 14:91). He joined Carruth on June 26, 2000. (Jd at 14:91,
15:128). Ameng other things, Shea was the supervisor of the tax and
accounting group at Carruth. (Id at 14:92).

Melissa Seaver was the Senior Tex Manager of Carruth Associates. She
joined Carruth in July 2001, (Seaver, 25:116, 120). She hasbeen a
certified public accountant since 1999, (/4 at 25:119).

Carclyn Fiddy was the Manager of Investments at Carruth Associates until
March 2002. (Calkins, 35:27-28).

Robin Calkins was an Investment Assistant at Carruth Assecciates m 2000.
In March 2002, when Fiddy left Carruth, Calkins became Manager of
Investments. {Id; Ex. 120).

David Heryy was the Director of Investments at Carruth Associates. He

joined Carruth in March 2001, (Henry, 4:106; Ex. 120).

In the peried from 2001 to 2003, Carruth was generally responsible for preparing

and reviewing tax returns for Richard and Maureen Egan and various Egan family

entities. (Seaver, 25:120-23).

Carruth also relied on cutside accountants and advisors for tax advice and

preparation of tax returns. {Seaver, 25:125; M. Egan, 5:67).

33



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 34 of 357

4, Burke, Warren Law Firm

56.  The law firm of Burke, Warren, MacKay & Serritella, P.C. 1s located in Chicago,
[llinois.

57.  Stephanie Denby was a partner of Burke, Warren. {Denby, 28:8-9). Richarc and
Maureen Egan became clients of Denby in 1994, when she was hired by Michael
Epan to assist them with estate planning. {Id. at 28:10-11; R. Egan, 2:54).

The Tax Promoters and their Associates

I. The Diversified Group Incorporated
58.  The Diversified Group Incorporated (“DGI”) was a self-described “boutique

merchant banking firm” based in New York that, among cther things, designed
and marketed tax shelter products. (Ex. 811).

59. James Haber was the President of DGL (Jd).

60, Orrin Tilevitz was Vice-President and Generai Counsel of DGI. (Id)).

61.  Mox Tan was a Managing Director of DGI based in Chicago., {Jd).

62.  Philip L. Kampf, Jr., was a Managing Director of DGI based in Chicago. (Id).

2. Helics Fipanecial LEC

63.  Helios Financial, LLC was also a self-described “boutique merchant banking
firm” based in Chicago. (Ex. 28). Helios had a contractual relationship with DGI
under which, among other things, it marketed DGI tax shelter products and
assisted mn their development. (Ex. 400). As described by one colleague, James
Haber had two companies that ran “similar deals” because he had “different
partners.” (Ex. 29).

4. James Haber was the Managing Director of Helios. {Ex. 28).
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o)
L

Mox Tan and Phil Kampf were Principals of Heltos. ({d).

3. KPMG, LIEP

66. KPMG, LLP is a national accounting firm.

67.  John Schrier was a partner of KPMG. He was 2 member of KPMG’s “Innovative
Strategies Group” in the New York office. (Ex. 470).

6¢8.  Timothy Speiss was a partner of KPMG. He was 2 member of KPMG’s “Personal
Financial Planning” (“PFP”) group in the New York office. (Ex. 1684).

69.  Robert Prifti was a Senicr Manager in KPMG’s Boston office and weas a member
ofits PFP group. (Jd).

70. Brian Rivotto was a pariner in KPMG’s Boston office and was a member of its
PFP group. (Exs. 249, 658).

4. Alpha Consultants, L.L.C

71.  Alpha Consultants, 1.LC is a Florida limited ligbility company that, among other
things, conducted trades in options and foreign currencies. (Ex. 811).

72.  Ivan J. Ross was the managing member of Alpha. (Jd).

73.  Ronald Buesinger was a manager of Alpha. (Id).

3. Samuel Mahoney
74. Samuel Mahoney is a citizen of Ireland. He was a director and owner of

Biosphere Finance Limited, an Irish company, with offices in Dublin, Ireland.
(Mahoney Dep. at 4-5; Ex, 1012).

. Refeo Capital Markets Limited

75.  Refco Capital Markets Limited (“Refce™) was a dealer in options. (Ex. 108).
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7. Proskauer Rose, LLP

76.  Proskauer Rose, LLP (“Proskauer”) is & national law firm.

77. Ira Akselrad and Janet Korins were partners in the New York office of Proskauer,

78. Matthew Sabloff and Michae!l Swiader were associates in the New York office of
Proskauer.

#. Sidlev Austin Brown & Wood, LLP

79. Sidley Austin Brown & Wood, LLP (“Sidley”) is a national law firm. Sidley was
the result of 2 merger in May 2001 between Sidley Austin and Brown & Wood,
LLP (“Brown & Wood™).

80.  R.J. Ruble was a partner in the New Y ork office of Brown & Wood. He became a
pariner in Sidley in May 2001.

g, RSM McGladrev, Ine.

81.  RSM McGladrey, Inc. (“RSM”) is a national accounting firm.
82.  Ronald G. Wainwright, Jr., was Director of Tax Services in the Raleigh, North
Carolina, office of RSM MecGladrey. (Wainwright Dep. 1:27-28, 33-34),

The Egans’ Tax Problems

1. Low-Basis EMC Stock

83.

Ll

As aresult of the success of EMC Corporation, the value of its stock rose
encrmously from 1979 to 2000.

84.  The market price of EMC stock peaked in September 2000, when it traded at
more than $100 per share. (Ex. 108). As of that date, the Egans’ shares were
worth more than $2 billion. (Ex. 278).

85. The basis of Richard Egan’s shares of EMC was very low. For example, the EMC
36
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shares that were eventually sold as part of the Fidelity High Tech transaction had a
basis of $0.0208 per share. (Ex. 10).

86, In 2000 and 2001, EMC stock and options comprised the great majority of
Richard Egan’s wealth. (R. Egan. 2:14; M. Egan, 5:46; Ex. 278).

27.  The long-term capital gains {ax rate for high-income taxpayers was 20% in 2000
and 2001, Accordingiy, if Richard Egan had sold EMC stock for $150 million, he
would likely be subject to a long-term capital gains tax of approximately $30
million.

2. Non-Qualified Stock Onticns

28.  AsofJanuary 1, 2001, Richard and Maureen Egan owned fully-vested options to
purchase an additional 8,320,000 shares of EMC stock. (Ex. 1414).

89. The options had been granted in 1996 and 1957. (Exs. 325, 780, 751). The strike
prices varied, but ranged between approximately $1.15 and $3.05. (Exs. 325, 780,
761).

G0.  The options were “non-gualified options” within the meaning of the Internal
Revenue Code. (Shea, 15:72). As aresult, any gain from the exercise of those
options would result in income taxable at the ordinary income tax rate, rather than
at the lower long-term capital gains tax rate.

S1.  The highest marginal federal income tax rate in 2000 wes 39.6%, and in 2001 it
was 39.1%. For planning purposes, and to take other ‘axes intc account, the
Egans and their advisors assumed an effective tax rate on income from the
exercise of options of 40%-43.5%. (Exs. 471, 1034). Accordingly, if Richard

Egan had exercised non-gualified options producing a gain of $150 million, he
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would likely be subject to tax on that gain of approximatety $60 million to $65.23
million.

92. As described above, Richard Egan became Ambassador {o Ireland on September
10, 2001, In order to become ambassador, it was necessary for Egan to resign as
chairman of EMC. (Ex. 751).

93.  The ron-qualified cptions held by Richard Egan would expire upon his
resignation from the board of EMC. {(/d).

The Belegation of Authority for Tax Affairs to Michael Egan and Carruth

94, During the relevant time, Michael Egan had primary responsibiiity for his parents’
tax affairs. That responsibility included the decision to invest in the tax shelters at
issue in this litigation, and the filing of the 2001 and 2002 individual income tax
returns of Richard and Maureen Egan, which he signed under & power of attorney.

(Exs. 8, 232).

5. On October 12, 2001, Richard Egan executed a power of aftorney granting
Micheel Egan broad authority, including authority as to his “tax matters.” (Ex.
1128).

96. On December 12, 2001, Maurcen Egan executed a power of attorney granfing
Michael Egan broad authority, including authority as to her “tax matters,” (Ex.
15).

G7. Richard Egan had knowledge of, and was involved in, the decision to invest in the

tax shelters at issue and the later filing of tax returns with the IRS, although he
delegated much of the responsibility, particularly the day-to-day responsibility, to

Michael Egan and employees of Carruth.
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8%.

99.

Maureen Egan had no role at all with regards to her tax affairs, which were
handied by her husband Richard and her son Michael. (Maur, Egan Dep. at 15-16,
59).

Employees of Carruth, acting at Michael Egan’s direction and pursuant to his
delegation, also exercised authority over the tax affairs of Richard and Mavreen
Egan to various degrees. James Reiss, the CFO, and (after June 2000) Patrick
Shea, the COG, had day-to~day responsibility at Carruth for the tax matters at

issue in this litigaticn.

. Farly Discussions Concerning Tax Shelters

100,

101.

102.

103,

By late April 2000, the Egan family and its advisors had begun discussing
possible strategies to minimize or eliminate taxes on the exercise of options and
sale of EMC shares. In particular, the Egans began considering tax strategies that
would generate an artificial step-up in basis to eliminate capital gains or the

creation of artificial losses to offset ordinary income.

The strategies they were considering, and that they eventually adopted, were tax

reduction strategies-——not investment sirategies that were intended to meke money,
or hedging strategies that were intended to reduce risk or preserve capital.

Fim Reiss of Carruth and attorney Stephanie Denby of the law firm Burke, Warren
took the early lead in exploring possible tax strategies and setting up meetings
with tax advisors and promoters.

On April 25, 2000, Reiss wrote to Denby that Michael Egan was “anticipating
unloading his father’s EMC shares at $140” per shere, and asked if she had a

“good lead on a transaction and insurance.” (Ex. 3568). The “transaction” he had
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in mind was one that would avoid taxes. (Denby, 28:71).

104, On April 27, 2000, Denby wrote a2 memorandum to Richard Egan regarding the
availability of “capital gains offset strategies.” (Id at 28:72; Ex. 3566). Denby
wrote:

There are several strategies still in play which through a
series of transactions will create for tax purposes a step-up
in basis or capital loss while transactions net cut as
economically neutral. The basis or loss could then be used
to offset capital gains upon the sale of EMC stock. These
transactions exploit instances in which the tax code has
inconsistent treatment for what is in effect offsetting
positions.

In 1958 we looked at several of these transactions. Similar
types of transactions are still available. The IRS is certainly
aware that these transactions are out there. They have
implemented new reporting requirements to try to stop
these transactions. To date new reporting requirements
have focused solely on C corporations. Although, they
could have easily applied similar restrictions to individuals,
they have failed to do so.

(Ex. 3566).
105, Inher April 27 memorandum, Denby alsc addressed the audit risks, as follows:

These transactions clearly take advantage of “loopholes.”
The reporting is consistent with tax law although the results
are unintended. The promoters will provide tax opinion
letters to avoid penalties if audited. it appears that there is
a very low chance that these transactions would ever be
picked up by the IRS. The promoters [ have talked to have
not had any audits. The reported tax cases for similar
transactions all involve € corporations. .. . There are
further steps that we can take to limit these risks. First,
some of the promoters limit use of the transactions to 5t0 7
clients. Therefore, they will only allow to be used in large
situations. Secondly, some of the transactions focus on
generating basis as opposed to capital loss. Basis is more
discrete [sic] and less likely I believe to cross the IRS radar
screen.
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(Id).
106.  In her April 27 memorandum, Denby also addressed the availability of penalty
insurance to further offset the risk of audit, as foliows:
We are simultaneously looking at the availability of
purchasing insurance to further offset risk in case of audit.
Initially, T was optimistic that this product will be available
for these type of transactions. However, as we are digging
deeper it appears that this is a less likely option. I do not
think that we will know whether insurance is available until
we are a little further down this path because insurance
cemparies will have to look at the {ax opinions before
making a final decision.

(Id.).

107, Finally, Denby balanced the possible tax savings from the strategies against the
cost and risk, as follows:

I think the risk of this transaction catching the IRS attention

is very low. At least for one of these transactions, the fees

invelved will be less than 25% of the petential tax Liability.
(Id).

108.  From the inception of their search for tax strategies, the Egans and their advisors
knew that these strategies were not normal business transactions and would likely
expose them to tax penalties if the transactions were ever discovered by the IRS.

109.  Before writing the April 27 memorandum, Denby had investigated the possibility
of obtaining insurance to cover any tax liability or tax penalty that might be
assessed if the transactions were disallowed,

[10. By e-mail dated April 19, 2000, with the subject line “income tax technigues,”

Denby wrote to Reiss regarding the availability of such insurance from an off-

shore entity:
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Il

112.

i14.

Today [ met with a representative of AIG on an unrelated
matter. They are underwriting tax habilities with & tax
opinion letter. ... The costis 10% of the tax exposure and
it also covers interest and penalties. This would suggest
that you go for it and the total cost would [be] lets estimate
10% of the tax exposure with no future risk. They are also
underwriting offshore so that you don’t have to worry about
a public policy bar to coverage for the penalties. If my
estimate of the costs is correct we could get the insurance
on one of these technicues, it would appear to be & 50%
home run {easy money -- maybe toc easy). We may need to
have structures in place before sales for some of the
techriques -- so let me know 1f you want e to get moving.
Do you have any particular techpiques in mind? Let me
know what vou think.

(Ex. 3595).

By e-mail dated May 2, 2000, Denby wrote tc Reiss as follows:
Marsh & MeclLennan does not issue insurance for
“transactions with no economic purpose other than the tax
benefits.” I think if we pursue this and get rejected, we
would be creating a bad trail. Accordingly, [ think this is
not something to pursue. Let me know if you agree.

{Denby, 28:69; Ex. 3600 (internal guotaticn marks in original}).

That same dey, Reiss replied by e-mail as follows:

They probably help insure “straight” transactions. What fun is
there to that? [ agree with your comment.

(Denby, 28:69; Ex. 3600 (internal quotation marks in criginal}).

After May 2, 2000, the Egans made no further attempt to acguire insurance for tax

tabilities or tax penalties.
The bill sent by Burke, Warren to the Egans for April 2000 for the work
performed by Denby includes entries for “reviewing possible income tax

strategies,” “exploring capital gains strategies,” and “capital loss strategies risk
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assessment insurance alternatives.” (Ex. 2802}, Tke bill for May 2000 includes
entries for “tax strategies, shelter legislation and insurance™ and “issues regarding
gains technigues,” (Ex 2803).

The “Short Option Strategy”

115, The record does not indicate who develeped the initial veriant of the tax sheiter
strategies at issue in this litigation. Nonetheless, by early 2000, KPMG,

DG/ Helios, and Alpha were working together (and with other firms) to develop,
market, and implement paired-option tax shelter strategies.

116. The basic strategy involved the use of offsetting short and long options that were
contributed to an entity taxed as a partnerskip, in which the taxpeyer took the
position that one leg of the options created a “loss” or a “step-up” in basis and the
other leg should be disregarded.

117. One of the keys to the tax shelter strategy was the general principle, set forth in
Helmer v. Comm v, 34 T.CM. (CCII) 727 (1975), that the claim of the holder of
an option against the grantor of an option 1s not a liability within the meaning of
section 752. The strategy took the position that when g taxpayer contributed
paired offsetting options to a partnership, the taxpayer contributed an asset but not
a ligbility.

118. DBy early 2000, KPMG was marketing the tax shelter strategy under the name
“Short Cption Strategy.” (Ex. 458).

119.  Variations of the strategy could funciion as a “gain eliminator” or 2 “loss

generator.” A “gain eliminator” would create an artificial step-up in basis to

.
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avolid capital gains taxes on the sale of appreciated property. A “loss generator”
would create an artificiel loss to offset capital gaing or ordinary 1ncome.

12C. For example, by e-mail dated July 14, 2000, Peter Prescott of KPMG sent james
Haber of DGI/Helios a “short summary of short options strategy variations.” (Ex.
464). The ¢c-mail summarized several variations on the “plain vanilla” strategy
that could be used to “increase”™ basis or generate 2 purporied “loss.” (J4).

121, By June 2000, KPMG had developed a PowerPoint presentation for the Short
Option Strategy for marketing to prospective clients. (Ex. 458). The PowerPoint
presentation showed how the strategy could offset capital gains from the sale of
appreciated property. (/d.).

122,  Animportant aspect of the Short Option Strategy was the preparation of
individual legal opinion letters for each taxpayer and each “investment.” {Ex.
426). A law firm would agree in advance to provide a favorable opinion letter
after the transaction was consummated, in order to induce the taxpayer/investor to
purchase the strategy and to serve as a form of insurance against tax penalties.

123.  Four law firms worked with DGI/Heltos and KPMG to develop and market the
strategy and to issue favorable opinions: Brown & Wooed (later Sidley Austin
Brown & Wood); Proskauer Rose; Bryan Cave; and Lord, Bissell & Brook.

124. KPMG and DGU/Helios used & “model opinton” from Brown & Wood to assist

them in marketing the Short Option Strategy. {Exs. 443, 132, 3565).

J—
[y
h

The fee paid by the tax payer/investor for the Short Option Strategy normally

included the cost of the opinion letter on the transactior, which was paid directly
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by DGI/Helios to the law firm. (Exs. 563, 1515, 2771).

126. Helios had a fee sharing arrangement with KPMG with respect to the Short
Cption Strategy. (Exs. 3231, 3232). Helios also had a fee sharing arrangement
with DGI and Alpha. (Exs. 1640, 2771).

127. The Short Option Strategy was marketed to dozens of taxpayers. (Ex. 532).

128,  As described below, the IRS issued a notice on August 11, 2000, that in
substance identified the Short Option Strategy as an abusive tax shelter. Four
days later, KPMG issued & directive to “stop marketing” the strategy. (Ex. 282).
KPMG partners continued, however, to work with DGI and Helics on new
vartations of the paired-option strafegies,

The Mav 2006 Mestings

T. The Mav 15, 2000 Meetings in New York

129,  In May 2000, Stephanie Denby helped set up a series of meetings in New York
City between the Egan Family and the law firm Jenkens & Giichrist (“J&G™) and
the accounting firms KPMG and Emst & Young LLP (“E&Y™) in order to explore
tax shelter strategies. (Denby, 28:63-64; Ex. 431).

130. By e-mail dated May 4, 2000, Denby wrote to Reiss that she had “hooked up”
with Steven Rosenthal, a tax partner at KPMG, (Denby, 28:83; Ex. 3228). Denby
had contacted Rosenthal at Reiss’s suggestion, and spoke with him about
“techniques in conjunction with the sale of EMC stock.” (Denby, 28:83).
Rosenthal cautioned that he was “very skeptical about these kinds of technigues,”

but “offered to look over any techniques [and} offer his risk assessment.” (Ex.
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131,

132.

3226). Benby did not pursue Rosenthal’s offer. (Denby, 28:84},
Cn May 4, 2000, Denby e-mailed Reiss concerning planned meetings with J&G
and E&Y. (Jd at 28:93; Ex. 3227). Denby wrote:

.. . the E&Y guys are very squirrelly. Iam having a hard

time geiting detail cut of them. They are very

proprietary. ...
(Ex. 3227).
On May 3, 2000, Denby sent the following e-mail to Reiss:

Have hecked up with the right person at KPMG {John

Schweiyer)[sic]. He is very knowledgeable about the

market. He has 2 trensactions that are interesting. I would

like to add him to the [May 15] event. Even if we do not

use his product he has a good knowledge of the range of

products cut there and a good critical eye for the pluses and

minuses. He would be 2 good special consultant. . .. This

is also heavy stuff so I hope we don’t have overload. . ..
(Ex. 3229).
By e-mail to Reiss dated May &, 2000, Denby confirmed that she had made a
tentative schedule for Richard Egan and Michael Egan to meet sequentially with
KPMG, J&G, and E&Y in New York on May 15, (Denby, 28:88; Ex. 3228).
Denby noted that the planned meeting with J&G would be “fairly short since they
are only talking about one strategy” and that “[iJhe KPMG meeting should be the
most informative since the presenter [John Schrier] is familiar with all these types
of strategies & is very helpful in risk assessment etc.” (Ex. 3228). Denby again
noted, “Tam having a hard time getting additional information from E&Y.” (Jd).

J&G required the Egans and their representatives to sign non-disclosure

agreements prior to the meeting at which they disclosed their tex sirategy. (Exs.
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137.

138.

139

432,438, 3552, 3554).
On May 11, 2000, KPMG sent Denby a copy of a2 PowerPoint presentation as
“nreparation material for your upcoming meeting.” (Ex. 131},
Before the planned meeting with J&G on May 13, 2000, J&G provided Denby
with a memorandum dated Aprii 2000, entitled “Tax Consequences of
Contribution of Option Spread to Partnership or Corporation,” that described its
tax strategy. (Denby, 28:92; Ex. 434).
On May 10, 2000, E&Y sent a fax to Denby outlining its “Perscnal Investment
Corporation Strategy.” (Denby, 28:96-97; Ex. 437).
On May 12, 2000, three days prior to the planned meetings in New York City,
Denby faxed Michael Egan charts that she had prepared outlining her analysis of
“each of the strategies” that were to be presented by J&G, KPMG, and E&Y.
{Denby, 28:62-63; Ex. 3551).
One of Denby’s charts was entitled “Jenkens & Gilchrist Step Up in Basis for
EMC Stock.” (Ex. 3551). Next to “Step 1,” Denby noted that the strategy was
implemented using “short and long currency positions which offset each other”
with “very limited downside risk.” (Id.). Next to “Step 2,” Denby noted that the
transaction “generates $100 million of basis [for Maureen Egan] when the
transaction is economically neutral.” (/d). Next to “Step 3,” Denby noted:

When options expire, [Maureen Egan] contributes LP units to

LLC. Transfer will allow 754 election. This ‘unleashes’ the basis

50 it can be applied against the sale of EMC stock.

(1d).
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140.

[41.

142,

[43.

144,

Another of Denby’s charts was entitled “KPMG Capital Gains Elimination
trategy.” (/d.). Denby noted the following in her May 12 cover letter:

The KPMG strategy involves creation of a lot of entities and

subsequent redemptions and liquidations. Therefore, the chart is

very confusing. However, these redemptions and liquidations

create the same type of tax inconsistency that cccurs in the Jenkens

& Gilchrist structure.
(Id.).
Another of Denby’s charts was entitled “Ernst & Young Deferral Strategy.” (Id).
Nextto “Step 3,” Denby noted “Capital gains triggered by sale of EMC stock
offset by investment ‘losses’ generated under Step 1.” (Jd).
On May 15, 2000, Richard Egan, Michael Egan, Reiss, and Denby met with
representatives of KPMG, 1&G, and E&Y in New York. (Ex. 3532; M. Egan,
6:112; Denby, 28:34; Reiss, 27:8-9).
Michael Egan and Denby testified that the Egans attended the meetings in New
York on May 15 because the Egans were locking for 2 new accounting firm to
replace O’ Connor & Drew, the [ocal accounting firm that they had been using.
(M. Egan, 5:72, 76, 6:112; Denby, 28:34),
In response to a guestion as to what was “the purpose of that trip” to New York on
May 15, Michael Egan testified:

As T understood it, we were -- I was looking for -- to

talk to other accounting firms, mors larger -- Big

Eight size accounting firms to understand if they

had ideas, they were qualified to be cur new lead

accountant.

(M. Egan, 5:72). He acknowledged that “tax planning was discussed” at the
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meetings. (/d. at 5:74). He said, however, that the KPMG presentation “wasn’t
that interesting” and “wasn’t really useful.” (Id at 5:83).
145. Richard Egan testified that he did not remember much about the May 15
meetings. (R. Egan, 2:47-48). He testified that he understoed he was included in
the meetings in order to “size up the people that Michac! was looking to learn
from or hire.” (Jd. at 2:47). He also testified that he did not recall that he and
Michael Egan, or anyone else at the family office, “ever talkfed] about taxes.”
{Id. at 2:55-56). He attributed his lack of memory to the fact that he kept excusing
himself from the meetings. (R. Egan, 2:48).
146, The Court does not find the testimony of Michae! Egan, Stephanie Denby, or
Richard Egan concerning the purpose of the May 15 meetings to be credible.
147.  The pwpose of the meetings in New York on May 15, 2000, was for the Egans
and their representatives to listen to presentations by J&G, E&Y, and KPMG
concerning tax avoidance strategies.
148, On May 16, 2000, the day after the meetings, Reiss sent the following e-mail to
Denby:
Dick [Egan] did tell Mike [Egan] on the trip back that he’d
rather have us help him make money than save it (i.e. [tax]
Reduction Strategies are not his cup of tea I guess). I'll
ping Mike more on this later in the week,

(Denby, 28:105; Ex. 3230).

146, On May 17, Denby sent the following e-mail: “Interesting. Keep me up to date if
there is anything more they want me to do on the reduction strategies.” (Denby,

28:105-06; Ex. 3562). Reiss then replied as follows:
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Mike’s comment to me today was “that may have been
what you heard but that’s not what he really said.” Dick
knows how to make money but may not know how to save
it. Le. we should keep pursuing cur options.

(Ex. 3562).

150, The bills sent by Burke, Warren to the Egans for May 2000 did not include any

reference to work performed to replace ’Connor & Drew. (Ex. 2803). For May

15, 2000, Denby billed the Egars 8.5 hours, which she described as “Meet with

client regarding loss strategies.” (/d). For May 16, 2000, Denby billed the Egans

3.5 hours, which she described as “Issues regarding reliance on opinion. Review

[Redacted].” (fd). For May 4, 2000, Greg Winters, an associate at Burke,

Warren, billed the Egans 5 hours, which he described as “draft memorandum to

Stephanie Denby regarding substantial understatement of tax penalty and tax
shelters.” (Id.).

Z. The Mavy 19. 2008 Meeting in Chicazgo

[51. During the presentation in New York City on May 15, 2000, John Schrier of
KPMG told Denby about Helios and recommended that she meet with them.

(Denby, 28:110; Ex. 3527). Although the details are unclear, it appears that

Schrier suggested Helios as a promoter of a more complex or sophisticated variant

of the Short Option Strategy.
152, OnMay 18, 2000, Denby sent the following e-mail to Jim Reiss:

I am meeting with [Helios] temorrow, [t sounds like a very similar
transaction to the [Jenkens] transaction. It uses Nasdag options. Itisa

more limited circulation. Brown & Weod supplies the opinion letter. The

letter will be more likely than not or possibly should be. The actual
options are more expensive. Between 2.5% tc 3.5%. After that the fee
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154,

component is priced similarly and subject to the same type of negotiation.
(Denby, 28:107; Ex. 3565.
Reiss responded to the May 18 e-mail as follows:
Company is called [Helios}? Is Brown & Wood reputable (should be
opinion is unusual)? No issue with corps aliowed into this sirategy?
I think we need to start to grid out the different products for concepts,
permanent, deferral, #/ types of entities, breakdown of fees, opinion letter,
compiiance, ete.
Let’s include info on KPMG Cption strategy as well.
(Ex. 3565).
On May 15, 2000, Denby met with Mox Tan of Helios in Chicago to discuss the
Helios tax strategy. (Denby, 28:109; Ex. 3527).
The proposed tax strategy involved the use of offsetting options on the NASDAG
100 Index Tracking Stock, which are also referred to as “QQQ” options, based on
their stock ticker symbol.
Immediately following her May 19 meeting with Tan, Denby sent an e-mail to
Michael Egan and Reiss with the subject line “Helios strategy.” (Denby, 28:109;
Ex. 3527). The e-mai! summarized what she had learned about Helios, includin
the fact that Helios had both a gain elimination strategy for capital gains stock and
a loss generation strategy for ordinary income. (Ex. 3527). She also proposed a
follow-up meeting with Helios in Boston:
As [ discussed with Jim [Reiss], Helios offers a very similar transaction to
the [Jenkens] & Gilchrist transaction. Helios is the group that KPMG
recommended. The foreign currency transaction can be used to offset
ordinary income on the sale of EMC options. They also offer a QQQ
strategy with Nasdaq options. This can only be used to offset capital gain

(not EMC options). I think the Helios will be a2 much more customized
solution compared to [Jenkens}. They have also limited distribution.
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157.

155.

Currently they have only done 12 foreign currency swaps. The QQQ
strategy 13 new so there have been none of these yet. The QQQ will only
be marketed to individuals. Some corps have done the fereign currency
swap. Jim [Reiss| thought you would be interested in meeting with them.
(Id).
On May 19, after the meeting with Denby, Mox Tar of Helios sent her 2 “form of
a tax opinion from Brown & Wood.” (Ex. 132). In the cover memorandum, Tan
wrote, “Although the opinion discusses an investment in foreign cuirency, the
analysis for the QQQ trade should be the same, with the exception of the [Internal
Revenue Code] Section 988 discussion.” {Jd.).
The Brown & Wood opinion sent by Tan was labeled as a “mode! opinion™ in
bold letters at the top, and stated that it was infended “for the purpose of
facilitating an analysis of the issues.” (/d.).
Patrick Shea received a copy of the model opinion after he joined Carruth in June
2600, on which he made handwritten notes. {Ex. 27¢8).

Shea’s notes on the model opinion include the following:

1. Business reason - hedge against drop in
EMC stock

2). Need to be 2 partnership for [Sectionl 721
[nonrecognition] of gain on transfer to partnership

3). Section 752 states short option not a
Hability, therefore, not a reduction in basis to

fund

4). No penalties under {Section] 6662 due to
reasonable basis for tax treatment

5). Reasonable assurance more likely than not
from attorneys
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162.

163.

{d).

Also on May 19, Reiss notified Michael Egan that Denby wanted them to meet
with Helios on May 25 “to discuss their tax reduction sirategy.” (Denby, 28:127-
28&; Reiss, 27:24-25; Ex. 442).

Benby’s Comparison of the Tax Strategies — Mav 2000

On May 22, 2000, Denby sent Retss a letter enciosing an outline for the proposed
Helios transaction, a summary “Comparison of Structures,” and a separate chart
for each of the E&Y, J&G, KPMG, and Helios strategies “that weigh[ed] the
advantages and disadvantages of the various capital loss techniques.” {Denby,
28:113; Ex. 3555).

In her May 22 outline of the Helios transaction, Denby noted the foliowing:

> Eliminates ordinary income and capital gains so strategy can be
used for both EMC stock options and EMC stock

> Can have third party purchase for step-up (I like this)
> Brown and Wood opinion letter
> Customize option penied to meet your business goals
> Have done 12 or so transactions
> Can do similar strategy with QQQ but will only work for EMC
stock (not options)
(Ex. 3555).

In each of the May 22 charts that Denby prepared for the E&Y, J&G, KPMG, and
Helios strategics, she rated and commented upon the strategies, noting a plus if
the transaction was a tax “elimination” strategy and & minus if the {ransaction was
only a tax “deferral” strategy. (Jd). For the “Helios Elimination Strategy,” she
noted that it “eliminates capital gzains and ordinary income s¢ can use for options

as well as stock.” (Jd.).
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165. Denby also rated and commented upon the length of time to implement the
strategies, noting a plus if the transaction time was shorter and a minus if the time
for completion of the implementation and receipt of the tax benefits was longer.
{({d.}. She gave a positive rating to the “Helios Elimination Strategy.” (Id.).

166. Denby also rated and commented with respect to the marner in which the tax loss
was generated, noting a plus if the transaction was “harder for [the] IRS to find”
and a minus if the fransaction was “casier” for the IRS to find. {/d). For the
“Helios Elimination Strategy,” she noted that it “will be structured as basis offset
so harder for IRS to find (other Helios deals done as loss offset).” {Jd.).

167. Denby also rated and commented with respect to their complexity, noting & plus if
the complexity of the structure made it harder for the IRS to “unwind” or “pick-
up” and a minus tf the simplicity of the structure made it easier for the IRS to
irace. (Id). For the “Helios Elimination Strategy,” she noted a concern that its
“simplicity of structure” might “make it easier for IRS to trace.” (/d).

168. Denby also rated and commented with respect to the breadth of the marketing of
each strategy, noting a plus if the transaction had “limited marketing” and a minus
if the transaction was “broadly marketed.” (Jd). For the “Helios Elimination
Strategy,” she noted as a positive that it had “limited marketing (expect no more
than 20ish [customers]).” (/d.).

169.  Denby alse rated and commented with respect to the profiered opinion letter,
noting a plus if the opinion was not issued directly by the marketing firm and a

minus if it was, ({d).
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170. Denby summarized her conclusions in a chart entitied “Comparison of
Structures,” in which she listed and compared the fees for the “instruments™ and
the “advisors.” All the strategies involved a fee based on a percentage of the size
of the transaction. (Id.).
171. Denby also specifically noted that the Helios strategy made it “{elasier to establish
business purpese” because it “can be used to hedge EMC stock depending on your
market view.” {Jd).
4. The May 25, 2000 Meeting in Massachusetts
172. By e-mail dated May 23, 2000, Reiss advised Jack Egan about the upcoming
meeting with Helios, stating:
I wanted te touch base with you to let you know we have recently
coordinated a meeting for a group cailed Helics to come in . . . to discuss
thelr tax reduction strategy. Stephanic Denby and I preliminarily itke what
this group has to offer. They even have a strategy for stock options as well
as straight stock.

(Reiss, 27:27; Ex. 442).

173.  The meeting with Helios was placed on the calendar for Michael Egan as a “Mtg.
w/ Helios, S. Denby & Jim to discuss tax reduction strategy.” (Ex. 447).

174. The meeting with Helios occuured at Carruth’s offices in Hopkinton,
Massachusetts, on May 25, 2000, (Exs. 427, 442). Michael Egan, Denby, and
Reiss attended the meeting for Carruth. (Denby, 28:133-34; Ex. 442),

175, On May 26, 2000, Denby sent Reiss an e-mail regarding the previous day’s

mecting and her discussions with Helios after the meeting concerning fees:

... after the meeting T discussed with Helios the fees. The fees are based
on a 3% rate. If KPMG were not involved Helios would just pocket a
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larger percentage. Since our connection came from KPMG, Helios would
pay them a referral fee anyway. I think at the same rate. So [their]
invelvement does not cost more but just results in reallocation of the base
fee. Iknow from other situations this reallocation occurs simply from
[our] getting the name [from] KPMG. We are in the wrong business!
(Denby, 28:134; Ex. 3232).
[76. Reiss responded by e-mail the same day, stating: “Mike [Egan] has some very
specific opinions about this. I like his thoughts on this though.” (Reiss, 35:82-83;
Ex. 3232).
177.  The bill sent by Burke, Warren to the Egans for May 2000 describes the work
performed by Denby on May 25 as, among other things, “Attend meeting

regarding capital loss strategies.” (Ex. 28G3).

Further Developments in July 2000

L. The July 10-13. 2000 Meetings in Chicaso

178, On July 10, 2000, Pat Shea (who had joined Carruth as COO on June 263, Jim
Reiss, and Stephanie Denby met to discuss the proposed Helios transaction. (£x.
3236).

179. At one or more times between July 11 and 13, 2000, Pat Shea, Jim Reiss,
Stephanie Denby, and a Burke, Warren attorney named Wayne Cooper met with
representatives of Helios in Chicago. (Jd; Exs. 3235, 3237}, James Haber, Phit
Kampf, and Mox Tan attended on behalf of Helios. (Ex. 3237}, The purpose of
the meetings with Helios was “to review the tax elimination strategies.” (Jd.).

180.  Shea tock handwritten notes on July 13 that he titled “Helios Dea! - Capital Gain
Reduction.” (Shea, 15:108; Ex. 2569). The notes were based on information

provided by Haber.
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181. Inhisnctes, Shea outlined the tentative steps of a capital gains reduction strategy,
including (1) “Dick [Egan] transfers stock to Maureen [Eganl”; (2) “Maureen
[Egan] creates an entity and buys option positions, either QQQ or foreign currency
options™; (3) Maureen Egan “holds the options for at east [4 days™; (4) “on day
15 [she] contribute[s] the EMC stock and the option position™ to Fidelity High
Tech “along with [a] second partner with exactly [thel same securities™; and (5)
“on day 31 [a] Helios entity buys [the securities] for FMV of EMC stock and
value of the options,” less a fee of 2.1%. (Ex. 25605).

182. Shea’s notes indicated that the “basis in the partnershup” would be the “long
position in the options . . . plus [the] basis in EMC stock (lew).” (Ex. 2569). He
also noted that the purperted “business purpose” would be a “hedge against [al
downward drop in EMC [stock?.” {(/d).

183. Shea’s notes also stated the following:

- shows as one line item on tax returns
- ¢clean transaction - not easily discovered
- easily reported

(Id).

184,  Under the heading “Risk,” Shea listed three items. First, he noted that any risk
that Helios would “not do [thel deal”™ was addressed by the fact that “they don’t
get paid until the deal is done.” Second, he noted that there was a risk that the
“IRS Twould] disallow” the transaction, in which case the Egans “[would be]
facing interest charges, [but] no penalfies, as we [would] have [a] legal opinion
letter.” Third, he noted that there would be risk of a “gain [or] loss on [the]

options and stock price fluctuations.” (Jd). Shea also noted that “we want
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186.

Maureen to do the transaction because there will be a capital gain here and we do
not want it subiect to [Massachusetts] taxes. (Id).

Shea also took notes on July 13 that he titled “Helios Ordinary Income
Reduction.” (Shea, 15:103; Ex. 496). Those notes detail a sequence of steps to
implement an ordinary income reduction strategy: {1) “Dick [Egan] exercises his
options NQO’s - personally or through special trust — transfers shares to
Maureen™; (2) “Helios & Alpha create an entity as a hedge fund”; (3) “Maureen's
entity purchases & foreign currency options position — 100m long — 98m short —
cost approx 2m — Maureen gets basis for 100m long position (cost of 2m)”; (4)
“Maureen holds for 30-90 days when partnership distributes foreign currency to
Maureen for her interest in the fund”; (5) “Maureen liquidates the foreign
currency to trigger the loss”; and (6) “Code Section 988 treats loss on foreign
currency as ordinary less.” {Ex. 496).

Shea noted that it was “risky that we have reporting entity EMC for opticns,”
which made it “hard to bury on the [tax] return.” (Id.). Shea firther noted that the
exercise of the options would be a “taxable reportable event by EMC” that would
result in the issuance to Richard Egan of a Form 1069 or W-2. (Jd.).

Shea also prepared typewritten notes dated July 13, 20660, (Ex. 3237). In those
notes, he described the planned roles and timing for implementation of the Helics
strategy as follows:

Their strategy involves using variots code sections and Egan and unrelated
entities to eliminate tax on stock and options.

[Helios] with KPMG will handle all filing and paperwork to effect the
transaction.
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Depending on size of transaction their fee is between 3-4% - seems we
have some negotiation room there

Timing -- need 2 weeks to hold stock -- 30-90 days in partnership is
recommended to show IRS business purpose -- transaction to be
completed in the same tax year. Point being -- if we want to do need te
consider windows for selling and timing for paperwork fo complete prior
to 12-31

We should get decision makers involved to understand the risk/rewards to
see if we want to do 1in 2000 or 2001 -- please advise

KPMG is involved with Helios in this transaction -- We discussed w/
them possibility of bundling their services to Carruth Management LLC. .
Will follow up w/ a meeting with john Schrier of KPMG - to discuss fees
and their services.

(id).

2. The Julv 18, 2080 Meeting with Heligs in Chicaso

188, A further meeting was scheduled with Helios in Chicage for July 18, 2000. (Shea,
15:64; Ex. 26).

189. Prior to the July 18 meeting, Denby prepared an updated analysis that inchuded
updated charts cutlining both the “Helios Capital Gain Strategy” for the EMC
stock and the “Helios Ordinary Income Strategy” for the options. {Denby, 28:146;
Ex. 3549). Denby also prepared a “Timeline and Fees Chart” and a “Comparison
of Structures” chart comparing the two Hellos transactions to the KPMG, J&G,
and E&Y products. (Ex. 3346). The “Comparison of Structures” table included 2
columm for the “tax reporting profile” of the various strategies; the Helios Capital
Gain Strategy profile was described as “extremely low,” and the others were

described as “visible.” ({d.).

Lh
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190. Denby noted that the “Capital Gains Elimination Strategy™ had “very clean
reporting on [the] tax return” so it would be “hard for [the] IRS to find.” (Id).

191.  The scheduled meeting with Helios was held in Chicago on July 18, 2000. (Shes,
15:64; Ex. 26). The participants at the meeting included Michael Egan, Pat Shea,
and Jim Reiss of Carruth; Stephanie Denby; John Schrier of KPMG; James Haber,
Mox Tan, and Phil Kampf of Helios; and Ivan Ross of Alpha. (Shea, 15:64; Ex.
26}.

192,  Atthe July 18 meeting, both Haber and Schrier made presentations about “tax
reduction strategies.” (Shea, 15:65-66).

193. Prior to the July 18 meeting, Shea prepared a typewritten list of guestions that he
wanted to discuss with Helios. (Jd. at 15:63; Ex. 471).

194, At the meeting, Shea wrote in, by hand, notes from the meeting with respect to his
guestions. {Shea, 15:67-68, 70-73; Ex. 26). Shea’s typewritten notes include the
following questions and corresponding notes as to the answers to his questions:

Q. Do you nave a narrative for various code sections that you rely on
and a description of the strategy other than a legal opinion?

He gave us case and Stephanie has draft legal opinion.

Do you have to register as a tax snelter?

No

How will we handle the reporting on the returns - can we run

through Schedule E to aveid a large loss on the face of 1040 -

would like to bury with other entities on Schedule E.

Schrier and KPMG to handle.

Does KPMG handle filing all entity returns - is that included in our

transaction fee or are there additional fees?
A. - included in the fee - they will file returns and structure the deal

OO N

o

Q. What is the chronclogy of the transactions? Do you have scme
sort of document detailing the chain of events and the timing of the
same?

A -They will walk us through and will go as fast as we want

&0
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196.

197.

Q. ‘What is the role of each?

Helios
Alpha
KPMG

A. [no handwriting]

Jo X

What mix of [nen-qualified options] and long term shares - it is
advantageous for us taxwise to use NQO’s because bigger tax
savings for us 40% vs. 20% - what about state impact - will state
follow fed rules here?

Mike [Egan]’s preference [is] to use shares as Dick [Egan] wants
io sell some now-

We need to confirm how EMC will report the option income to
Dick - W-2 or 1099 form.

Jim [Reiss] to push for answer

We need to decide the size of the transaction and the size of each
block - we need to get pricing from them reflecting the volume rate
and apply that to our blocks.

Looks like 230m -300m on stocks - maybe another 100m on NOO's
Michael will discuss with family to get amounts -

JoR VRN

S

(Ex. 26 (emphasis added)).

Thus, as of July 18, 2000, the Egans were considering entering into a capital gairs
elimination transaction of between $250-$300 million and possibly another $100
million for an ordinary income loss generater. (Jd.). The size of the transaction
had not, however, been determined, and following the July 18 meeting, Michael
Egan was to discuss the size of the investment in the proposed Helios tax
reduction strategy with his family. (Jd; Shea, 15:73}.

At the July 18 meeting, the parties discussed the fact that EMC might issue a
Form W-2 or 1099 to Richard Egan if he exercised his noncualified options,
reflecting the payment of ordinary income. (Shea, 15:74; Ex. 26).

At the July 18 meeting, the parties also discussed various ways that a large loss

might be disguised on the face of the Egans’ tax retum, such as reporting itona
€1
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Form 4797 (Foreign Currency Transaction) filed with a partnership retum.
(Denby, 29:147-150; Exs. 468, 3582).

198.  Shea also took handwritten notes of the July 18 meeting. (Ex. 468). Inthose
notes, he wrote, “how do we handle the [$]500,000,000 1099 form[?7” (Jd).

199, OnlJuly 19, 2000, Shea had a telephone conversation with John Schrier of KPMG.
{Ex. 472). Among other things, Shea and Schrier discussed a “short option”
strategy in order “to generate ordinary loss.” ({d).

20G.  The bill sent by Burke, Warren to the Egans for July 2000 include entries for work
on “tax deferred strategies, “capital loss strategy,” and “capital loss strategy
issues.” (Ex. 2806). There are no entries in those biils that refer to hedging or
investment strategies.

3. Carruth’s Due Diligence Concerning the Premoters

201,  On Jdly 19, 2000, Jim Reiss sent an e-mail fo Stephanie Denby and Pat Shea with
the subject line “Re: Elimination Strategy.” (Ex. 3238). Reiss reported that he
and Shea had met that afterncon with Richard Egan, and that “we got a lukewarm
response from him. He really wants us to do due diligence on Helios.” {Id).

202, OnmnJuly 20, 2000, Phil Kampf of Helios sent a fax to Shea responding to questions
about Helios. (Ex. 28). The fax included marketing materials about Helios that
included the following statement:

Because our transactions are “document intensive,” we view our
ability to firmly manage and control the process of getting two to
four sets of attorneys and accountants to expeditiousty reach the

desired conclusions as being one of our most valuable

confributions 1o our clients.

(Id.).
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203, OnJuly 21,2000, Shea wrote 2 memorandum entitled “Memo Re: Due Diligence
Helios Financial LLC.” {Sheea, 15:91-52; Ex. 29). In that memorandum, Shea
wrote that “before entering into a significant transaction with Helios as a
facilitator we wanted reascnable assurance they were experienced in transactions
of this size and could handle our deal.” (Ex. 29). The memorandum describes the
iue diligence conducted to date, (Jd). According to the memorandum, Schrier
told Shea that he had worked with Haber for several years, and that Haber had a
history of working on tax shelter deals going back as far as the late 1980's and
earty 1990's, and that litigation had been brought against Haber when a tax shelter

deal went sour. ({d ).

Formation of Fidelity Entities in July 2600

204, By mid-July 2000, the proposed transactions with Helios and KPMG had
progressed to the stage where the Egans decided to form the various entities
necessary to implement the transactions.

205,  On July 19 and 20, 2000, certificates of formation were filed in Delaware for five
different limited liability companies.

206. Each of these LLCs was named with the word “Fidelity” at the beginning of its
name. Fidelity Investments is the name of a well-known company in Boston that
selis mutual funds and cther investment products. {Denby, 29:14), Michael Egan
selected the name “Tidelity” for these entities. {/d).

207. The selection of the name “Fidelity” was intended, at least in part, to help disguise

the transactions.
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208.

209,

210.

211

212.

Fidelity High Tech Transaction Entities

Fidelity High Tech Advisor Fund, LLC was formed as a Delaware LLC on July
19, 2000. Richard and Maureen Egan were its two members. (Exs. 1, 108).
Fidelity High Tech Option A LLC (“Option A”) was formed as a single-member
Delaware LLC on July 19, 2000, on beha!f of Maureen Egan. (Exs. 1, 108).
Fidelity High Tech Index A Fund LLC (“Index A”) was formed &s a single-
member Delaware LLC on July 20, 2000, on behalf of Richard Egen, (Exs. 1,
108).

Fidelity International Transaction Entitics

Fidelity World Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC (“Fidelity World”) was formed as
a single-member Delaware LLC on July 19, 2000. (Exs. 2, 108). Richaerd Egan
was the sole initial member of Fidelity World. (Ex. 108). The Limited Liability
Compeny Agreement for Fidelity World was signed by Richard Egan and
Michael Egan. (Ex. 2).

Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC was formed as a Delaware

LLC on Jaly 19, 2000, on behalf of Richard Fgan. (Jd.; Ex.108).

Carruth Prepares o Implement the Strategies

1.

213,

Denby’s Fax of July 20, 2008

On July 20, 2000, Stephanie Denby faxed various documents to Pat Shea,
including a memorandum entitled “Steps for Capital Gains Elimination Strategy”
that detailed the planned steps to implement the strategy. (Denby, 29:13; Ex.

3240.1). In that memorandum, Denby wrote:
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For business purpose reasous, it may be desirable to purchase QQQ
fi.e., NASDAQ 100 index! options. However, you can also use
foreign currency options or a combination of the two.
(Ex. 3240.1).
214.  On July 20, 2000, in anticipation of implementing the capital gains reduction
strategy, Richard Egan transferred 4 million shares of EMC stock te Maureen
Egan. (Ex.778). At the time, EMC stock was trading at approximately $86.00
per share. The 4 million shares of EMC therefore had a market value of

approximately $344 million.

2. Further Discussions in Julv 2000

215,  OnJuly 25, 2000, Pat Shea attended a meeting with Richard Egan, Michael Egan,
and Jack Egan concerning the tax reduction strategy. (Ex. 489, Ex. 490). Shea
prepared a memorandum of the meeting that listed the following tepics for
discussion: “Fee, Risk vs. Reward” and “Audit Representation.” (Ex. 489).

216,  On July 26, 2000, Shea sent a memorandum to Michael Egan recapping the July
25 meeting. (Ex. 450). In that memorandum, Shez stated:

Bick will commit to the following

200m capital gains reduction strategy-
200m ordinary income reduction strategy-

['will follow up with Jack to see how much, 1f any, if he wants to
participate.

(Id.).
217.  Shea spoke on July 27 with Jack Egan, who indicated he was interested in

participating in a $30 million capital gains reduction strategy. (Jd.; Shea, 15:99),
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218

219

220.

221,

222,

Ultimately, however, Jack Egan did not participate.

Following the July 25 meeting, Shea instructed the accounting department of
Carruth to begin preparations for the Helios capital gains and ordinary income
transactions. (Shea, 13:99-101).

On July 26, 2000, the accounting department of Carruth held a meeting to discuss

L

the Helios “special strategies” for reducing taxes on “200 mill stock™ and “200
mill, non-qualified stock options.” (Ex. 2477). The meeting was attended by Pat
Shea, Jim Reiss, and members of the accounting department. (/d; M. Egan, 7:21-
22}. The meeting notes taken by cne of the Carruth participants state that part of
the strategy was to “increase cost basis by putting in new entity.” (Ex. 2477).

On July 28, 2000, Pat Shea, James Haber of Helios, and Ivan Ross of Alpha
participated in a telephone conference call. (Shea, 15:101-02; Ex. 2564). in his
notes of the call, Shea wrote: “Cap gains EMC stock - 200m Maureen - 30m
Jack™ and “Foreign Currency 200 mill - 4 Currencies 50 mill each.” {Ex. 2564).
On July 31, 2000, Ross e-mailed Shea a spreadsheet containing several foreign
currency option trades showing a net investment ranging from (% to 1.5%. (Ex.
32}. Shea wrote the following on the document: “They want us to show that we
are investing more than the fees we are paying to show IRS a geod economic
deal” (Ex.31).

The August 2. 2008 Mectine in Boston

On August 2, 2000, 2 meeting was held in Boston. The attendees were Michael

Egan, Jim Reiss, Stephanie Denby, Pat Shea, John Schrier of KPMG, and James
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223,

225,

Haber of Helics; Ivan Ross of Alpha participated by telephone. (Ex. 502). The
purpose of the meeting was to discuss the implementation of the tax strategies.
{{d}. Among other topics, the participants discussed the “benefits [and}
drawbacks of an Egan entity remaining in the QQQ investment partnership for an
extended period of time after Helios buys the main interest out.” (I4.).
Michael Egan took notes at the August 2 meeting. (M. Egan, 7:36; Ex. 2565},
These notes diagram how the Helios strategies appeared to him. (M. Egan, 7:36;
Ex. 2565).
Pat Shea wrote a memorandum to the file concerning the August 2 meeting. (Fx.
502). That memorandum lists the following as “to do” items with respect 1o the
planned Helios strategies:
Confirm what family members are interested and which program and how
much
Confirm that Dick is in for 200m QQQs
Confirm how much Dick wants for foreign currency — 100-200m
Confirm [stock] registration requirements with EMC
Capitalize the partnerships to begin option trading
Review and sign the engagement letter for KPMG
Get engagement letters for other family members
(id).
On Thursday, August 10, 2000, Shea sent a fax to Denby stating the following:
I spoke with Mike [Egan} this AM - we will execute Helios next week -
Tues [August 157 or Wed [August 16] - Can you and | get all the
groundwork done before then so we can just sign and execute - | have
enclosed the process as [ see it — please comment and let me know if T am

missing anything -

(Fx. 3248).
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L. IRS Notice 2000-44 and Tts Aftermath

I. The Issuance of IRS Notice 2000-44

226. On Friday, August 11, 2000, the Internal Revenue Service released IRS Notice
2000-44. (Ex. 137). The Notice was entitled “Tax Avoidance Using Artificially
High Basis.” It addressed certain “transactions that were being marketed to
taxpayers for the purpose of generating artificial tax losses,” and concluded that
the “purported losses™ from such transactions do not represent bona fide losses
reflecting “actual economic consequences” and were not allowable as deductions.
(Id). Tt also noted that penalties might be imposed on taxpayers or promoters
who participated in such transactions. (Id.).

227. IRS Notice 2000-44 nrovided two examples of the type of transactions it was
targeting. ({/d.). Both examples involved a taxpayer artificially stepping up the
basis of his interest in a partnership. One of the examples referred to 2 taxpayer
transferring paired options to a partnership where the taxpayer claimed that only
the purchased option should be taken into account in calculating his basis in the
partnership. In the example, the taxpayer took the position that the sold option
could be ignored because it was not a liability for purposes of Section 752. (Jd).

2. The Reaction to IRS Notice 2000-44

228.  On August 11, 2000, John Schrier of KPMG sent Pat Shea and Stephanie Denby a
fax attaching a copy of IRS Notice 2000-44. (Ex. 137).

229. Later that same day, August 11, Schrier sent Shea and Denby a fax attaching a
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copy of Treasury Decision 8896 announcing new temporary regulations. (Ex.
520). Among other things, the new regulations required certain tax promoters to
maintain a list of persons who were sold an interest in a tax shelter. (Jd).

230. Minutes later on August 11, Mox Tan of Helics sent a fax to Denby atteching a

copy of IRS Notice 2000-44. (Ex. 521).

S
Lad
.

Cn August 11, 2000, Pat Shea and Jim Reiss of Carruth, Stephanie Denby, John
Schrier of KPMG, and Phil Kampf and Mox Tan of Helios participated in
telephone conference call. (Ex. 519). The subject of the call was IRS Notice
2000-44 and its potential impact on the planned transactions. ({d.; Shez, 15:125).
232,  Among other things, the participants in the August 11 conference call were
concerned that the transactions would have to be described on a list that the IRS
could review, and that the law firms participating ir the strategy would no longer
issue a favorable opinion. Shea’s notes of the conference state the following:
— More likely than not opinion — reed to wait for the opinion before
we do anything-
— These are listed transactions-
- Time frame for the opinion - not clear vet — lawyers have to read
notice and decide if they will give opinion —
- list requirements — not sure what details are or will be —
~ regisiration issue — 2 registrations — SEC filings
- The beauty of the transaction was [that it was] so hidden but now it

is not hidden —

{Ex. 519 (emphasis in original)).

S
L)
tad

Also on August 11, Richard Egan sent a copy of a news article from the Boston
Globe bearing the headline, “*Son of BOSS® Tax Sheiter on U.S. Hit List” to

Michael Egan, Shea, and Reiss. (R. Egan, 2:63-64; Ex. 518). The article referred
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2

Lpd

235.

236.

4,

tc a notice issued by the Treasury Department targeting certain tax shelter
transactions. (Ex. 518). It further stated that the “government’s action gpells out
the practices the IRS has found obiectionable and puts taxpayers on notice that
they cannot use those practices to avoid paying taxes.” ({/4). It also quoted an
enonymous Treasury official as stating that the new tax shelter was bein
marketed by one or two of the “Big Five” major accounting firms, and listed
KPMG by name. (Id).

Richard Egan testified that he circulated the article because he knew his son
Michael “wasn’t happy” with the accounting firm of G’ Connor & Drew, the
article contained “a list of accounting firms in it, all the big ones,” and his son
“was thinking of moving up, so to speak.” (R. Egan, 2:64).

The Court does not find Richard Egar’s testimony concerning the reason he
forwarded the news article te be credible. The reason Richard Egan sent the
article was because he was concerned that the preposed tax shelter transaction
might be subject to the new IRS rules.

On August 14, 2000, Shea spoke with John Schrier at KPMG regarding the status
of the transactions in the wake of IRS Notice 2000-44. (Ex. 526). In his notes of
that call, Shea wrote that KPMG “doesn’t know if they will stand behind the
transaction yet.” (Jd.).

On August 15, 2000, KPMG advised its employees to “stop marketing” the Short
Option Strategy 1n light of Notice 2000-44. (Ex. 282).

On August 15, 2000, Shea met with Richard Egan, Jack Egan, and Christopher
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Egan to discuss the impact of Notice 2000-44 on the proposed transactions.
(Shea, 15:131; Ex. 529). In his notes of the meeting, Shea wrote:

Helios Tax Deal

I discussed the IRS notice released [sic] and advised

1}. We don’t proceed now until we get a confirmation that KPMG
will continue to promote the program

2). We need to be assured that Brown & Wood will do an opinion
letter and will stand behind it

3). We get a definition of what penalties, if any, we are exposed
o —

4y, If this program is dead we can ook to Helios for other deals —
(Ex. 529). He added, “Dick still stated that he liked the ordinary income portion
and wants to sell stock during this window.” (J/d).
On August 16, 2000, Mox Tan of Hellos sent an e-mail to Jeffrey Eisheid of
KPMG, on the subject “KPMG SOS Opportunities as of Avgust 11, 2000.” (Ex.
532). In the e-mail, Tan stated ke was providing a “highly confidential” list of the
“roughly 40 SOS oppertunities we have discussing with your partners, with &
general status as 8/11/2000 (pre-notice).” (Id). The first category of the list of
opportunities was entitled “due diligence completed - single member LLC has
been formed - preparing to do the trade.” {Jd). One of those “cpportunities” was
“Dick and Maureen Egan’; according to the summary prepared by Tan, the Egans
were preparing to do a “$230 [million] basis bump on appreciated stock,” and that
there was a “potential follow-on deal” for 2 $200 million “trade for stock option

Ol [ordinary incomel.” (Jd.).
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240.  On August 16, 2000, Stephanie Denby and Pat Shea spoke by telephone
concerning the impact of Notice 2000-44. (Shea, 16:6-11; Ex. 533). By that
point, Denby had learned the reactions of the law firms who were expected (o
render favorable opinions. Denby told Shea that she understood that it was “95%
certain” that Proskauer would give a “faverable opinien letter” on the capital
gains strategy, because that strategy was “not triggering a loss.” (Ex. 533).
Denby also told him, however, that Brown & Wood was “not at this point
comiortable with [an] opinion letter, especially [with] KPMG,” that neither
Brown & Woed nor Proskauer would “give [an] opinion on [the| ordinary income
portion [of the strategy] because this triggers 2 loss,” and that *“loss generation is
what the notice attacks.” (Jd.). Denby alsc told Shea that Brown & Wood would
not give an opinion letter to a KPMG client because it was “tco broad a market”
with “too many circumstances,” and because KPMG might keep an “investor list”

and presents a “bigger audit risk.” (/d).

[\
=
o

In a follow-up call, Denby told Shea that “Brown & Wood [was] clearer on
opinion letter but net with KPMG — [they] don’t want to mass produce the letter.”
(Id).

3. The August 23, 2000 Conference Call

242, On August 23, 2000, Michael Egan, Pat Shea, Jim Reiss, and Stephanie Denby
participated in a telephone conference to discuss the impact of IRS Notice 2000-
44. (Ex. 542). Also participating in that call were R.J. Ruble of Brown & Wood

and James Haber, Mox Tan, and Phil Kampf of Helics. (/d). Prior to the
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conference, Shea prepared typewritten discussion points. (Jd.; Shea, 15:15; 16:12-
13). Shea sent a copy of his discussion points to Denby by fax. (Ex. 540). The
discussion points were addressed during the call. (Shea, 16:13).

243, Shea’s first two discussion points stated that in Notice 2000-44, the IRS was
“taking the position that there is no economic loss and they are not bona-fide
business losses as required by Section 165 and that “penalties will be assessed
under various provisions and sections.” (Ex. 542). As to both points, Shea posed
the question, “how are you arguing ageinst that position] in your opinion letter?”
(Id). As to the penalty issue, he asked, “[alre we assured that there will not be
penalties?” and “[1]f we enter this transaction based on your opinion letter and
lose — what are remedies against you for penalties?” (/d.).

244. Sheatestified that he asked these questions regarding penalties because “we were
starting to get concerned or had some concern on whether the transactions that
Mr. Egan was entering into fell under this notice, and the notice did have penalties
associated with it.” {(Shea, 15:16).

245.  Shea’s notes posed the following further questions:

If we enter this deal after this notice is our exposure more? Are there
benefits to entering this transaction with or without KPMG [?] [Tit
appears we will have less chance of being audited if not under their radar
screen -- also[,} do they have more of a responsibility to list the transaction
where a smaller less visible firm may not have same listing

interpretations? What are out there for other available strategies that may
work for us and are not as visible or under scrutiny?

(Ex. 542).

246. In his notes of the August 23 conference call, Michael Egan wrote “penalties [-]

73



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 74 of 357

247.

248,

249,

250.

251.

ves orno.” (M. Egan, 7:82; Ex. 541).

At some point in late August 2000, the Egans decided to go forward with the
canital gains strategy, notwithstanding the risks of an IRS audit and the imposition
of penalties.

The Initial Draft Legal Oninions for Fidelity High Tech

As noted, the plan for the capital gains strategy was for one of four law firms to
provide a favorable opinion letter to the Egans. The opinion letter would be
provided after the transaction was consummated, and before the filing of the
relevant tax returns.

By late August 2000, the Egans had tentatively decided to use the Proskauer law
firm for the opinion letter for the capital gains strategy. The parties continued,
nonetheless, to involve R.J. Ruble of Brown & Wood in their discussions.

At some point in late August 2000, Stephanie Denby spoke with [ra Akselrad of
Proskauer by telephone concerning IRS Notice 2000-44. (Denby, 29:146-55; Ex.
3582). Denby’s handwritten notes of that conversation indicate that Akselrad was
taking the position that Notice 2000-44 was distinguishable because it addressed
iosses, not “gain elimination.” (Ex. 3582). He also suggested that the IRS had
issued the notice in order to “reduce [tax shelter] activity,” but that it “dida’t
organize [a] strike force™ to go after tax promoters. {/d.). He also said that he felt
“good” that the firm “should not get hit with sanctions.” (Jd).

On August 31, 2000, Matthew Sgbloff, an attorney at Proskauer, sent a “draft

opinion” of a similar transaction to Denby, Reiss, and Shea. (Ex. 138).
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252.  On September 11, 2000, Carolyn Fiddy forwarded some questions from Michael
Egan ehout the transaction to Shea. (M. Egan, 7:102; Ex. 562). One guestion was
whether Carruth had a draft copy of 2 legal opinion letter relating to the
fransaction. (Ex. 562).
253.  On September 15, 2000, Haber sent an e-mail to Shea, Reiss, and Denby with the
subject line of “Notice 2000-44.” (Ex. 583). Aftached to that e-mail was a “rider”
written by Brown & Wood regarding Notice 2000-44, (Id). In that document,
Brown and Wood questioned the authority of the IRS to issue Notice 2000-44 and
concluded that Notice 2000-44 did not apply to the transactions at issue (which
were not identified). (Id). Among other things, the Brown & Wood “rider”
assumed in distinguishing Notice 2000-44 that the transactions “were motivated
by nen-tax reasons” and that the investor “had a reasoniable opportunity to eamn 2
reasonable profit, in excess of all fees and transaction costs, from the
Transactions, without regard to tax benefits.” (/4).
254, On September 15, 2000, Denby sent an e-mail to Michael Egen advising him that:
Hmmy [Haber] forwarded me the portion of Brown &
Wood's opinien letter that deals with Notice 2000-44. They
have done a good job differentiating this transaction from
the notice. T think we should feel comfortable that if
Proskauer does not come to bat, that Brown & Wood will
cover us. | would have no problem proceeding at this
point.
{Ex. 585).
255.  Cn September 20, 2000, Denby sent an e-mail to Tan stating:

Jimmy {Haber] teld me that he thought we would be getting
a draft of the Proskauer opinion letter this week. Can you
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256.

let me know where we stand.
(Ex. 595). Tan responded:

Jimmy [Haber] has received a draft of the Proskauer

opinion and is in the process of reviewing it and making

comments on it. Would you rather wait for the second draft

or would you like to see what we have in hand right now?
{Id). Denby then responded:

I can watit to see the second draft. Could Jimmy just give

me an assurance that this is in fairly good shape & that we

will be getting a usable product?
(Id.).
On September 26, 2000, Shea and Denby both received a revised draft of a legal
opinion letter from Proskauer relating to the High Tech transaction. (Shea, 24:82-
83; Denby, 29:40-43; Ex. 604).
Ultimately, in its opinion letter dated April 5, 2002, Proskauer opined that Notice
2000-44 is inapplicable to the High Tech transaction, principally because the
option transaction in the Notice “directly resulis in a tax loss when the investor
disposes of his partnership interest” while in the High Tech transactions, “the

increased outside basis resulting from the contribution of the option spread simply

permits [the Egans! to avoid a taxable gain.” (Ex. 122 (emphasis added)).

M. Carruth Resumes Implementation of the Capital Gains Strategy

238.

The September 5. 2080 Memorandum

On September 5, 2000, Tan, Kampf, and Haber of Helios sent Denby the firstin a
series of memoranda entitled “Discussion Draft — Implementation Steps for
Purchasing Options - Capital Gains Strategy.” (Ex. 550). The September 5, 2000
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draft described the parties to the capital gains strategy as “Option A,” “Index A,”
“High Tech,” Helios, and HSBC. (/d).

259, The September 5 “Implementation Steps” memorandum set forth a series of
specific steps to be implemented over a period of approximately sixty days. (/d).
On the first three days of the plan, the following was to occur: (1) Option A and
Index A were to open accounts with HSBC Bank (or an affiliate); (2) Maureen
Egan and Richard Egan were to transfer shares of EMC stock to Option A and
Index A, respectively; (3) Maureen Egan and Richard Egan were to transfer
sufficient capital to purchase options with loeng and short positions as described in
the memorandum and acquire the offsetting options; and {4) Helios was to provide
daily valuations of the option positions held by Option A and Index A. (Jd).

260.  According to the September 5 plan, approximately two weeks later, Maureen
Egan and Richard Egan were to transfer their interests in Option A and Index A,
respectively, to Fidelity High Tech in exchange for membership interests. {Jd).
Under the plan, this transfer would allow the Egans te claim a basis in their
Fidelity High Tech interest equal to the premiums “paid” for the long options
without any reduction for the premiums “received” for the short options.

261.  According to the September 5 plan, for approximately the next six to seven
weeks, Helios would provide daily valuations of the option positions now held by
Fidelity High Tech. (/d). During the same time, Helios and Carruth would
negotiate and enter into a purchase agreement governing the sale of the Egans’

interests in Fidelity High Tech to Helios. (J4.). Near the end of that period,
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262.

263.

264.

Fidelity High Tech was to open an account with HSBC Bank (or an affiliate) and
transfer the EMC stock it held to that account. (/d). Fidelity High Tech would
then provide Helios with at least a 48-hour notice of the closing date of the sale of
the Egans’ interests in Fidelity High Tech to Helios. ({d). Thereafter, Helios
would purchase 100% of the Egans’ interests in Fidelity High Tech for 98.7% of
the fair market value of the EMC shares. (Jd.).

According to the September 5 plan, the sale of the Egans’ interests in Fidelity
High Tech -- which held the low-basis high-fair-market-value EMC stock — would
generate no capital gain to the Egans, because their claimed stepped-up basis in
their Fidelity High Tech interests would be slightly greater than the gross proceeds
to be received by them on the sale. (Ex. 519).

The September 5 plan called for Helios to purchase the Egan’s interest in Fidelity
High Tech (and with it, the EMC stock in that entity). As described below, the
plan was later changed to permit the Egans to sell the stock in the open market
directly—what was referred to as the “stock dribble” strategy.

On September 7 and again on September 8, 2000, Tan, Kampf, and Haber of
Helios sent Denby a revised version of the memorandum entitled “Implementation
Steps for Purchasing Options - Capital Gains Strategy,” which changed some of
the details of the plan for the transaction, It did not, however, materially alter the
plan. (Exs. 5357, 564). Tan also sent a copy of the September 8 draft

memorandum to Pat Shea, Jim Reiss, and Ira Akseirad at Proskauer. (Ex. 561).
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2. The Parties Begin Implementation of the High Tech Transaction

265.  On September &, 2000, Pat Shea sent Michael Egan an e-mail sefting forth an
“estimated schedule of events to implement our plan” with respect to the “Helios
deal.” (Shea, 16:22; Ex. 565). The steps set forth in the e-mail tracked the steps
set forth in the updated “Implementation Steps” memorandum. (Ex. 565).

266. On September 8§, 2000, Michael Egan caused Maureen Egan to transfer 1,990,800
shares of low-basis EMC steck to Option A, and Richard Egan to transfer 20,200
shares of low-basis EMC stock to Index A. (M. Egan, 7:98; Ex. 2555; Kolbe,
37:116-17; Dem. Ex. 3000). Those transfers conformed with the first step of the
planned transaction as outlined in the September 8 memorandum from Helies.

267.  On September 14, 2000, funds totaling more than 85 million ($4,989,60C on
behalf of Maureen Egan and $50,400 on behalf of Richard Egan) were wired to
HSBC. (Ex. 594). These transfers conformed with the second and third steps of
the planned transaction as outlined in the September 8§ memorandum.

3, The Withdrawal of HISBC as the Counterparty

268.  As of early September 2000, HSBC was the proposed options counterparty in the
Fidelity High Tech transaction. (M. Egan, 7:42; Exs. 507, 566). Helios and
Alpha had recommended HSBC to Carruth. {Shea, 15:19).

269, Omn September 13, 2000, Carruth wired $3,999,600 to HSBC to fund the purchase
of options for purposes of implementing the High Tech transaction. {Ex. 573).

270. At some point before September 15, 2000, R.J. Ruble of Brown & Wood prepared

a draft opinion for HSBC concerning the proposed transaction. {Ex. 582). Ruble
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reperted to Haber, however, that his partners at Brown & Wood would not “go
along” with his treatment of the transaction, because they did not believe that the
purchase of the short option should be ignered:
they believe that if the short option is a hiability then it is part of the
‘investment’ on which the penalty is imposed. . . . [tjheir view is
that ‘no investment in the partnership would have been made
without the use of the short opticn to finance the long.’
({d).
271, At some point before September 19, 2000, HSBC withdrew from the planned
Helios capital gains transaction. (M. Egan, 7:96; Shes, 15:19).
272. James Haber of Helios told Pat Shea that HSBC withdrew as counterparty because
it did not want to take the “reputational risk™ in light of IRS Notice 2000-44.
(Shea, 15:20, Ex. 603).
273. By fax dated September 19, 2000, Robin Calkins, at Michael Egan’s direction,
requested the return of the money that had been wired to HSBC on September 14,
2000, (Shea, 16:27-28; M. Egan, 7:118; Ex. 594). The money was returmed on
September 20. (Ex. 646).
274.  On September 20, 2000, Denby e-mailed Tan of Helios:
... what 1s the status of HSHB/sic]? When are we going to
implement the purchase? Please let me know. FYI -1 bet that it
was not pleasant at Carruth on Tuesday [September 19, 2000].
This tvpe of thing drives Mike crazy.
(Ex. 595).
275.  Asof September 27, 2000, the Egans were looking for a counterparty to replace

HSBC on the transaction. (M. Egan, 7:119; Ex. 2782).
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4, The Sefection of Refco as the Substitute Counterpariv

276.  Onthe advice of Helios and Alpha, the Egans decided to use Refco as the counter-
party to the Fidelity High Tech option trades. (M. Egan, 6:25; Shea, [5:19; Ex.
503).

277. Refco calculated the bid/ask fee for the High Tech options as 10% of the net
payout, or $1,000,000. (M. Egan, 8:102; Ex. 710).

278. Michael Egan did not competitively price the High Tech option trades tc make a
determination as to what fees or bid-ask spreads other brokers would charge, even
after he learned that the fee charged by Refco would be $1,000,000. (M. Egan,
7:38-36, 103).

5. The First Registration of EMC Shares

279. Before October 2000, most or all of the EMC stock owned by the Egans was
unregistered. (R. Egan, 2:16; Denby, 28:42). The stock had to be registered,
hewever, in order to be sold as part of the Fidelity High Tech transaction.

280.  On September 26, 2000, a Special Meeting of the Board of Directors of EMC
approved the filing of a Form S-3 registering 2,000,000 shares of common stock
owned by the Egans. {Ex. 40).

281.  On Gctober 2, 2000, EMC filed a Form S-3 with the SEC. (Ex. 41). The Form S-
3 registered for sale 2,620,000 shares of EMC common stock owned by High
Tech after transfer from Richard and Maureen Egan. (Jd.). Richard Egan
reimbursed EMC the registration fee of $52,661. (Ex. 275).

&. Carruth Puts the Fidelity Higk Tech Transaction on Held

282. Inthe meantime, the price of EMC stock had fallen, making it less desirable to
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sell. The combination of the legal uncertainty after the issuance of IRS Notice
2000-44 and a decline in the price of EMC stock caused a temporary delay in the
implementation of the capital gains reduction strategy.

283, In amemorandum dated October 13, 2000, Carolyn Fiddy informed Richard Egan
that the Fidelity High Tech transaction was “on hold.” (Ex. 634).

284. During the period from October 2000 to December 2000, Shea met and spoke
periodically with James Haber and John Schrier to discuss tax reduction
strategies. (Ex. 627). Shea also met periodically with Michae! Egan to keep him
up to date on those discussions. {(Jd).

285. On December 11, 2000, Schrier notified others at KPMG that he had met with
Shea, and that the Egans were “still talking about reducing tax on some built-in
gain stock.” (Ex.43).

286.  On December 13, 2000, Shea had a meeting with Michael Egan. (Exs. 627, 657).
Shea and Michael Egan discussed, among other things, the fact that the capital
gains transaction was still “on hoid.” (Ex. 627).

287. Shea also told Michael Egan that he had spoken with John Schrier, who told him
that “KPMG has a deferral pian for options — (ordinary income),” but that there
were “no more elimination plans out there.” (Jd.).

The Year-End Transfer of Maureen Egan’s Fidelily Hish Tech Interest

288.  On December 21, 2000, Carolyn Fiddy sent an e-mail to Jim Reiss, Pat Shea, and
Michael Egan alerting them that because Maureen Egan held a 99% interest in

Fidelity High Tech, which held 2,020,000 shares of EMC stock, her interest
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289,

250.

251,

would be subject to the Fiorida intangibles tax. (Ex. 664). Reiss responded and
suggested some solutions for avoiding the tax, including having Maureen Egan
make a gift of her interest in Fidelity High Tech to Richard Egan before the end of
the year and then having Richard Egan give the interest back after the new year
had started. (/d.; Ex. 45).

On December 28, 2000, Melody Dunn, an attorney at Burke Warren, e-mailed
Reiss, Shea, and Fiddy two documents: one to transfer Maureen Egan’s entire
interest in Fidelity High Tech to Richard Egan “effective as of” December 27,
2000 (in other words, the day before) and to indicate Richard Egan’s acceptance
of that interest, and one to transfer 99% of Richard Egan’s entire interest in High
Tech back to Maureen Egan “effective as of” January 3, 2001, and to indicate
Maureen Egan’s acceptance of that interest. {Ex. 667).

Those documents were sent to Richard Egan by Jim Reiss with 2 backdated cover
memorandum. {Ex. 44). Richard and Maureen Egan then executed the
documents. (Ex. 45). It appears, however, that they were executed after January
3,2001. {R. Egen, 2:112-13; M. Egan, 7:125}.

No tax retwrn was fiied for Fidelity High Tech for the year 2000, (Ex. 1176).
However, many months later, on October 19, 2001, Shea e-mailed Reiss to report
that he had met with KPMG and James Haber, and that “it was discussed and
decided that we should file tax returns for the Fidelity Funds that were setup in
2000 -- although filings wiil be late we want to file to establish history for the

funds -- and start the statute [of limitations] running —~” (Ex. 1158). I does not
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appear, however, that any such returns were ever filed.

Resumnition of the Hish Tech Transaction in January 2003

292,  OnJanuary 19, 2001, Shea sent an e-mail to Michael Egan stating: “Helios
trade — do you want to resurrect — they are ready to go when we are — the stock has
bounced back somewhat.” (Ex. 681).

1. The January 23, 2081 Tax Anzlvsis by Shea

283,  OnlJanuary 23, 2001, Shea received a “Comparative Investment Summary”
comparing four scenarios for the proposed Helios trades. {Shea, 16:38; Ex. 658).

294.  Shea made handwritten notes on the document in which he calculated the
projected cost of one of the scenarios, including the fees payable to Helios and

KPMG and the cost of the options, as follows:

Fees 150,000,000 x 1.5% = 2,250,600
Cost of Options 4,386,398
Total Cost 6,636,398

(Shea, 16:38; Ex. 698). Based upon these costs, and the 20% capital gains tax

rate, Shea then calculated projected tax benefits for that scenario as follows:

Savings 150,000,600 x 30 mil[lion]
206% =
6.6 +30mil= 22%

Cost 13 22% of savings — net gain 23,400,000
(Ex. 698).
255.  Shea thus calculated the cost of the Fidelity High Tech transaction as a percentage

of the planned tax benefits.
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e
3

2%6.

297.

298.

299.

300.

The January 24. 2001 Memorandum from Shea

On Januery 24, 2001, Shea sent a memorandum to Michael Egan to provide a
“recap of the Helios Trade to bring [him] up to date” and to “refamiliarize Thim]
with the transaction and the timing of the trade.” (M. Egan, 7:138; Shea, 16:35;
Ex. 147). In that memorandum, Shea noted that on September 8, 2000, Richard
and Maureen Egan had contributed & total of 2,023,000 shares of EMC to Fidelity
High Tech. (Ex. 147). Shea also reviewed the series of steps of the transaction
and the timing between each step. (Jd).

The Jaruary 24 memorandum also noted that James Haber of tlelios was “very
comfortable with the timing” of the transaction and that “recent volatility [in the
EMC stock price] supports our timing and strategy -- reinforcing our business
purpose.” (Id).

The Januery 24 memorandum also noted that “this transaction does not require
registration [as a tax shelter with the IRS] and they [KPMG and Helios] are not
maintaining [a] customer list.” {/d).

At some point, Shea wrote on the January 24 memorandum that “we are not a tax
shelter because cach deal is unique and they [KPMG and Helios] do not promote,”
and that if there was a penalty relating to the transaction, it would be “on Haber”
because ke is the “promoter.” (Shea, 16:42-43; Ex. 658).

Shea faxed a copy of the January 24 memorandum with the notes to Denby.
(Shea, 16:38; Ex. 698). He also faxed her a marked-up copy of the January 23

“Comparative Investment Summery.” (Shea, 16:38; Ex. 698).
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301.

302.

304.

On January 30, 2001, Haber sent Shea an e-mail with ancther “Comperative
[nvestment Summeary” for the proposed trades, again outlining different scenarios
for the transacticn. (Ex. 703).

Again, Shea made handwritten notes on the document in which he calculated the
projected cost and tax benefits. (Shea, 16:46; Ex. 678). He projected a cost as to
one scenario as $6,711,439, based on a cost of options of $4,311,439; a Helics fee
of $2,250,000; and a KPMG fee of §150,000. (Ex. 678). Shea also calculated
projected tax benefits for that scenario. (Id). He assumed a capital gains tax rate
of 20% on $150 millicn, which would result in a tax of $30 million; he then
subtracted the $6.7 million cost and concluded that the net gain from the
transaction would be $23.4 million. (Jd.). He also calculated that the cost would
be 22.3% of the potential taxes. (/d.). He conveyed that information to Michael
Egan. (M. Egan, 8:97-58).

The Initial Draft Legal Opinion Letter from Proskauer

Shea’s Januery 24 memorandum to Michael Egan stated that he had requested a
draft legal opinion letter relating to the High Tech transaction and that the Egans
would receive a final opinion letter 30 days after the transaction is completed.
(Ex. 698). The memorandum also stated that “Helios would pay for the legal
opinion letter from their 1.3% fees,” but that “we want [an] invoice to show
separation from Helios.” (Id.; M. Egan, 8:86). Shea provided that information to
Denby. (Shea, 16:38; Ex. 698).

On January 3G, 2001, Haber sent a “draft” of 2 Proskauer legal opinion letter to
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305.

306.

s

307.

Denby and Shea. {Denby, 29:38-3%; Exs, 704, 3271}
On January 31, 2001, Shea e-mailed Michael Egan as follows:

We received the draft [Proskauer! opinion letter for [Fidelity High
Tech] -- Stephanie and [ both feel comfortable with the wording
and context -- it addresses all areas of the transaction as well as the
2000-44 notice that came cut last {2l -- if we proceed, we will
have our custom [opinion| letter approximately 30 days after we
close the deal.

(M. Egan, 8:103-04; Ex. 713).

The Janugry 29, 2061 Memorandum by Shea

On January 29, 2001, Pat Shea sent a memorandum to Michael Egan noting that
ke had participated in a conference call to review the details of the pending
options trade — “the timing as well as the steps to execute.” (Ex. 696). In the
memorandum, Shea specifically pointed cut that the assignment by Richard and
Maureen Egan of their respective interests in Index A and Option A to Fidelity
High Tech “is the transaction that gives us the step up in basis.” {Jd).

The Decision to Allocate 99% of the Hish Tech Transaction to Maureen
Egan

At some point, Michael Egan decided to allocate 1% of the Fidelity High Tech
transaction (that is, the option frades and stock coniribution) to Richard Egan’s
wholly-owned LLC (Index A) and 95% to Maureen Egan’s wholly-owned LI.C
(Option A). (M. Egan, 8:93). He testified that the decision to have Maureen
contribute 55% of the EMC stock to High Tech was based on the fact that she
owned most of the EMC stock that was to be contributed to High Tech. (Jd).

However, Richard Egan had given 4 million shares of EMC stock to Maureen
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308.

309.

310.

Egan on July 20, 2000, which was the same day {(or one day after) the three
entities for the High Tech transaction were formed. (R. Egan, 3:38; Ex. 778).
Mezureen Egan, as a resident of Florida, would not be subject to a state capital
gains tax on the sale of her EMC stock. (M. Egan, 5:45).

Planning b Tech Transaction

for Tax Reporting of the Hig

During the same period, Pat Shea kept Michael Egan informed of the anticipated
tax conseguences of the transaction. (M. Egan, 12:85-86).

On January 22, 2001, Shea informed Michael Egan that they were “using Dick
and Maureen in order to keep the reporting on one [Form| [040 and not using
ancther partner — elegant reporting.” (Id. at 12:82-83; Ex. 683},

Similarly, Shea’s January 24 memorandum to Michael Egan noted that “we
intentionally want the {ransaction between Dick and Maureen so that the trade
only gets reported on one 1040 jtax] return --- elegance in reporting -- not
exposing other family members to IRS scrutiny.” (Ex. 147).

The Fidelity High Tech transaction called for the opening of an account at Mellon
Bank, from which the EMC shares would be transferred. In September 2000, Jim
Reiss had inquired as to whether the sale of EMC stock would trigger the issuance
of a Form 1099 by Melon. (Ex. 3255). Specifically, on September 8, 2000, Jim
Reiss had e-mailed someone at Mellon to inquire whether it would accept a letter
from Carruth concerning the basis for the stock and whether it would issue a Form
1099 if the stock were sold and the proceeds went into the accourt. (). Mellon

responded that it would accept a “note or e-mail” fiom Carruth as to the basis, and
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312,

313,

314.

316,

317.

would not repert the proceeds on a Form 1099, (Jd)). Reiss e-mailed Denby that
he “like[d] this response,” which Denby called “a home run!™ (Jd).
The original plan for the High Tech transaction called for & transfer of the EMC
stock to a PaineWebber account, from which it would be sold by Helios. (Exs.
53, 696).
Cn January 29, 2001, Shea informed Michael Egan in a2 memorandum that:
The 1059 for the sale of [Fidelity High Tech] will be issued by Mellon and
will reflect the adjusted basis that we will provide to them - any 1099 from
PaineWebber will be to Helios as they are selling the stock through them -
we are selling partnership interests, not securities, and no 1059 will be
issued to us.

(M. Egan, 8§:91; Shea, 16:43; Ex. 656).

The Second Registration of EMC Shares

On February 14, 2001, Shea discussed with Michael FEgan the registration of

additional EMC shares “for another Helios trade.” (Ex. 627). By April 2001, the

Egans had decided to proceed with the registration.

On May 9, 2001, the EMC Board of Direciors approved the filing of a Form: 8-3
egistering up to 10.1 million shares of EMC common stock owned by the Egans.

(Ex. 8513,

EMC however, required that the Egans execute an indemnification agreement

indemnifying the company in connection with any losses or claims arising out of

the registration and sale of the shares. (Ex. 878).

EMC reguired the indemnification letter in order to ensure that Richard Egan

“would be responsible for any and all taxes and penalties if fthe] IRS ever audited
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EMC due to not taking the required withholdings.” (Ex. 676).
Richard Egan reimbursed EMC for the regisiration fee of $98,071. (Ex. 869).
The second EMC registration was approved by the SEC on June 8, 2001, (Ex.

2777,

Implementation of the Fidelity High Tech Transaction

320.

321%.

322.

As described above, Index A, Option A, and Fidelity High Tech were formed as
limited liability compames under Delaware law on July 15 and 26, 2600, Index A
was a single member LLC whose only member was Richard Egan. Option A was
a single member LLC whose only member was Maureen Egan. Fidelity High
Tech was a multi-member LLC.

Index A and Option A Enter into Opticn Trades

On January 30, 2001, Index A and Option A were funded with a tota! of §5
million in cash in & 99-to-1 ratic, with $4.55 million to Option A and $500,000 to
Index A. (Kolbe, 37:117; Ex. 711; Dem. Ex. 3000}

The next day, January 31, 2001, Option A and Index A each entered into trades
for a pair of offsetting put options on the NASDAQ 100, with very narrowly
separated strike prices, each with Refco as the counterparty, (Kolbe, 37:117; Exs.
1, 108; Dem. Ex. 3001). The options were “digital,” meaning that the amount of
the payout was fixed in advance as a lump sum. The options were also
“European,” meaning that they could be exercised only on their expiration date,
and not before. Each of the four options comprising the pairs had a term of 44

days. The two options within each pair almost entirely offset one another,
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because ore was a long option (that is, purchased) and the other was a short

option (that is, sold), with nearty (but not precisely) identicai features. {Kolbe,

~

37:117; Ex. 1). The terms of the options can be summarized as follows:

Option A NASDAQ 100 Option Pair

($3,402,437)

Option Maturity Underlying Strike Initiai Possible
Date Price Premivm Payout
Secld Put 3/16/2001 NASDAQ 100 | 2,288.15 $154,997,563 ($638,800,318)
Purchased Put [ 3/16/2001 NASDAQ 106 | 2,288.20 (S158,400.,000) | $648,700,318
- Net Initial - Net Possible
Premium: | Payout:

- $9.900,000

(Ex. 1)
Index A NASDAQ 100 Option Pair
Option Maturity Underlying Strike Price Initial Possible
Bate Premium Pavout
Sold Put 3/16/2001 NASDAQ 100 | 2,288.15 $1,565,632 ($6,452,528)
Purchased Put | 3/16/2601 NASDAQ 100 | 2,288.20 (51,600,000} $6,552,528
Net initial Net Possible
Premium: Payout:
(534,368} $100,000

(Id).

(%]
o]
Lad

The net premium for both pairs of NASDAQ 100 options was 83,426,805, and

was paid by Option A and Index A to Refeo. ({d). That is, Option A and Index A

were net buyers in these transactions, because the premium for the option each

bought in its pair exceeded the premium for the option it sold. (/4). Although the

potential “Payout Amount” stated for each individual option was guite large, the

actual net payout available to the Egans if the options were in the money at

9
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expiration was comparatively small, even before accounting for fees and costs
associated with the transaction. (Id). Similarly, the stated premium for each of
the four individual options was many times greater than the net premium actually
paid. For example, Option A’s long option had a stated premium of nearly $639
million and its short option had 2 premium of more than $648 million, with the
result that the net premium actually paid for this pair was only $9.9 million. (Jd.).

2. The Possibility of a One-Optior Pavout

324. Ifthe long option finished in the money and the short eption did not, the payoff to
the Egans could be immense. (DeRosa, 39:103). For example, the possible

payout on the Option A pair was more than $648 miilion. (Ex. 1).

[FR)
2
wh

There was, however, no realistic possibility that such a large payoff could occur,

326. Forthe one-option payout to be even possible, the reference price would have to
hit a precise target within a narrow window of time, which was a remote
possibility.

327. Under the Refco agreements, the reference price was defined to mean “the closing
price of the NASDAQ 100 index as defined by the prices between 9:30 and 9:45
a.m., New York City time, on the expiration date.” (/4 ; DeRosa, 39:105).

328. There is no “closing price” on the NASDAQ 100 index during the period when

the exchange is open. {DeRosa, 39:105-06). The price fluctuates routinely in any

particular 15-minute interval. {Jd at 35:107). And the price is measured by three

different indices, which are almost always the same, but not necessarily. (/d).

Refeo thus had the power to select a closing price at any point during the 15-
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minute interval, and on any one of three indices—even assuming that the highly
unlikely event of the index price hitting the right level at the right time came to
pass. ({d.). As a practical matier, that meant that the possibility of a one-option
payofl was non-existent. (Jd. at 39:109, 116-17).

329. Refco could have used a precise, unambiguous nurber (such as the price when
the market closed), but chose not to. (Jd at 35:108).

3. The Capitalization of Fidelity Hich Tech

330. Effective February 7, 2001, Maureen Egan contributed 100% of her interest in
Cpticn A to Fidelity High Tech. (Exs. 1, 742).

331. Effective February 7, 2001, Richard Egan contributed 100% of his interest in
Index A to Fidelity High Tech. (Exs. 1, 743).

332, Option A and Index A owned no assets other than the two pairs of options at the
time they were contributed to Fidelity High Tech. Because Option A’s option pair
was 99 times the size of Index A’s option pair, this created an allocation of High
Tech membership interests such that 99% belonged to Maureen Egan and 1%
belenged to Richard Egan. All other contributions to Fidelity High Teck by
Maureen Egan and Richard Egan were alsc made in a ratio of 99:1, with Maureen
Egan contributing 99% and Richard Egan contributing 1%. (Ex. 122). Asa result
of these contributions, and the LLC agreement, Maureen Egan continued to own a

99% share of Fidelity High Tech, and Richard Egan 2 1% stare.

L
[F)
L)

The Egans tock the position that “cffective” February 7, 2001, Maureen and

Richard Egan contributed 1,999,800 and 20,200 shares of EMC stock,
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4.

334

(]
(W]
Lh

336.

337.

338.

respectively, to Fidelity High Tech. (Ex. 1). In fact, however, as described above,
those shares of EMC stock were actually contributed to Fidelity High Tech on
September &, 2000,

The Purported Inerease in Basis

As described below, the Egans took the position that only the $158.400,000 of
stated premium debited for the long NASDAQ 100 option entered into by Option
A should be taken into account in calculating Maureen Egan’s basis in Fidelity
High Tech, and that the $154,997,563 of premium credited for the short option
should be disregarded. (Exs. 3, 4, ]).

As aresult, Maurcen Egen claimed a basis in Fidelity High Tech of more than
$158,400,000, even though the net premium paid by her for the contributed
NASDAQ 100 options was only $3,402,437.

Likewise, in calculating Richard Egan’s basis in Fidelity High Tech, the Egars
took the position that only the $1,600,000 of stated premium debited for the long
NASDAQ 100 option entered into by Index A should be taken into account and
that the $1,563,632 of premium credited for the shert options should be
disregarded. {Exs. 3, 4, 8.

As aresuit, Richard Egan claimed a basis in Fidelity High Tech of $1,600,000,
even though the net premium paid by him for the contributed NASDAQ 100
options was cnly $34,368.

The Egans therefore claimed a combined basis in Fidelity High Tech as of

February 2001 of $160 million.
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5. The Receipt of McData Stock Dividend

335, On January 12, 2001, EMC announced thet McData Corporation, a subsidiary of
EMC, would be spun off inte a separate publicly-owned company. (Ex. 145). As
a result, all sharcholders of EMC as of January 24, 2001, would receive Class A
commen shares of McData on a pre rata basis based on the number of EMC
shares owned. (/d.). For each EMC share owned, the shareholder would receive
approximately 0.0365 of one share of McData stock on February 7, 200, (/4).

340,  As aresult of the contributions made by the Egans, Fidelity High Tech owned
2,020,000 shares of EMC stock, and was eligible to receive McData shares. On
February 9, 2001, High Tech recetved its pro rata shares from the McData
dividend. {Kolbe, 37:118). High Tech received 74,349 shares of McDatz stock.
Those shares had a cost basis of $0.0C03 per share, 99% of which were
attributable to the EMC shares contributed by Maureer Egan ard 1% atiributable
to the EMC shares contributed by Richard Egan. (Exs. 3, 771).

341,  Theresult of the Egans’ combined contributions of stock to High Tech up to
February 2001 is summarized in the following table:

Basis and Value of Stock Contributions ts High Tech up to February 2001

Contributed Cost Basis Per Cost Basis for | FMV Per Share FMYV for
Shares Share Ceontribution at Time of Contribution
Contribution
2,020,000 Shares | $6.0208 $42.016 $70.60 $141,400,000
of EMC
74 349 Shares of 30.0005 $37.17 $37.08 52,755,374
McData

(Exs. 1, 3, 4).

\0
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344.

Lad

A

The Cover/Termination of NASDAQ 180 Qptions

Because of market movements in the NASDAQ 100 index, within a few days the
options showed z gain (before exnenses) of more than $1.4 million,
Orn February 10, 2001, Shea sent an e-mail te Michael Egan informing him of the
following:

as of Friday, 2/9 — we had a profit of over [$}1 mili{ion] on our

options in the Helios trade — we can look at Monday — [ have

talked [with] Ivan Ross and confirmed that we can sell the options

without selling the EMC position — can we discuss that thought —

if we den't want to sell EMC so low — sell the options and keep the

EMC — it helps to support our business purpose — it gives us a

track record — it gives us a profit on the trade — allows us to hold

EMC until the price increases.
{Ex. 752).
On February 12, 2001, Fidelity High Tech closed out the NASDAQ 160 option
positions entered intc by Option A and Index A on Jamuary 31, 2001, It did so by
entering into trades for additional pairs of NASDAG 100 options with terms
precisely offsetting the terms of the January 31, 2001 options. (Exs. i, 108). Asa
result of the eniry into this second set of offsetting options, the options
collectively had zero net value and no potential for future gain or loss. (Exs. 1,
108). Even though the options had no value and ne economic consequence after
February 12, 2001, they were kept in place and allowed to expire according to
their terms on March 16, 2001, (Ex. 1).
The results following the February 12, 2601 closecut of the NASDAQ 100

options can be summarized as follows:
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Option A NASDAQ 100 Option Pair — Covering Options BEFORE Fees

Option Strike Price Imitial Premivm | Premium (Paid) | Resulting Pavout
(Paid) / Received / Received for (Paid) / Recetved |
1/31/2801 Covering Option
21272001
Seld Put 2,288.15 $154,8597.,563 ($313,082,018) (158,084,455}
Purchased Put 2,288.26 (S5158.400.6G0) $317,534,0607 $£159,534,607
Net [nitial Net Covering Net Resuit before
Premium: Premiwm: Fees:
($3,402,437) $4,851,989 $1,449552

(Id.; Bx.122).

Index A NASDAQ 160 Optior Pair — Covering Options BEFORE Fees

Option Strike Price Initizl Premium | Premium (Paid) | Resulfing Payout
(Paid) / Recetved / Received for {(Paid) / Received
1/31/2801 Covering Opticn
2/12/260%
Sold Put 2,288.15 81,565,632 {$3,162,443) ($1,596,811)
Purchased Put 2.288.20 (81,600,000) 33,211,454 $1,611,454

Wet Initial
Premium:
{$34,368)

Net Covering
Premivm:
849,011

Net Result
before Fees:
$14,643

(Exs. 1, 122},

346.

As described below, in connection with the Fidelity High Tech transaction, the

Egans incurred and paid $1.8 million in fees to Helios and KPMG. In the Form

1065 Short Year Tax Return filed by High Tech covering the period through

December 21, 2001, High Tech adjusted its reporting of the option transaction

outcomes to reflect $900,518 in fees, resulting in 2 reported gain of $563,677.

347.

(Ex. 3).

67
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options as reported on the Form 1065 Short Year Tax Return filed by High Tech

covering the period through December 21, 2001, can be summarized as follows:

Option A NASDAQ 100 Option Pair — Covering Options AS REPORTED

Option Strike Price Initial Premium | Premium (Paid) | Resulting Payout
{Paid) / Received ! Received for (Paid) / Received
1/3%/2601 Covering Option
2/12/2001
Sold Put 2,288.15 $154,851,562 ($313,377,643) ($158,526,081)
Purchased Put 2,288.20 (5158.,549.657) $317,633,756 $159,084,09%

Net Initial Net Covering Net Result as
Premium: Premium: Reported:
($3,698,095) $4,256,113 E558,018
(I4.}.
Index A NASDAQ 180 Option Pair — Covering Options AS REPORTED
Option Strike Price Inmitial Premium | Premium {Paid} | Resulting Payout
(Paic) / Received / Received for {Iaid) / Received
1/31/2¢01 Covering Option :
2/12/2001
Scld Put 2,288.15 $1,584,165 {$3,165,431 {$1,581,266)
Purchased Put 2,288.20 (§1,601,508) $3,208,433 $1,806,925
Net Initial Net Covering Net Result as
Premium: Premium: Reported:
{817,343) $43,002 $25,659

(Id).

After February 12, 2001, the only remaining assets owned by Fidelity High Tech

were the EMC and McData shares contributed by Richard and Maureen Egarn.

A remained. (Ex, 122),

98

{Ex. 1). However, although the options had been terminated, the Egans claimed

that an outside basis from the long option premiums paid by Option A and Index
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349, On February 14, 2001, Shea sent Richerd and Maureen Egan various documents
for signature concerning the Fidelity High Tech transaction (including consents
for transactions that had already occurred). (Ex. 47). Shea advised the Egans that
the transfer of interests from Index A and Option A to Fidelity High Tech “gives
us our step up in basis for tax purposes,” and that “all we need now is the [EMC
and McDatal stock to increase to a point where vou feel comfortable selling.”
(Ex. 47).

“Stufling” of Additional Low-Basis Stock into Fidelity Hligh Tech

350.  Atthe beginning of Septernber 2000, EMC stock was trading at $98.00 per share.
(Ex. 634). Thereafter, the share price of EMC steadily declined, with the
exception of a small increase in January 2001. By the end of November 2001,
EMC stock was trading at $16.75 per share. {(Ex. 1472).

351.  The Fidelity High Tech transaction had created a purported “basis™ of $160
million. As the price of EMC stock began to decline, however, it became
apparent to Michael Egan and others that the stock could not be sold for a
sufficient gain to take advantage of that entire “basis.” In zddition, the Egans did
not want to show a loss on the sale of the stock. Accordingly, in 2001 the Egans
added additional low-basis stock to the High Tech Fund—a practice that was
referred to as “stuffing.” As Haber advised Pat Shes, the Egans could “stuff
{High Tech] with more stock to get our per share basis lower [--1 that will allow

us to sell shares tax free.” (Ex. 1150).
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353.

354.

355.

“Stuffing” Activities in Mav and June 2001
At least as early as May 2061, Michael FEgan was being provided with
spreadsheets prepared by Carolyn Fiddy that set forth the fair market value of the
stock held in High Tech. The spreadsheets showed how much additional stock
would need to be contributed te bring the value of the portfolic up to the amount
of the $160 million purported basis. (M. Egan, 9:40- 41; Ex. 2780).
The first round of “stuffing” occurred in June 2001, when additional shares of
McData and EMC stock were contributed to Fidelity High Tech.
On May 2, 2001, Stephanic Denby asked Shea and Reiss whether “we [were]
going to stuff any more McData or EMC stock™ into Fidelity High Tech. (Ex.
3277). Shea respended that Michael Egan had told him “to put it back on the
front burner to ‘stuff the fund to utilize the basis.” {/d).
On May 13, 2001, Shea informed Fiddy, Denby, and Reiss by e-mail that:
At a Junch meeting with Mike [Egan] today, he informed me of the
following -- contribute all the McBata stock we have to Fidelity
High Tech Advisor A Fundl;] contribute 1 to 2 million shares of
EMC to the fund -- we will back in to the number of shares when
we know the price and fair market value of all McData and the
fund compared to our basis -- (160 milifion]} we want a gain.

(Ex. 3279).

On May 18, 2001, Michael Egan asked members of his staff at Carruth teo

determine the amount of additional EMC shares that would have to be contributed

to Fidelity High Tech in order to bring the value of the stock up to the purperted
basis of $160 million. (M. Egan, $:37-38).
The staff calculated that 1,605,912 additional shares of EMC, at a value of $63.2
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miliion, needed to be contributed. (Ex. 860).
358. In his notes of a meeting on May 22, 2001, with Michael Egan and Reiss, Shea
wrote:
We will be stuffing wiith] McData stock and waiting on EMC untii
we kinow how many shares you want to do. Carolyn [Fiddy] kas a
spreadsheet wlith] basis [numbers].

(Shes, 15:26; Ex. 2780).

355, On May 31, 2001, Shea confirmed with Haber that the Egans could “stuff” the
account with additional stock, and could withdraw the shares if they chose before
the transactions were finally consummated. {Ex. 891}

360. On June 1, 2001, Maureen Fgan contributed 516,978 shares of McData stock to
rFidelity High Tech. (Ex. 108). At the same time, Richard Egan contributed 5,222
shares of McData stock to Fidelity High Tech, {Id). The 522,200 McDaia shares
contributed on that date had a total cost basis of $261.10. {{d.). The fair market
value of the McData shares was $26.20 per share, or $13,681,640. (Exs. 1,3, 4).

361.  On June 4, 2001, Maurcen Egan contributed 1,980,000 sheres of EMC stock to
Fidelity High Tech. {Ex. 108). At the same time, Richard Egan contributed
20,000 shares of EMC stock to Fidelity High Tech. ({d). The 2,000,000 EMC
shares contributed on that date had a total cost basis of $41,600. {Id.). The fair
market value of the EMC shares was $31.65 per share, or $63,300,000. (Exs. 1,3,
43,

362. The Egans’ contributions of stock to Fidelity High Tech in June 2001 is

summarized in the following table:
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Basis and Value of Stock Contributions to Fidelity High Tech in June 2981

Contributed Cost Basis Per Cost Basis for FMY Per Share FMY for
Shares Share Contribution at Time of Contribution
Contribution
2,000,000 Shares | $0.0208 541,600 $31.65 363,300,080
of EMC
522,200 Shares of | $0.0003 $26.20 513,681,640

McData

$261.10

(Exs. 1, 3, 4).

2. Additional “Stuffing” in Late 200¢

The price of EMC stock continued to decline after May 2001, (Exs. 715, 1472).

Although the Egans considered selling the stock in High Tech in the summer of

2001, they decided to wait for the price to rebound. (Ex. 53).

364.

In late 2001, employees at Carruth performed further calculations in order to

determine how much additional stock needed to be contributed to Fidelity High

Tech in order to take advantage of the purported $160 million basis. In addition

to EMC stock, Michael Egan authorized contribution of other low-basis stock

owned by the Egans to Fidelity High Tech to take advantage of the “stepped-up”

basis {or, as Shea put it, to “absorb” that basis). (M. Egan, 9:61-62; Reiss, 27:82;

Shea, 16:64).

In handwritten notes created in October 2001, Shea made a rough calculation of

the number of EMC shares necessary to reach the desired number: “Inside Basis

$160,000,000 + 4,000,000 shares = 40.00 per share.” {Shea, 16:62; Ex. 1150).

366.
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365.

370.

e
]
—t

372.

35:51-52; Ex. 1442). Her notes of the meeting state: “Helios 1 {754 election).
Do not want to show [at] 2 loss {--] reason for stuffing it [is] to show a gain.”
{Ex. 1442).
Calkins also recorded in her notes that various Egan family accounts would “be
used to stuff Fid[elity] to get to 160M value.” (/).
On December 14, 2001, the Egans (through entities they controllied) contributed
adcitional low-basis securities to Fidelity High Tech with a market value of
$39,615,366. (Ex. 2094).
On December 17, 2001, Fiddy e-mailed Stephanie Denby: “Once we have the
cost basis of assets transfeired, we will compute (the) number of shares of
additional EMC to ‘stuff.”” (Ex. 1458).
On December 18, 2001, the Egans (through entities they controlled) contributed
2.3 million additional shares of EMC stock te Fidelity High Tech with 2 market
vaiue of $33,695,000. (Ex. 2094).
On December 18, 2001, Calkins recorded in her notes:
[Michael Egan] decided to underfund Helics [because] of the
fmumber] of shares needed to stuff it. Assuming a stepped up basis
after election taken. KPMG computing this new basis. But what
will happen because of underfunding is [the] basis [will be greater]
than value. Hoping for a [0 percent jappreciation] of some of the
stocks.
{Calkins, 35:53-54; Ex. 1447},
On December 19, 2001, the Egans (through entities they controlled) contributed

280,000 additional shares of EMC stock to Fidelity High Teck with a market
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373.

374.

378.

379

value of $4,110,400. (Ex. 2094},

The securities contributed on December 18 and 19 all had a relatively low basis.
(Ex. 1459).

On December 19, 2001, Carolyn Fiddy reported to Reiss that “the final ‘stuffing”
for Fidelity High Tech Advisor A has been organized.” (Ex. 1464). The same
dey, Shea reported to Reiss that “the ‘stuffing’ of Helios I [High Tech] took place
today.” (Ex. 1466). On December 20, Fiddy reported to Haber that “additional
contributiens of low basis stock™ had been made to High Tech. (Ex. 1475).

On December 20, 2001, Pat Shea reported to Haber that “we have ‘stuffed’ this
fund with several cther assets including mere EMC stock.” (Ex. 1447).

On December 21, 2001, the fair market value of the securities held by Fidelity
High Tech was $144,172,002. (Ex. 108).

On January 2, 2002, Reiss asked Robin Calking whether “the final stuffing” had
occurred as expected on December 20, 2001, (Ex. 1517).

On January 29, 2002, Pat Shea sent Richard Egan (who was by then the
Ambassador to Ireland} a memorandum with various documents attached for his
signature. (Shez, 16:78; Ex. 1557). The memorandum included a contribution
agreement “prepared by Stephanie Denby [that] details the additional assets we
‘stuffed’ into the fund to increase the market value even further to take advantage
of the high tax basis we structured.” (Ex. 1557).

The closing binder for the High Tech transaction recorded that the final stock

contributions were made “effective December 14, 2001.” (Ex. 1). In fact, some
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380.

of those transfers were made afterwards. (Exs. 1464, 1466, 1475).
The Coentribution Agreement memorializing the final share transfers was signed at
some point in 2002, long after December 14, 2001. Shez did not transmit the

agreement to Richard Egan for signature until January 29, 2002, (Ex. 1557).

The Change of Structure of the Fidelity High Tech Transaction

i.

381.

383.

The Original Final Step of the Trapsaction

The final step in the originally planned structure of the Fidelity High Tech
transaction was for Helios to purchase the Egans™ 100% interest in High Tech for
98.7% of the fair market value of the stock it held. (Ex. 550). The 1.3%
difference in the purchase price would constitute Helios’s fee on the iransaction.
The tax consequence of such a sale, according to the original plan, would be to
eliminate any built-in capital gain in the EMC stock, because the Egans’ purporied
basis in their partnership interests would be greater than the proceeds received by
them on the sale.

The Cctober 31, 2801 Tilevitz “Stock Dribble” Memorandumn

By Nevember 2001, Michael Egan was locking for ways to seil the stock held by
Fidelity High Tech directly, instead of selling the Egans’ interest in High Tech to
Helios. (M. Egan, 5:55; Shea, 16:80-81).

On November 1, 2001, Shea e-mailed Haber as follows: “You mentioned that
there is & way to |bifurcate] the stock in [Fidelity High Tech] to dispose of some

H

of the stock if we choose . . . can you explain the details of this feature . . .

(Fx. 1245).
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384,

)
(o)
L

386.

383.

On November 5, 2001, Haber sent Shea and Denby 2 memorandum that bad been
autheored by Orrin Tilevitz of DGI on October 31, 2001, (Ex. 1262).
The Tilevitz memorandum described a technique by which taxpayers could
purportediy step-up the basis of stock that was held by a partnership through the
use of an election under Section 754. (Jd). This technique would allow the
Fgans to dispose of stock held by the partnership directly and gradually over 2
period of time, instead of selling 100% of their partnership interests to Helios.
(Id). That technique became known as the “stock dribble” strategy.
In substance, the technique called for a iransfer of partnership interests in order to
trigger a technical termination of the partnership under Section 708, followed by
an election by the partunership under Sections 754 and 743(b) to redistribute th
basis. {(Jd.).
On Neovember 9, 2061, Reiss sent a memorzndum to Micheel Egan and Pat Shea
that stated the following:

The benefit of the restructuring is that we car dribble cut stock

instead of selling all of it. It would provide more flexibility if you

prefer not to sell all the shares at one time.

(Ex. 1302).

The Initial Pronosal to Use a Subchanter § Corporation

A central step in the strategy described in the October 31 Tilevitz memorandum
called for one of the investors in the multi-member LLC (in this case, Fidelity
High Tech) to transfer his or her membership interest to a subchapter S

corporation or partnership, in order to provide a trigger mechanism for 2 Section
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754 election and tax basis adjustment. (Ex. 1262}.

389. In accordance with the Tilevitz memorandum, in early November 2001 the Egan
were contemplating the transfer of Maureen Egan’s interest in High Tech to an
S-corpeoration in order to create the trigger mechanism for a 754 election. (Exs.
3290, 3294). Reiss, however, pointed out that an S-corporation interest could be
subject to the Florida intangibles tax, because Maureen was a2 Florida resident.
(Ex. 3294). The Egans accordingly decided to make the transfer to a newiy-
created partmership. (M. Egan, $:70-72).

390. On November 9, 2001, in the course of an e-mail discussion between Reiss and
Denby on that subject, Reiss raised the topic of an increased “risk factor” if the
transaction were to be restructured as discussed. (Ex. 3294). Denby replied, “I do
not think that there is much increase in risk with the 754 election. This is a form
that T think would never be audited.” (J4.).

4, The Change to a Partonership

391, OnNovember 14, 2001, Denby sent an e-mail to Shea and Reiss stating the
following:

I just got off the phone with Haber. He agrees that if we put
[Maureen Egan’s] Fidelity High Tech [interest] into a new
parinership (MEE Holdings LP), then we can do the 754 election.
This will allow us to shelter the Fidelity interest from the Florida
intangibles tax. If we proceed with transferring Fidelity into an 8§
corp., then we are going to have an intangibles tax problem
because we can’t then put an S corp. interest into an LP (LP can’t
own S corp. stock) and we can’t do a transfer to Dick (will screw
up the basis in the Fidelity investment).

(Ex. 3297).
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393.

394

396.

397.

The reason for the transfer of Maureen Fgan’s interest in Fidelity High Tech to
another entity was to trigger the 754 election pursuant to the strategy cutlined in
the October 31 Tilevitz memorandum. The Egans used a [imited partnership,
rather than a subchapter 8 corporation, to avoid the Florida intangibles tax.

The Transfer of Maureen Kgan’s Inferest to an LLP and
Sectien 754 Elections

On November 14, 2001, Denby caused MEE Holdings LLP to be formed as a
limited liability partnership. (Denby, 28:531-52; Exs. 108, 180},
Maureen Egan owned 99.8803% of MEE Holdings (through her grartor trust} and
ichard Egan owned the remaining $.1197% (through a single-member LLC).
Consistent with the strategy outlined in the October 31 Tilevitz memorandum,
effective December 21, 2001, Maureen Egan contributed her interest in Fidelity
High Tech to MEE Holdings, which caused 2 technical termination of Fidelity
High Tech for federal income tax purposes. (Shea, 16:88; Exs. 1, 122). The sole
purpose of the transfer of the interest in Fidelity High Tech to MEE Holdings was
to allow High Tech to make a Section 754 election. (M. Egan, 9:72-73).
The December 21 “effective date” for the transfer of Maureen Egan’s interest in
Fidelity High Tech to MEE Holdings was assigned retroactively by Reiss on
January 2, 2002. (Shez, 16:88-89; Ex. 1517).
Eventually, and as described below, Fidelity High Tech filed a Form 1065
partnership tax retum for the short year ending December 21, 2001, It reported

that 2 technical termination of the LL.C had occurred for partnership tax purposes
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398.

399.

as of December 21, 2001. (Ex. 3). With that return, Fidelity High Tech filed an
election under Section 754 to redistribute the tax basis in Maureen Egan’s 95%
interest in the Fidelity High Tech across MEE Holdings’ 9% interes? in the assets
then held by Fidelity High Teck. (/).

Maureen Egan’s purported outside basis in her 95% share in High Tech as of the
December 21 transfer to MEE Holdings was $162,779,413. (Zd.). That basis
included the $158,400,000 long premium paid by Option A, as well as the cost
basis of her 99% share of the securities the Egans had contributed to High Tech.
(Id.). In contrast, Maureen Egan’s cost basis in her 9% share of the stock held in
High Tech was only $8,672,617.73. (Id).

As described below, the principal claimed tax conseguences flowing from the
restructuring of the final step of the Fidelity High Tech transaction were as
follows: (1) Maureen Egan’s stepped-up basis in Fidelity High Tech carried over
to MEE Holdings {under Section 723) and became MEE Heldings’ basis in High
Tech; (2) Fidelity High Tech was deemed to have technically terminated as of the
close of December 21, 2001 (under Section 708(b)(1)}B)); (3) 2 new Fidelity High
Tech entity was deemed to have been created in its place; and (4) Fidelity High
Tech increased MEE Holdings’ proportionate share of basis in its assets up to the
full amount of the stepped-up basis (under Sections 754 and 743(5)). (LaRue,
43:106-07, 44:8-9).

In short, MEE Holdings claimed the right to receive Maureen Egan’s outside tax

basis of $162,775,413, and to redistribute that stepped-up basis across its 99%
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401,

402,

404.

interest in the assets held by Fidelity High Tech. (Ex. 3).

Because ail of the option pesitions held in Fidelity High Tech had long since been
closed out and then expired, the only assets remaining in Fidelity High Tech were
the low-basis securities contributed by Maureen Egan and Richard Egan during
2000 and 2001, (Id). The inside tax basis in the 99% share of the Fidelity High
Tech portfolio Maurcen Egan had transferred to MEE Holdings was therefore
increased from $8,672,618 to $162,779,413, an adiustment of $154,106,7%5.
(Id.).

In an e-mail dated November 28, 2001, Reiss described the effect of the Section
754 election as follows: “The 754 election steps up the basis of EMC in the
Fidelity [High Tech] fund so the sale of EMC in the Fund would show gross
proceeds and stepped up cost basis on Sch I for the Fund’s tax return -- a pretty
decent obscured event.” (Ex. 3303).

In the Form 1065 partnership tax retumn filed by “new” Fidelity High Tech
covering the short year from December 22 to December 31, 2001, Fidelity High
Tech again claimed that a technical termination of the LL.C had occurred for
parinership tax purposes as of December 21, 2001. {Ex. 4). With that second tax
return, Fidelity High Tech filed a second clection under Section 754 to redistribute
the tax basts in Richard Egan’s [% of Fidelity High Tech across the remaining 1%
share in assets then held by the LLC. (I4).

Richard Egan’s purported outside basis in his 1% share of Fidelity High Tech as

of the December 2! technical termination was $1,644,242. (Jd). Thet basis
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406.

407.

408.

included the $1,600,000 long premium paid by Index A, as well as the cost basis
of his 1% share of the securities the Egans had contributed to Fidelity High Tech.
(Id). In contrast, Richard Egan’s cost basis in his 1% share of the stock held in
Fidelity High Tech was only $87,602. (id}.

As a result of the second Section 754 election, Richard Egan claimed the right to
redistribute his stepped-up outside tax basis of $1,644,242 across his 1% interest
in the assets held by the LLC. (J4.).

Again, because all of the option positions held in High Tech had long since been
closed out and then expired, the only assets remaining in the High Tech entity
were the [ow-basis securities confributed by Maurecr Egan and Richard Egan
during 2000 and 2001. (/d). The inside tax basis in the 1% share of the High
Tech stock portilic retained by Rickard Egan following the technica! termination
was therefore increased from $87,602 to §1,644,242, an adjustment of
$1,556,640. (Id).

Discussions at Year-End 2081 Concerning Sale of Stock

Micheel Egan had originally considered selling all the EMC stock and other
securities held by Fidelity High Tech in calendar year 2001, (Ex. 3303).
However, he became concerned about doing so for a variety of different reasons,
including the low price of EMC stock, and began to consider selling some of the
stock in 2002. (Id; Ex. 3292).

On November 9, 2001, Reiss expressed concern about “dribbling” sales of stock

into 2002. (Ex. 3292). He asked “Does it increase audit risk[?7” and “would we
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now have 2 positions to defend rather than 177 (Id).
409. On November 28, 2001, Reiss asked Denby by e-mail whether they should
seli/liguidate in 2001 to either start the statute running sooner or whether there is
concern that [the] IRS will require unwinding the transaction before we sefl.”
(Ex. 3303). Denby repiied:
All things being equal, I would agree with you that it would be
better to sell [all the stock] in 2001, The 3 key factors being: 1.
Get the audit clock ticking, 2. The disarray that the IRS is currentiy
in and 3. Limit time for the IRS to come out with a ruling barring
this transaction. However, given the price of the stock, I think the
economics would probably dictate walting untii 2002.

(Id.}.

4310. In carly December 2001, Michae! Egan briefly considered selling all of the EMC
stock in Fidelity High Tech before December 31 of that year and then buying it
back, assuming that such a sale did not create a problem under SEC Rule 16(b) or
with any other SEC rule or EMC policy. {Exs. 3303, 3310}. According to Pat
Shea, in an e-mail dated December 6, 2001, “the reason we are considering itis to
start the statute [of [imitations] clock running and to protect the transaction from
IRS unwinding.” (Ex.3310).

411, Ultimately, however, Michael Egan decided against selling the stock because the
price had fallen and because he did not want to report losses from both the
Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International transactions in the same year.

(Denby, 29:59; Ex. 3292).

7. The Sale of Stock Held by Fidelitv High Tech in 2602

412.  The market price of EMC shares continued to decline in 2002, On March 7, 2002,
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413.

414,

416.

417.

Shea discussed with James Haber whether the Egans could “pull out [of Fidelity
High Tech] at a loss.” (Ex. 1419). Among other things, he asked Haber “how will
(the transaction) be shown on [tax] returns” and “any issues or risks?” {/d).
Haber apparently suggested continuing to coniribute “gain assets” to High Tech in
order to “disguise the loss . . . to be reported.” (Id).

In March and April 2002, additional shares were “stuffed” inte Fidelity High
Tech. (Ex. 1847},

On May 10, 2002, Stephanie Denby asked Orrin Tilevitz about selling all the
stock in Fidelity High Tech. (Ex. 1851}, She stated that “the stock whose basis
they stepped up has now gone down in value, so selling it would result in an $80
mitlion capital loss.” (Jd). She asked whether the Egans “[were] better off
waiting and hoping it will go up in value or selling it now, taking the loss and
starting the statute [of limitations] running?” {Id ). Tilevitz forwarded her inquiry
to Ira Akselrad., (Id).

During 2002, Fidelity High Tech sold all of the securities in its portfolio. {Shea,
16:91; Ex. 2093).

Due to market conditions, the shares held by High Tech continued to decline in
value throughout 2002. By the time they had all been sold, the total proceeds
reaiized were reported by High Tech to be $79,695,408, composed of $371,214 in
short-term sales and $77,323,734 in long-term sales. {(Ex. 5).

On its 2002 Form 1063 partnership tax return, High Tech reported that the sale of

its entire stock portfolio had produced a capital loss of $87,509,884, divided
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418,

between $87,194,495 in long-term capital losses and $315,389 in short-term
capital losses. (Jd.). The entirety of these capital losses flowed through to the
Egans’ perscnal income tax return for 2002; the Form 1040 filed by Richard and
Maureen Egan for 2002 reported a capital loss of $87,617,988 flowing from their
interests in Fidelity High Tech and MEE Holdings, divided between 387,305,690
of long-term capital losses and $312,298 of short-term capital losses. (Ex. 232).

f the inside basis of the Fidelity High Tech stock portfolio had not been adjusted
pursuant to the Section 754 elections, the stock sold by Fidelity High Tech during
2002 would have retained its original aggregate cost basis of §8,760,22G. (Ex. 3).
In that event, the total sale proceeds for the portfolio of $79,695,408, as reported
in Fidelity High Tech’s 2002 Form 1065 return, would have resulted in a

reporteble cepital gain of $70,935,188. (Ex. 5).

The Egans Continue to Explore an Ordinary Loss Strategy

419.

420.

421,

In the meantime, as the Egans and their advisors developed and implemented the
capital gains elimination strategy through the Fidelity High Tech transaction, they
continued to consider a strategy for eliminating taxes on ordinary income.

Exercise of Options

In 2001, the Egans exercised 8,320,000 options to purchase EMC stock. {Ex.
1414). (The options had previously been transferred {o a grantor trust, which
actually exercised the options). (Jd.; Ex. 791).

The Egans exercised 2,000,000 options on January 22, 2001, at a strike price of

$1.1563. (Exs. 780, 1414). The market price was $76.50. (Ex. 780},
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422,

423,

424,

425.

426.

427.

428.

The Egans also exercised 320,000 options on March 2, 2001, at a strike price of
$3.0586 and a market price 0of $38.40. (/4.; Ex. 1414).

The Egans also exercised 4,000,000 options on September 7, 2001, at a strike
price of $1.15625, and 2,000,000 options on September 7, 2001, at a strike price
of $2.3125. (Exs. 791, 1414). The gain from the exercise of the options in
September 2001 was treated as deferred compensation pursuant to an EMC plan
that was amended for that purpese. (Ex. 325).

As noted above, Richard Egan became ambassador to Ireland on September 10,
2001, He was required to resign from the EMC board in crder to take that
position, which would cause his options to expire. Accordingly, all of the Egars’
options were exercised by September 7, 2001.

Richard Egan had received these options in his capacity as a member of the EMC
board of directors. (Ex. 791). Income received by him on the exercise of the
options was therefore self-employment income. (Prifi, 25:92). The income was
sthiect to tax at ordinary income tax rates.

The exercise of the options in 2001 produced income to Richard Egan in the
amount of $150,687,400. (Ex. 64). EMC Corporation provided a Form 1099 to
Richard Egan in janvary 2002 reflecting that amount. (J4.).

The exercise of the options in 2001 produced income tc Maureen Egan in the
amount of $11,309,248. (Ex. 127). EMC Corporation provided a Form 1099 to
Maureen Egan in January 2002 reflecting that amount. {Jd.).

At one point, the Egans projected their federal income tax liability on their income
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429,

430.

431,

4332.

433,

from the exercise of those options (in the absence of a tex shelter) to be
$63,575,074. (Ex. 1192).

The Segreh for Ordinary Income Strategies

In late 2000 and early 2001, the Egans and their advisors continued to discuss
ways to avoid paying ordinary income taxes on the gain from the exercise of EMC
options.

As described above, KPMG directed its employees to “stop marketing” the Short
Option Strategy m the wake of IRS Notice 2000-44. Nonetheless, KPMG
remained interested in marketing a strategy to the Egans to shelter ordinary
income from the exercise of options.

On December 11, 2000, John Schrier of KPMG reported internally that he had
met with Pat Shea “to discuss a structure designed to reduce taxes in connection
with [Dick Egan’s] proposed exercise of stock options.” {Ex. 43).

On December 14, 2000, Schrier was notifiec that Brian Rivotto of KPMG was
making a “pitch [to Carruth] for the ongoing consulting and compliance work,”
with Schrier to be positioned “as the resource for cutting edge tax plamming
strategies.” (Jd.).

On January 3, 2001, Pat Shea wrote a memorandum to file Iabeled “Tax strategy
for opticns.” (Shea, 16:35-36; Ex. 676). The memorandum addressed recent
discussions he had with Michael Egan, Jack Egan, and Jim Reiss conceming
“whether [it] made sense” for Carruth to implement “the tax elimination strategies

and deferral plans” of KPMG or another promoter. (Ex. 676). Both Michael
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Egan and Jack Egan told Shea that “they didn’t think it was a good time to enter
into such a transaction” because of the level of “participation and co-operation™
required with EMC. (Jd).
434, OnJanuary 19, 2001, Shea sent an e-mail to Michae! Egan:
KPMG wants o present to me another program for tax
minimization on February 12 -- do you want to attend? Maybe [
can feel it out and if interested you can meet as a follow-up -- let's
discuss --
(Shea, 16:37; Ex. 681).
435.  On February 1, 2001, Shea sent Michael Egan an e-mail “update.” (Shea, 16:56;
Ex. 752). In the e-mail, Shea informed him that he was
meeting [on February 12} with KPMG in Boston to discuss various
tax elimination strategies they have available -- they are bringing
partners from New York and California to the meeting -- if they
have anything interesting or that may work for us I will set a follow
up meecting with vou.
(Ex. 752). In the same e-mail, Shea indicated that he had also met with another
promoter concerning possible “tax savings.” (Jd). The e-mail continued:
I have talked with Helios about other strategies they may
have available also -- at least by meeting with KPMG,
Helios and [the other promoter] we will get a feel what is
on the market for elimination strategies and the amount of
activity going on in the industry --  will keep vou posted --
(Id).
436. Or February 12, 2001, Schrier introduced Timothy Speiss of KPMG to Shea for
the purpose of proposing tax strategies for his consideration. (Ex. 735).

According to Shea’s notes, one of the strategies discussed was the “loss

importation - Helios short option plan.” (Ex. 762}.
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440,

On February 15, 2001, in an e-mait to Haber concerning the High Tech
transaction, Shea stated, “[ also would like to talk to you regarding additional
strategies you may have available.” (Ex. 771). Shea and Haber had follow-up
discussions concerning those “additional strategies.” (Shes, 16:102-03; Ex. 627).
Shea informed Michae!l Egan of these discussions. (M. Egan, 9:91; Ex. 627).
On March 16, 2001, Prifti and Shea had a conversation concerning additional tax
strategies. (Ex. 791). Shea was “locking for solutions to help deal with . . . fthe
income from the exercise of}] those [EMC] options.” {Shea, 23:111}. Shea
requested that

KPMG specifically lock at a solution that could off-

set [sic] the ordinary income hit from the spread on

the exercise of the [nonqualified EMC stock!

options. Since the spread would be a [Form] 1095

- event, the ideal off-set would be a “Line 217

white-paper netting transaction.
(Ex. 791). Line 21 is the line on an income tax return (Form 1040) for reporting
“other miscelianeous income.” (Prifti, 25:77). A “white paper” is a statement or
schedule that is attached to a tax return. (Jd. at 25:78). A “netting transaction” is
one where 2 gain and a loss are combined. (/4 at 25:75).
On March 28, 2061, Speiss spoke with Pat Shea by telephone and suggested a2
KPMG tax strategy called “Furam” that would “convert $150 miilion in ordinary
income.” (Ex. 802). The Egans did not, however, adopt the strategy.
In the summer of 2001, Shea attended a Boston Red Sox game with Prifii and

Rivetto of the local Boston office of KPMG. At the game, they discussed tax

strategies. (Ex. 501; Shea, 16:107). Specifically, Shea said the following to
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Prifti:

Bob, vou know, some of those investments in -- in fax
structures that you talked to me periodically about, we -- we
may have an interest in those, and specifically those that
potentially can result in a favorable tax benefit. And he
said, you know, a loss generator,

(Prift, 25:16).

The Desizn and Development of the FDIS Strateoy

1. DGs “2001 Partnership Strategy Memorandugm™

441. At some point in early 2001, DGI/Helios and Alpha devised a new variation of its
tax shelter product that it called the “Financial Derivatives investment Strategy,”
or “FDIS.”

442, In & memorandum dated March 23, 2001, entitled “2001 Partnership Option
Strategy,” Orrin Tilevitz of DGI detailed the steps of a strategy by which
nartnership gains and losses from paired options were allocated among partners
according to their respective common interests in the partnership. (Ex. 8G1).
According to the memorandum, the “loss” would be largely allocated to the
taxpayer/investor and the “gain” o a “foreign person not subject to U.S. taxing
jurisdiction.” ({d.).

443.  James Haber of DGI sent the Partnership Option Strategy memorandum to R.J.
Ruble at Brown & Wood on March 23, 2001, In his cover e-mail, Haber said:

We have revised our contemplated Partnership Strategy with what
we hope will be & better result. Please review the outline and see if
there are any faults in our reasoning or thinking, We expect tc be

iaunching the idea within the next 3-4 days, so I humbly ask for
your immediate attenticn.
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444,

445.

446.

447.

448,

(Ex. 797).

DGI also sent the Partnership Option Strategy memorandum to Ira Akselrad at
Proskauer. {Ex. 798). Akselrad responded that he “iikeld] the change” because
“we can position it as a hedge[,] 1.e. investor likes investment but wants to lessen
exposure.” (Jd.).

Further Development of the “Firancial Derivatives Investment Stratesy”

On April 4, 2001, Tan circulated for “review and comment” draft marketing
materials for the new strategy under the name “Financial Derivatives Investment
Strategy.” (Ex. 809). The materials were in the form of a PowerPoint
presentation. (/d). The materials were sent to, among others, R.J. Ruble at
Brown & Wood, Ira Akselrad at Proskauer, and lawyers at Lord Bissell & Brook
and Bryan Cave. (Jd).

Ruble and Akselrad participated in a conference call with Haber, Tilevitz, and
others on April 4 to discuss the new strategy. (Exs. 807, 812).

DC1/Helios also involved four accounting firms to assist in the development and
marketing of the FDIS strategy and to prepare and file tax returns. The four finps
were KPMG, BDO Seidman, Grant Thomton, and REM McGladrey. (Exs. 810,
811, 924, 2087).

On Aprit 4, 2001, Tan circulated the draft marketing materials to BDO Seidman
and, on April 5, to RSM McGladrey. (Exs. 8§10, 811). Ron Wainright at RSM
McGladrey received a copy of the materials. (Ex. 811).

The draft marketing materials described the strategy (at least as it was to be
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pitched to taxpayer-investors) and gave the background of the key personnel at
DGI and Alpha. (Ex. 813). The draft marketing materials—like the carlier Helios
materials-—also stated the following:

.. . we view our ability to firmly manage and control the process of

getting two to four sets of attorneys and accountants to

expeditiously reach the desired conclusions as being one of our

most valuable contributions to our clients.
{id.
On April 5, 2001, Ruble circulated his proposed modifications to the FDIS
marketing materials to Tan, Haber, Tilevitz, Akselrad, and others. (Ex. 814). In
the cover e-mail, Ruble wrote:

Basically, I have eliminated the term ‘Foreign Investor’ and

replaced if with the term ‘Investor(s).” To the party

receiving it, the status of the other investor (or whether

there are more than one) 1s irrelevant as an investment

matter. The status and role can always be explained one-

on-one.
(Id).
On April 5, 2001, Wainwright sent an internal e-mail at RSM McGladrey
concerning the “client presentation” materials for the new FDIS strategy. (Ex.
82G). The e-mail noted that the materials

... should “not” be distributed outside our [group] and

if/when a presertation is made to a client the below

information is collected by [DGI] and will not be left with

the client for confidentiality purposes.
(Id).

On June 27, 2001, DGI sent Grant Thomton a copy of the marketing materials for

FDIS. (Ex.924). In the cover memorandum, Haber wrote: “This is to confirm

i21



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 122 of 357

£53.

434,

456.

that the enclosed materials will not be distributed to anybody.” (Jd.).

The Foreign Partners — Mahoney and Hawkes

As described above, the FDIS strategy required that the majority of any “gain”
from the transaction be allocated to 2 foreign partner who was not subject to
United States tax jurisdiction.

James Haber enlisted twg Irish citizens, Sammuel Mahoney and Martin Hawkes, to
play the role of the foreign partners. (Mahoney Dep. at 3-4; Hawkes Dep. at 55).
Haber described the FDIS strategy to them, and provided a copy of the
PowerPoint presentation, in May 2001, (Mahoney Dep. at 3-4; Hawkes Dep. at
35).

Ultimately, and as described in greater detail below, Mahoney or Hawkes served
“in the role of foreign partner” in 47 FDIS transactions in 2001, and 35 overall.
(Mahoney Dep. at 6-7; Hawkes Dep. at 57-58; Ex. 2060). They served the role of
partner on an alternating basis as the deals came in. (Mahoney Dep. at §; Hawkes
Dep. at 59).

The role of Mahoney and Hawkes in the FDIS transactions was to follow the steps
described in an outline prepared by DGI/Helics. (Mahoney Dep. at §; Hawkes
Dep. at 60). Neither contributed any funds, performed any substantial work, or
made any investment decisicns. (Mahoney Dep. at 6, 13-22; Hawkes Dep. at 60,
63-72). To the extent funds were required, they were provided by DGl or another
entity. (Mahoney Dep. at 20-22; Hawkes Dep. at 70-72). Mahoney and Hawkes

were paid an aggregate fee by DGI for the services in 2001 of $2 million, which
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438,

460.

461.

462.

was not differentiated by transaction. (Mahoney Dep. at 16; Hawkes Dep. at 66;
Ex. 1657).

The payments to Mahoney and Hawkes were treated as expenses patd by
PGl/Helios and Alpha from gross revenues. {d).

Both Maheoney and Hawkes understood that the purpose of the FDIS transactions
was to “generate tax losses” for U.S. taxpayers. {Mahoney Dep. at 11-12; Hawkes
Dep. at 662).

The Model Opinioxn for FIIS Stratesy

The FDIS strategy, like its predecessors, included, among other things, the
preparation of individual legal opinion letters for each taxpayer and each
“investment.” One of the principal purposes of the legal opinion was to serve as a
form of msurance against the imposition of tax penalties, and therefore induce the
taxpayer/investor to purchase the tax shelter. As Orrin Tilevitz of DGI/Helios put
it in a memorandum to Bryan Cave in February 2002 concerning & different
taxpayer: “The opinion has two goals: to insulate the investor from penaities and
ithe law firm} from malpractice.” (Ex. 1662).

DGI/Helios, the law firms, and the accounting firms together created model, or
template, opinion letters.

By Aprit 25, 2001, DGI and Brown & Wood had created a draft model opinion for
the FDIS transaction on Brown & Wood letterhead. (Ex. 864).

Ruble, Tilevitz, Haber, and John Barrie of Bryan Cave, among others, made

comments and suggestions on the model opinion over the next few months. (Id;
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Exs. 835, 981).

Ruble “sipned off” on a “generic form” of the FDIS opinion in the summer of
2001, (Ex. 1600},

The legal fees of the four law firms for the opinion letters were generally paid by
DGU/Helios and Alpha as an expense.  {(Ex. 1657).

The law firm of Brown, Raysman, Millstein, Felder & Steiner also prepared
“form documents” for the implementation of the FDIS strategy, including an
Investor LLC Operating Agreement, a Fund LLC Operating Agreement, a
Contribution Agreement, and Notices. {Ex. 1282). Those fees were alsc paid by
DG/ Helios and Alpha as an expense.  (Ex. 1657),

The 2001 FDIS Transaetions

Ultimately, the FDIS strategy was successfully pitched to dozens of taxpayers.
The exact total is unclear from the record, in part due to differences in the
counting of “customers” or “clients” and “transactions.”

A DGI/Helios/Alpha fee analysis document from March 2002 listed €1 “2001
customers.” (Ex. 1657). The same document indicates that the size of the
transactions of those customers totaled more than $1.5 billion. (Jd). The fees
paid to the promoters were listed as more than $32 million. (Jd).

An internal DGI document from December 2002 listed approximately 44 clients
(including Richard Egan} for what appear to be FDIS transactions. (Ex. 2087).
On February 28, 2002, Grant Thomton sent an invoice to DGI for the preparation

of 45 partnership tax returns for 2001 FDIS transactions for a fee of $90,000, or
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$2,000 per return. {Ex. 1618). The 45 returns that Grant Thornton prepared
included 25 returns reporting an ordinary loss and 25 returns reporting a short-
term capital loss {some reported both). (Exs. 3826, 38264).
In January 2002, DGI sent memoranda to attorneys at different firms that stated
the following:

Below 1s a list of tax opinions we propese to be prepared by your

firm and proposed [or agreed to] compensation for such

preparation.
(Ex. 1519). The memorandum to Ira Akselrad at Proskauer listed 28 opinions for
19 “clients,” including Richard and Meaureen Egan, and various “opinion types,”
such as “standard partnership” or “stock dribble.” (/4 }. A similar memorandum
sent to R.J. Ruble at Sidley Austin lists 30 opinions for 22 clients, again including
Richard and Maureen Egan; some of the opimons were “old style,” and therefore
presumably not FDIS transactions. (Jd.}. A similar memorandum was sent to
John Barrie at Bryan Cave, listing 24 opintons for 12 clients. (/d}. The record

does not include any similar memorandum for Lord Bissell.

T, KPMG and Helios Pitch the FIDES Strategy to the Egans

471.

472,

At some point in the summer of 2001, KPMG and DGI/Helios decided to pitch
the FDIS strategy to the Egans as a strategy for sheltering the ordinary income
they received from the exercise of options.

On August 15, 2001, Brian Rivotto of KPMG sent an e-mail to Speiss seeking to
set up & meeting with the Egans, noting that “[t]hey are still interested in a loss

generator” because they had “ordinary income” from “the exercise of options in
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January.” (Ex. 969).

The September 2001 KPMG PowerPoint Preseniations

By September 7, 2001, KPMG had prepared presentation materials concerning
“Egan Family Entities Tax Advantaged Investment Structures.” (Ex. 154). The
materials included proposed “income tax elimination sclutions.” ({d.).

On September 13, 2001, Shea, Reiss, Denby, and various representatives of
KPMG participated in a conference call concerning the new strategy. (Exs. 1014,
156; Shea, 16:113). Shea’s notes indicate that the participants discussed the fact
that the Egans had “$150 million of income due to option exercise in January.”
(Ex. 1014).

On September 17, 2001, Rivotto of KPMG sent Reiss a proposed PowerPoint
presentation for an “Egan Family Entities Tax Advantaged Investment Structure.”
(Ex. 1817). The presentation described 2 multi-step transaction involving the use
of paired options to step up the basis of the Egans” ownership interest in a multi-
member LLC. (Jd.). The fransaction used a “straddie” to aliccate the gains on the
transaction to a tax-indifferent (foreign) co-investor and the losses to the Egans.
({d.). The presentation alsc contained diagrams of the various steps of, and parties
to, the proposed transaction. {(Id).

As with the earlier marketing presentations, the September 17 PowerPoint
presentation indicated that the Egans could obtain a “more likely than not” tax
opinion from one of four law firms: Sidley Austin (the successor by merger to

Brown & Wood), Proskauer, Bryan Cave, or Lord Bissell. (id).
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483.

The September 17 PowerPoint presentation stated that the “expected income tax
consequence[]” to the Egans on the transaction was an ordinary loss of $150
million, which, in turn, could be used to offset ordinary income of that same
amount, resulting in a taxable net gain of zero. (Jd).

The September 17 PowerPoint presentation showed that the “Expected
Permanent Tax Benefits” of the proposed transaction were $62,500,000. (Jd).
This “Permanent Tax Benefits” amount was later corrected, after Pat Shea pointed
out an error, to be $65,250,000. (Ex. 1034, 2596; Shea, 16:114).

Further Discussions and the “Qutline of Proposed Transaction®

On September 20, 2001, Speiss forwarded a revised version of the KPMG
PowerPoint presentation dated September 21, and related materials, to Pat Shea
and James Haber. (Ex. 1034}, The Septemnber 21 presentation showed essentially
the same information and diagrams as the earlier presentation.

Shea kept Michae! Egan up to date on the discussions with KPMG and Helios
concerning the ordinary income strategy. (M. Egan, 9:90-31, 98-69).

The September 21 PowerPoint presentation inciuded an “Outline of Proposed
Transaction™ dated September 20 that listed various steps to implement the
nroposed tax strategy. (Ex. 1034).

Shea took handwritten notes on the September 20 “Outline of Proposed
Transaction,” based on his conversations with KPMG gbout the presentation.
(Shea, 23:113-14; Ex. 1024).

On September 21, 2001, Thomas Levato, an associate at the Brown Raysmen law
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firm, e-mailed coples of FDIS “form documents™ to Haber. (Ex. 1282). Haber
forwarded the “form documents” by e-mail to Denby, Reiss, Fiddy, and Shea.
Denby later edited the forms for their use with the Fidelity Intemational
transaction. (Jd.; Denby, 28:48-49).

On September 25, 2001, Speiss, Haber, Denby, and various Carruth employees
held a conference call to discuss the “outline of proposed transaction” and the
various steps regquired to consunumate the transaction. (Ex. 1046).

On September 27, 2001, Carruth generated a further updated version of the
Outline of Propesed Transaction. (Ex. 1056).

On Cctober 5, 2001, Speiss, representatives of Helios, Michael Egan, Shea, and
others participated in a conference call to discuss the FDIS strategy. (Ex. 161).

The Decision to Adopt the FDIS Strategy

At some point prior to October 8, 2001, Michae! Egan decided to execute the
FDIS strategy proposed by Helios and KPMG.

OCn October 8, 2001, Carruth wired the funds te Refeo for the options premium.
(Ex. 1103).

Also on Getober 8, 2001, Shea e-mailed Haber:

When will we get the cpinion letters and do I have to contact
anyone or will you take care of that 77

(Ex. 1092). Haber responded:

‘We work with the law firm. Opinions will be delivered in January.
Have you decided on a law firm. Choices are: Proskauer Rose
LLP, Sidley Austin Brown & Wood LLP, Bryan Cave or Lord
Bissell & Brook.
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490.

(Id). Shea consulted with Stephanie Denby, who recommended Sidley Austin as
the most “highly regarded,” and added that “they have done the best epinicn
tetters T have seen.” (Ex. 1103).

On October 9, 2001, Shea called Ron Buesinger at Alpha. (Ex. 1109). Shee
advised him that he had met with Michael Egan and that they were “ready to

move forward” with the Fidelity International transaction. ({d.).

Implementation of the Fidelity International Transaction

491,

492.

493,

494,

The Fidelity International transaction consisted of a sequence of steps that were
consistent with the Cutline of Proposed Transaction dated September 20, 2001, as
well as later updated Qutlines of Transaction dated Ccetober 17, 2001, and October
25, 2001.

Step One: Creation of Entities

As described above, Fidelity World and Fidelity International had been formed as
LLCs on July 19, 2000, before the issuance of Notice 2000-44. Fidelity World
was a single-member LL.C whose only member was Richard Egan. (Ex. 2).
Fidelity International was a multi-member LLC. (Id).

Step Two: Fidelity World Enters Into Interest Rate Ontions

Foliowing the formation of the two LLCs, the second step of the transaction was
for Fidelity World to enter into paired interest-rate options. (Ex. 1107).

On October 9, 2001, Fidelity World purchased and sold two pairs of interest-rate
options with Refco as the counterparty. (Jd; Kolbe, 36:25; Dem. Ex. 2839; Ex.

2). Fidelity World purchased the options for a total of $150 million and seld
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offsetting options for a price of $147.75 million, for an actual net cost to the
Egans of $2.25 mallion. (Exs. 2, 1110).

One of these pairs was a pair of call optiors on the three-month LIBOK rate and
the other was a pair of put options on the ten-year constant-maturity swap
(“CMS™) vield. (Exs. 2, 1117-1120). The options were “digital” and “Buropean”
in nature. As described above, that meant that the amount of the pavout was fixed
in advance as a lump sum and the options could be excised only on their
expiration date, and not before. Each of the four options comprising the pairs had
a term of 44 days. The two options, within each pair, almost entirely offset one
another, because one was a long option (that is, purchased) and the other was a
short option (that is, sold), with nearly but not precisely identical features. (Exs.
2, 1117-1120). The terms of the interest rate options can be summarized as
follows:

LIBOR Option Pair

Ciption

Maturity Date

Underlying

Strike Price

Initial
Premium

Possible
Payout

Purchased Call

10/9/2002

3—month LIBOR

3.8740

{875.,000,000) |

$307,003,555

Soid Call

13/6/2002

3-mmonth LIBOR

3.8770 |

373,875,000

($303,633,750)

Net Initial
Premiwm:
{81,125,000)

Net Possible
Payout:
83,365,805

(Ex. 2).
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CMS Option Pair

Option

Possible
Payout

Imitizl
Preminm

Maturity Date Underlying Strike Price

Purchased Put

10/9/2002 10-year CMS 47620 | ($75,000,000)

§307,736,484 |
Swap

Seld Put

10/9/2002 10-year CMS 47620 $73,875,000 | ($303,668,823)

Swap

Net Possible
Payout:
$3,367,663

Net Initial
Premiwm:
($1,125,000)

(Id).

496.

497.

As noted, the net premium for each pair of the interest rate options was $1.125
rxillion, or $2.25 million in total, and was paid by Fidelity World to Refco.
Fidelity World was thus a net buyer in the transactions, because the premium for
the option it bought in each pair exceeded the premium for the option it sold.
Although the potential “Payout Amount” stated for each individual option was
more than $300 million, the actual net payout available 1o the taxpayer if the
options were in the money at expiration was only 83.36 million on either pair,
before accounting for fees and costs. Similarly, the stated premium for each of the
four individual options was many times greater than the net premium actually
paid; the two long options had a stated premium of $75 million each ($150
million in total) and the two short options had a premium of $74.875 million each,
with the result that the net premium actually paid for eack pair was only $1.25
million. (Exs. 2, 1117-1120).

The likelihood of both the LIBOR option pair and the CMS opticn pair being in
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the money at the same time was effectively equivalent to zero. As a result,
although there was a theoretical possibility of one pair gererating a positive
peyout before fees and costs, this could not happen for both pairs. (Rausser,
40:47-56; Dem., Exs. 3746-3746).

On October 16, 2001, Haber sent Michael Egan, Denby, and Speiss a revised
Qutline of Proposed Transaction that was updated to show details of steps in the
transaction that had already been completed, and enclosing examples of euro and
yen range trades. (Ex. 1140).

Step Three: Capitalization of Fidelity International

The next step, and the first of several steps occurring on October 22, 2001, was
the capitalization of Fidelity International. (Kolbe, 36:28-29; Dem. Ex. 2840; Ex.
1181).

a. The Contribution of Fidelity World

On October 22, 2001, Richard Egan contributed 100% of his ownership interest in
Fidelity Werld to Fidelity International. The contribution of Fidelity Worid was
valued at 1,559,439, based upon the market velue of the options, which were its
only asset. (Kolbe, 36:25-30; Dem. Ex. 2841; Ex. 2).

b. The Porported Inerease in Basis

In any given tax year, individual taxpayers are only permitted to offset capital
losses against ordinary income to the extent of $3,000. (LaRue, 43:50-91). It was
thus necessary for the parties to find a way to create purported ordinary losses that

could be offset against ordinary income.
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In addition, under Section 704{d), a partner is permitted to deduct his distributive
share of the partrership’s losses only to the extent of his tax basis in his
parinership interest as of the end of the partnership’s tax vear (before
consideration of those losses). It was thus necessary for the promoters to inflate
Richard Egan’s tax basis as well as create an artificial [oss.

The parties intended that the transfer from Fidelity World to Fidelity International
create the claimed step-up in basis. Thus, rotes written by Shea on an “Outline of
Proposed Transaction” indicate that the confribution by Rickard Egan of his
member interest ir the single-member LLC “creates [the| cutside basis [of] $150
million.” (Ex. 1024). Notes taken by Calkins during the September 25
conference call state the same. (Ex. 1046).

As described below, the Egans subsequently took the position that only the $150
million of stated premiurns debited for the long interest-rate options should be
taken inte account in calculating their basis in Fidelity International, and that the
$147,875,000 of premium credited for the two short interest-rate options should
be disregarded.

As aresult, Richard Egan claimed a basis in Fidelity International of more than
$150 million, even though the net premium paid by him for the contributed
interest-rate options was only $2.25 million.

£ Other Canital Contributions

Also on October 22, 2001, Richard Egan and the other LLC members made or

were credited with contributions to capitalize Fidelity Intemnational. Specifically,

N
Ls)
(WS
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503.

510.

Richard Egan made a cash contribution of $2,674,500; Samuel Mzhoney was
credited with making & contribution of $651,000; and Alpha and Helios

were credited with making a contribution of $7,000. (Ex. 2).

These capital contributions were allocated between corumon and preferred
interests in Fidelity International as follows: Richard Egan was assigned 2
common Interest in Fidelity International of 5%; Mahoney was assigned a
common interest of 93%; and Alpha and Helios were each assigned a common
interest of 1%. (Jd; Ex. 6). In addition, Richard Egan was assigned 100% of the
preferred interests. (Ex. 2).

As a result of these contributions, Richard Egan had an 86% capital share in
Fidelity International, but only a 5% share in the common interests. (Id.).
Conversely, Mahoney, the foreign member, had a 13.25% cepital share, but had &
53% share in the common interests. (Jd.). As a consequence, on October 22,
2001, Richard Egan would have been entitled to receive only 5% of any profits
that might be generated from the options and cash he had just transferred to
Fidelity International. {Carron, 11:36).

Richard Egan thus centributed 1,559,439 in options and $2,674,500 in cash to
Fidelity Intemational, for a total initial contribution of $4,233,939.

The contributions and resulting membership shares of each partner in Fidelity

International as of Getober 22, 2001, appear in the table below.
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Fidelity Intermational; Capital Contributions and Shares as of October 22, 2001

LLC Member Capital Contributions Aggregate . Proportionate |, FPreportiopate |
Capital Capital Share Profit and
Common Preferred Acecount Loss/Commen
Share
Richard Egan $35,000 $2,639,500 {cash) 54,233,939 B6.43% 5% |
$1,559,438 (valus of
Fidelity Werld)

Samue! $651,000 0 $651,000 13.29% | 93% |
Mahoney '
Alpha $7.000 ¢ $7,000 0.14% | 1%
Consuitants |

LLC

Helios Trading §7,000 | ¢ $7,000 0.14% | 19% |
LLC ’

(Ex. 2).

4.

wh
[y
—

512.

Sten Four: Fidelity International Enters Into Forelon Currency Ontions

In the next step of the transaction, which also occurred on October 22, 2001,

Fidelity International entered into eight currency option trades with Refco as its

counterparty. The eight options consisted of two cuartets, with each quartet

consisting of two pairs. (Kelbe, 36:32; Dem. Ex. 2842; Ex. 2).

a, The Terms of the Forelgr Currencev Options

One of these quartets was a set of options on the U.S. dellar to eurc (USD/EUR)

exchange rate, consisting of 2 purchased call and a scld call as one pairand a

purchased put and a sold put as a second pair. (Kolbe, 36:32; Dem. Ex. 2842; Ex.

2). The second quartet was a set of options on the exchange rate of the Japanese

ven to the U.S. dollar (JPY/USD), consisting of a purchased call and a sold call as

one pair and 2 purchased put and a sold put as a second pair, (Kolbe, 36:32; Dem.

(%)
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Ex. 2842; Ex. 2).

513, The terms of the foreign currency options can be summarized as follows:
USD/EUR Option Quartet
Option Maturity Underlying Strike Price | Initial Premium | Peossible Payout
Diate

Sold Call 4/19/2002 1 USD/EUR 0.8656 $200,800,000 ($3233,260,084)
| Purchased Call | 4/15/2002 | USD/EUR 0.8653 (§167,7G6,830) $328,877,361
Seld Put 4/16/2002 | USD/EUR 0.8E15 $200,606,000 ($1,415,123,720)
Purchased Put 4/19/2002 | USD/EUR 0.8118 (5199,460,342) $1,411,740,997

Net Initial Net Possible

Premium: Payout:
($2,832,828) {34,382,723)
{Ex. 2}
JPY/USD Option Quartet
Option Maturity Underlying Strike Price | Initial Premium Possible Payout
Date

Sold Pat 4/19/2002 | IPY/USD 123.63 $200,000,000 ($333,260,084)
Purchesed Put 4/19/2002 | JPY/USD i23.65 ($197.711,391) $328,877,361
Seld Call 4/19/2062 | JPY/USD 130.89 $200,000,000 (81,416,125,720)
Purchased Cal 4/19/20602 | JPY/USD 130.86 ($199,453,297) £1,411,740,997

Net Initial Net Possibie

Premiun Payout;
$2,835,212 (54,285,135}

(Id.).

514,

Fidelity International’s net premium for these currency trades was positive,

meaning that the premium on the options it sold was larger than the premium on

the options it purchased. Fidelity International was credited with a net premium

from Refco 0f $2,832,828 on the USD/EUR options and $2,835,212 on the
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515.

S1e6.

Lh
ot

JPY/USD options. ({d). However, Refco required Fidelity International to leave
these funds on deposit and to post an additional 83 million of cash collateral in
case it lost money on the options. (/d; Rausser, 40:39-40).

b. The Structure of the Foreien Currency Option Palrs

The foreign currency quartets consisted of carefully balanced pairs in which a soid
option was matched with a purchased option on almost identical terms. (Kolbe,
36:98-106; Dem. Exs. 2866-2870).

It was not possible for beth pairs in the USD/EUR quartet to pay off at expiration.
The call pair would pay off if the USD/EUR rate was at or above 0.8656; the put
pair would pay off if the USD/EUR rate was at or below 0.8115. (Kolbe, 36:33-
34; Ex. 2). Because they shared the same expiration date, both pairs could never
simultanecusly be in the money. (Kolbe, 36:33-34). Likewise, it was not possible
for both pairs in the JPY/USD quartet to pay off at expiration. The call pair would
pey off if the JPY/USD rate was at or above 130.89; the put pair would pay off if
the JPY/USD rate was at or below 123.63. (/d at 36:33-34; Ex. 2). Because they
shared the same expiration date, both pairs could never simultanecusly be in the
money. {Kolbe, 36:33-34).

The foreign currency option pairs had very narrowly separated strike prices. (/4
at 36:57-38, 99). All of the currency-option pairs had & common expiration date
six months away. (/d. at 36:99). Like the interestwrate options, all of the foreign-
currency options were digital and all had large stated, or “notional,” payout

amounts. (/d). Despite the large notional payouts, the options had little net gain
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518,

516.

521.

or loss potential, because the long and short positions offset each other. {/d).
The net value of the combined quartet could not materially change over time. As
the market price moved closer to or beyond the strike price specified in one of the
purchased options, it would gain value. However, that gain would be
counterbalanced by a simultaneous loss in value on the paired option with its
closely matching termms. A movement in the underlying currency would affec
them almost equally but in opposite directions. (Kolbe, 36:58-106; Dem. Exs.
2866-2870).

As aresult, at any peint in time, one side of the pair would be producing a gain
while the other side would be producing an offsetting loss. (Kolbe, 36:98-106;
Dem. Exs. 2866-2870).

Int the eurc quartet, the purchased call and sold put were both bets that the eure
would strengthen relative to the dollar. They were counterbalanced by a sold call
and a purchased put that were bets in the opposite direction (that is, that the eurc
would weaken relative to the dollar). No matter which direction the exchange rate
moved, one side of each pair would gain value, while the other would lose value.
In the pair of options made up of calls, if the euro increased in value, the
purchased call would gain in value, while the sold call would lose a roughly
equivalent amount of value. If, on the other hand, the euro decreased in value,
these positions would be reversed. The same observation applics to the quartet of
JPY/USD options. (Kolbe, 36:100-01; Dem. Ex. 2867).

Thus, on a net basis, the foreign currency gains and losses virtuzally offset each
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522.

523.

524.

525.

526.

527.

other. (Kolbe, 36:106-14; Dem. Exs. 2871-2874). However, as described below,
the Fidelity International transaction was structured 1o separate these gzins and
losses, allocating the “gains” principally to Mahoney, a tax-indifferent foreign
partner, and the “losses” principally to Richard Egan, the U.8. taxpayer.

e, The Possibility of 2 One-Option Paveut

As with the Fidelity High Tech transaction, the Fidelity International transaction
involved a theoretical possibility of 2 huge payout to the Egans if (as to any pair of
offsetting options} one option was in the money and the other was not. For
example, the theoretical possible payout on one of the USD/EUR option pairs
exceeded $1.4 billion. (Ex. 2).
Again, for any one-option payout to be even possible, the reference price would
have to hit a precise target within e narrow window.
Again, Refco effectively had the power to ensure that the final reference price
would not permit the long option to be in the money if the short option were not.
Under the Refco agreements, the reference price was defined in 2 way to permit
Refco to select a price in a defined window, usually from three different options.
For the LIBOR option pairs, the reference price was defined fo be
the price of the 3 Month Libor Closing Range defined by the prices
betweer 2:45 ard 3:00 P.M., New York City time on the

Termination Date, . . . as published by Bloomberg and determined
by [Refco] in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manmner.

13%
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528. For the CMS option pairs, the reference price was defined to be
the average of the midpoints of the bid and offer closing prices of
the USD 10 Year Swap Yield as quoted by three (3) Money Center
Banks between 3:00 and 3:15 P.M., New York City time on the
Expiration Date, . . . and determined by [Refco] in good faith and
in a commercially reasonable manner.
({d).
529.  For the USD/EUR and JPY/USD option pairs, the reference price was defined
to be
the average of the midpoints of the bid and offer closing prices of
the USD/EUR [or JPY/USD] Spot Rate as guoted by three (3)
Money Center Banks between 10:00 AM. and 10:15 A M., New
York City time on the Expiration Date, . . . and determined by
[Refeo] in good faith and in 2 commercially reasonable manner.
(id.).

530.  As a practical matter, that meant that the possibility of a one-option payout was
non-existent. Again, Refco generally had the power to select from multiple prices
within a particular window of time.

531. Again, the parties could have used a precise, unambiguous number, but chose not

to.

d, Targeting of Galns

532.  Alpha monitored the value of the individuel foreign currency options on at least a
daily basis. (Kolbe, 36:112; Ex. 2). The selection of foreign curencies as the
underlying asset made these options especially amenable to generating huge gains
and losses for bookkeeping purposes, but without any net economic

consequences. The high volatility and large underlving notional size of the
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currencies meant that price movement was inevitable and that even small
movements would be sufficient to produce large changes in the lguidation value
of an individual option. (Kolbe, 36:108-115; Dem. Exs. 2873-2875).

533.  On October 25, 2001, Ron Buesinger of Alpha e-mailed Haber that “as of this
morning we had roughly $100MM in gains that could be triggered,” and that the
taxpayer’s advisors were targeting a gain of $174.716 million for this step of the
Fidelity International transaction. (Kolbe, 36:116-18; Ex. 1207).

534, Also on October 25, Haber prepared another updated Outline of Proposed
Transaction. (Ex. 1202). He circulated the updated outline to Shea, Fiddy,
Michael Egan, Speiss, and Denby. (Ex. 1203). At that point, several of the steps
of the transaction had already occurred; they were reported as completed in that

version of the outline. (Ex. 1202).

5, Step Five: Termination of Gair Legs and Entering Into Renlacement Legs
5335, The fifth step occurred on October 29, 2001. That day, Fidelity International

agreed with Refco to terminate the two USD/EUR options that had experienced
increases in value, one from cach pair in the USID/EUR qguartet. These were
referred to as the “gain” legs. (Exs. 2. 1236). The premium that was credited to
Fidelity International for these fwo terminated options was simultanecusly used to
purchase replacement options with nearly identical terms. (Exs. 2, 1236). The net
cost of these replacement options was $14,415, meaning that the price of the
options was immaterially different from the premiurm credited for the terminated

options that they replaced. (Exs. 2, 1236).
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536.

Lh

)

One day later, on October 30, 2001, Fidelity International entered into the same
arrangement with regard to the JPY/USD quartet, agreeing with Refco to
terminate the two JPY/USD options that had gained value, again one from each
pair in the quartet. (Exs. 2, 1241). The proceeds that were credited vpon on the
termination of these two options (the “gain” legs) were simultanecusly used to
purchase replacement options with nearly identical terms. (Exs. 2, 1241). The net
cost to Fidelity International for the JPY/USD replacement options was $14,050,
representing the difference between the premium credited for the termination of
the old options and the premium debited for the execution of the new,
replacement options. (Exs. 2, 1241).

The acquisition of the replacement options maintained the carefully balanced risk
position of the initial guartet and assured that there was no material exposure to
any economic gain or loss. However, the premium debited on paper for the
replacement options meant that there was a loss built into the reconstituted quartet
that approximated the amount of the gain recorded on the termination of the
“gain” legs. (Kolbe, 36:108-113; Dem. Exs. 2873-2875). According to the
strategy, that loss could be realized by Fidelity International at the point the option
guartets were terminated or expired. {(Kolbe, 37:20-22; Dem. Ex. 2880).

Fidelity [nternational received no funds on the termination of the “gain” legs.

(Ex. 2). Instead, Refco credited Fidelity International with net proceeds of
$115,641,750 for the termination of the two USD/EUR “gain” legs, all of which
was applied to acquire the two replacement USD/EUR options. (Jd). Similarly,

for the terminations of the two JPY/USD “gain” legs, Refco credited Fidelity
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International with net proceeds in the amount of $55,379,553, all of which was

applied simultaneously to acquire the repiacement JPY/USD options. (Jd).

539.

To calculate the allocable gains from termination of the gain legs of the currency

options, Fidelity International recorded the net proceeds credited to it from each of

the terminated options. (Id.). That calculation is shown in the following charts:

UED/EUR options
terminated October 29,
2001

A

B

C=A+B

Initial Premium
Credited/(Debited) to
Fidelity International

Termination Proceeds
Credited/(Debited) to
Fidelity International

Taxable Gain Recorded
by Fidelity International

USB/EUR Call

($197,706,830)

$227,881,115

$30,174,285

USE/EUR Put

$200,000,000 |

(8112,239,363)

$87,760,625

$115,641,750
=amount of net proceeds
Refco credited to Fidelity
International, immediately
used to purchase
replacement option

$117,934,920
=amount of taxable pain
Fidelity International
recorded and allocated
among its members

(Id>.

JPY/USE options
terminated October 34,

A

B

C=A+B

Initial Premium

Terminztion Proceeds

Taxable Gair Recorded

2001 Credited/(Debited) to Credited/(Debited) to by Fidelity Internaticnal
Fidelity International Fidelity International
JPY/USD Put ($197,711,391) $210,321,601 £12,614,210
JPY/USD Call $£200,000,000 ($154,942,046} $45,057,954
55,379,855 857,068,164
=amount of et proceeds =amount of taxable pain
Refco credited to Fidelity Fidelity International
International, irmediately recorded and allocated
used o purchase among its members
replacement option
(1d).
540.  Asaresult of the gain leg terminations on October 25 and 30, 2001, Fidelity
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International recorded a taxable gain of $117,934,920 on the USD/EUR opticns

and $57,668,164 on the JPY/USD options, for & total taxable gain of

$175,503.084. (Id).

541. Fidelity International debited against this gain $1,617,245 of the adviscry fees it

had incurred, and allocated the remaining $173,985,828 of taxable gain among its

members based on their respective common interests as of October 29 and 30,

2001, (Ex. 2651). Richard Egan was allocated 5% of this gain and Samuel

Meahoney was allocated 93% of this gain. (Jd).

542. The member accounts were then further adiusted to aliocate the entirety of the

$1,617,246 in fees to the account of Richard Egan. (Jd).

543. The following chart shows the allecation of taxable gains among Fidelity

International's members according to their respective percentages of common

ownership prior to November 5, 2001:

Member Name

Member % of

Allgecated Portion

Allecated Portion

Net Gata

Common of $175,603,084 of (81,617,246) in Allpcation for

Ownership Prior Taxable Gain Advisory Fees Oetober 29-30,
to Movember 5, 2001 Terminations

2001

Richard J. Egen 5% $8,780,154 (81,617.246) $7,162,9G8
Samue! Mahoney 53% $163,310,868 0 $165,310,868
Alpha [% $1,756,031 0 $1,756,031
Helios 1% 51,756,031 Q $1,756,031

(Id; Ex. 2; Kolbe, 37:23-26; Dem. Ex. 2882).

&, Step Six: Buyout of Foreign “Partner”

544,  'The next step cccurred one week later, on November 5, 2001, On that date,

Richard Egan purchased an 88% common interest from Mahoney in Fidelity
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546.

International for $325,500. (Exs. 1269, 19, 2}. A minimum price had been
established ir the Fidelity International Operating Agreement, which specified
that one member could offer to buy all or part of the interest of another partner for
a price not less than 50% of the amount originally contributed by that partner for
the sold shares. (Ex. 2). Following this purchase, the common interest
percentages of Richard Egan and Mahoney were reversed: Richard Egan now held
93%, and Mahoney 5%. (/d).

Haber provided Shea with the buy-sell agreement for Richard Egan’s purchase of
Mahoney’s common interest and arranged for Mahoney to sign that decument.
{Shese, 23:41; M. Egan, 12:30; Ex. 1253).

Shea forwarded the buy-sell agreement to Richard Fgan for his execution on
November 6, 2001, after authorization by Michael Egan, and after the document
had already been signed by Mahoney. (Shea, 23:42; Ex. 1269).

The KPMG PowerPoint presentation stated that there was “no requirement or
deocument that infers or states that [Richard Egan! will possess or acquire an
option to obtain the co-investor’s LLC interest.” (Ex. 1034). In fact, that buyout
was an integral and planned part of the transaction. Calkins took notes on a copy

LRI |

of the “Outline of Proposed Transaction” that indicate, “[Samuel Mahoney] being
bought out for less from [Richard Egan] [because] he gets a portion of the fee
collected.” (Calkins, 35:54-55; Ex. 1028). On his copy of the September 21
PowerPoint presentation, Shea wrote that “[the co-investor] get[s] fee and 8%

interest.” (Ex. 1036). In other notes, Shea wrote, “when do we buy out Sam

Mahoney{?],” next to which he later wrote, “after we trigger gain.” (Ex. 843).
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548.

549,

351,

552.

On November i, 2001, Shea e-mailed Haber: “In the current [[idelity
International] transaction I know we need to buy out the Irish [Maheoney]
soon....” {Ex. 1245).

Step Seven: Close Qut of Interest Rate Ontions

On November 6, 2001, the day following the buy-back from Mahoney, Fidelity
International closed out the interest-rate options. (Ex. 2}, This was done by
entering into another set of options that were exactly opposite to the terms of the
initial interest rate options, in every detail. (/2). As a result of the entry into this
second set of offsetting options, the interest rate options collectively had zero net
value and no potential for future gain or loss. (M. Egan, 12:32; Shea, 23:50; Ex.
1275). No matter what happened thereafter to interest rates, there would be no
effect on Fidelity Internattonal’s economic posttion. In addition, the entry into
the second set of interest rate options on November 6, 2001, locked ir any gain or
loss from the interest rate options. (M. Egan, 12:32).

On November 27, 2001, Haber advised Robin Calkins that the desired loss could
“be triggered at any time.” (Ex. 1371). Even though the interest-rate trades had
no value and no economic consequence after November 6, 2001, they were kept in
place for “tax purposes” until 2002, (Id).

Indeed, according to contemporaneous notes taken by Reiss, they were held for at
least 2 “few more weeks” in order to try te avoid the application of the “step
transaction” docfrine. (Ex. 1384).

On October 18, 2001, Shea had met with Haber and Speiss to discuss the

transaction. (Ex. 1151). Shea’s notes indicate that Haber advised him that the
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554,

555.

Egans could “sell out” their interest in the Fidelity Internationa! transaction at
“any time -- [once] we have established cur basis and . . . triggered our gains on
the foreign currency trades -- however, for business purpose the longer we keep it
alive the better we are for presentation -- we don’t want to lock as a step
transaction in the IRS{*s] eyes.” (Id).

The termination of the foreign currency options prior to the close of the tax year
was a planned step in the transactions that had been determined in advance. For
example, Shea wrote on the Qutline of Proposed Transaction dated September 20,
2001, “Close the loss legs by 12-31-01.” (Ex. 1024}

Haber also advised Shea that the Egans would “want to keep Helios and Mahoney
in as partners until at least Janfuary] 03 to show beona fide pariners for at least 3
tax years,” and that they “need[ed] to keep this International Currency Fund open
for [zpproximately] 5 years.,” (Ex. 1419).
Step Eight: Termination of Remaining

Foreign Currency Options

The final step of the transaction occurred on December 3, 2001. That day, by
agreement with Refco, Fidelity International simultanecusly terminated all of its
remaining currency options (including the four replacement options entered into
on October 29 and 30, 2001). (Ex. 2). To accomplish the termination, Fidelity
International agreed to termination premium amounts that resulted in 2 recorded
“loss” on the euro transactions of $118,250,922 and a recorded “loss” on the ven
transactions of $57,861,427, for a total “ioss” of §176,152,345. (Jd). Fidelity
Internationai recorded these amounts on its books for a combined “loss” on the

currency trades of $178,124,493, which included $1,972,15% in advisory fees.
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(Kolbe, 37:23-26; Dem. Ex. 2882; Ex. 2651). This was the amount of the “loss”

that had effectively been pre-determined when the “gain” legs were earlier

terminated and replaced. (Kolbe, 37:25-26). Again, Fidelity International

adjusted the loss allocations te assign all of the $1,972,159 in advisory fees to

Richard Egan. (Ex. 2651).

556. Fidelity Internaticnal allocated this taxable loss among its members according to

their respective percentages of common ownership after November 5, 2001, as

reflected in the table below:

Member % of | Allocated Portion Allocated Portion Net Loss
Member Name Common of (8176,152,34%) of {(81,872,15%) in Allacation for

Cwnership After Taxable Loss Advizory Fees Brecember 3, 2001

November 5, 2001 Terminations
Richard J. Egan 93% ($163,821,683) ($1,972,159) ($165,793,844)
Samuel Mahoney 5% (88.807.617) G (58,807,617
Alpha 1% ($1,761,523) 4] (81,761,523}
Helios 1% ($1,761,5323) 0 (81,761,523 |

(Kolbe, 37:23-26; Dem. Ex, 2882; Exs. 2, 2651).

9. The Stockton and Mariner Investments

557. From the outset, the Egans anticipated making additional capital contributions to

Fidelity International as purported evidence of a non-tax business purpese. (Exs.

1029, 1055). Notes taken by Robin Calkins taken ir September 2001 state:

“Need to have 2 business purpose [sic] that is why there is § going in the tail end.”

(Calkins, 35:59-61; Ex. 1033).

558.  Ascf October 31, 2001, Carruth moved a pre-existing Egan investment,

ownership of 4,028 shares in Stockton Holdings, Ltd., 2 Cayman [slands
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556.

560.

10.

561.

company, into Fidelity International. (Ex. 2; Kolbe, 36:39-40; Dem. Ex. 2845).
The daily valuations of Fidelity International’s investments report the value of this
block of shares as = static $4,663,135 for the entire period shown {October 31,
2001 through January 14, 2002). (Ex. 2).

In late November 2001, Carruth arranged for Richard Egan to confribute
£5,000,000 to Fidelity Interational, which it used to purchase an investment in
Mariner Horizon 6A, LLC, a 5-year commitment to a “fund of funds.” (/4 ; Kolbe,
38:42-43; Dem. Ex. 2848). The daily valuations provided in the Fidelity
[nternational documents do not separately report the value of this holding; it
appears in the “cash” column. (Ex. 2).

None of the tax losses claimed by Richard Egan in 2001 and 2002 are atfributable
to the Stockton and Mariner investments, which appear to comprise the only other
business activity in which Fidelity International participated. {(Exs. 6,7, 8).

The Actual Feonomic Loss From the Termination of the Foreign Currency
Onptions

The actual economic loss from the termination of the foreign currency options can
be calculated using the taxable gain and loss numbers reperted by Fidelity

International as follows:
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Reported Taxable | Allocated Advisory | Teotal
Gain (Loss) Fees '

Reported taxable gain resulting 175,603,084.00 (1,617.246.00) 173,585,867.6C
from the Cctober 29-30, 2601
terminations
Reported taxable loss of resulting (176,152,345.00) (1,972,155.00 {178,124,505.06)
from the termination of all
remaining currency options,
including the replacement options,
on December 3, 2001
Total {549,265.00) {(3,589,405.00} {4,138,670.00}

{Kolbe, 37:23-26; Dem. Ex. 2882; Ex. 2651).

562. The result is a loss of $549,265, before accounting for millions of dollars in fees
paid to Helios and Alpha on the transaction. Of the $549,265 in actual economic
loss, $837,244 was attributable to the bid/ask fees paid by Fidelity International to
Refco on the currency options: $416,359 for the inttial USD/EUR option quartet,
$416,588 for the initial JPY/USD option guartet, and $4,297 for the two
replacement options. (Kolbe, 37:28-29; Ex. 2; Dem. Ex. 2883).

Y. Documentation of the Purported “Business Purpose” of the Fidelity International
Transactions

563. The Egans were aware that the ordinary income strategy had to have a [egitimate business
purpose or the IRS would disallow their tax treatment of the transaction. As with the
Fidelity High Tech transaction, the Egans decided that they would ciaim that the Fidelity
International transaction was designed as a hedge, this time against interest rate
movements and currency fluctuations. In order to prepare for a possible IRS audit or
challenge, the Egans created, and contemplated creating, a false paper trail to “document”

the purported “purpose.”
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567.

The October 5, 2001 Buesinser Memorandum

On Octeber 5, 2001, Ron Buesinger of Alpha e-mailed Haber a memorandum
entitied “Egan Trades.doc.” (Ex. 1088). That memorandum set forth potential
option trades that had been discussed with Michael Egan, Shea, Speiss, Haber,
and Buesinger, Ross, and Helene of Alpha in a conference call that same day.
(Id).

The October 5 memorandum stated that Richard Egan “has large exposure to
commercial real estate financed with 10 year fixed rate non-call borrowing,” and
indicates that this exposure was the reasen to enter inte option spreads based on
the 10-year CMS rate. (Id).

In fact, and as discussed below, Richard Egan did not have any interest-rate
exposure from commercial real estate; his only commercial real estate hoiding
was an office building at 87 Elm Street in Hoplkinton, Massachusetts, and that
building was not encumbered by debt. (Shea, 23:61-62).

The October 5 memorandum alse stated that option spreads based on the 3-month
LIROR were intended to “mitigate {the] risk of rising short term [interest] rates in
the interim” until Richard Egan “lock[eld his floating borrowing to fixed.” (Ex.
1088).

e variable-rate debt in question was debt owed by Cape Clear LLC and
Westship World Yachts LLC, two Egan-owned entities. (Id.). Cape Clear had
$81.1 miilion, and Westship had $19.9 miilion, in short-term variable-rate debt;
Richerd Egan had guaranteed both sets of obligations. (Exs. 1239, 1062).

As discussed below, the options as structured provided virtually no such hedging

-
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effect for that debt. Moreover, there is no evidence that any variable-rate debt
owed or guaranteed by Richard Egan was ever converted to fixed-rate debt.

The October 5 memorandum also stated that the yen and euro options could hedge
against the impact of a stronger dollar on EMC sales and profits overseas:
“Bearish EUR and Yen trades will provide gains in a USDS rzlly scenario that
will offset losses in EMC stock due to declining revenue and profits in Furope
and Japan.” (Ex. 1088). As discussed below, the opticns as structured provided
virtually no such hedging effect.

Finally, the October 5 memorandum refiected a discussion of entering into a
bullish range of options based on the Swiss franc, contemplated “to offset losses
in USD equities and USD commercial real estate in a flight to quality scenario”
sparked by potential war in the Middle East. (J4.). Fidelity International did not,
however, enter into any option ranges on the Swiss franc.

The Proposed David Henrv Memorandum

Two weeks later, on October 19, 2001, Carolyn Fiddy sent an e-mail to David
Henry of Carruth confirming an carlier discussion. (Ex. 1159). Fiddy had asked
Henry to prepare z back-dated memorandum that would falsely purport to advise
Michael Egan concerning the foreign cuurency trades. {(/2). The e-mail stated:

The foreign currency trades are expected to happen on Monday,

they were discussed today, [ will forward the analysis we were

sent.

The memo we discussed should be using a date pricr to the date of

the trades, since the meme should be designed to help Mike decide

what tradesto do .. ..

So, if you are going tc downlead info from the web, you should
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574.

573.

576.

577.

select appropriate time periods.

The trades to be entered into are 2 foreign currency exchange

trades hedging the valuation of the $ - half against the yen and half

against the Euro. (If the § strengthens, then thelr value will

increase).
(Id. (emphasis in original)).
Henry, however, never prepared such a back-dated memorandum. Carruth
employees nonetheless continued to discuss such a memorandum into November
2001, (Henry, 5:12-13; Ex. 1252).
“Business Purpese” Discussions in October-December 2001
On October 18, 2001, Shea spoke with Haber about the close-gut of the Fidelity
International transaction. Haber told Shea that the Egans could “sell out any
time -- we have established our basis . . . however, for business purposes, the
ionger we keep it alive the better we are for presentation — we don’t want to iook
as a step transaction in the IRS[s] eyes.” {Ex. 1151).
On October 22, 2001, Pat Shea sent 2 memorandum to Richard Egan requesting
that he sign various decuments for the Fidelity International transaction, which he
described as a strategy “to serve as a hedge against the falling markets.” (Ex.
1165). The original draft of the memorandum, however, referred to the same
transaction as “the plan we are working on to reduce your 2001 tax Hability.” (Ex.
1164).
On November 5, 2001, Speiss sent an e-mail to Shea asking if he was availeble to
meet “[with regard to] discussing invesiment documentation.” (Ex. 1282},

On November 6, 2001, Shea sent an e-mail to Carolyn Fiddy and David Henry of
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Carruth asking if they were available to meet with KPMG “to define our
investiment posture—we are establishing a business purpose and reason for
entering {into] the option trades we put on earlier this month.” (Ex. [268). At the
time that e-mail was sent, all of the major option trades that form the basis of the
claimed losses in Fidelity International had been commpleted. (Ex. 2).
578.  On December 3, 2001, Shea sent an e-mail to Michael Egan proposing that he
meet with a possible advisor in New York. (Ex. 1394). Among other things,
Shea said that the meeting would “support our business purpose for Helios” by
showing that they considered multiple strategies. (Jd.).
4, Proposed Discussions with Samuel Mahoney
579.  ©On December 6, 2001, after all of the options involved in the Fidelity
International transaction had been terminated or covered, Shea sent an e-mail to
Haber that included the following statement:
KPMG is also reguesting that we have a jtelephone conference]
with Sam Mahoney or at least establish a reason that we entered in
to this transaction with him -- what are your comments on that
subject?

(Ex. 1415).

580. On December 14, 2001, Pat Shea wrote a “memo to file” concerning various
matters to discuss with James Haber. (Ex. 1454). Among other things, the
memorandum listed as a discussion topic the fact that “we would like to establish
a business relationship with [Samuel Mahoney] -- would like a tel con with him --
at least a profile of him to establish commen investment strategies or

philosophies.” {Id). After speaking with Haber, Shea wrote in handwriting on
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581.

582.

583,

the memoerandum, “Haber will send us his profile and suggest that when one [sic]
is in Treland (Dublin) that we set a meeting.” {(/d).
There is no evidence that Mzhoney was consulted or provided any advice or input
into the investment decisions of Fidelity International, or that he even spoke with
the Egans during the relevant period. Rickard Egan had no contact or
communication with Mahoney during the entirety of the Fidelity International
ransaction, including the period during 2001-2002 when both resided in Dublin,
Ireland. (R. Egan, 3:95-96). The two did not meet until Richard Egan visited
Mahoney’s office while on vacation years later, after the Fidelity Intermational
fransaction had come under IRS scrutiny. {(Id at 3:97-98, 4:29-32). Moreover,
Michael Egan testified that he “neither sought nor worried about Mr, Mzhoney’s
involvement in running the TFidelity International] partnerships.” (M. Egan,
12:58).

The Becember 18, 2001 Shea Memorandum

After all steps of the transaction had been completed, on December 18, 2001,
Shea created another “memo to file.” (Shea, 23:61; Ex. 1463). Inthat
memorandum, Shea listed areas in which he stated Richard Egan had “significant
market exposure.” (Ex. 1463),
One area of purported “exposure” identified in the December 18 memorandum
was:

Real estate — the family has substantial investments in commercial

real estate with Mr. and Mrs. Egan holding mortgages on certain

properties.

(Id.). In fact, and as described above, Richard and Maureen Egan did not have
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any interest rate exposure from commercial real estate.
Another area of purported “exposure” identified in the December 18
memerandum was:

foreign markets —EMC is locking to expand in Europe and we felt

we needed some foreign investments to participate in the dollar

getting stronger in the foreign mearkets as a result of EMC

expansion and/or general woerld economics.
({d). As described belew, the market price of EMC was already adjusted by any
relevant currency risk. Mereover, Shea’s memorandum contains no mention of
EMC expansion in Asia, and therefore does not attempt to justify the Japanese yen
options.
The December 18, 2001 memorandum by Shea also stated that:

the initiel positions in [Fidelity World] were 10 year CMS

{(constant maturity swap) calls and 3 month LIBOR puts to hedge

OUr eXposure against increasing interest rates.
(/d.). As described below, the options as structured were not rational hedges for

those purposes.

The December 18 memorandum characterized the invelvement of Mahoney in

Fidelity international as follows:

[Fidelity International] is an investment parinership with 2 of our
advisors (Helios and Alpha) and an unrelated party (Sam
Meahoney) who has strong experience in international banking and
financial services between Europe and the U.S.—Due to our
interest rate exposure and intematicnal exposure with EMC we felt
Mr. Mahoney's background and experience would help us with our
investment decisions, . ..

{Id). That statement was false, as the Egans never sought Mahoney’s advice as to

any investment decisions, and indeed never spoke tc him during the relevant time.
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6. The March 12. 2801 Sneiss Memorandum

587. On February 28, 2002, Shea sent an ¢-mail to Denby that stated, among other

things, that he was planning to meet with Haber and Speiss, and that he would be
looking for written notes in the files to make sure [ am comfortable that
their files adequately show business purpose -- investment objectives [-- ]
and reasons for us to enter such complex transactions -- I am holding up
paying the fees uniil | am comfortable that their files are satisfactory and
the write-ups are as promised —

(Ex. 3382). Denby responded,
I think 1t would be helpful if my business purpose file reflects yours and
KPMG’s. You might want to send me a copy of yours, [ will then
compare it to mine and let you know if [ have anything you should have.

{Id.}.

588, On March 12, 2002, Tim Speiss of KPMG sent an e-mail to Stephanie Denby
stating that he had “drafted a detailed narrative . . . outlining the business purpose
of the [Fidelity International] mvestment.” (Ex. 1651). The attached
memorandum, after a multi-page discussion of the Egan family’s general
investment obiectives during 2001, then repeats several of the claimed business

purposes set forth in Shea’s December 18, 2001 memorandum to file. (Ex. 201).

W. The Proskauer and Sidlev Austin Opinion Leffers

589. Asdescribed above, a central feature of the tax shelter straiegies promoted by
DGU/Helios and KPMG was the issuance of legal opinion letters concerning the
tax consequences of the transactions. The opinion letters were principaily
intended to prevent the tmposition of tax penalties ii the taxpayer’s treatment of
the transaction were disallowed by the IRS and that disallowance were upheld by

the courts.
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580.

591.

592.

593.

594,

The Egans were to be provided with an opinion lefter from Proskauer for the
Fidelity High Tech transaction and an opinion letter from Sidley Austin for th
Fidelity International transaction. The fees of both firms were to be paid by
DGI/Helios. DGLUHelios, however, would not be paid by the Egans for the
transaction until the law firm had issued its opinion.

The final Egan opinions were based in part on template or mode! opinions that
had been created as part of the overall design of the strategies, and that were used
to help market the strategies.

James Haber and Ormrin Tilevitz at DGI/Helios played a central role in the issuance
of the opinion letters, including making arrangements with the law firms, drafting
and editing the letters, and paying the law firms.

The Proskauer Legal Opinicon for the High Tech Transaction

On January 30, 2001, Haber forwarded to Denby a redacted copy of a Proskauer
opinion from a transaction for another taxpayer. (Ex. 704). Denby had the
Proskauer opinion put on her law firm’s syster so that she could “edit it later.”
({d3.

By at least September 26, 2001, a draft opinion for the High Tech transaction had
been prepared. (Ex. 604).

On November 27, 2001, Denby sent an e-mail t¢c Haber, with copies to Reiss and
Shea, confirming that “you are coerdinating with Proskaver to get an opinion for
the 754 election.” (Ex. 1372).

On December 14, 2001, Skea spcke with Haher concerning the Proskauer legal

opinion for the High Tech transaction. (Ex. 1454). Haber confirmed that the
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597.

568.

596.

600.

opinion
will be specific to us, will deal with our facts and the step-up of
outside basis with the trade in Feb[ruaryj 01, as well as the 754
step-up of inside basis and step-up of individual assets.

{(Id.; Shea, 16:89-90).

n January 4, 2002, Shea sent an e-mail to Haber stating in part, “T assume that
you are working on the legal opinion letters for both transactions and . . . you don't
need anything from me.” (Shea, 24:95-96; Ex. 1525).

On January 25, 2002, Omin Tilevitz of DGU/Helios e-mailed Irz Akselrad at
Proskauer a draft opinion for the Fidelity High Tech transaction, stating:
Attached is my draft of the Egan opinion. The deel is a
variation of the stock dribble: investors contribute
appreciated stock plus eptions to an LLC taxed as
partnership, then the 9% member contributes her
membership interest to a limited partnership, the better to

avoid the Florida intangibles tax.

Jimmy [Heber] asked that you please make this opinion
vour top priority so that we can get paid,

(Ex. &68).

Between February and April 2002, drafts of the Fidelity High Tech opinion were
circulated for comment and proposed edits to maultiple persons outside of th
Proskauer law firm. Among others, draft High Tech cpinions were reviewed by
James Haber, Mox Tan, and Orrin Tilevitz at Helios/DGI; Timothy Speiss at
KPMG; Stephanie Denby at Burke, Warren; and Pat Shea at Carruth. (Exs. 595,
704, 1603, 1612, 1615, 1678).

The drafts of the Fidelity High Tech opinion included proposed “Certificates of

Fact” that were to be executed by Richard and Maureen Egan, and upon which
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602.

603.

604.

605.

606.

Proskauer would purportedly rely in rendering its cpinion.

On February 23, 2002, Michael Swiader at Proskauer sent an e-mail to Tilevitz
stating that “we are revising the facts in the draft Egan opinion to conform to the
deal binder,” and that a “couple of minor discrepancies {had] popped up that we
are hoping you can clarify.” (Ex. 195). Among the discrepancies were the
reported “business purposes” for the transaction. (Ji.}. No one at Carruth was
copied on the e-mail, or asked to clarify any “facts™ concerning the opinion. ([d).
On February 26, 2002, Swiader sent Haber “the draft Egan tax opinion for your
initial review.” (Ex. 1612). Haber then forwarded the draft opinicn to Speiss,
Reiss, Denby, and Shee, noting that the atfached draft opinion was “as prepared
by” Proskauer, and that “[w]ec are reviewing it as you are.” (EX. 69). Denby
marked up the draft with proposed edits. (Denby, 28:12-13; Ex. 196).

On February 27, 2002, Tilevitz sent Swiader his initial suggested changes for the
opinion. (Ex. 1613).

On February 28, 2002, Swiader e-mailed Tilevitz and asked whether in the
opinion he should exclude the amount of fees paid by the Egans relating to the
High Tech transaction “as we ¢id in the prior transaction.” (Ex. 1621). Tilevitz
replied, “leave cut the actual amount.” (fd).

On March 12, 2002, Speiss e-mailed Denby with his comments on the High Tech
opinion letter. (Ex.205). At the same time, and as described below, Speiss sent a
“detailed narrative” purportedly “cutlining the business purpose of the
investment.” (Ex. 201).

On March 14 and 21, 2002, Denby and Speiss separately provided further
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607.

608.

609,

610.

612,

comments to the draft opinion. (Exs. 1655, 1689). Denby provided her
comments to Haber, not Akselrad or Swiader. (Ex. 1655}

Cn April 3, 2002, Swiader sent Haber a revised draft opinion, along with draft
supporting “Certificates of Fact.” (Ex. 1736).

Between April 3 and April 8, Proskauer again circulated revised drafts, and Denby
again provided comments to Haber. (Exs. 1738, 1753).

On April 3, 2002, Elizabeth Jung of DGI sent an e-mail o Swiader at Proskauer
asking that he “please release the final Egan opinion to us.” (Ex. 1747).

On April 10, 2002, Pat Shea sent the final version of the Fidelity High Tech
“Certificate of Facts” to Richard and Maureen Egan in freland for thelir signatures.
(Ex. 1766). The cover memorandum states that the document was a
“representation of facts you are making for the Helics trade™ and that “[tlhe
informaticn was verified by our staff as well as Stephanie Denby.” (/d.).

Richard and Maureen Egan both executed the High Tech “Certificate of Facts™
“effective as of April 5, 2002.” (Id). It was actually signed and {axed back on
April 11,2002, (Ex. 1767).

On April 11, 2002, Proskauer generated a draft engagement letter addressed to
Richard and Maureen Egan that provided for a fixed fee of $50,000 for “rendering
tax advice in connection with certain investment transactions that Investor
conducted in 2001, (Ex. 1772). The draft letter referred to a 350,000 fee, even
though any fees relating to the deal were to be paid by DGVHelics.

The draft Proskaver engagement letter of April 11 contained the following

language:
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6l4.

615,

617.

618,

We have advised you that we also represent The Diversified Group

and Helios Financial and their affiiiated entities in connection with

various matters. You acknowledged and expressly agreed that we

would be free to continue to represent The Diversified Group and

Helios Financial, and you waived any conflict resulting from or

attributable to such representation.
{Id). Richard Egan testified that he does not recall whether he ever saw a copy of
the draft engagement letter. (R, Egan, 3:69-70). Both Richard Egan and
Proskauer produced copies of the draft engagement letter, neither of which were
signed. (Exs. 1772, 1774).
On April 12, 2002, Elizabeth Jung of DGI sent an e-mail to Denby stating that
“we would like to release the [Proskauer] opinion to her “but are not able to do so
until the signed Certificate of Facts is received.” (Ex. 1777).
On April 15, 2002, Denby e-mailed Haber and Tan that she had recetved the final
[Proskauer] opinion on the High Tech transaction and that it appeared “fine.”
(Ex. 215).
Michael Egan would not have paid Helios for the Fidelity High Tech transaction
unless he had received a satisfactory and favorable legal opinion letter from
Proskauer. (M. Egan, 13:47; Shea, 24:83, 103-04; Ex. 1603).
The Proskauer legal opinion for the High Tech transaction was dated April 5,
2002 and issued to Richard and Maureen Egan. (Ex. 122). The opinion was 47
pages long and included an Exhibit A listing some of the documents purportedly
relied upon by Proskauer in rendering its opinion. (Jd.).
The Proskauer opinion language regarding Notice 2000-44 s virtually identical to

the language in the generic marketing opinion for the FDIS transaction, “DG Draft
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4/25/01,” that was developed by DGI and Brown & Wood in April 2001 to market
the FDIS transaction. (Ex. 864).

2. The Sidlev Austin Lecal Opinior for the Fidelitv Infernational Transaction

619.  On January 7, 2002, Haber forwarded the closing binder on the Fidelity
International transaction to Michael Egan, with copies to Denby, Speiss, Ruble
and Ross. (Ex. 67). Haber’s letter stated that “[wle will be forwarding you a tax
opinion under separate cover.” {Jd).
620. By separate letter dated January S, 2002, Haber alsc forwarded Ruble a copy of
the closing binder for the Fidelity International transaction, in which Haber wrote:
I am forwarding you Richard Egan’s closing binder. His opinion is
a first priority on the new style transactions because his fee is only
payable upon delivery of this opinion.
(Ex. 1530). Haber referred to the Fidelity International transaction as a “new style
transaction” because it was an FDIS transaction, as opposed to aa “old style
partnership” opinion.
§21. On February 7, 2002, Ruble e-mailed Haber:
I’ve been through the Proskauer draft for the new deal. Ira
[Akselrad of Proskauer] has done an excellent job of paring down a
number of the discussions] from what we have said in the past. In
a perfect world I would probably adopt many of the changes Ira
made, but it’s hard to get changes to boilerplate here. Do you have
a problem if we continue to use our form of discussion on most of
these issues?”
(Ex. 1579).
622. At some point in early February 2002, Haber received a copy of a draft of Ruble’s

“new style” opinion for the Egan transaction. (Ex. 1600}, On February 13, 2002,

Haber sent an e-mail o Ruble enciosing a redline of the changes in Ruble’s initial
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draft of the “new style” opinion, compared to the “generic form of the opinion”
that Ruble had “signed off on during the summer.” (Jd}. Haber wrote:
I think that vou will find that the changes we agreed to over the
summer are substantial and for the most part a better approach. At
the end of the day it’s your cpinion and your decision,
({d).
623. By e-mail dated February 17, 2002, Ruble expressed reluctance to make any
editorial changes, because of the difficulty in obtaining approval from his firm.
(Id). He added:
. .. There is one quasi-substantive issue. Our economic substance
and business purpose discussion regarding the new decisions is
locked in stone. I believe that we come to the same conclusion, but
our analysis seems somewhat different. The one real substantive
issue may be Notice 2000-44. People here are not so sure that it
doesn’t apply if the Notice is a valid exercise of authority. Iam
still arguing the point.

(/d. (emphasis added)).

624.  On February 22, 2002, Ruble forwarded the draft legal opinion to the Fidelity
International transaction to Haber and Tilevitz. {Ex. 1605). He asked them to
“lglive it one more look™ and that if they were “happy” and wiliing to “sign [off].”
his office would finalize it and “get it out.” {(I4).

625. Haber forwarded a mark-up with another set of changes to Ruble on February 25,
2002. (Ex. 1608). Tilevitz sent his comments by e-mail the same day, (Ex.
1610}

626.  On February 27, 2002, Haber sent Speiss, Reiss, Denby, and Shea a “draft tax

opinton” on the Fidelity International transaction “as prepared by Sidley Austin
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627.

628.

525.

530.

631.

Brown & Wood,” and stating, “we are reviewing it as you are.” (Ex. 70). Denby
marked up this draft opinion.
On March 11, 2002, Denby wfete Speiss that she had completed her review of the
draft opinion and needed his comments, and that once she incorporated his
comments she would forward the draft to Haber to coordinate with Sidley Austin.
(Ex. 1649),
On March 12, 2002, Speiss sent to Denby his detailed comments on the Sidley
Austin opinior., (Ex. 1651). He also attached a nine-page narrative describing the
purported “business purpose” of that transaction that he suggested incorporating
into the opinion. {Id.).
On March 14, 2002, Denby sent her comments on the Sidley Austin opinion to
Haber, which included suggestions for stating the purported “substantial non-tax
business reasons” for the transaction. {Ex. 1655}, She did not provide these
comments te Ruble. {id.).
On March 15, 2002, Tilevitz e-mailed Ruble attaching a revised draft of the
opinion, which he copied to both Denby and Haber. Tilevitz wrote that he
thought “most of the changes” proposed by Denby were

“nits,” except for some substantive additions to the

[representations} (and the reasoning based thereeon) and a couple of

changes necessitated by the fact that the LLC s manager is not

Helios {but] the Egan’s son.
(Ex. 1659).
On March 15, 2002, Haber sent Denby for her review a draft of proposed “fact”
representations to be made by Richard Egan to Sidley Austin in connection with
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£34.

its opinion letter. (Ex. 1661}, The same day, Denby forwarded the proposed

representations to Shea, writing:

Attached are the representations that Sidiey will want Dick to sign

in conjunction with their opinion letter. The investment purpese

language is picked up from my revisions to the opinion letter. [

think the letter is fine. Let me and Jimmy [Haber| know if you

have any comments.
{d).
On March 18, 2002, Haber sent Shea g Jetter stating: “Your tax opinion is
complete. We will forward it to you upon receipt of the attached Representation
ietter. Please sign where indicated, fax a copy to me . . . and return the original o
me in the enclosed Airbome envelope.” (Ex. 1664).
On March 19, 2002, Haber e-mailed Shea and Denby stating, “We are forwarding
to you via overnight mail the final Sidiey Austin Brown & Woocd opinion. Please
let us kﬁow when we can expect the executed [representation] letter, as well as,
payment ($3,375,000) for this transaction.” (Ex. 1678). Shea replied: “Payment
will be wired after | review the opinicn and get blessings from Stephanie.” (/4;
Shea, 24:97-98).
On March 20, 2002, Shea sent the “representation letter” to Richard Egan for his
signature. (Ex. 1680). Shea noted the “purpose” of the letter “is that you as the
investor have asked for a legal opinion from Mr. Ruble for tax and business
purposes.” (ld.). Richard Egan executed the letter. (Ex. 78).
On March 27, 2002, Heber again asked Shea when DGI would receive its fee for

the Fidelity International transaction. (Ex. 1706). Shea responded that:

payment will be made as soon as we finish reviewing the opinion
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letters . . . I feel a careful review is critical in light of the changes
that were made on the last final draft— I want to be sure we are
comfortable with the wording—

{(1d). Inreply, Haber stated:

While I respect your desire for a thorough review of the opinion,
the opinion has been issued in final (to the extent you find further
changes I'm sure the law firm will be cooperative) and I feel that
payment for [Fidelity International] should be forthcoming at this
time. Further delays at this point T do not believe to be appropriate.

(Id.).
536.  On April 2, 2002, Denby e-mailed Haber:

It appears in the last version that the discussion on tax
shelter registration . . . is now missing. Why is that? Are
they no longer able to opine on this issue? Iam also
concerned as to why we are not advised of these changes in
a document which [ had carefully reviewed prior drafts. It
makes me uncomfortable. Perhaps they should provide us
with a redline for Irwin’s [Orrin Tilevitz’s] version to the
current version.

(Denby, 29:115-20; Ex. 1723). Haber responded, “I’m sure the omission was
inadvertent.” (Ex. 1723).

637. On April 3, 2002, Tan inquired as to when DGI could expect to receive its
$3,375,000 fee for the Fidelity International fransaction. Shea responded, on the
same day, that:

I am planning on wiring [the fees] this week provided
Stephanie gets all the issues resolved with the opirion
letters-- it appears your law firm has made several changes
after Stephanief’]s review-- changes were made that were
nct brought to our attention-- it seems as though [Sidley
Austin] Brown and Wood tried to slide things past us— it is

a good thing Stephanie is so astute because there was a
significant change without our knowledge-

167



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 168 of 357

G38.

639.

640.

642.

My consistent position 1s the fees will be wired upon
satisfactory completion of the legal opinion letters--
Stephanie is working diligently and not sitting on them to
get them completed -- however, each draft we get there are
more changes -- and no ‘rediine’ drafts pointing out the
changes-- (wait until [ charge you for Stephanie[’]s third or
fourth review of the same docs)--

I am as anxious as you are to get this done and to get you
paid-- however [ must wait for the opinions—

(Shea, 24:104; Ex. 1733 (emphasis added)).

Haber then faxed “replacement pages to the opinion™ to Denby for her review and
approval. (Ex. 209).

The Sidley Austin legal opinion for the High Tech transaction was dated March §,
2002 and issued to Richard Egan at an address for Carruth. (Ex. 121). The
opinion is 131 pages long. (Id).

Payment of the Legal Fees of Proskauer and Sidlev Austin

The fee paid by the Egans to Helios for the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity
International transactions ircluded the fee for & favorable legal opinion. (M.
Egan, 13:47-48).

For the Fidelity High Tech transaction, DGI paid the fee for the legal opinion
issued to Richard and Maureen Egan directly to Proskauer. (Ex. 1519). The fee
was part of a lump sum payment for 23 opinions at $50,000 each, for a total
payment to Proskauer of $1,050,000. (Id).

For the Fidelity International transaction, DGI paid the fee for the legal opinion
issued to Richard Egan directly to Sidley Austin. (/d). The fee was part of a
lump sum payment for 28 opinions for a total payment to Sidley Austin of
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643,

§800,000. (Id).

The relevant invoice from Sidiey Austin to DGI lumped services performed for
Richard and Maureen Egan together with 16 other sets of taxpayers. (Ex. 2758).
The bill for services on behalf of the 17 sets of taxpayers was an undifferentiated

amount of $700,000. (Id).

LCosts and Fees for the Transactions

I.

644,

645.

646.

Costs and Fees on the Fidelity High Tech Transaction

. Helios and KPMG Fees

As originally proposed in the summer of Z000, the plan for the High Tech
transaction called for a fee to Helios and KPMG of 1.95% of the amount of the
premium for the long options, which was expected to be $230 million, {Shea,
15:118-21; Ex, 514). Helios was to receive 1.3% of that premium, or $2.99
millior, and KPMG was to receive .65%, or $1.495 million. (Ex. 514).
On January 29, 2001, Shea advised Michael Egan that the proposed fee agreement
had been revised as follows:
The cost to us will be 1.5 percent to Helios and something to
KPMG-Helios will pay KPMG up to 100k from the 1.5% as well as
payving for the opinion letter--
KPMG is looking for an additional 150k from us--
KPMG total 250k—
(Ex. 697},
On November 9, 2001, Stephanie Denby suggested to Jim Reiss that they should

“consider renegotiating [Helios’s] fees,” because the High Tech transaction had

been changed, in that the Egans planned to sell the EMC stock on the open
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647.

648,

645,

650.

—b

3 (14

market, which reduced Helios’s “transaction costs.” (Exs. 32%4).
On December 6, 2001, Shea e-mailed Haber asking for a reduction in the High
Tech fee because the “transaction is now completely different [from] what was
supposed to happen.” (Shea, 23:75; Ex. 1415).
Heber responded the same day as foliows:

[The High Tech transaction! was for $160 million. We are

proposing that Helios be paid a fee of 1% which mchudes you

receiving a tax opinion from Proskauer Rose. The transaction will

be completed from our perspective once the member interests are

transferred and a section 754 election is triggered.
(Ex. 1415).
On December 14, 2001, Shea prepared a memorandum to file detailing a list of
issues to discuss with Haber. (Shee, 16:89; Ex. 1454). In that memorandam,
Shea noted as to “fees” for the Fidelity High Tech transaction that the “deal
changed” in that Helios was no longer “financing the buy out as well as the costs
of the trade,” and that he thought a lower fee was warranted, (Ex. 1454). That
day, Shea spoke with Haber. Haber would not lower his fee for the Fidelity High
Tech transaction below 1% of the premivm. (/d; Shes, 22:78). He did agree,
however, to lower the fee for the Fidelity International transaction. (Ex. 1454).
By mid-December 2001, Shea had agreed on fees for the High Tech transaction of
$1.6 million to Helios and $200,000 to KPMG. (Shes, 23:76-78; Exs. 1415,
1456).
In accordance with that agreement, on December 26, 2001, Helios issued an

invoice for the High Tech transaction to Carruth for $1.6 million. (Ex. 2566).
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652.

634.

856.

657.

On December 27, 2001, KPMG issued an invoice for the High Tech transaction to
Carruth for $200,000. (Ex. 11). The invoice stated that it was “Tor 2001 tax
services rencered” on behalf of Fidelity High Tech. {Jd).

On January 4, 2002, Shea e-maiied Haber and advised him that he had “the cash
ready” to pay him, but that he was “waiting for legal opinions and closing books.”
(Ex. 1525}.

Cn April 23, 2002, on instructions of Michael Egan, Carruth wired Helios $1.6
million and KPMG $200,000. (Exs. &4, 85, 108).

Under its fee-sharing arrangement with KPMG, Helios paid an additional $50,000
te KPMG in 2002 with respect to the Fidelity High Tech transaction. (Ex. 2771).
Helios described the payment as a “Schrier-Egan” expense. {(/d}. The $30,000
payment tc KPMG was treated as a joint expense of Helios, DGI, and Alpha.
(Id.).

b. Refeo Fees

Refco’s bid/ask fees for the four initial NASDAQ 100 options entered into by
Option A and Index A totaled 10% of the potential net payout on each option, or
$! million. That amount consisted of $990,000 for the opticns entered into by
Option A and $10,000 for the options entered into by Index A. (Exs. 706, 728;
Kolbe, 37:124; Dem. Ex. 3009).

On January 31, 2001, Carolyn Fiddy was told by Ron Buesinger of Alpha that the
10% bid-ask fee was an agreed-upon fee that was being paid to Refeo when the

options were purchased, as a cost to enter the contracts. (Ex. 728). Fiddy wrote:
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€58,

659.

660,

661.

Have bought 2 different options for tax purposes - but

econcmically [it] is really I item. The required payoff nets

at $9,900,000 for the Fidelity High Tech Option A Fund

{$100,000 for the Fidelity High Tech Index A Fund). In

both cases it has been agreed that the 10% bid-ask charge

would be taken when the options were purchased. Hence

the bid-ask minus $990,000 on both the Breakdown

schedule and the Pricing schedule.
{id.}.
Under the Black-Scholes formule, the net theoretical value of those options was
$2.4 million, which when added to Refco’s $1 million bid/ask fees, equals $3.4
million of net premium paid for those four options. (Kolke, 38:6; Dem. Ex.,
3009).
Carolyn Fiddy was specifically advised by Buesinger on January 31, 2001, that the
theoretical value of the options was approximately $2.4 million, and that the total
cost of the options was therefore approximately $3.4 million. (2x. 728).
€. Other Fees
The total amount of fees paid by the Egans to Burke, Warren in connection with
the Fidelity High Tech transaction is not possible to ascertain on the present
record. It is more likely than not, however, that the fees were greater than
$104,000, and there is substantial evidence that the fees were $280,000 or more.

(Kolbe, 36:65-67, 37:123; Dem. Ex. 3008).

Costs and Fees on the Fidelity Internationzl Transaction

a. KPMG and Helios Fees

The fees to be paid by Fidelity International to Helios and KPMG were calculated

as z percentage of the premium for the long interest-rate options. (Shea, 13:32-
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663.

664.

667.

668,

66%.

33; Ex. 1415).

The totel Helios and KPMG fees for Fidelity International were originally set at
3.5% of the $150 million paid for the premium. (Ex. 1415). Of that percentage,
2.5% was to be paid to Helios and 1% was to be paid to KPMG, or $3.75 million
to Helios and $1.5 million to KPMG. (Id; Shea, 23:78).

As described above, after negotiation with Shea in early Decerber 2001, Haber
agreed to reduce Helios’s fee on Fidelity International to 2.25%, or $3.375
million. (Ex. 1415).

On December 26, 2001, Helios 1ssued an invoice to Carruth for the Fidelity
Interpational transaction for $3.375 million. (Ex. 1484).

On April 10, 2002, Carruth wired $3.375 million to Helios. {(Ex. 213).

On December 11, 2001, KPMG issued an invoice to Carruth for the Fidelity
International transaction for $1.37 million. (Ex. 1432).

Carmuth ultimately paid fees to KPMG as part of the Fidelity Intemationa!
transaction in the amount of $1,402,000. Carruth paid the December 11 KPMG
involice in two installments: $685,000 on December 27, 2001 (Ex. 187), and
$685,000 on April 15, 2002 (Ex. 214). Tt also paid KPMG $32.,000 on April 25,
2002, for tax return preparation. (Ex. 2101).

The fees paid to KPMG represented 0.935% of the $150 mullion premium for the
long interest rate options.

b. Refeo Fees

Refeo’s fees for the four interest-rate options entered into by Fidelity World
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670.

671.

672.

673.

totaled $606,373. For the LIBOR option pair, Refce received & fee of $303,283.
For the CMS option pair, Refco received & fee of $303,090. The fees were
calculated at 9% of the net payout Refco would be required to make if both
options were “in the money” on their expiration date.  (Kolbe, 36:60-61, 68-71;
Dem. Ex. 2855; Ex. 2).

Under the Black-Scholes formula, the net theoretical value of those four LIBOR
and CMS options was $1.64 million, which, when added to Refce’s fees, equels
$2.25 million of net premium paid for those four options.

Refeo’s fees for the two quartets of foreign-currency options entered into by
Fidelity International on October 22, 2001, totaled $832,947. For the USD/EUR
option quartet, Refco received a fee 0 $416,359. For the IPY/USD quartet,
Refco received a fee of $416,588. The fees were calculated at 9.5% of the net
payout Refco would receive if either of the two pairs in the quartet were “in the
money” on their expiration date. (Kolbe, 36:60-61, 73-75; Dem. Ex. 2857; Ex. 2).
Under the Black-Scheles formula, the net theoretical value of each quartet was
$3.2 million. Fidelity International, however, wes credited with only $2.8 million
of initial net premium for each quartet. The difference between net theoretical
value and the lesser amount credited to Fidelity International represented the fee
{0 Refeo. (Kolbe, 36:73-75; Dem. Ex. 2857).

Refco’s fees for the replacement options for the USD/EUR options terminated on
Getober 29, 2001, and the JPY/USD options terminated on October 30, 2001,

were $4,297. (Kolbe, 36:37-38; Dem. Ex. 2844, 2857).
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674,

675.

676.

677.

In total, Fidelity World and Fidelity International paid $1,443,617 in fees to
Refto.

¢ Other Fees

The total amount of fees paid by the Egans to Burke, Warren i connection with
the Fidelity International transaction is not possible to ascertain on the present
record. It is more likely than not, however, that the fees were greater than
$83,000, and there is substantial evidence that the fees were $260,000 or more.
{Kolbe, 36:65-67; Dem. Ex. 3036).

Carruth paid a $50,000 fee to Proskauer for a non-disclosure opinion related to the
Fidelity International transaction. (Shea, 15:35; Ex. 99).

'The buyout of Mahoney by Richard Egan was an out-of-pocket expense to
Richard Egan of $325,500. (Kolbe 36:63-64; Dem. Ex. 2854; Ex. 1024). Carruth
paid a $27,500 fee to RSM McGladrey for review of their 2001 individual income
tax returns. (Ex. 2058). Hall of that expense, $13,750, was allocable to the

Fidelity International transaction. (Dem. Ex. 3741B).

Y, The KPMG Engagement Letters

678.

t various points during the planning and implementation of the tax strategies,
KPMG sought to have the Fgans execute engagement letters for the transactions.
As described below, Pat Shea eventually executed an engagement letter for the
Fidelity International transaction, but no such letter was ever executed for Fidelity

High Tech.
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&79.

680.

681.

682.

KPMG Engagement Letter Policy for the Short Option
Strategy

On July 24, 2000, KPMG implemented various requirements conceming its Short
Option Strategy so that the firm had “the information necessary to maintain an
nvestor list should it be needed.” (Ex. 487). As part of that requirement, KPMG
required certain information to be collected on an Flectronic Information Form
(“EIF™). (Id). Prifti and Schrier both received an internal KPMG e-mazil dated
July 24, 2000, notifying them of this requirement. (I4.).
The information to be collected for the EIF included the name and address of th
client, the name or description of the strategy, the amount the client invested, the
expected tax benefits from the strategy, and the “date the engagement letter was
signed by the client.” {(Jd.).
KPMG had 2 pre-approved standard engagement letter for the Short Option
Strategy. (Ex. 426). The standard SOS engagement letter expressly provided that
if modifications to the letter were desired, the modifications were to be discussed
with, and approved by, the location’s “business unit professional practice partner -
tax.” (Id.).
KPMG also had pre-approved “Standard Terms and Conditions for Tax
Engagements” that were part of the standard engagement letter. (Ex. 947).
The background section of the standard SOS engagement letter provided:

KPMG understands that Client intends to

engage . . . [Helios] to provide Client with investment

advisory services and trading strategies with respect to the

foreign currency and/or other option contracts entered into

pursuant to the Investment Program.
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684,

686.

687.

Client has independently determined that there is a

reasonable opportunity for Client to eam a reasonable pre-

tax profit from the Investment Program in excess of all

associated fees and costs, and this determination has been

confirmed by [Helios] and/or other investment advisors.
(Ex. 426).
KPMG screened the engagement letter approval process to ensure that all [etters
conformed with the pre-approved format, and reguired that any modifications

from the pre-approved format be approved and documented internelly. (Ex. 947).

The Initial Megotiations Concerning g High Tech Engagement Lelter

On July 25, 2000, Schuter prepared a draft KPMG engagement letter for the High
Tech transaction. (Ex. 495). The draft engagement letter tracked the language in
KPMG’s standard engagement letter for the Short Option Strategy. (Exs. 426,
495).
The terms of the draft engagement letter were not, however, acceptable to the
Egans.
On July 31, 2000, Schrier sent an e-mail to Jeffrey Eischied, the head of KPMG’s
PFP practice, requesting permission to modify certain terms in the standard
engagement [etter for the Egans. (Ex. 2774). Schrier wrote:

I’ve discussed the engagement letter with Carruth

Meanagement, the family office of the Egans.

Indemnification and fee cap and limitation of lighility to

gross negligence and intentionzl misconduct stick in their

craw and may lead them to walk away, although I'm

hopeful they’ll live with it. I'm assuming that we’re not

fiexible on deleting any of those items, and I've held open
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688.

686,

650.

(id).

to them a willingness to discuss any specific concerns.

One of their specific concerns was that they want to know
that we’ve got some skin in the game and will be arcund for
a challenge. With this in mind, I would like to see if you
would agree to our undertaking to provide up to 300 hours
of defense time at no further charge.

The Pronosed Modificztions to the High Tech Engasement

Letter

KPMG agreed to modify its standard engagement lstter by egreeing to assume

some of the costs of audit in the event the transaction was chellenged by the IRS.

(Ex. 495). On August 1, 2000, Schrier sent an e-mail to Shea enclosing &

modified draft engagement letter. (/d).

The modified draft engagement letter provided for the following additional

services:

(1d).

Prepare and/cr review your income tax returns

reflecting the tax results from such participation in

the Investment Program, together with returns of

certain entities relating to such participation.

Assist in connection with any tax audit or administrative
proceeding concerning the Investment Program, inchuding
providing up to 300 hours of professional time at no
additional charge.

By e-mail dated August 1, 2000, Reiss forwarded the revised draft High Tech

engagement letter to Denby for her review, writing:

Please review the attached, See if there is any way you might be
able to soften the Limitation of Liability and Indemnification
section of the engagement letter. John Schrier has stated that the
National Office will not delete this section.
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691.

692

693.

£94.

695.

696.

697.

(Reiss, 35:95; Ex. 3241).

On August 7, 2000, Schrier sent Shea a signed KPMG engagement letter for
approval and countersignature by both Richard and Maureen Egan. (Ex. 508).
As of Aupust 16, 2000, when the IRS issued Notice 2000-44, the Egans had not
signed any engagement letter with KPMG. As described below, although the
parties resumed discussions concerning a possible engagement letter in early
2002, the Egans never signed any such letter for Fidelity High Tech.

The Fidelity International Encagement Letter

As described above, as of late September 2001, the Fidelity International

transaction was on the verge of implementation.

On September 27, 2001, Speiss sent Shea an executed version of a KPMG

engagement letter for the Fidelity International transaction. (Ex. 60).

By that peint, KFMG’s standard terms and conditions included the following

language:
If this engagement relates to a strategy offered by KPMG to Client
that is designed to reduce or defer federal income tax for a direct or
indirect corporate participant, pursuant to Temporary Treasury
Regulation section 301.6111-2T(c) Client (and each emplovee,
representative, or other agent of Client) is expressty authorized to
disclose the structure and tax aspects of the strategy to any and all
persons, without limitation of any kind.

(Id.).

Shea did not countersign the September 27 proposed engagement letter. (Ex. 61).

On October 19, 2001, Speiss sent Shea an e-mail proposing further modifications

to the Fidelity International engagement letter. (Ex. 1251). The proposed
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698.

699.

700.

701.

modifications included deleting the standard terms and conditions that would
permit disclosure to the IRS and providing audit services at a reduced rate. (/d).
On November 5, 20601, Speiss sent a modified draft engagement letter to Shea for
his approval. (Ex. 1282).

On November 19, 2001, Shea signed the modified version of the engagement
letter. (Ex. 60).

The Fidelity International engagement letter broke down the total agreed-upon fee
of $1.5 million into different amounts: $1,370,000 and several smaller amounts
totaling $130,000. (/d). The services for the fee of §1,370,000 were described as
“tax services,” to be billed after “completion of the review of the [Fidelity
International] capital and ownership (membership) structure” and “determination
of Richard Egan’s tax basis in [Fidelity International] considering [its] investment
activity.” (Id). The letter also stated that KPMG would undertake those services
“in connection with our preparation and signing of the 2001 [Fidelity
International] income tax returns.” (Id). The remaining portions of the fee were
for review and signing of various Fidelity International tax returns and the review
and signing of the Egans’ 2001 individual tax returns. (Jd).

The Fidelity International engagement ietter did not include the paragraph of
KPMG’s Standard Terms and Conditions that “expressly authorized” disclosure
of the transaction. (Jd). In addition, the letter was amended to “soften” KPMG’s

limitations as to lability and indemnity. (/d).
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702.

703.

704.

705.

706.

The Egzns’ Concerns about Appearing on a “List”

In the meantime, Shea had not signed any KPMG engagement letter for the
Fidelity High Tech transaction. The Egans also continued to express concern
about the possibility that their names would appear on a tax shelter investor list at
KPMG.

On September 27, 2001, Shea sent Brian Rivotto end Bob Prifti at KPMG an
article entitled “IRS Disclosure and Registration Rules Hit Tax Shelter Abuses;
Hotline Spurs Enforcement.” (Ex. 1057). Shea circled a portion of the article that
read, “Promoters also must maintain lists of investers in the shelter,” and wrote
next to it, “Are we on a list[?]” With the article, Shea wrote a note asking,
“Should I be nervous?” (Jd.).

On December 28, 2001, Reiss forwarded a document to Denby and Shea called
“IRS Letters to Promoters,” with a cover e-mail that stated, “we need te know if
anty third parties we know are affected.” (Ex. 3393). Shea checked with Haber
(who responded that Helios was not affected) and KPMG. (Jd).

On January 2, 2602, Denby e-mailed Reiss as follows: “Have you paid KPMG
vet? If not, I would add a provision that they retumn all fees if they disclose you on
any lists.” (Ex. 3343).

Renewed Discussions Concerning the High Tech Engagement Letter

On February 5, 2002, the IRS notified KPMG that it was “conducting an
examination to determine KPMG’s liability with regard to all tax shelter activities

from January 1, 1994 fc the present.” (Ex. 1574).
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707,

708.

705.

710.

7

i,

On March 1, 2002, Shea sent Speiss an e-mail, with copies to Denby, Haber and
Reiss, requesting a meeting on March 8 to discuss certain listed items, including
“KPMG’s position on my engagement letter amendment request.” (Ex. 1625).
On March 2, 2002, Prifti sent an e-mail to Reiss concemning the outstanding
unsigned engagement letters, asking if he could check with Pat Shea “as to where
we stand . . . [w]e have no record those were received.” (Ex. 1631). Reiss
forwarded the e-mail to Shea, noting that KPMG “would like to know [the] status
of [the] 2000 engagement letters.” (J4.).
On March 8, 2002, Shea met with Speiss at KPMG’s offices in New York to
discuss the unpald invoices, the engagement letters, and the preparation of the
2001 tax returns. (Ex. 72). At the meeting, Shea requested that KPMG amend its
draft Fidelity High Tech engagement letter to describe the matter as a “tax return”
engagement. In his notes, Shea wrote “KPMG’s position on my engagement letter
amendment request,” next to which he wrote:

Redefined as a tax returmn engagement [therefore] there is no

KPMG internal list as this is a tax transaction only and not

a listed transaction according to IRS listing rules.
(Ex. 1625).
Speiss had drafted a new engagement letter for the High Tech transaction with a
$200.000 fee “payable upon completion of the tax returns (March, 2002).” (Ex.
72). Shea agreed to review the new draft. (Jd).
Shea’s list of discussion items for the March 8 meeting included the following:

“Strategic discussions of KPMG role in our returns -- whether we want to be on
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713,

714,

715.

the ‘radar’ screen in light of Enron scandal and the heat all the big 5 [accounting]
firms will be taking regarding tax shelters.” (Ex, 1625).
Shea’s notes of the March 8 meeting also reflect the fact that KPMG’s
engagement for Fidelity International had already been redefined as a “tex return™
engagement so that it would not be listed. Shea wrote:
- Will not maintain on any list
- Will not be on an engagement list letter
- We amended the 9/27/01 engagement letter
ffor Fidelity Internaticnall to comply with
this reporting
- Brown & Wood is not being investigated by IRS as a law firm

promoting transactions —
- KPMG is not being questioned on these transactions

{Shea, 23:96-99; Ex. 2536). Next to the first two buliets, Shea wrote “[KPMG?

will put in writing.” (Ex. 2536).

Iz his March & notes, Shea further wrote:

- Letter from Tim stating KPMG is not keeping a list.
ok sl
Tim [Speiss] to do [a High Tech] Engagement letter.

(Id).

Shea’s notes of the March 8 meeting alsc state: “We will not get an opinion letter

from KPMG — we do not want onel,] as that is a guide the IRS uses to get

information.” {Jd}.

On March 8, 2002, Speiss provided a letter to Shea stating the following:
Our tax services rendered on behalf of [Fidelity International] as
cited in our engagement [etter dated September 27, 2001, are not
required to be disclosed on an KPMG Engagement Information
Form (list). No disclosure is reguired because we were engaged to

render tax retirn preparation services, as described in the
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716.

717,

referenced engagement letter. Accordingly, our services and
engagement with [Fidelity International] as described in the
September 27, 2001 engagement letter has not been disclosed on a
KPMG Engagement Information Form.
(Ex. 71).
On March 25, 2002, Speiss sent an essentially identical letter to Shea concerning
the draft Fidelity High Tech engagement letter. (Ex. 1700). That same day,
Speiss also provided Shea with 2 proposed conforming redraft of the KPMG
engagement letter for High Tech dated December 20, 2001, (Ex. 186).

Shea, however, never signed any engagement letter with KPMG for the Fidelity

High Tech transaction. (Shea, 14:118,24.7).

The Preparation and Filing of the Egans® 2001 Tax Refurns

718.

716,

720,

The original plan for both transactions was for KPMG to prepare and sign all tax
returns for the transactions, including the various partnership returns (Forms
1065} and the Egans’ individual income tax returns (Forms 1040).

Cn December 11, 2001, Speiss confirmed that KPMG would be preparing all the
tax retums for the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity Intemnatione! entities. (Ex.
1433).

The Partnership Tax Beturns (Forms 1865)

KPMG prepared draft 2001 partnership tax returns (Forms 1065) for Fidelity
International, which it provided for comment to Pat Shea on February 20, 2002,
and to James Haber on March 7, 2002, (Ex. 72). KPMG provided draft 2001
partnership tax returns for Fidelity High Tech to Shea, Stephanie Denby, and
Haber for comment on March 25, 2002, (Ex. 79).
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721.

722.

726.

727.

On April 12, 2002, Speiss signed the Fidelity High Tech partnership tax returns
for the tax year ended December 21, 2001, and the tax year ended December 31,
2001. (Ex. 108). The same day, he signed the Fidelity International partrership
tax return for the tax year ended December 31, 2001, (Jd)).

The Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International partnership tax returns (Forms
1063) were timely filed on April 15,2002, (Jd).

Fidelity High Tech filed an election under Section 754 with beth of its 2001
partnership tax returns. (/d).

The Individugl Income Tax Return (Form 1040)

The 2001 individual income tax retum (Form 1040) for Richard and Maureen
Egan was due by April 15, 2002.

On April 8, 2002, Denby e-mailed Shea and Reiss stating that she “wanted to
make sure that we were planning to get those tax returns all filed on [April] 15th,”
and that she thought “the sooner the better.” (Ex. 3457). Denby’s concern was
based at least in part on the possibility that the Treasury Department would scon
finalize revisions to Circular 230 (the regulation governing the practice of
attorneys before the IRS) that would make it difficult for law firms to issue
favorable opinions for tax shelters. (Ex. 3433). The Egan return was not,
however, filed by April 15.

The Egans applied for an automatic extension of time (Form 4868) to August 15,
2002. (Ex. 8). Asof June 14, 2002, the Egan return kad not been filed.

As also noted above, by early 2002, KPMG had been notified that it was the
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726.

730.

subject of a federal investigation with regard to “tax shelter activities.” (Ex.
1574).

The Impact of the New IRS Regulations in Jupe 20082

On June 14, 2002, the IRS issued temporary and proposed regulations, including
Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T, that imposed new reperting and registration
requirements for certain listed tax shelter transactions. Among other things, the
regulations extended certain reporting requirements to individual taxpayers, such
as ‘the FEgans.

The new regulations required, among other things, that an individual taxpayer
who participated, directly or indirectly, in 2 “reportable trensaction” that was a
“listed transaction” as defined had to file a disclosure statement with his or her tax
return. (Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T(a)(1)). A “listed transaction” was any
fransaction that was the same as or “substantially similar” to a transaction that the
IRS had determined to be a tax avoidance transaction, such as that set forth in IRS
Notice 2000-44. (Id. at § 1.6011-4T(b)). A transaction would be treated as being
the same or “substantially similar” to such a transaction if the transaction was
expected to obtain the “same or similar” tax benefits and was either factually
similar to such a transaction or based on the same or a similar tax strategy. (Jd at
§ 1.6011-4T ()1} D). The term “substantially similar” was to be construed
broadly in favor of disclosure. {(Id.).

The preamble to the revised regulations stated that the IRS planned to issue future

regulations extending the disclosure requirement to other transactions, not simply
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“listed” transactions. (Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T).
731.  On June 21, 2002, Orrin Tilevitz of DGI/Helios sent Haber and Denby a
nemorandum that he had prepared concerning the impact of the new reporting
requirements. (Ex. 1908}, Denby forwarded the memorandum to Pat Shea. (Jd).

732, On June 24, 2002, Stephanie Denby wrote to Michael Egan and Jack Egan
advising them of the issuance of the new IRS regulations and pointing out that
“the regulations now require individuals to disclose certain fax shelters,” (Ex.
3416}, She also reported that “Helios, KPMG, and its advisors are analyzing the
new . . . requirements to make a determination as to whether [Dick Egan’sj
transactions must now be reported.” (Jd).

733, On June 26, 2002, Speiss of KPMG wrote to Reiss and Prifti that they should
“strive to complete the [Egans’] 1040 as soon as possible” because there was a
“risk of additional announcements/initiatives” from the IRS. (Ex. 218). On June
27, Speiss sent an e-mail to Prifti stating, “The risk of disclosure increases the
later the 2001 returns are filed.” (Ex. 2764).

734, On Sunday, July 14, 2002, Reiss advised the “accounting/tax team” at Carruth that
the Egans’ 2001 tax returns “should be dene” by July 19, (Ex. 1919). He further
advised that “Each day the retum ts not filed increases the risk that Disclosure
[sic] becomes a bigger issue than it is now.” (Id.). He added: “We really don’t
warnt to put [ourselves] into that situation — this would not look good at all for any
of us.” {(Id). He urged that it was “imperative that we do whatever it takes to be

sure this is completed by the end of the week.” (7d).

,:...w.
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736.

737.

738.

740.

The July 19 deadline imposed by Reiss was not met, in part because KPMG had
not yet provided a final copy of a tax return signed by Speiss as preparer.

During the same pericd, and as discussed below, the Egans were also negotiating
to obtain an opinion letter from Proskauer that disclosure of the Fidelity
International transaction was not required.

On August 12, 2002, Shea, Reiss, and Speiss spoke concerning the preparation
and filing of the 2001 return. {Ex. 1959). They agreed that Reiss would file for a
further extension from the IRS; that they would meet in New York on August 19
to discuss the “final legal opinion letter” of Proskauer concerning disclosure; and
that Speiss would travel to Massachusetts on August 23 to “sign and review” the
final return. (Id).

On August 14, 2002, Reiss filed an application for an additional extension of time
to file the 2001 tax return, on the grounds that “all information necessary to file a
complete and accurate return is not available at this time.” (Ex. 8). The extension
was granted to October 15, 2002, (Id).

As of August 21, 2002, the retwrn still had not been filed. (Ex. 1979).
Furthermore, KPMG had not yet determined whether it would sign the Egans’ tax
returns without the disclosure required by the new regulations. (/d). Reiss
advised Denby that he found the “whele process to be very frustrating” and that
the returns should have been filed “a few weeks ago.” (Id).

The Proskauer Non-Bisclosure Letter

In the meantime, as noted, the Egans were negotiating to obtain an opinion letter
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741.

742.

743.

T44.

from Proskauer stating that disclosure of the Fidelity International fransaction was
not required.

On June 26, 2002, Tim Speiss of KPMQG e-matled Stephanie Denby and advised
her that “as of today, me and certain law firms I spoke with are of the view that no
disclosure is required and the transaction is distinguishable from listed
transactions . . ..” (Ex.217). He also noted that “as of today, there are no
specific penalty regimes [with regard to] non-disclosurel,] however the 25%
accuracy relzted [penalty] most likely would be asserted.” (7d).

Speiss appears to have spoken at some point with R.J. Ruble at Brown & Woed,
who apparently opined that disclosure of the fransaction (or a similar transaction)
was not necessary. {Ex. 96).

On July 18, 2002, Speiss spoke with attormeys at Proskauer, who advised him that
they had concluded that the Fidelity International transaction was not
“substantizlly similar” to those identifled in Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T, and
therefore need not be disclosed. (Ex. 215). He passed that information on to Pat
Shea. ({d}. The Proskauer non-disclosure opinion was not, however, completed
by that point.

Drafts of the non-disclosure opinion prepared by Proskauver were circulated for
review and comment to multiple persons other than the Egans, including Tim
Speiss at KPMG, James Haber and Orrin Tilevitz at DGI/Helios, and Stephanie
BDenhy, between July 31, 2002, and August 14, 2002, (Exs. 86, 88, 90, 94, 1540,

1943).
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745.  On August 13, 2002, Speiss circulated for comment an internal memorandum at
KPMG with his “cbservations™ on the “arguments prepared by Proskaver Rose”
concerning disclosure. (Ex. 93).

746.  On August 16, 2002, Tra Akselrad at Proskauer sent an engagement letter to
Richard Egan concerning its representation for the non-disclosure opinion. (Ex.
$2). The representation was for & fixed fee of $50,000. (J4). Pat Shea forwarded
the letter for signature to Richard Egan in Ireland on August 28, (Ex. 1992). In
his cover memorandum, Shea noted that the purpose of the engagement was for
Proskauer to “provide a legal opinion that [the Fidelity Internationall
transaction . . . does not require separate disclosure on your tax retum.” {/d). He
added that “[wle wanted this independent opinion to give another level of
assurance that we showed ‘good faith’ in our due diligence.” {(Jd).

747. O August 16, 2002, Janet Korins and Matthew Sabloff of Proskauer, Tim Speiss
and Bill Connolly of KPMG, Pat Shea, and Stephanie Denby participated in a
telephone conference concerning the proposed non-disclosure opinion. {Exs. 91,
1940). During that conversation, it was reported that the KPMG Washington
National Tax office had expressed the view that the draft opinion had done as
“good a job as possible” with regard to the “best case argument,” but that it
needed to “address [the] controlling authorities and dispose of them,” and that it
did “not lay out all arguments the IRS may have.” (Ex. 1940 (emphasis in
originai)).

748.  On August 19, 2002, Shea and Speiss met with attorneys from Proskauer in New
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745.

758.

751.

752.

York as scheduled. (Shea, 15:40-41).

During that meeting, or at some other point in mid-August, 2002, Shea and Reiss
spoke with Tim Speiss and Matthew Sabloff of Proskauer concerning the
disclosure opinion. (Ex. 1419). The parties discussed what penalties might be
imposed if no disclosure was made. (/d}. Shea’s notes state, among other things,
that the recent IRS regulations did not specifically impose penalties for “not
disclosing,” but rather that “non-disclosure [is] considered [al lack of good faith if
the IRS determines that disclosure is requared.” (Jd.). Shea noted that because
the Egans would be receiving opinion letters, “we have done everything to protect
from penalties.” (Id.).

On August 20, 2002, Sabloff sent Speiss, Shee, and Haber a2 revised draft non-
disclosure opinion that incorporated their comments. (Ex. 94). On August 31,
2002, Sabloff sent Denby, Reiss, and Shez ancther revised draft non-disclosure
opinion. (Id).

On September 4, 2002, Proskauer issued its opinion letter concerning whether
Richard Egan would be subject to disclosure requirements under Section 6011 and
Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1-601104T. (Ex. 20). The opinion letter stated, among other
things, that the Fidelity International transaction “more likely than not” would not
be considered “substantially similar™ to the transactions described in Notice 2000-
44 and therefore “more likely than not”would not be considered a “listed
trangaction”™ for the purposes of the disclosure requirements. (/d ).

Cn September 11, 2002, the Egans paid Proskauer $50,000. (Ex. 59).
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KPMG’s Refusal to Sign the Egans” 2001 Tax Beturn

On August 23, 2002, Speiss visited Carruth’s offices in Massachusetts with the
Egans® 2001 tax return as prepared by KPMG. (Shea, 15:41-42; Ex. 1659).

The tax return brought by Speiss was signed by him and dated August 23, 2002.
(Ex. 97). The retum, however, included a disclosure statement pursuant to Temp.
Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T. (Jd; Shea, 15:42}. The disclosure statement indicated,
among other things, that the Egans had participated in a tax shelter transaction
involving off-setting options that produced an “investment loss” of $165.7 million
that led to an “expected reduction” in tax liability of $65.5 million in 2001. (Ex.
97).

Speiss advised Shea and Reiss on August 23 that “KPMG had made the
institutional decision that any returns filed after . . . the regulation on June 14th,
would have to have the disclosure statement attached to it.” (Shes, 15:42). Speiss
also said that “he did not agree with KPMG's position™ and that “he did not
believe disclosure was required.” {/d at 15:42-43).

Speiss also suggested to Shea and Reiss that “once he left the room™ they “should
pull the disclosure statement and file the return without the disciosure.” (Jd at
15:43).

On August 26, 2002, Tim Speiss and Beb Prifts telephoned Reiss “to see if
[Carruth] needed anything from them and if [they] were all set with the tax
return.” (Ex. 3424). Reiss asked Speiss te provide him “with a detailed

explanation in writing why he can’t sign the [tax] return without a disclesure
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760.

statement” and “why he is not required to sign even though the engagement letfer
indicates he would sign.” (Jd).

Speiss refused to provide such a document. (Shea, 15:43; Ex. 1993).

On August 28, 2002, Speiss, Shea, Reiss, and Melissa Seaver participated in a
telephone conversation concerning the disclosure statement. (Shea, 15:44; Ex.
96). Melissa Seaver took handwritten notes of the conversation, which she later
used to create a typed memorandum. (Exs. 2785, 56).

As described in Seaver’s typed memorandum, Speiss advised Carruth on August

28 that

KPMG has taken a consistent, firm-wide position that it disclose
any transaction which could be considered similar to those listed in
Regulation 2000-44. Despite the fact that the Fgans have a signed
engagement letter and legal opinions that indicate a position to the
contrary, . . . KPMG is requiring disclosure. He indicated that he
does not agree with this position and feels that the Brown & Wood
legal opinion is accurate in its assessment that no disclosure is
necessary. KPMG does not agree with the [Proskauer] legal
opinion,

Tim stated that KPMG has reviewed the June 14, 2002 Regulations
and they believe that KPMG iz not at a “realistic possibility” (a
more than 1 and 3 chance) to avoid disclosure because scme basis
issues described in the June 14, 2002 Notice are substantially
similar to those described in the 2000-44 Regulations, thus
disclosure is required.

He considers disclosing a show of 2 “best faith effort” on behalf of
the practitioner and creates an opportunity to remove any penalties
that may {be] charged to the taxpayer. He stated this despite the
fact that an approved legal letter states that disclosure is not
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762,

763.

required and no penalties should be charged. He agreed that there
is probably a 100% chance of audit if disclosure is done.

(Ex. 56).
As described in Seaver’s handwritten notes, Speiss said that if “KPMG did not
sign {the] return,” then “nothing would be kept in fits] files.” (Ex. 2785). Speiss
said that “he wants [the] original signed return sent back” and that he would
“destroy [the] file copy and [the Egan’s} copy.” {(Jd). Either Reiss or Shea asked
whether, if the “tax engagement ends,” KPMG would “destroy all {workpapers]™;
the question was “left unanswered.” (Jd.). Speiss stated that “destroying [the!
return” did “not insulate [against] the risk that the IRS can find out.” (/d).
In her typed memorandum, Seaver described that portion of the discussion as
follows:

The option to not have KPMG sign the returns and to file without

disclosure was brought up. Tim indicated that if such an option

was utilized that he would reguest that his previously signed copy

of Richard & Maureen’s return be returned to him. He would take

that copy, his copy and the associated workpapers and destroy this

information, as it represents a return that was never filed, similar to

a ‘draft.’
(Ex. 96).
Shea also took handwritten notes of the discussion. (Ex. 1419}, According t¢
Shea’s notes, Speiss stated that atter KPMG destroyed the retwrn, the Egans would
“not be on any list and not be on any disclosure.” (/4).
Shortly afterward, the Egans decided to terminate its relationship with KPMG.
On August 28, 2002, Shea sent a handwritten note to Tim Speiss stating the

following: “As discussed, please desiroy this [tax] return” and “[rlemove any
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766.

767.

768.

7683.

records of Mr, Egan from fyour] files.” (Skea, 15:46; Ex. 98). With that note,
Shea sent the signed copy of the Form 1040 tax return. (Shea, 15:46).

Shea also telephoned James Haber of Helios for advice. (Jd. at 15:4%). On
August 29, 2002, Haber told Shea that he “sees no upside in disclosing” and
“disagrees with KPMG that [the Egans] should disclose.” {(Id; Ex. 1419). Haber
referred Shea to Ron Wainwright, a partner at the Raleigh, North Carolina office
of RSM McGladrey, as someone who might sign the tax retumn without making
the disclosure. Haber told Shea that Wainwright had “marketed this strategy.”
{Shee, 15:49-50; Ex. 1419).

At some point thereafter, Haber called Wainwright. (Wainwright Dep., 1:45).
Haber told Wainwright, among other things, that the Egans “had done an FDIS
transaction,” and asked him to call Pat Shea. (Jd at 1:45, 56).

Wainwright was not an independent source of tax advice. Among other things, he
kad participated in marketing the FDIS strategy to other clients with Haber, Mox
Tan, and Phil Kampf of Helios/DGL. (Id at 1:101, 105, 117-18, 2:67-68; Ex.
1419). Furthermore, Wainwright himself had personally undertaken an FDIS
transaction in order to reduce his own taxes, for which IDG! had not charged him 2
fee. (Wainwright Dep., 1:124-28).

Wainwright spoke by telephone with Shea and Reiss at the end of August or
beginning of September 2002. (Id at 1:109). They explained the situation, and
told Wainwright that they did not want to disclose the transaction on the Egans’

tax returns. {(/4.).
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778,

771,

On August 30, 2002, Stephanie Denby sent Reiss and Shea a proposed draft letter
to Tim Speiss at KPMG. (Ex. 3429). The letter stated that DBenby was
“astonished” that KPMG would not sign the tax return without a disclosure
statement, and that she found the firm’s position “shocking” and “untenable,” as
well as “a breach of KPMG’s fiduciary duty and patently unprofessional.” In her
cover e-mail, she wrote that “it would make sense to send out [the letter] after we
have confirmation that [Speiss] has purged his files.” (J/d). It appears, however,
that the lefter was never sent.
On September 2, 2002, Shea informed Denby that “once [Speiss] confirms the file
is removed we can proceed.” {Ex. 3334).
On September 4, 2002, Denby sent Reiss an e-mail that stated the following:

I talked to Pat [Shea] last week. [ explained that I think it is critical

that we get Dick’s return on file ASAP. As | have mentioned

before, we are expecting new disclosure regs in mid September.

We should trv to get the return on file prior to that date since there

is a risk that these new regs would impact Dick’s disclosure

requirements. [ told Pat last week that [ would make getiing

Mecgladrey (sp?) on board the first priority in correcting the KPMG

debacle.
(Ex. 3335). Denby went on to comsplein that KPMG apparently had not destroyed
its copies of the Egan tax return and workpapers and to complain about their
“about-face™:

. it appears that KPMG was not honest in 1ts document retention

tax retumms at this point since KPMG will not sign the returns without a

disclosure and they are unwilling to provide z written analysis explaining

their sudden about-face on the disclosure issue. As you know, I don’t

believe KPMG’s sudden change in position is supported by law. instead, I

believe it is connected to their ongoing negotiations with Justice. I think
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775.

776.

777.

778.

they are selling out their clients to save their hides.
(id).
Wainwright agreed to review and sign the tax return, notwithstanding the “very
short timeteble” involved. {Wainwright Dep. 1:109).
On September 10, 2002, Wainwright flew to Massachusetts to meet Pat Shea, and
to review the Egans® records, for the first time. (Ex. 2003).
Between September 10 and 12, 2002, Wainwright reviewed the draft tax retum
and supporting papers. He initiaily disagreed with KPMG’s treatment cf the
transaction, and told Reiss that he “would have expected [any Section] 988 gain or
loss to be reflected by the body of the return,” as opposed to being buried in
supporting schedules. {(Wainwright Dep., 1:156). On his own personal tax retum,
Wainwright reported his FDIS transaction on Schedule E. (74 at 2:175-76, 180-
81). Nonetheless, Wainwright eventually agreed to sign the returmn as KPMG had
prepared it. (Jd. at 1:155-58).
Notwithstanding the complexity of the transactions, and the general complexity
and magnitude of the Egans’ affairs, Wainwright had less than three days in which
to review and prepare the return. (/d at 1:106-08).
Wainwright did not perform any investigation or review to see whether the Egans’
representations as to their purported “business purpose” for entering into th
transactions were correct. (/4 at 1:165).
Wainwright reviewed the Proskauer nen-disclosure opinion. He was aware that

Proskauer was one of the law firms used by Helios/DGI in marketing and sellin:
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782.

its FDIS strategy. (Jd. at 1:114-15, 224-25).
On September 12, 2002, Pat Shea signed an engagement letter with RSM
McGladrey, Inc., to prepare the 2001 tax returns for Richard and Maureen Egan.
(Ex. 223}
On September 12, 2002, Ronald Wainwright signed the 2001 tax return (Form
1040) for Richard and Maureen Egan as preparer. (Wainwright Den., 1:74; Ex.
8). Michael Egan signed the return for his parents under a power of attomey.
(Ex. 8). The return was then filed. (Jd).
The 2001 tax reture (Form 1040) for the Egans did not contain a disclosure
statement pursuant to Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T. (Jd).
The 2601 tax return for the Egans, with schedules and attachments, was more than
200 pages long. (/d). Other than the omission of the disclosure statement
proposed by KPMG, it was essentially identical to the draft return prepared by
KPMG. (Jd).
On September 13, 2002, Shea prepared & memorandum for Rickard Egan,
Michael Egan, and Jack Egan concerning the “2001 federal tax return filing.”
(Shea, 153:50-51; Ex. 224). Shea wrote as follows:
As you may be aware there [have! been some issues around the
completion of Richard J and Maureen E Egan’s 2001 federzl tax
income return form 1040-- our tax staff with the help of cur
outside tax firms have worked diligently to complete the return
before new IRS Regulations come out regarding certain “listed
transactions”™—
(Ex. 224). Shea noted that new IRS regulations had been enacted that “required

disclosure of certain tax transactions,” but that “Pat Shea [sic] obtained an outside
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independent opinion letter from a qualified NY law firm (Proskauer Rose)”
stating that disclosure was not required. (/d). Shea also noted that “the IRS may
issue regulations that require disclosure or future returns™ and “one of cur cutside
advisors (KPMG, Helics, Proskauer Rose) may be summonsed by the IKS to
provide client names.” (/d). He also stated that “KPMG will not sign the return
without the disclosure forcing us to find another firm (McGladery) [sic]” and that
“personally, [ think not having KPMG sign the return is in our favor as KPMG is
under tight IRS scrutiny.” (Id).

On December 4, 2002, Shea sent an e-mail to Speiss and others at KPMG to
“officially inform” them that he was “terminating the services of KPMG.” (Ex.

225),

The Preparation and Filing of the Epans® 2002 Tax Returms

785.

786.

787.

788.

780.

The Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International partnership tax returns (Forms
1065) for 2002 were timely filed on April 15, 2003. (Exs. 5, 7).

Michael Egan signed both 2002 partnership tax returns. (Exs. 5, 7).

Both of the 2002 partnership tax returns were prepared and signed by Ronald
Wainwright of RSM McGladrey, (Exs. 5, 7).

The 2002 individual tax return (Form 1040} for Richard and Maureen Egan was
timetly filed on October 15, 2003. (Ex. 232). Michzel Egan signed the tax return
for his parents under a power of atterney. (/d). Ronald Wainwright signed the
return as preparer. (Jd.).

No disclosure statement under Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T was filed with the
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2002 individual tax return. {/d).

750. Donald Dwight, an RSM McGladrey employee, assisted Wainwright with the
Egans’® 2002 tax returns. (Dwight Dep., 23-24).

7591. Dwight believed that the Fidelity international transaction should be disclosed to
the IRS and discussed the issue with Wainwright. (/d at 53-54). Wainwright,
however, said that disclosure was not required. (J4.).

The Tax Conseguences of the Fidelity High Tech Transaction Claimed by the
Egans

792.  The purpose of the Fidelity High Tech transaction was to create an artificial step-
up in basis so that the Egans could sell EMC stock {and other stock) without
incurring a capital gain and paying a capital gains tax.

1. The Egans’ Claimed Tax Basis in Their Partnershin Interests in

Fidelity High Teck

~J
\D
I

As described above, Maureen Egan claims that her tax basis in Fidelity High Tech
was increased by the 81358,400,000 premium charged for the long options
acquired by Option A, but not decreased by the $154,957,563 premium
simultanecusly credited to Opticn A for the short options.

794. Maureen Egan’s actual net economic cost of the NASDAQ 100 options was
$3,402,437. The tax basis increase that she claims to have resulted from the
contribution of the NASDAQ 100 options (through Option A} to High Tech was
more than 45 times greater than her economic cost. (LaRue, 43:101-02; Dem. Ex.
3104).

795.  As also described above, Richard Fgan claims that his tax basis in Fidelity High
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796.

797.

798.

795.

Tech was increased by the $1,600,000 premium charged for the long options
acquired by Index A, but not decreased by the $1,565,632 premium
simultanecusly credited to Index A for the short options.

Richard Egan’s actual net economic cost of the NASDAQ 100 options was
$34,368. The tax basis increase that he claims to have resulted from the
contribution of the NASDAQ 100 options (through Option A) to High Tech was
more than 45 times greater than his economic cost. (LaRue, 43;101-02; Dem. Ex.
3104).

The inflated basis was purportedly justified, among other things, on the grounds
that the short options were only contingent iiabilities under Section 752, and

therefore assets (but not liabilities) had been contributed. (Ex. 122).

As described above, at various points in 2000 and 2001, the Egans contributed
high-value, low-tax-basis stock to Fidelity High Tech. The total tax basis of that
stock as of the dates of their respective contribution was §8,760,194, (Dem. Ex.
3102). Under Section 723, the Egans’ tax basis in the contributed stock carried
over to High Tech and became High Tech’s “inside” tax basis in that stock.
(LaRue, 43:160-05).

As described above, on December 21, 2001, Maurcen Egan transferred her 99%
interest in Fidelity High Tech to MEE Holdings. Under Section 721, no gain or
loss was recogrized by Maureen Egan or MEE Holdings as a result of that
transier. Under Section 723, Maureen Egan’s tax basis in High Tech carried over
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802.

803.

to become MEE Holdings’ tax basis in High Tech. Under Section 722, Maureen
Egan’s tax basis in MEE Holdings was increased by the amount of her tax basis in
the 99% of High Tech she transferred to MEE Holdings.

As a result of Maureen Egan’s contribution of her interest in Fidelity High Tech to
MEE Holdings, the Egans contend that High Tech technically terminated under
Section 708(b)(1)B) and that the tax year of “Old” High Tech came to 2 close on
December 21, 2001. (LaRue, 43:105-08; 44:8-9; Ex. 3).

As a result of the technical termination that the Egans contend occurred on
December 21, 2001, both “Cld” High Tech and “New” High Tech made elections
under Section 754. (Exs. 3, 4). The effect of these elections on High Tech was
that, under Section 743(b), High Tech stepped-up its inside tax basis in the stock
previously contributed by the Egans in 2000 and 2001 to match the outside tax
basis that MEE Holdings and Richard Egan had in their respective High Tech
partnership interests. As previcusly noted, the tax basis of MEE Holdings in High
Tech wes 2 carryover of Maureen Egan’s tax basis in High Tech as of the date she
transferred that interest to MEE Holdings. (LaRue, 44:9-12).

The claimed outside tax basis of MEE Holdings in High Tech as of December 21,
2007, was $162,779,413. (Ex. 3). Its 99% share of High Tech’s inside tax basis
in the previously contributed stock was $8,672,618. (7d). High Tech therefore
increased its claimed tax basis in MEE Holdings™ 93% proporticnate share of
stock in High Tech by $154,106,795. (LaRue, 44:14; Dem. Ex. 3103; Ex. 3).

The claimed outside tax basis of Richard Egan in High Tech as of December 31,
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2001, was $1,644,242. (Fx. 4). His 1% share of High Tech’s nside tax basis in
the previously contributed stock was $87,602. {/4). High Tech therefore
increased its claimed tax basis in Richard Egan’s 1% proportionate share of stock
in High Tech by $1,556,640. (L.aRue, 44:15-18; Dem. Ex. 3103; Ex. 4).

804. The previously contributed stock held by High Tech as of January 1, 2002, was
seid throughout 2002. High Tech used the “stepped-up” tax basis in that stock to
compute its taxable gains and losses from those sales. As & result, High Tech
reported capital losses of $87,661,000 on its 2002 Form 1065, (LaRue, 44:21-22;
Dem. Ex. 3105; Ex. 5).

805. The actua!l tax basis in the stock contributed to High Tech was $8,760,194. (Dem.
Ex. 3102). The actual sales price when that stock was sold was $76,194,486.
{(Dem. Ex. 3105). The actual capital gain was therefore $67.434,292.

806. The inflated claimed basis s a result of the High Tech transaction was
$163,855,486. (id).

807. The High Tech transaction accordingly “eliminated” $67,434,292 of otherwise-
taxable capital gain and resulted in additional claimed capital “losses™ of
$87.,661,000. (LaRue, 44:22-23; Dem. Ex. 3105).

CC., The Reporting of the Fidelitv Hichk Tech Transaction on Partnershin Returns (Form
1065)

808,  The consummation of the Fidelity High Tech transaction involved the filing of
three partnership tax returns: {1) a partrership return (Form 1063) for Fidelity
High Tech for the short tax year ending December 21, 20C1; (2) a partnership
return {Form 1063) for Fidelity High Tech for the short tex vear between
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809,

810.

811.

812.

813.

8l4.

December 21 and 31, 2001; and (3) a partnership return (Form 1065) for Fidelity
High Tech for 2002.

Ultimately, the effect of the artificial step-up in basts was reflected on the Egans’
2002 individual income tax return (Form 1040), as the Egans sold the stock with
the inflated basis in 2002.

As described above, the Egans took the position on those returns that the Fidelity
High Tech transaction “eliminated” more than $67 million in capital gain and
generated additional capital “losses” of more than $87 million.

In order to disguise the true nature of the Fidelity High Tech transaction, and to
reduce the Hkelihcood of an IRS audit, the Egans made a variety of false statements
and material omissions on their tax returns, as described below.

Form 1865 for the Short Tax Year Endirng December 21, 2861

As described above, the Egans contend that there was a technical termination of
“Old” High Tech on December 21, 2001, under Section 708(b)}1)(B). As a result,
High Tech closed its tax year on December 21, 2001, (LaRue, 44:5-10; Ex. 3).
“01d” Fidelity High Tech filed a parmership tax return (Form 1065) for the short
tax year ending December 21, 2001, (Ex. 3).

“0Old” Fidelity High Tech filed a Section 754 election with its Form 1065 for the
short tax year ending December 21, 2001, (LaRue, 44:9-1C; Ex. 3).

“Ola” Fidelity High Tech filed a Section 743(b) statement with its Form 1065 for
the short tax year ending December 21, 2001, (Ex. 3). That statement showed

how the $154,106,795 in purported basis step-up ataibutable to the 95%
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g16.

817.

813.

g19.

partnership interest transferred by Maureen Egan to MEE Holdings was calculated
and then allocated among the stock previcusly contributed to High Tech by the
Egans in 2000 and 20C1. (LaRue, 44:12-14; Ex. 3).

“Old” Fidelity High Tech’s Form 1665 for the short tax year ending December 21,
2001, did not provide any indication as to how Maureen Egan had derived the
outside tax basis that she claims to have had in High Tech and that was used to
make the basis step-up adjustments to the confributed stock. There is no
indication on that return (or on any statement filed with that return) that her
outside tax basis in High Tech had been calculated by increasing her basis by
$158,400,000 in premiums charged for the long options, and without regard to the
$154,997,563 in premiums credited for the short options. There is no indication
that the net premium actually paid by Maureen Egan, through her single-member
iimited liability company (Option A), was only $3,402,437. {LaRue, 44:14-153;
Ex. 3).

Form 1065 for the Short Tax YVear Ending December 31. 2001

“New” Fidelity High Tech filed a partnership tax return (Form 1065) for the short
tax year beginning December 22, 2001, and ending December 31, 2001, (Ex. 4).
“New” Fidelity High Teck filed & Section 754 election with its Form 1065.
(LaRue, 44:17-18; Ex. 4).

“New” Fidelity High Tech also filed e Section 743(b) statement with its Form
1065. That statement showed how the $1,556,640 in purported basis step-up

attributable to Richard Egan’s 1% partnership interest in New High Tech wes
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821.

822.

calculated and then allocated among the stock previcusiy contributed to High
Tech by the Egans in 2000 and 2001, (LaRue, 44:18; Ex. 4).

“New” Fidelity High Tech’s Form 1065 for 2001 did not provide any indication as
to how Richard Egan had derived the outside tax basis that he claims to have had
in High Tech and that was used to make the basis step-up adjustments to the
contributed stock. There is no indication on that return (or on any statement filed
with that return) that his outside tax basis in High Tech had been calculated by
increasing his basis by $1,600,000 in premiums charged for the long cptions, and
without regard to the premiums credited for the short options. There is no
indication that the net premium actually paid by Richard Egan, through his
single-member limited liability company (Index A), was only $34,368.

Form 1065 for the Tax Year Ending December 31, 2002

Z. Reporting of Claimed Losses

Cn its 2002 Form 1065, High Tech reported net short-term capital losses of
$315,389 (on Schedule K, Line 4(d)) and net long-tesm capital losses of
$87,194,495 (on Schedule K, Line 4{e)(1)). (LaRue, 44:23-24; Ex. 5).

Those losses were reported on Schedule ID attached to the 2002 Form 1065. (Ex.
5). The aggregate amounts reported on Schedule D were broken out by groups of
stock on a separate statement from Mellon Barnk. The statement showed the
number of units sold, a description of the stock sold, the date that stock had been
acquired, the date that stock had been sold, the “Gross Sales Price,” High Tech’s

purported “Cost or Other Basis,” and the amount of the capital foss
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(“Short-Term”/ “Long-Term Gain/Loss™) claimed by High Tech. (LaRue, 44:24;
Ex. 5).

823. The amount shown on the Melion Bank statement in the column labeled “Cost or
Other Basis” was the artificially stepped-up tax basis that High Tech claimed to
have had in each group of stock. The amounts shown as “Cost or Other Basis”
were not explained or otherwise described anywhere o High Tech’s Form 1065.
(LaRue, 44:24-26).

b. Other Reguired Explapations and Disclosures

824. ‘The instructions tc Schedule D of Form: 1065 required that if a partnership “does
not use cash cost”™ to compute basts, it must “attach an explanation of the basis.”
(Ex. 3616).

825. Because Fidelity High Tech did not use cash cost to compute the stepped-up basis,
it was reguired to attach an explanation to Schedule ID. No such explanztion was
attached. (LaRue, 44:24-26; Ex. 3616). An adecquate explanation, as required by
the instructions, would kave included disclosure of the underlying transaction that
resulted in the purported stepped-up tax basis used by Fidelity High Tech.

826. Because the transaction qualified as a reportable transaction under Temp. Treas.
Reg. 1.6111-47, a disclosure statement should have been filed. (LaRue, 44:29).
No such disclosure statement was filed with any Fidelity High Tech Form 1065
{or with the Egans’ individual income tax return). (Ex. 5).

827. No Form 8275 Disclosure Statement was filed with any Fidelity High Tech 2002

Form 1065. (LaRue, 44:29-31; Ex. 5). According to the instructions to the form,
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828,

Form 8275 is used by taxpayers and income tax return preparers {o

disclose items or positions, except those taken contrary to a

regulation, that are not otherwise adequately disclosed on a tax

return to avoid certain penalties. The form is filed to avoid the

portions of the accuracy-related penalty due to disregard of rules or

a substantial understatement of income tax 1f the retum position

has a reasonable basis.
{Ex. 3137). For items attributable to a partnership, disclosure should be made on
the tax return of the partnership. (/). If the partnership does not make the
disclosure, the partner “may make adequate disclosure of these items.” (Jd).
The High Tech transaction was not disclosed on High Tech’s 2062 Form 1065, If
the High Tech transaction had been disclosed, the likely effect would have been

that the risk of audit and ultimate detection would have increased.

Reperting of the Fidelity High Tech Transactior on the Egans’ 2002 Individual

Returp (Form 1048)

829.

830.

As described above, the inflated basis created by the Fidelitv High Tech
transaction “eliminated” all of the capital gains resulting from the sale of EMC
and other stock held in High Tech.

As a result, none of those gains were reported on the Egans® 2002 individual tax
return, and no taxes were paid on those gains.

The net losses allocated to Maureen Egan (through MEE Holdings) and to
Richard Egan (through MEE Holdirgs and Fidelity High Tech) were reported on
statements attached to the Egans’ 2002 individual tax return, and from there (with

cther items) to Schedule D.
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The Tax Consequences of the Fidelity International Transaction Claimed by

the Egang

832,

834.

836.

The purpose of the Fidelity Internetional transaction was to create artificial
ordinary losses so that the Egans could exercise non-gualified stock options
without paying income tax.

Richard Egan’s Claimed Basis in #is Partnershin Interest in Fidelity

As reflected on Richard Egan’s 2001 Schedule K-1 for Fidelity International, the
amount of capital contributed by Richard Egan during the vear to Fidelity
International was $164,037.227. (Ex. 6).

As described above, under Section 704(d), a partner is permitied to deduct his
distributive share of the partnership’s losses only to the extent of hus outside tax
basis in his partrership interest as of the end of the partnership’s tax year (before
consideration of those losses). {(LaRue, 42:111).

As also described above, Richard Egan claims that his tax basis in Fidelity
International was increased by the $150,000,000 in premiums charged for the
opening interest rate long options acquired by Fidelity World, but' not decreased
by the $147,750,000 in premiums simultaneously credited to Fidelity World for
he opening interest rate short options. (Jd at 42:112; Dem. Ex. 3092).

Richard Egan’s actual net economic cost of the opening interest rate options was
$2,250,000. The tax basis that he claims resulted from the contributions of the
interest rate options (through Fidelity World) to Ficelity International was more

than 65 times greater than his economic cost.
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837.

238.

8385.

840.

Again, the inflated basis was purportedly justified, emong other things, on the
grounds that the short options were only contingent liabilities under Section 752,
and therefore assets (but not liabilities) were coniributed.

Richard Egan’s tax basis in his partnership interest in Fidelity International was
also increased in 2001 by the following amounts: (1) his cash contributions in the
amount of $9,674,500; (2) the contributed shares of Stockton Holding, with &
value of $4,663,135; (3) the $325,50C he paid te acquire Mahorey’s purported
88% common ownership interest in Fidelity International; and (4) other de
minimis amounts (in a net amount of $3,184). (LaRue, 42:112-13; Dem. Ex.
3092).

In its December 31, 2001 Allocation of Expenses for Fidelity International,
KPMG allocated one-half of the $1,370,000 advisory fee owed to KPMG, and
one-half of the §3,375,000C advisory fee owed to Helios, among all the options
entered into by Fidelity International and Fidelity World during 2301, (Ex. 1502).
As of that date, Fidelity International had paid XPMG half of its fee, or $685,000,
but had not yet paid any of the fee owed to Helios. The ene-half share of fees to
KPMG and Helios were treated as accrued by Fidelity International in 2001, and
allocated between and capitalized to the interest rate long and short options, the
interest rate close-out options, the foreign currency long and short options, and the
replacement foreign currency options. (LaRue, 42:69-73, 94; Dem. Ex. 3070).

The Claimed Allocation of $163 Milliorn Gain to Mahonev

As described above, on October 22, 2001, Fidelity Intemational entered into
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841.

842.

843.

844,

opening foreign currency option trades with Refco.

On October 29 and 30, Fidelity International and Refco entered into the
replacement option trades for the gain legs of the foreign currency opticns, as to
which Fidelity Intemational recorded a bookkeeping “gain” of $175,603,084.
(LaRue, 42:68; Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 1404). Fees in the amount $1,617.246,
consisting of & portion of the Helios and KPMG fees for the Fidelity International
transaction, were allocated and capitalized to those trades. {LaRue, 42:68, 102-
03; Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 14).

The recorded bookkeeping “gains™ of $175,603,034 were allocated to the
purported “partners” of Fidelity International (Richard Egan, Mzahoney, Helios,
and Alpha) based upon their ownership interests as of October 29 and 30, 2001.
(LaRue, 42:68, 102-03; Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 14).

Richard Egan was allocated 5% of the “gains,” or $8,780,154. (Ex. 1404). In
addition, and as described below, capitalized fees 1 the amount of $1,617,246
were specially allocated entirely to Richard Egan. (LaRue, 42:102-03; Dem. Ex.
3070; Ex. 14). Both the bookkeeping “gain’ of §8,780,154 and the capitalized
fees of $1,617,246 are components of the $158,630,922 net ordinary [oss reported
on Richard Egan’s 2001 Schedule K-1. (LaRue, 42:103-04; Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex.
5).

Samuel Mahoney was allocated 93% of the “gains,” or $163,310,868. Mahoney’s
93% interest in the $1,617,246 of capitalized fees was specially reallocated to

Richard Egan. (Dem. Ex. 2070; Ex. 14). The bookkeeping “gain™ of
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846.

847.

848.

849,

$163,310,868 is a component of the $154,503,242 net ordinary gain reported on
Mahoney’s 2001 Schedule K-1. (Dem. Ex.3071).

The Claimed Allocation of $§163 Millicr Loss to Richard Egan

As described abeove, as part of the plan to implement the Fidelity International
transaction, the loss legs were to be closed out no later thar December 31, 2001,
in order to generate an ordinary loss in the year 2001.

As also described above, Richard Egan executed 2 Buy-Sell Notice dated
November 5, 2001, to purchase 88% of the common membership interest in
Fidelity International from Mzahoney for $325,500. As e result, Richard Egan now
held a 93% comimon ownership interest in Fidelity International and Mahoney
heid 2 5% interest.

As also described above, on Becember 3, 2001, Fidelity International terminated
all remaining foreign currency options, including the replacement options. After
the terminations, Fidelity International recorded a bookkeeping “loss” in the
amount of $176,152,349. (Dem. Ex. 3070; Exs. 1404, 14). Fees in the amount of
$1,572,159, consisting of & porticn of the Helios and XPMG fees, were allocated
and capitelized to those trades. (Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 14).

The “loss” in the amount of $176,152,349 was allocated to the purported
“partners” of Fidelity International (Richard Egan, Mahoney, Helics, and Alpha)
based upcn their ownership interests &s of December 3, 2001, (Dem. Ex. 3070;
Ex. 14).

Richard Egan was allocated 93% of the “loss,” or §163,821,685. (Ex. 1404). In
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851.

¥52.

addition, capitalized fees in the amount of $1,572,15% were specially allocated
entirely to Richard Egan. (Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 14). Both the bookkeeping “loss”
of $163,821,685 and the capitalized fees of $1,972,159 are components of the
$158,630,922 net ordinary loss reported on Richard Egan’s 2001 Schedule K-1.
(Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).

Mazhoney was allocated 5% of the “loss,” or $8,807,618. Mahoney’s 5% interest
in the $1,972,15% of capitalized fees was specially realiocated to Richard Egan.
(Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 14). The bookkeeping “loss” of 88,807,618 is a component
of the $154,503,242 net ordinary gain reported on Mehoney’s 2001 Schedule K-1.
(Pem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).

The effect of capitalization of fees to the foreign currency options and the
replacement options was to decrease the amounts of the gains, and increase the
amounts of the losses, recorded by Fidelity International. ([.aRue, 42:94-95; Dem.
Ex. 3070).

The fees that were initially allocated to Alpha, Helios, and Mahoney with respect
to their allocable ownership interests, were all specially reallocated to Richard
Egan. The effect of the special realiocation to Richard Egan was to increase his
distributive share of the net loss by §1,673,435 (from a net loss of $156,956,487
to a net loss of $158,630,922), while increasing Mahoney’s distributive share of
net gain and decreasing Alphe’s and Helios” distributive shares of net loss.

{(LaRue, 42:99-104; Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 14).
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The Capitalization of Fees

For purposes of calculating the amount of the “loss” on the 2001 Form 1065,
Fidelity International capitalized fees totaling $4,745,000, of which $1,370,000
was payable to KPMG and $3,375,000 was payable to Helios. Those fees were
accrued and capitalized into the tax basis of the interest rate options (including the
close-out options) and the foreign currency options (including the replacernent
options). (LaRue, 42:6%-70, 43:80-82; Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 14).

The capitalization of fees to the options in the amount of $4,745,300 included
100% of the 83,375,000 fee payable to Helios and more than 50% of the
$1,500,000 fze payable to KPMG.

The capitalization of fees in that amount was contrary to the treatment in KPMG's
workpapers. KPMG’s workpapers reflect that only one-half of these fees were to
be capitalized and that the remainder could not be deducted until Fidelity
International was liquidated. (LaRue, 42:72-73; Exs. 1502, 14).

The capitzlization of fees in that amount was also contrary to the conclusion of the
Sidley Austin opinion letter. The opinion letter states that all or a portion of the
advisory fees could be treated as organizational or syndication fees under Section
70%(a). (Ex. 121). Organizational fees paid by a partnership are capitalized and,
at the partnership’s election, amortized over 60 months. Syndication fees are also
capitalized, but are not amortizable or deductible. The fees therefore could not

have been fully deducted in 2001, (LaRue, 42:73-78; Ex. 121).
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The Reallocation of Fees to Richard Egan

The fees allocated to the foreign currency options, including the replacement
options, were initially allocated between the Fidelity International partners based
on their profit and loss sharing ratios. (Ex. 1502). KPMG, however, reallocated
all the fees back to Richard Egan. (Jd ). Ultimately, [00% of the fees allocated to
the foreign currency options were allocated tc Richard Egan. (LaRue, 42:100-03;
Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 14).

That reallocation is inconsistent with the purported effect of the trarsaction, and
there is no attempted justification or explanation of the aliocation in the record.
(LaRue, 42:104; Ex. 2151).

The effect of the reallocation of the fees to Richard Egan was to increase his
reported loss by $1,674,435. (Dem. Ex. 3071).

Fidelity Internationa! did not make a special allocation of the fees allocated to the

interest rate options and close-out ontions for 2002, (LaRue, 42:107-05).

The Reperting of the Fidelity International Transaction on the 2001 Partnership

Return (Form 1065)

i.

861.

862,

863,

The Netting of Gains and Losses

Fidelity International filed a partnership returmn (Form 1065) for the 2801 tax year
on April 15, 2002. (Ex. 6).

On the 2001 Form 1065, the gains and losses from the transaction were netted on
Schedule K and reported as a net [oss in the amount of $4,138.665. {LaRue,
42:95-96; Dem. Ex. 3070; Ex. 6).

Richard Egan’s distributive share of the net gains and iosses recorded by Fidelity
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International in 2001 was & loss of $158,630,521. (Ex. 6). That amount included
5% of the gain from the close-out of the gain legs of the foreign currency irades
($8,699,291), 93% of the loss from the close-out of the loss legs of the foreign
currency options (<$165,655,778>), and a special reallocation of capitalized fees
in the amount of $1,674,435, producing a net loss of $158,630,521. (LaRue,
42:110; Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).

Mahoney’s distributive share of the net gains and losses recorded by Fidelity
International in 2001 was a gain of $154,503,242. (Ex. 6). That amount included
93% of the gain (§161,806,820), 5% of the loss (<§8,506,225>), and a special
reailocation of capitalized fees from him to Richard Egan, which increased his net
gain by $1,602,647 to $154,503,242, (LaRue, 42:110; Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).
Fidelity International allocated a net loss of $158,630,921 to Richard Egan on
Richard Egan’s Schedule K-1. (Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).

Fidelity International allocated a net gain of $154,503,242 to Mahoney on
Mezhoney’s Schedule X-1. (Dem. Ex. 3071; Ex. 6).

The Renorting of the Loss as “Other Income”

Schedule K of the Form 1063 is a summaery schedule that is used to report all of
the partners’ shares of various items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit.
(LaRue, 42:114-15). Lines 1 through 21 on the first page of Form 1065 detail the
income, gains, deductions, and losses from the partnership’s trade or business
activities. The net income or loss from the partnership’s trade or business

activities is computed by totaling these amounts on Lire 22, (Id at 42:113-15).
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870.

572

Line 1 of Schedule K is used to report the partnership’s net income or ioss from
its trade or business activities and is a carryover amount from Line 22 on the first
page of the Form 1065, (Jd. at 43:7-8; Ex. 2719). Lines 2 through 6 of Schedule
K are used to report several different types of income. Generally, any income
that is not otherwise required to be reported on lines 1 through € of Schedule K is
revorted on Line 7 (“Cther income (loss)”) of Schedule K. (T.aRue, 42:115; Ex.
2719).

The $4,138,665 net loss from the Fidelity International transaction was reported
on the Schedule K of Fidelity Intemational on Line 7 as “Other Income (loss).”
(Ex. 6).

The Treatment of the Currency Option “Loss™ as 2 Section 988 Loss

A Section 988 gain or loss is a gain or loss resulting from a taxable disposition of
certain foreign-currency-denominated instruments. Section 988 gains and losses
are generally treated as ordinary income and ordinary losses, rather than as capital
gains and capital losses. (LaRue, 42:117). Currency opticn trades are treated as
Section 988 transactions.

The gains and losses from the terminations of the foreign currency options and the
replacement options were treated by Fidelity International as Section 988 gain,
and losses. {(/d at42:117; Ex. 6).

The Failure to File 2 Form 4797

Form 4797, entitled “Sale of Business Property,” is used to report six categories of

transactions. (LaRue, 43:10-11; Ex. 2733). The instructions for Form 4797 state,
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among other things, that it should be used to report (1) “The sale or exchange
of . .. [pjroperty used in your trade or business . . .”; (2) “ The disposition of
noncapital assets {other than inventory or properly held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of your trade or business})”; and (3} “The
disposition of capital assets not reported en Schedule D.” {LaRue, 43:10-11; Ex.
2735).
The disposition of foreign currency options is required to be reported on Form
47597 by a partnership, unless the options were inventory or property held
primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or the
isnositions were reported on Schedule D. (LaRue, 43:10-12; 44:42-47, §9-90;
Ex. 2735}. Because neither of these exceptions are applicable, any Fidelity
International foreign currency gains or losses should have been reported on
Form 4797. (LaRue, 43:11-12}.
Fidelity International did not report any foreign currency gains or losses ona
Form 4797,
KPMG’s workpapers for the 2001 Form 1065 of Fidelity International show that
KPMG criginally planned to report the net loss of 54,138,665 from the foreign
currency trades on a Form 4797. (LaRue, £3:8-9; Ex. 14). KPMG prepared &
draft schedule entitled “Form 4797-Attachment.” (Ex. 14).
The schedule actually filed as an attachment to the 2001 Form 1065 was identical
to the draft schedule, except that “Torm 4797-Attachment” in the title was

replaced with “Form 1065, Page 3, Line 7 - Cther Income /(Loss) - Attachment --
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Section 988 Foreign Currency Gain/{Loss).” (LaRue, 43:9-10; Ex. 6}.

The Failure to Report the Net Loss as 2 “Trade or Business®” Loss

On the “Schedule of Activities” on each Schedule K-1 for each partner, Fidelity
International reported the partner’s distributed share of gains and losses from the
foreign currency options under a column labeled “GEN. T/3.” (Ex. 6). The
refarence “GEN. T/B” meant that the foreign currency gains and losses arose from
“General Trade or Business™ activities.

Fidelity International did not report the net loss of §4,138,665 from the foreign
currency options on the face of the partnership return. That failure was
inconsistent with the description of that loss as a “GEN. T/B.” (Id.).

If the $4,138,665 net loss had been reported as 2 trade or business loss, the loss
should have been reported on Line 6 of the first page of the Form 1065. The net
loss would then have carried over to Line 1 of Schedule K, with each partner then
reporting their distributive share of the gains and losses reflected in the net loss on
Line 1 of each partner’s Schedule K-1. (LaRue, 43:7-8}.

If Richard Egen’s $158,630,922 distributive share of the $4,138,665 net loss had
been reported on Line 1 of his Schedule K-1, that loss would have been reported
on Part II of Schedule E of the Egans® 2001 individual income tax return {Form
1040). If that loss had been reported on Part II of Schedule E, the net amount
would have carried over and been reported on line 17 on the face of the Form
1040. (Jd at 43:22).

1

if Richard Egan’s allocated loss had been properly reported on Line 1 of his
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Schedule K-1, and on Part II of Schedule E of the 2001 Form 1040, that loss could
not have been netted against the ordinary income recognized by the Egans from
the exercise of the EMC stock options on Statement 1 of the Egans’ joint 2001
Form 1040 or on Line 21 on the face of their 2001 Form 1040. (Jd at 43:22-23).

The False Entries on Schedules L and M-2

. The Purpose of Schedule L

Schedule L of Form 1065 (“Balance Sheets per Bocks™) is used to report the
partnership’s balance sheets as of the beginning and the end of the tax year. The
partnership is required to report the beginning and ending balances of the
“pariners’ capital accounts” is analogous to the corporate concept of “cwners’
equity.” (Jd. at 43:32-33).

Schedule L is an informational schedule. None of the numbers reported on the
schedule carry through directly to the partners’ individual tax returns. Schedule L
provides information that may be useful to the IRS in testing the completeness and
the accuracy of other amounts of incoime, gain, loss, deduction, and credit that
may be reported elsewhere on the Form 1065, (#d at 43:33).

b. The 2001 Fidelity International Schedule L,

Line 8 of Schedule L for the 2001 Fidelity International Form 1065 reports an
asset of “Other investments” totaling $254,800,575.

Statement 3 of the Schedule L in the 2001 Form 1065 of Fidelity International

includes a description of how that amount was determined. (/4 at £3:33-34; Ex.
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5). Statement 3 shows an “ending” balance for “Investrment in Fidelity World” in
the amount of $150,304,982 and an “ending” balance for “Foreign Exchange
Options™ in the amount of $134,832,153. (Ex. 6}.

(1) “Investment in Fidelity World” of $150,304,982

886. The histing of “Investment in Fidelity World” as an asset with an “ending” balance
in the amount of $150,304,982 appears to represent the $150,000,000 premium to
acquire the opening interest rate long options, plus $304,982 in capitalized
acdvisory fees. (LaRue, 43:34-35).

887. The reference on Statement 3 to an “ending” balance for Fidelity World of
$150,304,982 was false.

888.  The value of Fidelity World as of December 31, 2001, was zerc. Fidelity World
owned 1o assets on that date other than the offsetting interest rate options, and
those had no value. The 10-year CMS options and LIBOR options had been
closed out on November 6, 2001, with Refco making a net payment to Fidelity
International of $1,493,641, representing the then-existing value of those trades.
Thus, while the interest rate options remained on the books of Fidelity World,
they had no remaining value. (Id. at 43:35-37, 39; Dem. Ex. 3075).

889. The Egans and their adviscrs knew or reasonably should have known that the
value of Fidelity World as of December 31, 2001, was zero. (Shea, 23:49-50; M.
Egan, 12:31-33; Ex. 1275).

%90. Even if the interest rate options had not been closed out, the reference to

“Investment in Fidelity World” as an asset with a value of $130,304,982 would
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892.

893,

894,

895.

still be false. The net premium paid for the interest rate options was only
$2,250,000. {LaRue, 43:36; Dem. Ex, 3075}. Furthermore, the interest rate
options when acquired had a value of even less than the net premium, because a
significant portion of the net premium was attributable to Refco’s fees.
Furthermore, and in any event, the reference to an investment in Fidelity World in
Statement 3 of Schedule L 1s inconsistent with Fidelity World’s treatment as a

disregarded entity. (LaRue, 43:35).

(2) Investment in “Foregign Exchange Options” of $134,832.153
The reference on Statement 3 t¢ “Feoreign Exchange Options” with an “ending”
balance in the amount of $134,832,153 is false.
The listed asset was not the foreign currency options, but relates to the interest
rate options. The foreign currency options had been terminated prior to December
31,2001, and were no longer on the books of Fidelity International as of the end
of its 2001 tax year. (/d at 43:37-39; Dem. Ex. 3070).
The purported “Foreign Exchange Options” with an “ending” balance in the
amount of $134,832,153, represents the amount of the premiums charged to
Fidelity World by Refco for the ciose-out interest rate long options, plus allocated
fees, without regard to the premiums credited for the close-out interest rate short
options, and without regard to the $1,493,641 net premium credited and paid to
Fidelity World by Refco in 2001, (LaRue, 43:37-39; Dem. Ex. 3075).
The interest rate options had no value as of December 31, 2001, (LaRue, 43:39;

Dem. Ex. 3075).
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On November 6, 2001, Refco paid Fidelity International cash in the amount of
$1,493,641 from the offset of these trades. Those funds were transferred out of
Fidelity International’s Refco account on December 10, 2601, with interest in the
amount of $2,807. (Exs. 14, 2085).

The Egans and their advisors knew or reasonably should have known that the

3'}'{

reference to “Foreign Exchange Options™ with an “ending” balance in the amount
of $134,832,153 was false. Michae! Egan and Pat Shea knew that the interest rate
options kad a net value of zero after the offset trades on November 6, 2001, (M.
Egan, 12:31-32; Shea, 23:49-50). Calkins recorded in her notes that the “value”
of the interest rate options after November 6 was “80.” (Ex. 1275). The
Summary of Transaction reported to the Egans that as a result of entering into
these offset trades, Fidelity World “eliminated its economic risk of gain or loss on
its October 9, 2001 trades and realized” an aggregate net economic loss of
$756,339. (Ex.2).

3) The Effect of the False Reporting on Schedule L

The false amounts of $1506,304,982 and $134,832,153 that were described in
Statement 3 to Schedule L were included in the ending balance of “Other
Investments™ on Line 8(d) of Schedule L of Fidelity Internatioral’s 2001 Form
1065. (Ex. 6). The inclusion of these amounts overstated the ending balances
reported on Schedule L for “Other investments” (Line 8(d}), “Total assets™ (Line
14(d)), “Partners’ capital accounts” (Line 21(d)), and “Total ligbilities and

capital” {Line 22(d)). (I4).
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899.  Each of those balances was overstated by the aggregate sum of $150,304,582 and
$134,832,153, or $285,137.135. (LaRue, 43:39-41). The amount shown in
answer to “Question F” on the face of Fidelity International’s 2001 Form 1065,
where Fidelity International listed “Total assets” of $300,403,052, was alsc
overstated by $285,137,135. {Id at 43:40-41; Ex. 6).

7. The Purpose of Schedule M-2

90G.  Schedule L to the Form 1065 shows the beginning and ending aggregate balances
of the partniers’ capital accounts. Schedule M-2 reconciles those beginning and
ending balances by providing a summary description of the events that increased
and decreased that account during the vear.

501.  Schedule M-2 is an informational schedule. None of the amounts shown on the
Schedule M-2 directly carry through to the partners’ individual Forms 1040,
Schedule M-2 provides information that may be useful to the IRS in testing the
compicteness and the accuracy of other amounts of income, gain, loss, deduction,
and credit that may be reported elsewhere on the Form 1065, {LaRaue, 43:41-42).

902. The amount shown on Line T of Schedule M-2 is the same amount shown on Line
21(b} of Schedule L. The amount shown on Line 9 of Schedule M-2 is the same
amount shown on Line 21(d) of Schedule L. {/d).

2, The 2001 Fidelity International Schedule M-2

903.  The amounts shown on lines 4, 7, and 9 of Fidelity International’s M-2 were false.
{Id. at 43:43-44; Dem. Ex. 3084).

904. The amount shown on Line 4 (“Other increases™) was overstated by
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908.

509,
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Sii

912.

$134,832,153. (LaRue, 43:53-54; Dem. Ex. 3084).

The amount show on Line 7 (“Cther decreases™) was understated by
$150,304,982. (LaRue, 43:53-54; Dem. Ex. 3084).

The net effect of the overstatement on Line 4 and the understatement on Line 7
was that the net amount shown on Line § (“Balance at end of year™) was
overstated by $285,137,135.

The correct ending balance of the partners’ capital accounts was $11,205,917.
The amount shown on Schedule M-2 of Fidelity International’s 2001 Form 1065
was therefore overstated by 2,645%. (LaRue, 43:53-534; Dem. Ex. 3084).
Richard Egan and his advisors knew or reasonably should have known that the
ending balance of the partners’ capital accounts was dramatically overstated.
The Effect of the False Schedule M-2 on the Schedule K-1

The aggregate amounts shown on Schedule M-2 are broken out and allocated
among the various partners, and reported separately on Item J, Columns {(a)
through (e), of their respective Schedule K-1s. (LaRue, £3:54-35).

The amount shown as Richard Egan’s “Capital account at end of year” in Columm
(e) of Ttem J of his Schedule K-1 was $286,827,488. (Jd. at 43:55; Ex. 6).
Based on that reported amount, Richard Egan’s total partnership capital, before
consideration of the $158,626,538 net loss allocated to him, was purportedly
$445,454,026. Asreported, Richard Egan’s $158,626,538 allocaied loss was 36%
of the total amount of his capital. (LaRue, 43:58-59; Dem. Ex. 3086).

The correct amount of Richard Egan’s “Capital account at end of year” was
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916.

S17.

$12,806,195. (LaRue, 43:59-60; Dem. Ex. 3087).

Based on that corrected amount, Richard Egan’s total partnership capital, before
consideration of the $158,625,538 net loss allocated to him, was therefore
$171,432,733. Richard Egan’s $158,626,538 allocated loss was therefore 93% of
his partnership capital. {LaRue, 43:59-60; Dem. Ex. 3087).

On its 2001 Form 1665, Schedule 1, Line 8(d), Fidelity International reported an
ending balance for “Other investments” in the amount of $294 800,575, (Ex. 8).
The correct amount was $9,663,440. The total was therefore overstated by
$285,137,135, or 3,051%. (LaRue, 43:52-53; Dem. Ex. 3083).

On its 2001 Form 1065, Schedulss L and M-2, Fidelity Internationel reported an
ending balance for “Partners’ capital accounts” in the amount of $296,343,052.
(Ex. 6). The correct amount was $11,205,917. The total was therefore overstated
by 285,137,135, or 2,645%. (LaRue, 43:53; Dem. Exs. 3083, 3084),

For its “Analysis of partner’s capital account,” Schedule K-1, Item J, Column (e),
Ficelity International reported that Richard Egan had a “Capital account at end of
vear” in the amount of $286,827,488. (Ex. 6). The correct amount was
$12,804,195. The total was therefore overstated by $274,021,293, or 2,240%.
(LaRue, 43:55, 59-60; Dem. Ex. 3087, Ex. 6).

Rickard Egan and his advisors knew, or reasonably should have known, that the
amocunt stated on his Schedule K-I for “Capital Account at End of Year” was

dramatically overstated.
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919.

§20.
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621.

The Ultimate Effect of the False Schedules T and M-2

The effect of the false statements in Schedules L and M-2, and on Richard Egan’s
Schedule K-1, was to obscure the magnitude of the loss allocated to Richard Egan
as compared to his actual investment in Fidelity International. (LaRue, 43:60-61).
If the correct amount had been reported on Richard Egan’s “Capital Account at
End of Year” on the Schedule K-1, Item J, in Column (e), it would have increased
the risk of audit and detection by the Internal Revenue Service,

The false entries were made deliberately in order to conceal the Fidelity
International transaction from IRS scrutiny.

The Failure to Disclose the Transaction Otherwise

a. Schedule K-1. Line 25

The 2001 Instructions for Form 1065 require a partnership to disclose on Line 25
of the Schedule K-1 any information or statements a partner needs to comply with
the registration and disclosure requirements found in Sections 6111 and
5662(dY)2)B):

Any information or statements a partner needs to comply

with section 6111 (registration of tax shelters} or section

6662(N2)B)(ii) (regarding adequate disclosure of Ttems

that may cause an understatement of income tax).
(/d at 43:63-64; Ex. 2719).
For purposes of the reduction of the substantial-understatement accuracy-related
penalty, Section 6662(d}2}B)(1i) requires that a partnership adequately disclose
the relevant facts affecting the item’s tax treatment in the retum or in a statement

attached to the return and that there be a reasonsble basis for the tax treatment of
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925.

such item by the taxpayer. While Section 6662()(2)(B) further generally
provides for a reduction of penalties if an ttem is adequately disclosed, Section
6662(d)(2){(c) provides that Section 6662(d)(2}B) does not apply to “tax shelters,”
which are defined to include partnerships the principal purpose of which is the
avoidance or evasion of federal income tax.

Line 25 of Richard Egan’s Schedule K-1s for 2001 and 2002 were left blank and
therefore did not disclose any information regarding the items that caused the
understatement of Richard Egan’s income tax. (LaRue, 43:65; Exs. 6, 7).

b. Form 8278

Form 8275 is used by taxpayers and income tax retwrn preparers to disclose items
or positions, except those taken contrary to 2 regulation, that are not otherwise
adequately disclosed on a tax return. Disclosure on Form 8275 allows a taxpayer
to avoid certain penalties. (LaRue, 43:65-66; Exs. 3135, 3137). As set forth in
the Instructions for Form 8275, the form may be filed to avoid the portions of the
accuracy-related penalty due to disregard of rules or a substantial understatement
of income tax if the retumn position has a reasonable basis. (LL.aRue, 43:66-67;
Fxs. 3135, 3137). For items attributable to 2 partnership, disclosure should be
made on the tax retumn of the partnership. [f the partnership does not make the
disclosure, the partner may make adequate disclosure of these items. (LaRue,
43:66-67; Exs. 3135, 3137).

A Form 8275 was not filed with Fidelity International’s 20CG1 or 2002 partnership

returns or with the Egans’ 2001 or 2002 Form 1040s. (LaRue, 43:68-65; Exs, 6,
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¢. Schedule K-1, Line G

The instructions to Form 1065 require a partnership to show its tax registration
number if the partnership is required to be registered as a tax shelter. (LaRue,
43:6%; Ex. 3139A). Ttem G (“Tax shelter registration number™) was left blank on
the 2001 and 2002 Schedule K-1s of Richard Egan and the other pariners of

Fidelity International. (Exs. 6, 7).

The Reporting of the Fidelity International Transaction op the 2002 Partnership

Return (Form 1065)

1.

927.

928.

930.

G31.

The Reporting of the Capital Loss as ap Ordinary Loss

For 2002, Fidelity International reported 2 loss of $1,511,959 orn Line 7 of
Schedule K of its Form 1065, (Ex. 7). Ofthat amount, $1.155,600 was
attributable to the allocation of the KPMG and Helios fees to the interest-rate
options. (LaRue, 43:74; Dem. Ex. 3075).

Richard Egan was allocated $1,778,122 of the $1,511,959 loss. That amount was
reported as an “other” loss on Line 7 of his 2002 Schedule K-1. {Ex. 7).

a. The Purnorted “Section 388 Loss”

This loss was described in the supporting Statement 2 to Line 7 of Fidelity
International’s 2002 Schedule K as a “Secticn 988 Foreign Currency
Gain/(Loss).” (Id).

Richard Egan’s 2002 Schedule K-1 similarly described his allocable share of this
loss as a “Secticn 988 Foreign Currency Gain/(Loss).” (/).

The description of the loss as a Section 988 foreign currency loss occurring in
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2002 was false. (LaRue, 43:74-75).

First, the foreign currency optiens had all been terminated in 2001. No such loss
occurred in 2002.

Second, the interest-rate options had nothing to do with foreign currency. (Jd at
43:32).

Third, the interest-rate options (that is, the LIBOR options and the CMS options)
were short-term capital assets for federa! income tax purposes. (Id. at 43:76-78).
The claimed loss was attributable to the clese-out of the interest-rate options in
2002; that event, however, actually occurred in 2001.

Is. The Fatlure to Report the Loss on Schedule D

Schedule D to Form 1065 (“Capital Gains and Losses™) is used by a partnership to
report short-term and long-term capital gains and losses. (/4 at 43:76). Because
the $1,911,959 loss was a short-term capital loss, it should have been initially
reported on Schedule D and then carried over to Line 4(d) of Fidelity
International’s 2002 Schedule K. Tt should not have been reperted on line 7 of the
Schedule K as a Section 988 ordinary loss. {(/d. at 43:76-78}.

Ifthe $1,911,959 loss had been correctly reported on Line 4(d) of Fidelity
International’s Schedule K, each partner’s distributive share of that loss would
have been reported on Line 4(d) of their respective 2002 Schedule K-1s. (/4 at
43:79).

Richard Egan’s distributive share of the loss, which was $1,778,122, should have

been reported on Line 4(d) of his 2002 Schedule K-1 as a short-term capital loss,
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not on Line 7 as an ordinary loss. {Jd at 43:82).

€. The Resulting Tax Benefit

538. The Egans claimed Richard Egan’s $1,778,122 distributive share of the 2002
Fidelity International loss on their joint 2002 Form 1040 as an ordinary less. It
was reported (with other losses) on Line 21 (“Other income™) of the Forz 1040,
(Ex. 232). The loss was described in the sunporting Statement | to Line 21 as
“Fidelity Int’l. Currency Advisor - Sect. 988 Gain/Loss.” (/d.).

935.  The claimed loss thus reduced Richard Egan’s 2002 adjusted gross income by
81,778,122, (LaRue, 43:92-93), Although Rickhard Egan had otherwise already
reduced his taxable income to zero, he was still subject to the Alternative
Minimum Tax {“AMT”) at a rate of 28%. (Ex. 232). The claimed ordinary loss
of $1,778,122 reduced his AMT lability by $497,874. (LaRue, 43:85-92).

94G.  Asnoted above, individuals are permitted to deduct capital losses against ordinary
income only to the extent of $3,000 per year. (Jd. at £3:90-51).

941. Richard and Maureen Egan were already subject to this $3,000 capital [oss
limitation with respect to the canital losses that they were claiming on their 2002
Form 1640 from the Fidelity High Tech transaction. (Jd at 43:91; Ex. 232). They
would therefore not have been able to deduct any portion of the loss that they
were claiming from the Fidelity International transaction if that loss had been
properly reperted as a short-term capital loss, rather than as an ordinary loss.

d. A Capital Loss

942,  The Egans’ advisors were aware of the fact that any loss from the interest rate
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G43.

944,

options was a capital ioss and not en ordinery loss. For example, on December
11, 2001, James Haber sent an e-mail to Speiss and Reiss describing the loss from
the interest rate options as “STCL from Initial Rate Trades.” (Ex. 1584). “STCL”
is an acronym for “short-term capital loss.” On June 13, 2002, Reiss sent an e-
mail to Shea referring to the loss as a “STCL.” (Ex. 1883). On February 14,
2003, Reiss sent an e-mail to Seaver referring to the loss from the interest rate
options as a “STCL.” (Ex. 2133).

The Use of the Accrual Method of Accounting

Under the accrual method of accounting, income is recognized in the year in
which all events have occurred to fix the taxpayer’s right to receive that income
and the amount can be determined with reasonable certainty. Expenditures are
considered as having been made in the year in which all events have occurred to
fix the taxpayer’s liability for the expenditure, the amount can be determined with
reasonable certainty, and economic performance has occurred. {LaRue, 42:82-83;
Treas. Reg. § 1.461-1()(2)}).

Under the cash method of accounting, income is recognized in the vear in which
cash or property having an ascertainable fair market value is actually or
constructively received by the taxpayer, and expenditures are generally recognized
in the year that cash is paid. {LaRue, 42:83; Treas. Reg. § 1.461-1(a)(1)).

Fidelity International’s Operating Agreement stated that “For income tax and
financial accounting purposes, the company shall use the cash method of

accounting.” (Ex. 2).
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950.

Fidelity International adopted the accrual method of accounting on ts 2001 Form
1065 and used that method in determining its income, gains, losses, and
deductions for its 2001 and 2002 tax years. (LaRue, 42:86; Exs. 6, 7).

The effect of adopting the accrual method of accounting, rather than the cash
method, was to shift the tax recognition of approximately $2.7 million of KPMG
and Helios fees from 2002 back to 2001. (LaRue, 42:51).

Accerding to Reiss, the fees were “shifted back from 2002 to 2001 to keep the
total loss below $2 mil for 2002.” (Ex. 2133). If those fees had been reported
under the cash method, Fidelity International’s 2002 reported loss would have
increased by approximately $2.7 million (from $1,911,955 tc approximately $4.5
million). {LaRue, 42:91-92). The amount of the net loss reported on Line 21 on
the first page of the Egans’ 2002 Form 1040 would have increased from a loss of
$2,309,570 to & loss of approximately $5 miliion. (Jd).

The gross income shown on the face of the Egans” 2002 Form 1040, before
consideration of Richard Egan’s distributive share of the 2002 Fidelity
International loss, was approximately $15 million. (Ex. 232). A $3 million loss
would have been about one-third of the total amount of the income, before
consideration of the loss, shown on the face of the Egans’ 2002 Form 1048.
(LaRue, 42:92-93).

The income shown on the face of the Egans’ 2001 Form 1040 was approximately
8230 million, before consideration of Richard Egan’s distributive share of the

2001 Fidelity International loss. (Ex. 8). The $2.7 million in fees shifted back
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from 2002 to 2001 under the accrual method is a relatively small amount when
compared with the $230 million of 2001 income, whereas that same amount, had
it been recognized in 2002 under the cash method of accounting, would have been
a relatively large amount compared with the $15 million of Income reported by
the Egans in 2002, It would have been considerably more conspicuous to report
the same dollar amount in 2002, when income was low, than to report if 11 2001,
when income was high. (LaRue, 42:92-93}.

The False Statements on Schedufes F and M-2 and on Richard
Koan’s Schedule -1

The misstated ending balances on the Schedules L. and M-2 of the 2001 Form
1065 of Fidelity International {and on Richard Egan’s Schedule K-1) were carried
over to the 2002 Form 1065 as beginning balances. (Ex. 7). As aresult, Fidelity
International’s 2002 beginning balances for “Other investments” (Schedule L,
Line 8(b)), “Total assets” (Schedule L, Line 14(b}}, “Partners’ capital accounts”
(Schedule L, Line 21(b)), and “Balance at beginning of year” (Schedule M-2, Line
1} were each overstated by $285,137.135. (LaRue, 43:39-40; Ex. 7). Item J,
column (&) (“Capital account at beginning of year™) on Richard Egan’s 2001
Schedule K-1 was overstated by $274,021,293. (LzRue, 43:59-60; Ex. 7).

The value listed for Fidelity Intemnational’s “Investment in Fidelity World,”
which was incorrectly reported on the 2001 Form 1065, was again incorrectly
reported on its 2002 Form 1065. (L.aRue, 43:83-85; Ex. 7).

The $150,304,982 amount reported as Fidelity International’s “Investment in
Fidelity World” as of the end of 2001 and the beginning of 2002 was the total
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amount of the premiums charged to Fidelity World for the opening interest rate
long options (plus $304,982 of the fees allocated to those options by KPMG),
without regard to the premiums credited to Fidelity World for the opening interest
rate short options. (LaRue, 43:34-35; Exs. 6, 7).

954.  As described above, the actual value of Fidelity World at the end of 2001 was
zero. The value of Fidelity World at the end of 2002 was also zero. Furthermore,
the interest rate options, which had an economic value of zero as of the end of
2001, had been formally terminated mn May 2002, and thus the interest rate
options did not even exist as of the end of 2002, (LaRue, 43:84-85).

955. Nonetheless, Fidelity Internationzl incorrectly reported a value of $147,444,792 as
its ending balance in Fidelity World as of the end of 2002. That amount was
included in the total amount of “other investments” on its 2002 Schedule L {(Line
8{d) (“Other investments™). (Id. at 43:84; Ex. 7). As aresult, the amounis
reported for “Total assets” (Schedule L, Line 14{d) and Question F), “Partners’
capital accounts” (Schedule L, Line 21{d}}, and “Balance at end of year”
(Schedule M-2, Line 9) were all overstated by $147,444,752. (LaRue, 43:84; Ex.
7).

956. Richard Egan and his advisors knew or reasonably should have known that the
value of Fidelity World as of the end of 2002 was zero.

657.  Ttem J, column (e) (“Capital account at end of year™) on Richard Egan’s 2002
Schedule K-1 was also substantially overstated. (LaRue, 43:85-86; Ex. 7.

Richard Egan’s $1,778,122 distributive share of the loss reported by Fidelity
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958&.

International in 2002 from the terminations of the interest-rate options was
relatively small compared to the $158,998,038 amount reported as his endin
capital account balance, but relatively large when compared to the correct ending
capital account balance of approximately $12 miliion to $14 million. {LaRue,
43:86; Ex. 7).

If the correct amounts had been properly reported, the likely effect would have
been that the risk of detection and audit by the Internal Revenue Service would

have increased.

The Reporting Of The Fidelity International Transaction on the Esans’ 2001 1640

Return

.
Lo

959,

560,

961.

The Reporting of the “TLoss” as a “White-Paner Netting
Transaction”

The Egans reported both the income from the exercise of the EMC Options
(totaling $162,974,496) and Richerd Egan’s distributive share cof the Fidelity
Interrational loss ($158,630,921) as “Miscellanecus Income” on a “white paper”
labeled Statement 1 attached to the 2001 Form 1040. (Ex. 8).

The net amount of all of the items listed on Statement I (income of $6,053,457)
was carried over to Line 21 (“Other income™) on the face of the Egans’ 2001 joint
Form 1040. (d).

If the income from the exercise of the EMC stock options had been reported on
Line 12 (“Business Income or (Loss)”) on the face of the Egans’ 2001 Form 1040,
then the amount shown on Line 12 would have increased from 50 to

$162,974,456, and the amount reported on Line 21 (“Cther Income™) would have
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8963.

9¢4.

decreased by that amount from a reported $6,0533,457 of ordinary income to &
$156,921,039 ordinary loss. (LaRue, 43:30-31; Ex. 8).

If Richard Egan’s $158,630,921 distributive share of the Fidelity International
“loss™ had been reported by Fidelity International on Line 1 of its 2001 Schedule
K and on Line 1 of Richard Egan’s 2001 Schedule K-1, that amount would have
carried over to Line 27 of Part I of Schedule E of the Egans’ 2001 Form 1040.
The total of all of the amounts reperted on Schedule E (Line 40} would have
decreased by §158,630,921 and carried over to Line 17 on the face of thet return.
Thus, the $6,980,856 loss reported on Line 17 would have increased to a loss of
$165,611,777, while the amount of ordinzary income reported on Line 21 would
have increased from $6,053,457 to §1€4,684,378. {LaRue, 43:26-27; Ex. 8).

If the amounts of both the ordinary income from the exercise of the options and
Richard Egan’s distributive share of the claimed Fidelity International “loss™ had
been properly reported, the 6,980,856 loss reported on Line 17 would have
increased to a [oss of $165,611,777, the amount shown on Line 12 would have
increased from $0 to $162,974,496, and the amount reported on Line 21 would
have decreased from a reported $6,053,457 of ordinary income to ordinary income
o' $1,709,882. (LaRue, 43:31-32; Ex. 8).

Thke Reporting of the “Loss” under “Miscellapeons Income”

. The Reperting on Statement 1

Statement 1 was the “white paper” attached to the Egans’ 2001 joint Form 1040

on which the Egans reported both the income from the exercise of the EMC
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§635.

966.

367.

options (8162,974,456) and Richard Egan’s distributive share of the Fidelity
International loss (158,630,921}, Neither of these amounts was disclosed on the
face of the Egans® 2001 Form 1046, (Ex. 8).

Statement 1 was titled “Miscellaneous Income.” It was the 75th page of Richard
and Maureen Fgan’s 2001 Form 1040. (Jd). Statement 1 also listed 27 other
items of ordinary income and loss, totaling $1,709,882. (J4). The net amount of
all of the items listed on Statement 1 (income of $6,053,457) were carried over to
Line 21 on the face of the Egans” 2001 joint Form 1040, (Jd.).

Richard Egan’s distributive share of the Fidelity International loss was described
on Statement ! as “Fidelity Int’l. Currency Advisor — Sect. 988 Gain/Loss.” (Id).
There was no indication that this loss was being allocated to Richard Egar from =
Schedule K-1. There was no indication that Fidelity International was a
multi-member LLC. (LaRue, 43:21-22; Ex. &).

b. The Reporting of the “Loss” on Schedule E

The instructions for the Form K-1 require that a partner’s distributive share of
trade or business income (loss) be reported on Part [T of Schedule E of Form 1040,
(LaRue, 43:23-24; Ex. 313%A). Richard and Maureen Egan did not report
Richerd Egan’s distributive share of the Fidelity International loss on Schedule E.
Fidelity Intemational was listed as one of more tharn 100 entities on Statement 32
(“Schedule E: Income or (Loss) From Partnerships and S Corps™). (Ex. 8).
However, no dollar amounts were associzted with Fidelity International on

Statement 32, {LaRue, 43:27-28; Ex. 8).
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968,

§69.

970.

If Richard Egan’s $138,630,921 distributive share of the claimed Fidelity
International “loss™ had been properly reported on Part I of Schedule E of the
Egans’ joint 2001 Form 1040, the $6,980,856 loss reported on Line 17 would
have increased to 2 loss of $165,611,777, while the amount of ordinary income
reported on Line 21 would have increased from $6,053,457 to §164,684,378.

(LaRue, 43:22-27; Ex. 8).

The Reporting of the Options Income as “Other Income”

The income from the exercise of the EMC cptions should have been reported on
Schedule C, and carried over to Line 12 on page | of the Egans’ 2001 joint Form
1040. (Ex. 2732). The Egans, however, improperly reported the income on Line
21 as “Other income.” {LaRue, 43:29-31; Ex. 8).

If the option income had been reported on Line 12 on the face of the Egans’ joint
2001 Form 1040, then the amount shown on Line 12 would have increased from
$0 to $162,974,496, and the amount reported on Line 21 would have decreased by
that emount from a reported $6,053,457 of ordinary income to a $155,521,03%

crdinary loss. (LaRue, 43:31; Ex. 8).

The Reporting of the Fidelity International Transaction on the Egans’ 2002 1640

Return

1.

971.

The Reporting of the Claimed Loss

Richard Egan’s $1,778,122 distributive share of the loss from Fidelity
International’s early termination of the interest rate options was reported on
Statement 1 to Line 21 (“Other Income™) of the Egans’ ioint 2002 Form 1040 as a
“Sect. 988" loss. (Ex. 232).
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972

974.

G75.

976.

877.

The description of the loss from Fidelity International as a “Section 588" loss was
false. All of the foreign exchange options had been terminated by Fidelity
International in 2001. The loss reported on Statement 1 attached to the 2002 Form
1040 was Richard Egan’s distributive share of the loss that was recognized by
Fidelity International upon the early consensual terminations of the interest rate
options. (LaRue, £3:85).

The interest rate options (that is, the LIBOR options and the CMS options) were
short-term capital assets. (Jd at 43:76, 89; Reiss, 35:108-09). Accordingly, the
loss recognized by Fidelity International on the consensual early terminations of
these options was a short-term capital loss that should have been reported on Line
5 of the Egans’ 2002 Schedule D (“Capital Gains and Losses™). (LaRue, 43:89-
S0).

The Egans and their advisors knew or reasonably should have known that the
interest rate options generated a short-term capital loss and not an ordinary loss.
Nevertheless, the $1,778,122 loss was treated by Richard and Maureen Egan as an
ordinary loss on Statement 1 and deducted as an ordinary loss on Line 21 of page
[ of their 2002 Form 1040.

The Resulting Tax Benefits

In any given tax year, individual taxpayers are only permitted to deduct capital
losses against ordinary income to the extent of $3.000. (LaRue, 43:90-91).
In 2602, Richard and Maurcen Fgan already had net capital losses far in excess of

the $3,000 limit as & result of the High Tech transaction, which generated a
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purported long term capital loss in excess of $87 million in 2002. (Jd. at 43:G1-
92; Ex. 232). That loss flowed through to Richard and Maureen Egan’s 2002
Form 1040, Schedule D, from their partnership interests in High Tech and MEE
Holdings. (Ex. 232). Accordingly, if the $1,778,122 loss bad been properly
classified and reported, no amount of that loss would have been deductible in
2002 and Richard and Maureen Egan would have received no immediate tax
benefit from that loss. However, by improperly reporting the loss as an ordinary
loss, the amount deducted on Line 21 of Richard and Maureen Egan’s joint 2002
Form 1040 was overstated by $1,778,122, and the amounts reported as thelr total
income (Line 22) and adjusted gross income (Lines 35 and 36) were understaied

by the same amount.

Js The Egans Sought to Coneeal the Transactions from the TRS

G78.

From the outset, the Egans were aware that, at 2 minimum, the IRS was likely to
view the tax shelter strategy with great disfavor, and that disallowance of the tax
treatment and the imposition of penaltics was a very real possibility if the
transzactions were discovered. The Egans and their advisors sought to ensure that
the transactions would be difficult for the IRS to detect. They also repeatedly
discussed the risk of audit and detection, and at several points contemplated
actions that would trigger the running of the statutory limitation period. Finally,
and as discussed below, they filed tax returms with multiple faise and misleading

statements in a further effort to minimize the risk of audit and aveid detection.
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G79.

G8G.

982.

Denby’s Discussions with Reiss in April 2000

As described ebove, Stephanie Denby advised Richard Egan in Aprif 2000 that the
“IRS is certainly aware that these [types of tax shelter] transactions are out there”
and has “implemented new reporting requirements to try and stop these
transactions.” {(Ex. 3566).

She also advised that there was “a very low chance” that these basis-generating
and loss-generating transactions “would ever be picked up by the IRS.” (/d).
Even so, she advised of “further steps that we could take to limit these risks.”
(Id). One of those steps was to choose transactions that weuld be “used {onlyl in
large situations,” meaning that the promoters “would pick and choose” very
wealthy clients in order to limit the use of the transactions. (Denby, 28:78-79; Ex.
3566). She also advised that “generating basis as opposed to capital loss™ was
deemed to be “more [discreet] and less likely . . . {o cross the IRS radar screen.”
(Ex. 3566).

As described above, Denby and Reiss also considered obtaining insurence to
guard against the imposition of tax penzlties, but refected the idea so as not to
create “a bad trail” if they were to “get refected.” (Ex. 3600).

Benby’s May 2000 Analysis

As described above, in May 2000, Denby prepared charts for Reiss analyzing the
relative advantages and disadvantages of the various available tax shelter
strategies. {Ex.3555).

Dienby considered it a positive characteristic that the Helios transaction had
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G84.

985.

986.

987.

“limited marketing (expect no more than 20ish [customers]).” (Jd). She zalse
considered it a positive that the transactions would be “structured as basis offset
so [they would be] harder for [the| IRS te find.” (/4 ). However, she expressed
concern that the Helios transaction had g “[s]implicity of structure” which “may
make it easier for IRS to trace.” (/d.}.

Discussions in July 20008

As described above, in July 2000, Shea asked Helios and KPMG as to whether, on
the Egans’ tax returns, the flow-through items could be “run through Schedule E
to avoid 2 large loss on the face of the 1040 ... 7 (Ex. 26). Shea also noted that
he “would like to bury [the large loss] with other entities on Schledule] E,” so that
only a net amout would be shown on the face of the Egans’ Form 1040, (7).
From the perspective of the Egans, one of the major advantages of the proposed
cepital gains elimination strategy (that was eventually adopted in the Fidelity High
Tech transaction) was the fact that it involved a step-up in basis, which weuld not
be apparent from the face of the tax retum.

Thus, in July 2000, Denby noted that the Helios “Capital Gains Elimination
Strategy” had “very clean reporting on [the] tax return™ so it would be “hard for
[the] IRS to find.” (Ex. 3549). As to the then-proposed “Helios Strategy to Offset
Crdinary Income,” however, Denby observed that although the Egans could {ry to
“minimize [the] reporting landscape™ of this transaction, this “will rnot be low
profile.” (Jd).

On July 13, 2000, with respect to the Helios ordinary income strategy, Shea noted
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988,

989.

950.

992.

that it was “risky that we have [a] reporting entity”—that is, EMC, which would
report the option income—and therefore it would be “hard to bury on the [Egans’
tax] return.” (Ex. 496).

In July 2000, Shea noted that the High Tech transaction would be a “[c]lean
transaction” that would “not [be] easily discovered” by the IRS but would be
“easity reported.” (Ex. 2569).

Discussions of [ncreased Risk after Notice 2000-44

As described sbove, the Egans and their advisors discussed the increase of risk of
audit after the issuance of Notice 2000-44,

After the issuance of Notice 2000-44 on August 11, 2000, Shea noted that “[tihe
beauty of the transaction was [that it was] so hidden but now it is not hidden.”
(Ex. 515).

Five days later, on August 16, 2000, Denby and Shea discussed the fact that
Brown & Wood would not give an opinion letter to 2 KPMG client because
“KPMG might keep an investor list,” making KPMG clients a “bigger audit risk.”
(Ex. 533).

One week later, Shea asked if there were “benefits to entering” the “transaction
with or without KPMG [because] it appears we will have less chance of being
audited if not under their radar screen.” {EX. 542}

Later Discussions Concerning Reporting and Audit Risk

As described above, the Egans and their advisors continued to discuss audit risk

and concealment of the transactions in 2001 and 2002.

244



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 245 of 357

994,

996.

597.

998.

599,

In a memorandum to Micheel Egan on January 24, 2001, Shea wrote that “We
intentionally want the [High Tech] transaction [to bel between Dick and Maureen
so that the trade gets reported on one 1040 return - elegance in reporting -- not
exposing other family entities to IRS scrutiny.” (Ex. 141).

On Marck 19, 2001, Shea asked KPMG to “look at & solution that could offset the
ordinary income hit from the spread on the exercise of the NQ options,” and that
“the ideal offset would be a ‘Line 217 white-paper netting transaction.” (Ex. 791}
In November 2001, in an e-mail discussion with Shea concerning the 754 election,
Denby wrote, “I do not think that there is rmuch increase in nsk with the 734
clection. This is a form that [ think would never be audited.” (Ex. 32%4).

On November 28, 2001, Reiss noted that the “734 election steps up the basis of
EMC in the Fidelity Fund so the sale of EMC in the fund would show gross
proceeds and stepped up cost basis on Schedule D for the Fund’s tax return -- 2
pretty decent obscured event.” (Ex. 3303).

Also on November 28, 2001, Reiss asked Denby whether they “should sell /
liquidate in 2001 to either start the statute [of imitations] running sooner or
whether there is concern that IRS will require unwinding the transaction before
we sell.” (/d).

On December 6, 2001, Shea informed Denby that Mickael Egan was considering
seliing all the stock before the end of the vear and then buying it back, to start the
statute of limitations for an aadit running “and to protect the transaction from IRS

unwinding.” (Ex. 3310).
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1006,

1001.

1062.

1004.

100s.

At multiple points (including September 27 and December 28, 2001, and January
2 and March &, 2002), Shea, Reiss, and Denby expressed concern about the
possibility that KPMG might be maintaining a “iist” of investors in the tax shelter
strategy that might be turned over to the IRS. (Exs. 1057, 3363, 3343, 2536).

On March 1, 2002, Shez sent arn e-mail with proposed discussion items, including
“I's[trategic discussions of KPMG role in [the Egans’] returns™ and whether the
Egans “wantled] to be on the ‘radar’ screen in light of the Enron scandal and the
heat ali the big 5 firms will be taking regarding tax shelters.” (Ex. 1625).

On March 8, 2002, Shea noted that the Egans would not be getting an option lefter
from KPMG, and added that “we do not want onel,] as that is a guide the IRS uses
to get information.” (Ex. 2536).

Cn May 10, 2002, Denby asked Tilevitz whether thev would be “better off waiting
and hoping [the stock] will go up in value or selling it” st that time, “taking the
toss and starting the statute [of limitations] running.” (Ex. [851).

During the period between April and August 2002, Denby, Speiss, and Reiss
expressed concern that the Egans’ 2001 individual income tax return had not been
filed, and that the risk of disclosure to the IRS increased each day. (Exs. 3457,
2764, 1919, 1979). On July 14, 2002, Reiss advised the “accounting/tax team™ of
Carruth that “this would not look good at all for any of us™ if disclosure were
required. (Ex. 1919).

In August 2002, the Egans fired KPMG rather thar foliow its advice to make the

required disclosure to the IRS under the new Treasury regulation, and demanded
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that KPMG destroy the draft tax return and remove “any records of Mr. Egan from

fyour] fles.” (Exs. 2785, 96, 1419, 98).

Ek. From a Subiective Standpeint, the Transactions Had No Business Purpose

1006.

100G7.

1008.

1010.

From a subjective standpoint, the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International
transactions had no business purpose of any kind. The Egans did not enter into
the transactions for profit or to provide a hedge or other protection against
financial or economic risk; the only reason they entered into the transactions was
to shelter capital gains and ordinary income from taxation.

From the outset, however, the Egans and their advisors were also aware that the
capital gains and ordinary income tax strategies had to have a [egitimate business
purpose or their tax treatment of the {ransactions would not be upheld. The Egans
and their advisors therefore created false “business purposes™ for the transaction.
The purported purpose of the Fidelity High Tech transaction was to serve was a
hedge against a downward movement in the price of EMC stock. (E.g., Exs. 752,
2768, 3555, 2569, 3237, 3240.1, 147). The Egans did not, however, actually have
any such purpose in entering into the transaction.

The purported purpose of the Fidelity Internaticnal transaction was to serve was a
kedge against fluctuating interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. (E.g.,
Exs. 1088, 1159, 1151, 1165, 1463, 3382). The Egans did not, however, actually
have any such purpose in entering into the transaction.

The Egans had no subjective intent to profit from either the Fidelity High Tech or

Fidelity International transaction, and did not believe that there was a reasonable
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1

Yt

[y

possibility of profit frem either transaction.

To the extent that any “business purpose” was discussed by the Egans or their
advisors during the planning and implementation of the transactions, it was in the
context of preparing for a possible IRS audit or challenge; the parties sought to
structure the transactions, and to create a false paper trail, to make it appear as if

the transactions in fact had a legitimate business nurpose.

From an Obiective Standpeoint, the Transactions Had N Eeenomic Substance

1012.

1013,

1014,

1015,

i016.

From an objective standpoirt, the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International
transactions had no economic substance,

For a transaction to have economic substance, it must either (1) be reasonably
designed and implemented to serve a hedging or other risk-shifting function or (2)
have a reasonable possibility of proiit.

The Egans claim that both transactions had economic substance because they were
reasonably designed and implemented to serve a hedging function. in fact, and for
the reasons set forth below, they were rot so designed or implemented.

The Egans also appear to claim that the transactions also had economic substance
because there was a reasonable possibitity that they could profit on the
transactions. In fact, and for the reasons set forth below, there was no such
reasonzable possibility.

Reasonable Hedeing or Risk-Shiftine Function

Hedging is an activity in which investors meke investments that offset their risk

exposure tor other assets. The goal of hedging is to preserve capital or other
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1617,

1018.

1018,

1020,

assets and reduce risk. (Rausser, 40:70; Ex. 3735).

A perfect hedge matches each dollar of loss with a dollar of offsetting gain. An
effective hedge generally matches each dollar of loss with $6.80 to $1.20 of
offsetting gain. (Rausser, 40:70-71; Ex. 3755).

A rational investor, in considering whether to enter into & hedging transaction,
would consider the likely effectiveness of the hedge as well as the overall
expenses of entering into the hedge.

Reasonable Possibility of Profit

A rational investor seeking a profit would consider the expected rate of return as
to any potential invesiment. {Kolbe, 37:27-29; Dem. Ex. 2883). Ignoring tax
effects, a rational investor would not make an investment with & negative
expected rate of return, or an expected rate of return materially below the rate they
could earn elsewhere with the sarne risk.

A raticnal investor would consider, among cther things, al! fees and costs
associated with a proposed business or investment fransaction in order to

determine whether there was a reasonable possibility of profit.

The Fidelitv Hishk Tech Transaction Lacked Economic Substance

1.

1021,

Thke Transaction Served Ne Reasonable Hedgine Function

a, The NASDAQ 180 Option Transactions Were Mot a Rational
Economic Hedge

The NASDAQ 100 option trades entered into in the Fidelity High Tech
transaction were not a reasonable or raticnal means of hedging against &
downward movement in the price of EMC stock. (Rausser, 41:57-63; Kolbe,
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1022,

1023.

1024.

1025.

1026.

1027.

1328,

38:50-58; Dem. Exs. 3779, 3780, 3786).

Digital options are a poor tool to hedge continuous price risks, such as stock-price
fluctuations, because of their fixed all-or-nothing payout characteristics.
{Rausser, 41:57-38).

The purported benefit of using NASDAQ 100 options was that the index
correlated closely with the price of EMC stock. But as Dr. Kolbe, a government
expert, pointed out, “once [the options are] deep in the money, they stop being
correlated with anything. . . . They just sit there. . . .” (Kolbe, 38:52).

The very large noticnal amounts of the options were unnecessary to accomplish
the claimed hedging purpose, because any potential recovery would be in the
amount of the net position, not that of each individual option.

Furthermore, the very large fees paid to Refco, Helios, KPMG and others would
have consumed any hedging benefits. (Rausser, 41:58-60).

The actual performance of the options after their purchase demonstrates their
relative ineffectiveness as a hedge against a decline in EMC stock.

The value of both EMC stock and the NASDAQG 100 fell materially following the
contribution of the EMC stock to Fidelity High Tech on September 8, 2600, and
continued to fall after the January 31, 2001, purchase of the options. (Koelbe,
38:50-51, 66-67; Dem. Exs. 3024, 3025). The options were closed cut early on
February 12, 2001, twelve days into their 44-day life and five days after they had
been contributed to High Tech.

The digital options would not have served as effective hedges against the actual
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1029,

1030,

1031,

1032,

1033.

decline in value of EMC stock even if they had not been closed out early. The
options would have been continuously in the money after February 20, 2001, and
they would have finished in the money (that is, would have paid off) on March 16,
2001, The value of High Tech’s EMC stock fell materially throughout the peried,
but once in the money, the value of the digital options hardly changed at 21l.
(Kelbe, 38:51-52 ; Dem. Exs. 3025, 3326).

The early termination was entirely inconsistent with the purported hecging
purpose. (Kolbe, 38:65-67).

The early close-out of the High Tech options limited any further hedging ahility of
the options. (/4. at 38:65). At the time the High Tech options were closed out,
they were still out of the money. As a result, their value was below their ultimate
potential as a hedge. (J4.).

Publicly traded “vanilla” puts on the NASDAQ 100 were readily available that the
Egans could have purchased for the same outlay in eption costs and fees. (/d at
38:53-54). A “vanilla” put on the NASDAQ 100 allows the holder to sell the
index at the strike price, which is profitable if the index can be purchased at a
lower market price at the same time. (/4 at 38:55).

A “vanilla” put pertfolio would have stabilized the value of High Tech’s EMC
portfolic and served as an effective hedge. (/4. at 38:54; Dem. Ex. 3025).
Furthermore, the options transaction as structured, even if rationzlly designed as a
hedge, would only hedge a small portion of the Egens’ portfolio of EMC stock.

As Dr. Rausser testified:
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1034,

1035.

1036,

1037.

1038,

. . . the largest nossible profit could only offset a very, very small

part of the underlying exposure with regard to the concentrated

heldings . . . it represented only two-tenths of 1 percent of the loss

in the taxpayer's concentrated holdings of EMC stock.
{Rausser, 41:58; Dem. Ex. 3786).
b. Various Components of the Transaction Served No Hedging Funetion
The formation of Index A and Option A and their contribution to Fidelity High
Tech consumed rescurces with no benefit to the purported hedging purpose.
{Kolbe, 38:55-60, 62-64; Dem. Exs. 3023, 3028).
Neither index A nor Option A engaged in any business activity other than the
NASDAQ 100 trades. (Kolbe, 38:64-65).
The “stuffing” of additional stock into High Tech to take fiull advantage of the
$160 million inflated tax basis, and the calculations performed to determine how
much stock to “stuff]” consumed rescurces with no benefit to the purported
hedging purpose. {(Id at 38:61-62; Dem. Ex. 3027).
The contribution of Maurcen Egan’s interest in Fidelity High Tech to MEE
Holdings, and the subsequent Section 754 elections, consumed resources with ne

benefit to the purported hedging purpose. (Dem. Ex. 3028).

There Was No Reasornable Possibility of Profit on the Fidelity
High Tech Transaction

a. The Costs and Fees for the Transaction Were
Extremelv High

The fees associated with the Fidelity High Tech transaction were so high that they

eliminated any reasonable possibility of profit on the transaction.
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1039,

1040,

1041,

1042,

[043.

1044,

As described above, Refco’s bid/ask fees for the four initial NASDAG 100
opticns entered into by Option A and Index A totaled 10% of the potential net
paycut on each option, or §1 million.

As described above, Pat Shea and Carolyn Fiddy of Carruth were specifically
advised as to the size of the Refco fee and how it was celculated, Fiddy was also
advised as to the relationship of the size of the fee to the value of the options.
The NASDAQ 100 options that were traded in the High Tech transaction are
commonly traded instruments that are available from multiple dealers. (DeRosa,

39:120). The fee for options is usually charged as a bid/ask spread. (Jd at
39:118).

Refco, however, calculated its bid/ask fee of §1 million on the High Tech
transaction as 10% of the net payout or each cption. (/4. at 39:123, 130). Sucha
fee arrangement is not typical in the industry for options trades. {Jd at 39:123-
24).

Refco’s $1 million fee was highly excessive from a market perspective. (Jd at
39:118-21). The fee was more than 40% of the theoretical value of the options.
(Id at 38:6).

The Egans easily could have cbtained substantially better pricing for the options

trades. (DeRosg, 39:119-20). They did not, however, attempt to do so.

. Refeo’s fees alone had a materially negative impact or the expected rate of return

on the options. Because Refco’s fees were effectively 40% of the net premium

paid, the fees built in an expected loss on the opticn under any reasonable or
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economically rational scenario. (Kolbe, 38:6-7). The expected rate of return was,
from an economic perspective, a large negative number. {DeRosa, 35:117-18).
As described above, the Helios and KPMG fees for the Fidelity High Tech
transaction totaled $1.8 million.

The Egans and their advisors were aware of the size of the Helios and KPMG
fees; indeed, Shea negotiated the fees over an extended period of time,

Wrhen the Egans entered into the Fidelity High Tech transaction, the expected
Helios and KPMG fees totaled $2.4 million. (Shea, 16:46-48; Exs. 678, 1415).
They were reduced by negotiation afterward to 1.8 million. (Ex. 1415).

The Helios and KPMG fees, both standing alone and in conjunction with the
Refco fees, had a materially negative impact on the expected rate of return on the
Fidelity High Tech transaction.

As described above, the Egans incurred legal fees to Burke Warren in connection
with the Fidelity High Tech transaction; those fecs were a cost expected and
incurred in connection with the transaction.

As described above, it 1s not possibie to ascertain from the record the precise
amount of Burke Warren fees incurred in connection with the Fidelity High Tech
transaction, but it is probable that they were at least §104,000.

Any Burke Warren fees attributable to the High Tech transaction would kave
further reduced the expected rate of return on the transactions.

The combined fees and costs incurred by the Egans in connection with the Fidelity

High Tech fransaction were, at a minimum, $2.9 million.
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b. The Exnected Beturn on the Transaction Was Materially Negative

As Dr. Kolbe testified, the Fidelity High Tech trades did not provide 2 reasonable
possibility of profit “by any economically sensible definition of the phrase
‘reasonabie possibility.””

... [Tjhey had hugely negative expected rates of return. They had 2

hugely negative net present value relative to the size of the

investment. They were simply terrible investments.
(Kolbe, 38:47).
The aggregate net cost of the Fidelity High Tech options was $3,436.805
($3,402,437 plus 34,368) and the maximum gross payoff was 510,000,000
($9,900,000 plus $100,000). (Exs. 711,712, 1). Net of the cost of the options,
the High Tech transaction provided a maximum net payoff of about $6.563
millien (310,000,000 less $3,436,806).
Net of the cost of the options and the Helios and KPMG fees, the High Tech
transaction provided a maximum net payoff of about $4.763 million (810,000,000
less $3,436,306 less $1,600,000 less $200,000).
The expected retwn on the options is the probability the option will finish in the
meney times the potential payoff if it does, less the costs associated with the
transaction. (Kolbe, 38:34-35).
The probability that the NASDAQ 100 options would finisk in the money was
25%, and thus there was a 75% probability that the options would expire
worthless. (Id at 38:35; Dem. Ex. 3018).

Due to the magnitude of the fees to Refeo, the expected rate of return on the High
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Tech options was a negative 28%. (Dem. Ex. 3019). Taking into account the
Helios, KPMG, and minimum Burke Warren fees, the expected rate of retwrn on
the High Tech options was a negative 78%. {Kolbe, 38:38-40, 39:64; Dem. Exs.
3018,3019).

L. The Net Present Value of the Options Was Materially Nesative

The net present value of the High Tech options was at most a negative $2.7
million on a $2.4 million investment. (Kolbe, 38:43-44).

d. The One-Qption Pavout Was Not g Real Possibility

As described zbove, under the terms of the NASDAQ 100 option pairs, there was
a theoretical possibility for each pair that the long option iz the pair would be in
the money while the offsetting short option would net. (Dem. Ex. 3013}, Had
that occurred, it would have resulted in a large one-sided payout to the Egans.
(Id).

As also described above, there was no realistic possibility of e one-sided payout
on the Fidelity High Tech transaction, because the options would have to hit
specitic price targets in a very narrow window, and because Reico had the
contractual ability to manipulate the price during the window.

Refco did not take into account in its pricing of the options the possibility of a
one-sided payout. (Kolbe, 36:88-91; Dem. Ex. 3037). Rather, Refco priced the
options on the assumption that either both parts of the pair would pay off or
neither would pay off, (Kolbe, 28:13-14, 22-23; Dem. Ex. 3014; Ex. 729).

Refeo hedged its own risk for each pair of options as if the one-option payout
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possibility did not exist. (Kolbe, 38:13-15; Ex. 729).

1065, Refco Capital Markets hedged the options with Refco Overseas Ltd. with a single
strike price, thus indicating that Refco did not believe it had any exposure to a
single-option payoutl. (Kolbe, 38:14-17; Ex. 729}.

1066, The promoters designed the Fidelity High Tech transaction to appear as if a one-
sided payout were possibie in order to help disguise its true purpose, which was
solely to avoid taxes.

e. The Options Were Not in Fact Profitable

1067. The Fidelity High Tech transaction was not, in fact, profitable. The Index A and
Option A options were closed out early at a purported combined gross profit of
$1,464,195. (Ex. 1; Kolbe 37:118-19; Dem. Ex. 3004). Taking into account the
fees paid to advisors, the transaction resulted in a significant net loss.

WN. The Fidelitv International Transaction Lacked Economic Substance

1. The Transaction Served No Reasonable Hedgine Function

a, The Interest Rate and Currency Ontion Trapsactions Were Mot
Rational Economic Hedges

1068. The option trades entered into in the Fidelity International transaction were not 2
reasonable or rational means of hedging against fluctuations in currencies or
interest rates. (Kolbe, 37:60).

1066, Again, digital options are a poor tool to hedge continuous price risks, whether
from currency or interest-rate fluctuations. (Jd. at 37:57).

107G, Again, the very large noticnal amounts of the options were unnecessary to
accomplish the claimed hedging purpose, because any potential recovery would be
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a function of the net payout. (Jd. at 37:57-58).

Again, the very large fees paid to Refco, Helios, KPMG and others would have
consumed any gains otherwise accruing to the Egans. (Jd at 37:58).

The change in ownership positions taken by Richard Egan over the course of the
Fidelity International transaction dramaticaily undercut the claimed hedging
rationzle; by contributing his interest in Fidelity World to Fidelity International,
Richard Egan went from being entitled to 100% of any hedging benefits from the
interest rate options to being entitled to only 5% of any such benefits. As aresult,
he also would have shared only 5% of any potentizl hedging benefits available
from the currency options. (Jd. at 37:58-59; Carron, 11:35-36). Thus, $5% of any
hedging benefit was provided to someone other than Richard Egan. (Kolbe,
37:64-65).

There is no evidence that Samuel Mahoney—the purported foreign partner who
held a 93% common interest in Fidelity International on October 22, 2001, the
date the currency options were entered into—owned any EMC stock or had & need
to hedge fixed or fluctuating currency rates.

There were multiple readily available alternatives to address the risks the Egans
claimed to hedge that would have provided superior hedging qualities with greater
liguidity and dramatically lower cost. (Rausser, 41:33-34; Derm. Ex. 3775).
Through exchange-traded options, Richard Egan could have offset the claimed
risks &t a lower cost, with propertional payouts over time instead of the fixed

all-or-nothing paycut of digital options. {Rausser, 41:33-34; Dem. Ex. 3773).
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(D) The [nterest Rate Options

The purported hedging purpose for the CMS options was to offset interest-rate
risk associated with long-term debt on Richard Egan’s commercial real estate
properties. (Rausser, 40:83-91; Dem. Ex. 3761; Exs. 1088, 1463, 1652).
However, and as noted above, Richard Egan did not have any interest-rate risk
from commercial real estate; his only commercial real estate holding was an office
building in Hopkinton, Massachusetts, that was not encumbered by debt. The
Egan family commercial real estate properties were largely owned by Michael
Egan and his siblings through various ownership vehicles. {C. Egan Dep. at 22-
23; M. Egan, 12:51-32; Ex. 160; Dem. Ex. 3761). These properties were
managed by Carruth Capital, under the leadership of Christopher Egan. {C. Egan
Dep. at 20-21). Christopher Egan had no knowledge of any hedging of interest-
rate risk associated with these properties. {C. Egan Dep. at 20-21).

In any event, the CMS options entered into by Fidelity World were not a rational
hedge against such risks. (Rausser, 40:105-08; Dem. Exs. 3764-3767). The
digital nature of the options, the use of largely offsetting pairs, the level at which
the strike prices were set, and the large fees involved meant that the options would
not rationally have been constructed for such a hedging purpose by &
knowledgeable investor. {Kolbe, 37:56-61; Dem, Ex. 288%).

Furthermore, the CMS options could only have provided 2 hedge sgainst falling,
rather than rising, interest rates. {Rausser, 40:78-79, 106).

The purported hedging purpose for the LIBOR options was to offset interest-rate
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risk associated with short-term debt of two Egan family investments, Cape Clear
LLC and Westship World Yachts LLC. (Exs. 1088, 1463, 1632).

The LIBCR options as structured were not a rational hedge for Richard Egan’s
variable interest-rate exposure. (Rausser, 40:97-103; Dem. Exs. 3764, 3765} The
digital structure of the options, the use of largely offsetting pairs, the level at
which the strike prices were set, and the size of the potential net payout when
compared with possible increases tc Cape Clear and Westship debt service meant
that the options would not raticnally have been constructed for such 2 hedging
purpese by a knowledgeable investor. (Rausser, 40:82-83, 97-105; Dem. Exs.
3764, 3765).

Moreover, the LIBOR options were closed out and effectively terminated on
November 6, 2001, after only 29 days. (Ex. 2). Once the LIROR options had
been closed out, they had no value and could no longer have any hedging effect.
(Kolbe, 37:59-60; Ex. 1275).

Furthermore, and as noted, any hedging benefit that Richard Egan might have
received as a result of the LIBOR option pair was largely ¢liminated when he
contributed his 100% interest in Fidelity World to Fidelity International, in which
he then owned only & 5% common intsrest. {Kolbe, 37:58-39).

The two claimed interest-rate risks sought to be hedged—+that is, the long-term
fixed commercial mortgage indebtedness and the short-term variable debt of
Westship and Cape Clear—served as natural hedges to one another. {Rausser,

40:52-94; Dem. Ex. 3762). If interest rates went up, Westship and Cape Clear
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would have to pay more on their loans, but the real estate subject to fixed
mortgages would simultaneously increase in net value. If inferest rates fell, that
same real estate would decline in net value but would be offset by lower debt
service payments for Cape Clear and Westship.

1083. Similarly, the CMS and LIBOR interest rate opticns actually provided a natural
hedge against each other, and thus had the effect of offsetting any potential
hedging benefits that either option pair might theoretically have provided.
(Kolbe, 37:59; Rausser, 40:94-97; Dem. Ex. 3763).

2) The Currency Optiors

1084. The purported hedging purpose for the currency options was to offset declines in
EMC stock values that might occur if the dollar strengthened, affecting EMC’s
ability to make export sales. (Exs. 1088, 1463, 1652). However, for each foreign
curency quartet, only one-half of the quartet represented a bet that the dollar
would strengthen relative to the yen and euro.

1085. Tweo of the options in each quartet were structured to require a payment from
Fidelity International to Refeo if the dollar experienced a significant
strengthening, and thus worked at cross-purposes with the stated hedging
objectives. (Kolbe, 37:66-67; Dem. Exs. 2892, 2891).

1086. Moreover, the options were structured in such a way that the only purported
hedging benefit would be if there was only & modest increase in the value of the
gollar. (Kolbe, 37:67-€8; Dem. Exs. 2891, 2892}, As structured, if there was a

significant increase in the dollar, Fidelity Intemational would have to make a
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payout of approximately $3 miliion. (Keibe, 37:67-68).

Viewed as a whole, the quartet structure in which the USD/EUR and JPY/AISD
options were acquired by Fidelity International provided no real hedging benefit.
{Rausser, 40:114).

The currency options were not consistent with the claimed hedging purpose. {Jd.
at 40:108-14; Dem. Ex. 3769). Neither the USD/EUR nor the JPY/USD rates had
any historical correlation with EMC stock prices. (Rausser, 40:114-15; Dem. Ex.
3776).

The currency options were further inconsistent with the claimed hedging purpose
because EMC was already hedging its currency risk, thus minimizing any impact
on its stock price. (Rausser, 40:115-18; Dem. Ex. 3771; Exs. 1697, 788). There
would be no benefit to a sharcholder to enter into 2 hedge against specific risks
that might affect stock value if the corporation was already adequately hedging
those same risks. (Rausser, 41:26). Finally, the amount of EMC stock price risk
faced by Richard Egan was dramatically out of proportion to the potential
recovery from the alleged hedge instruments. (/4 2t 41:30-31; Dem. Ex. 3772).

b. Various Components of the Transaction Served No Hedeing Funetion

The formation of Ficelity World and its cortribution to Fidelity International
consumed resources with no benefits to the purported hedging purpose. {Kolbe,
37:88-89).

Fidelity World did not engage in any business activity other than the interest rate

option trades and, under the terms of the proposed irades, it had no econcemic
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exposure with respect to these trades beyond the initial net premium paid.
Fidelity World did not enter into any contracts with any entity other than Refco on
these trades. (Id. at 37:88-89).

There Was No Reasonable Possibility of Profit on the Fidelity International
Transaction

The interest rate and foreign currency options as strzctured in the Fidelity
International transaction did not provide a “reasonable possibility of profit by an
economically sensible definition of [the] phrase.” (Jd at 37:63-64).

2. The Capital Structure Was Not Rational

As described above, at the outset of the Fidelity International transaction, Richard
Egan only had the right to a 5% share of the profits, despite having put up an
overwhelmingly large portion of the capital and paying all of the expenses.
Mahoney, who had the right to a 93% shere, contributed essentially nothing.
The subsequent changes to the capital stricture made even less sense, if Richard
Egan had any kind of reasonable profit motive. Richard Egan paid an additional
amount of $325,500 to acquire mest of Mahoney’s common interests, even
though they were worthiess at the time. (Kolbe, 37:59). And at the end of the
day, Richard Egan (who contributed nearly all the capital and peid all the
expenses) received 93% of the losses, whereas Mahoney received 93% of the
gains.

No rational investor seeking a reasonable profit would agree to such a capital

structure,
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b. The Costs and Fees for the Transaction Were Extremely High

The fees associated with the Fidelity International transaction were so high that
there was no reasonable possibility of profit on the transaction.

As described above, Refco was paid fees of $1,443,617 in connection with the
Fidelity Internationa!l transaction.

The fees paid to Refco in connection with the Fidelity International transaction
were exorbitant, as compared to market fees normally charged by an options
broker for similar transactions. (Rausser, 40:37-38, 40-43).

The Egans did not obtain competitive quotes for the options or undertzke the type
of financial analysis normally accompanying the execution of such complex
instruments. (M. Egan, 9:127-28).

As described above, the Helios and KPMG fees for the Fidelity International
transaction totaled $4.77 million.

The Helios and KPMG fees, both standing alone and in conjunction with the
Refco fees, had a materially negative impact on the expected rate of retum on the
Fidelity International transaction.

The Egans incurred legal fees to Burke Warren in connection with the Fidelity
International transaction; those fees were a cost expected and incurred in
cornnection with the fransaction.

Ag described above, it is not possible to ascertain from the record the precise
amount of Burke Warren fees incurred in connection with the Fidelity

International transaction, but it is more probable than not that they were at least
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$83,000.

As described above, Richard Egan purchased an 88% common interest in Fidelity
International from Samue! Mzhoney on November 6, 200!, for $325,500. That
purchase was contemplated by the parties prior to the implementation of the
Fidelity International transaction.

The transfer of Meahoney’s ownership interest was essential to achieving the
planned tax cutcome, was specified in planning documents, and was an expected
cost that any rational investor would have considered in evaluating the profit
potential of the Fidelity International transaction. (Kolbe, 36:61-62; Dem. Ex.
2853).

The combined fees and costs incurred by the Egans in connection with the Fidelity
International transaction were zlone at least $6.68 million.

. The Expected Rate of Retarn of the Transaction Was Materially
Negative

Possible financial outcomes for investments such as digital options can be
evaluated using a probability-weighted expected return analysis. Using this
approach, cach possible outcome is multiplied by the percentage probability that it
will occur. (Kolbe, 36:82-83). The sum of these weighted outcomes represents
the probability-weighted expected return of the investment. (Dem. Exs. 2884,
3033).

As described below, the Fidelity International options did not provide a reasonable
possibility of profit, taxes aside, because the expected rates of return were “hugely
negative.” (Kolbe, 37:53).
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1) The Expected Return Before Fees

The aggregate premium paid by Fidelity World for the interest rate options was
$2,250,000: $1,125,000 for the LIBOR option pair and $1,125,000 for the CMS
option pair. (Ex. 167, 2). The maximum possible gross payout for both pairs of
options—assuming that both pairs could simuitaneously pay off —would have
been $6,737,472; $3,369,809 for the LIBCR pair and $3,367,663 for the CMS
pair. {Exs. 167, 2). Each of the interest rate options therefore provided a
maximum possible net payoff of approximately $2.24 million, for a total of $4.48
million for both sets of options, before accounting for other fees and costs.
However, the likelihood of both the LIBOR option pair and the CMS option pair
being in the money at the same time was equivalent to zero. (Rausser, 40:47-56).
As aresult, the maximum net payout would have been either $1,119,809 on the
LIBOR pair (the $3,359,809 LIBOR payout minus the $2,250,000 premium for
both sets of interest rate options), or $1,117,563 on the CMS pair (the $3,367,663
CMS paveut minus the $2,250,000 premium for both sets of interest rate options),
before accounting for other fees and costs. (Dem. Ex. 3746, 3747).

Fidelity International’s gross premium for the foreign currency trades was
positive. Fidelity International was credited with 2 net premium from Refco of
$2,832,828 on the USD/EUR options and $2,835,212 on the JPY/USD options,
for a total net positive premium of $5,668,04C. (Ex. 2). Refco required Fidelity
International to leave those funds on deposit and to post an additional $3 million

of cash collateral in case Fidelity International lost money on these options.
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(Kolbe, 37:37-38; Rausser, £0:39-40; Dem. Ex. 2885; Ex. 2}.

At inception, each pair of Fidelity World’s interest rate options had only 2 25%
chance of being in the money and producing a positive payout at expiration.
There was a 25% probability that both the purchased and sold LIBOR options
entered into on October 9, 2001 would be in the money at expiration. (Exs. 2, 49,
1024, 1056, 1140). In that event, the investor’s return would be the positive
payout on the long option, less the negative payout on the short option, less the
initial net premium paid for the pair. The October ¢ LIBOR option pair entered
had a maximum possible gross payout of 3,369,809 and an initial net premium of
$1,125,000. (Ex. 2). As aresult, the maximum positive gross payout was
$3,369,809 minus $1,125,000, or $2,244,809. That payout would be substantially
reduced by any allocable share of fees and costs, such as the fees of Helios and

KPMG.

. Applying the 25% stated probability of payout and the 75% implied probability of

noc payout on the LIBOR option pair results in a prebability-weighted expected

return of negative $282,548. That calculation is llustrated in the following chart:
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Amount of

Amount of Percentage | Probability-Weighted
Payout Initizl Premium | Prebability Outcome
A B C (A+ByxC
LIROR pair “in $3,365.,805 (§1,125,000) 25% 8361,202
the money”
LIBOR pair not $0 ($1,125,000) 75% (3843,750)
ir the money
Probability-Weighted Expected Retwrn = ($282,548)

(Id).

1115,

The same calculation method applies to the CMS option pair, and with the same

results. There was a 25% probability that both the long and short CMS options

entered into on Cctober 9, 2001, would be in the money at expiration. (Exs. 2, 49,

1024, 1056, 1140). In that event, the investor’s return would be the net payout for

the option pair, less the initial net premium paid for the pair. The October 9 CMS

option pair had 2 maximum net potential payout of 83,367,663 and an initial net

premium of $1,125,000. (Ex. 2). As aresult, the maximum positive gross payout

for the CMS option pair was $3,367,663 minus §1,125,000, or $2,242,663.

Again, that payout would be substantially reduced by any allocable share of fees

and costs.

. Applying the 25% stated probability of a positive payout and the 75% implied

probability of no payout for the CMS option pair results in a probability-weighted

expected return of negative $283.084. That calculation is illustrated in the

following chart:
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Amount of Ameount of Percentage | Probability-Weighted
Payeut Initial Premivm | Probability Cuteome
A B C 3 (A+B)xC
CMS pair “in $3,367,663 ($1,125.000) 25% : §560,666
the money”
CMS pair net in $0 ($1,125,000) 75% ($843,750) |
the money
Probebility-Weighted Expected Return = (3283,084)
({d.).
1117. Asnoted, the likelihood of both the LIBOR option pair and the CMS coption pair
being in the money at the same time was essentially zero. {Rausser, 40:47-63;
Dem. Exs. 3746-3749). The following chart illustrates the three possible scenarios
resulting from that fact, and adjusts the calculation of probability-weighted
expected return accordingly:
Amgount of | Amount of Percentage Probability-Weighte |
Payeut | Imitial Premium Probability | d Qutcome
A B C i (A+ByxC
LIBOR pays, $3,369.809 (82,250,000 12.5% $139.,976
CME does not |
CMS pays, $3,367,663 (32,250,000) 12.5% $139,708
LIBCR does not l '
Neither patr $0 (52,250,000) 75% ($1,687,500)
nays
Probability-Weighted Expected Retun = ($1,407,816)

(Rausser, 40:47-56; Dem. Exs. 3746-3749).
Again, that negative expected payout would be further decreased by the allocable

share of fees and costs.
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The same probabilities were reported in cornnection with the currency options.
The Egans’ advisors estimated a 25% probability that beth USLVEUR cntion pairs
in the guartet entered into on Octeber 22, 2001, weould be cut of the money at
expliration, and Fidelity International would therefore be able to keep the initial
net premium of $2,832 828 with which it had been credited. (Exs. 2, 49, 10624,
1056, 1140). However, if either pair of options in the USD/EUR option quartet
was in the money at expiration, Fidelity would forfeit that positive tnitial net
premium and would have to forfeit an additional $1,549,895 to satisfy the payout
of $4,382,723 that would be owed to Refeo. That amount consisted of the $1.5
million additional margin required by Refco on the trades plus $49,855 of accrued
interest on the positive premium retained by Refeo. (Ex. 2).

Thus, the possible cutcomes for the guartet were either (1) a 75% chance of one
pair being in the money, resulting in a payout due to Refeo of $4,382,723 minus
the $2,832,170 of positive premium Fidelity International had on deposit at Refeo
for those options (net $1,550,553 due to Refco), or (2) a 25% chance of neither
USD/EUR option pair being iz the money, and Fidelity International retaining its
82,832,170 positive premium. Again, any positive cutcome would be
substantially reduced by any allocable fees and costs.

The Egans’ advisors estimated a 25% probability that both JPY/USD option pairs
in the quartet entered into on Gctober 22, 2001, would be out of the money at
expiration. (Exs. 2, 49, 1024, 105¢, 1140). If cither pair of options in the
JPY/USD cption guartet was in the money at expiration, Fidelity International
would forfeit its positive initial net premium of 32,835,212 and would have to
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forfeit $1,549,923 to make the $4,385,135 net payout due to Refco. That amount
consisted of the $1.5 million additional margin required by Refco on the trades
plus 849,855 of accrued interest on the positive premium retained by Refco. (Ex.
2). That cutcome was assigned a 75% probability. Conversely, there was a2 25%
probability that one JPY/USD option pair would be out of the money at
expiration, in which case Fidelity International would retain its $2,835,212 of
initiel positive net premium. Again, any positive outcome would be substantially
reduced by any allocable fees and costs.

Thus, the best possible outcome for Fidelity International on the foreign currency
options would have been to retain its positive premiums, for a total of $5,668,040,
before accounting for other fees and costs.

2) The Expected Returns on the Transaction Was Materially
Negative

Even before taking fees inte account, and even assuming the interest rate options
could pay off simultaneously, the expected rate of return: on the interest rate
options was a negative 25.1%. (Kolbe, 37:30-32; Dem. Ex. 2884).

Taking into account the fees paid to Helios and KPMG, the expected rate of return
on the Fidelity World interest rate options was a negative 77.9%—even assuming
that both sets of options could pay out at the same time. (Kolbe, 37:25-35; Dem.
Ex. 2884). That calculation takes inte account the portions of the advisory fees
Fidelity International paid to Helios and KPMG that were allocated by KPMG to
those options. (Kolbe, 37:29-35; Dem Fx. 2883; Ex. 1502). The caiculation does

net include any other fees applicable to the transaction, such as those cherged by
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1125,

1126.

1128,

Burke Warren. (Kolbe, 37:35).

The likelihcod of both the LIBOR option pair and the CMS option pair being in
the money at the same time was virtually zero. (Rausser, 40:47-63; Dem. Exs.
3748-3749). As aresult, the expected rate of return on the interest rate options
was even more deeply negative than the estimated negative 77.9%. (Rausser,
40:68-70).

Even before taking fees into account, the expected rate of return on the currency

options was a negative 26.9%. (Kolbe, 37:38-40; Dem. Ex. 2886).

. Taking into account the fees paid to Helios and KPMG, the expected rate of return

was a negative 145.9%. (Kolbe, 37:42; Dem. Ex. 288¢}. Theat calculation takes
into account the portions of the advisory fees Fidelity Internaticnal paid to Helios
and KXPMG that were allocated by KPMG to those options. (Dem. Ex. 2883).
The calculation does not include any cther fees appilicable to the transaction, such
as those charged by Burke Warren. (Kolbe, 37:42).

The twelve initial options executed in the Fidelity Intemational transaction {the
four options entered into by Fidelity World as of October 9, 2001, and the eight
options entered into by Fidelity International as of October 22, 2001), had a
negative expected refurn of 26.2% on the options alone (again assuming that both
interest rate options could pay off at the same time). (Kolbe, 37:46-47; Dem. Ex.
2887). The twelve initial options had 2 negative rate of return of 119.0% after
taking into account all fees paid to Helios and KPMG, (Keibe, 37:46-47; Dem.
Ex. 2887). The resulting negative expected rate of return of 119% does not take
into account the cost of buying 88% of the common shares of Fidelity
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1131,

1132.
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International from Maheney, or the fees paid to Burke Warren for the Fidelity
Internaticnal transaction. (Kolbe, 37:47-48; Dem. Exs. 2887). Including any of
those costs would result in an even more deeply negative expected return. (Koibe,
37:47-48; Demn. Exs. 2887).

Taxes aside, the net present value of the $5.25 million investment in the Fidelity
International interest rate and foreign currency options, after considering fees only
to Helios and KPMG, was a negative $3.4 million. (Kolbe, 37:50-52, 38:46;
Dem. Ex. 2887).

d. The One-Option Pavout Was Not g Real Possibility

As described above, there was a theoretical possibility with the interest-rate end
currency option pairs that the long option might be in the money at expiration
while the offsetting short option would not. Had that occurred, it would have
resuited in a large one-sided paycut to the Egans.

As also described above, there was no realistic possibility of a cne-sided payout
cn the Fidelity International {ransaction, because the options would have to hit
specific targets in a very narrow window, and because Refco had the contractual
ability to manipulate the price during that window.

Refco did not take into account in its pricing of the options the possibility cfa
one-sided payout. (Kolbe, 36:88-91; Dem. Ex. 3037). Rather, Refco priced the
options on the assumption that either both parts of any pair would pay off or
neither would pay off. (Kolbe, 36:97-98).

Refco hedged its own risk for each pair of options as if the one-option payout
possibility did not exist. (Jd at 38:13-19; Ex. 729).
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1138.

1139,

1i40.

1141,

Refco Capital Markets hedged the options with Refco Overseas Ltd., with a single
strike price, thus indicating that Refeo did not believe it had any exposure to &
single-option payout. (Kolbe, 38:14-17; Ex. 729).

According to David Donora of Refco, Refco had “discretion” as the calculation
agent to select the reference price in & manner that would ensure both options in a
palr were either in or out of the money and that there was no one-sided payout
risk. (Ex. 746).

The promoters designed the Fidelity International transaction to appear as if 2 one-
sided payout were possible in order to help disguise its true purpose, which was
solely to avoid taxes.

e, The Court Docs Mot Credif the Conclusion of Plaintiff®s Expert

The Court does not credif the analysis performed by Dr. Carron, plaintiff’s expert,
of the potential profitability of the Fidelity International transaction.

Among other things, Dr. Carron did not include the fees paid to Helios, the fees
paid to KPMG, or the payment to Mahoney. (Carron, 8:43-48).

Dr. Carron characterized these fees and costs as “sunk costs.” He reasoned that
such costs should not be taker into account in evaluating the profitability of the
Fidelity International transaction because they would have been expended even if
the transaction had not occurred. (Jd. at 10:14).

Dr. Carron’s position ignores the reality that a rational investor would consider afl
fees and costs in determining the potential profitability of an investment.
Furthermore, the payment of the advisory fees to Helios and KPMG was
conditioned upon Richard Egan implementing the Fidelity [nternational
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1142,

1143,

1144,

1145.

transaction, which itsel{ was conditioned on the receipt of a favorable legal
opinion regarding tax treatment issued by Sidley Austin. (M. Egan, 11:1060-01).
The pavment to Mahoney was anticipated at the cutset of the transaction. Those
costs were therefore not “sunk™ at the time the transaction was implemented.

£ The Fidelity International Transaction Was Intended to be Profitless
All 47 FDIS transactions that occurred in 2001 incorporated the same major
fransaction steps. (Kolbe, 36:51; Dem. Ex. 2852).

A1l 47 FDIS transactions that occurred in 2001 had essentially similar outcomes.
(Kelbe, 36:51, 71-76; Dem. Ex. 2852). All 47 transactions produced large losses.
In all 47 transactions, the fees charged by Refco for the SMLLC’s initial option
pairs were calculated as a fixed percentage of the net potential payout on the
SMLLC’s initial option pairs, ranging from 7.5% to 10%. (Kolbe, 36:71-74;
Dem. Ex. 2856). The result of the large fees charged by Refee for the SMLLC
option pairs was that the foreign partners’ capital interest initially would be wiped
out virtually simultaneously with the foreign partner’s alleged capital contribution,
as the options were marked down to their market value. This cccurred in all 47
transactions. (Kolbe, 36:71-74; Dem. Ex. 2856). In additicn, in all 47
transactions, Refco charged large fees for the MMLLC option pairs, calculated as
a fixed percentage of the net potential payout on the MMLLC’s options, ranging
from 8.5% to 10%. (Kolbe, 36:76; Dem. Ex. 2858).

in short, the Fidelity International transactions, like the other FDIS transactions,

was not intended to produce & profit.
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OO, Mahopev Was Not 2 Real Partner in Fidelity International

1146.

1147.

i148.

1149,

1150.

1151,

1152,

Samuel Mahoney was not a real or genuine partner of Richard Egan in Fidelity
International. He did not join witk Richerd Egan, Alpha, and Helios as a partner
for the purpose of carrying on a business. Rather, he was a mere nominee or
strawman who was paid for his services.

As described above, the FDIS strategy required a tex-indifferent person to play the
“role of foreign partner.”

As also described above, Mahoney and Hawkes agresd to play the “role of foreign
partner” in the FDIS strategy.

As also described above, the role of Mahoney and Hawkes as a “foreign partner”
“yas primarily that of an implementing party,” and to follow steps described in
the “Outline of Proposed Transaction” for each transaction.

Both Mahoney and Hawkes testified that “[tThe economics we adhered to with
respect {o the capital confributions were formulaic.” (Mahoney Dep. at 9; Hawkes
Dep. at 60).

Neither Mahoney nor Hawkes were invelved in the structuring or negetiating of
any of the steps of the FDIS transactions in which they took part. (Mzhoney Dep.
at 9; Hawkes Dep. at 80).

Mahoney Participated in 47 Identical Transactions in 2081

A total of 47 FDIS transactions (1ucluding the Fidelity Internaticnal transaction)
were implemented in 2001 in which Mahoney and Hawkes agreed with Haber tc
serve in the rele of foreign investor. (Mahoney Dep. at 6; Hawkes Dep. at 57; Ex.
2066). An additional eight FDIS transactions mvelving Mahoney and Hawkes
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were implemented in 2002, one of which was carried over from 2001 to 200Z.

(Mahoney Dep. at 6-7; Hawkes Dep. at 58; Ex. 2100).

[a—,
Y
Lh
[

In each of the 47 2001 FDIS transactions, the following occurred:

a. the taxpayer purchased cne or more option pairs of offsetting options
through a single-member LLC (“SMLLC™);

b, the taxpayer contributed his/her interest in the SMLLC fo a multiple-
member LLC (“MMLLC”) or partnership o step-up the basis in the
MMLLC,

c. Mahoney or Hawkes made purported capital contributions to acquire a
93% or 95% comumon interest in the MMLLC;

d. the MMLLC bought one or more quartets of options;

e. the partnership terminated the gain-leg options and simultaneocusly

purchased replacement options;

f the taxpayer then bought most of the foreign party’s comumon interest in
the MMLLC;

g the remaining legs and the replacement options were then ferminated; and

h. the terminaticn of the remaining legs and the replacement options

generated a large reported loss that primarily accrued to the U.S. taxpayer
and a large gain that primarily accrued to the foreign person.
{(Kolbe, 36:50-58; 37:25-26; Ex. 2852).
1154, Each tax-shelter transaction resulted in the nearly immediate loss of 50% of the
“foreign partner’s” capital investment within the span of a few weeks from their
initial capital investment. Without a behind-the-scenes agreement to compensate
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1156.

1157,

I158.

1159,

him, Samuel Mahoney would have lost $991,815 of initial contributions into these
tax shelters. He would have lost $325,500 in Fidelity International alone.
Similarly, without more, Martin Hawkes would have lost §979,754 of initial
contributions.

Mahoney's Canital Contributicns Were Treated as Costs of the Promoters

. The funding for the “foreign contributions” for the 2001 FDIS transactions was

made by DGI and a Wyoming partnership called Ailesbury. (Mahoney Dep. at
22-23; Hawkes Dep. at 71-73; Ex. 1517).

Over the course of 2001, DGI funded a total amount of capital contributions of
81,505,000, (Ex. 1917). None of these funds were used for anything other than
FDIS transactions. (Mahoney Dep. at 23; Hawkes Dep. at 73). As additional
funding was required, it was supplied by DGL (Ex. 1517).

For the year 2002 FDIS transactions, Mahoney and Hawkes used for their capital
contributions the money left over from the prior year’s FDIS transactions.
(Mahoney Dep. at 31; Hawkes Dep. at 80).

All funds provided by Ailesbury were repaid in January 2002, (Mzhoeney Dep. at
23; Hawkes Dep. at 73; Exs. 1512, 1917). As of that date, only DGI and DGI-
controlled entitics had meney at risk—money that had been provided by the
taxpayer-investors—in the FDIS transactions.

On December 31, 2001, Ron Buesinger of Alpha prepared a summary that listed
the purported “Investments” by the “Co-investor,” Alpha, DGI, and Helios in each
of the 47 2001 FDIS transactions, including Fidelity International. (Exs. 2060,
1497).
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1160. For Fidelity International, the spreadsheet listed the $651,000 contribution to
Fidelity International on Mahoney’s behalf as “Co-Investor Orig Cost basis™; the
$325,500 sale of Mahoney’s common interest in Fidelity International to Richard
Egan as “Sale of Comunon”; and the net amournt as “Co-Inve[stjor Ad;[usted]
Cost basis.” (Exs. 2060, 1497).

1161, The aggregate balance of the “Co-Investor Adj Cost basis” for all 47 2001 FDIS
transactions, after approximately $2.4 militon in buy-out payments, was computed
to be $1,302,978. (Exs. 2060, 1497).

1162. The aggregate finding expense of $1,302,978 for the “Co-Investor Adi Cost
basis” was recorded by Buesinger as a joint expense of DGI, Helios, and Alpha in
a series of spreadsheets that he prepared calculating the net profit from these
transactions to be split among DGI, Helios, and Alpha. In each spreadsheet, the
amount of $1,302,578 was listed as “SM-MH Cost Basis.” (Exs. 1641, 1642,
1644, 1657, 1660, 1845, 2771, 2772).

1163. Buesinger prepared the profit analysis spreadsheet based upon revenue and
expense information that Haber dictated to im over the phone. (Buesinger Dep.
Oct. 11, 2007, at 243-47),

1164, On March 8, 2002, Ivan Ross of Alpha sent one of these profit analysis
spreadsheets to Haber. (Ex. 1641}, In his cover e-mail, Ross stated that the
attached profit analysis “is based on each of us getting fully reimbursed on our
investments in these funds out of the fees.” (Jd). The “investments in these
funds” consisted of the capital contributions for the transactions made by DGI,

Helios, and Alpha, as well as the contributions by the “Co-Investor,” which was
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Mahoney or Hawkes. (Ross Dep. Nov. 7, 2007 at 104-06).

3, Any Value of the Remaining Interests of Mahonevy Was Split
Among the Promoters

[y
ey
)
Lh

On May 1, 2002, Buesinger sent DGI a spreadsheet listing the 2001 FDIS
ustomers and related information. (Ex. 1843). That spreadsheet included 2
breakdown of the cost bases and values of the “Irish value™ and the DGI, Helios,
and Alpha “investments.” (/d)}. The “Irish value,” as of that date, was $138,334.
(Id). The “Irish value™ was the total of the values of the Mahoney/Hawkes
remaining interests, after the buyouts, in each of the 2601 FDIS transactions.
{Kolbe, 37:85-86; Ex. 1843).
1166. The total value of the DGI, Helios, and Alpha investments and the “Irish values”
was $1,560,709. (Ex. 1843). All of those values, including the “Irish Value,”
were allocated to DGI, Helios, and Alpha; none of the value was allocated to
Maheney or Hawkes. {Kolbe, 37:86-87; Ex. 1843). In other words, DGI, Helios,
and Alpha treated the remalining interests of Mahaney and Hawkes in the 2001
FDIS partnerships as their own assets, as they had already reimbursed Mzhoney
and Hawlkes for their capital contributions. (Kolbe, 37:87).

4. Makoney Was Reimbursed for His Expenses and Paid g Fee for His
Participation

1167. Before the first FDIS transaction, Haber promised to pay Mahoney and Hawkes an
amount that was “fair and commensurate” with their reles as foreign partners.
{(Meahoney Dep. at 13-14; Hawkes Dep. at 63-64).

1168, Mahoney and Hawkes were ultimately paid an aggregate fee of $2 million for
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playing the role of a foreign partner. (Mahoney Dep. at 3, 4, 15-16; Hawkes Dep.
at 55, 65-66).
1168, Mahoney and Hawkes understood that the fees paid them were
determined after the fact, [and] were a function of the aggrepate
success of the FDIS program| | and in significant part a function of the
gross amount of the fees paid by the US participants.
{Mahoney Dep. at 16; Hawkes Dep. at 66).
1170. Each of the profit analysis spreadsheets for the 2001 transactions listed &
$2,000,000 joint expense that was described as “SM-MH.” (Exs. 1641, 1642,

1644, 1657, 1660, 1845, 2771,2772).

5. Mahoney Could Not Realize 2 Profit on the FIDIS Transactions,
Absent Fees

1171, The Outline of Proposed Transaction for the Fidelity International transaction
dated September 20, 2001, stated that Samuel Mahoney, “an Individual Investor,”
will contribute $651,000. (Ex.1028). The outline also indicated that the
agpregate amount of the contributions allocated to common interests was
$700,000, and that for his $651,000 Mzahoney would receive a2 93% commeon
interest in Fidelity International. (Id.}.

1172, The commen interests in Fidelity Internaticnal had a value of $700,006 upon
contributions on October 22, 2001, (Ex. 1188). Mzahoney’s common interest was
valued at $651,000. (/d)). By the next day, the common interests, inciuding
Mahoney’s, had a value of zero. The common interests were “wiped cut” by the
large Refco fees before the foreign participant was bought out. (Kolbe, 36:61).

Refeo’s fees on the foreign currency options were $800,000, more than the value
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1173.

1174.

1175.

1176.

of the common interests. (Jd at 36:40). Nonetheless, the operating agreement
stated that the buyout could not be for less than the greater of half of the selling
partner’s initial capital confribution or fair market value (here, $325,500). (Jd at
36:40; Ex. 1177).

Mahoney and Hawkes were aware that the partial buyout of their commmon
interests was a planned step in each FDIS transaction. (Mahoney Dep. at 13;
Hawkes Dep. at 63). They understood from the outset that they could be required
to effectuate a buy-sell agreement after the contribution of capital to the FDIS
partnerships, including Fidelity International. (Mehoney Dep. at 13; Hawkes Dep.
at 63).

The Qutline of Proposed Transaction for the Fidelity International transaction
stated that “[z]fter approximately 30 days, [Samuel Mahoney]| will sell

[85%] ... of his common interest” to Richard Egan for “[fair mearket value] with a
minimum of $323,500.” (Ex. 1028). This $325,500 expense was listed as an “out
of pocket” cost. (Jd).

The $325,500 out-of-pocket cost for the buyout of Mahoney was the same amount
whether Richard Egan purchased 85% of the common interest (as shown on the
Outline of Proposed Transaction dated September 20, 2001} or 88% of the
common interest (as shown in the revised Outline of Transaction dated Cctober
25,2001). (Exs. 1028, 1202).

The buyout of the foreign participant’s common interest was a planned step in
each of the 47 2001 FDIS transactions. In each case, it was also planned that
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1178.

1176,

1180.

within 30 days the interests of Mahoney and Hawkes would be bought out for
50% of the amount that they purportediy had contributed. (Kolbe, 36:54; Ex.
2852).

Even though the 50% buy-out was a purported minimum amount, Mahoney and
Hawkes could not expect a higher figure, because Refee’s fee immediately erased
the value of their common interests and reduced them to zero. (Kolbe, 36:61). In
35 of the 47 cases, the buyout was for exactly half of the initial contribution
credited to the foreign party, while in 12 cases the buyout was for more than half
of the credited contribution. {Kolbe, 36:54-55; Ex. 2852).

In light of the magnitude of Refco’s fee, it would have been economically
irrational for Mahoney and Hawkes to have engaged in these transactions
knowing they likely would immediately incur = loss. {Kolbe, 37:71).

The implied losses of Mahoney and Hawkes on the 47 2001 FDIS transactions,
calculated by subtracting the buyout amounts from the foreign parties’ initial
contributions, was $1,302,978. (Kolbe, 37:77-78). That is the same amount
shown on the Alpha and DGI spreadsheets as the “SM-MH Cost Basis.” (Exs.
1641, 1642, 1660, 1845, 2771). It is also the same amount of the “Co-Investor
Adifusted] Cost basis” that was not recovered by the foreign party upon the sale of
his common interest for all 47 2001 FDIS transactions. (Kolbe, 37:77-78; Ex.
1497).

Any payment to Mahoney and Hawkes by DG, Alpha, and Helios of the “SM-

MH?” expense would only cause Mahoney and Hawkes to break even. (Kolbe,
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1181. As noted, however, Mahoney and Hawkes were paid a fiat fee of $2 million for
their participation.

PP. Fidelity Higch Tech Was 2 Sham Partnership for Federal Income Tax Purposes

1182, As described above, there was no non-tax business purpose for the creation of
Fidelity High Tech. It was created sclely for the purpose of avoiding taxes, and
did not engage in activities that either served a reasonable hedging purpose or
provided a reasonable possibility of profit.

1183, The members of Fidelity High Tech did not join together in good faith for the
purpose of conducting a business activity through that entity.

QQ. Fidelity International was a Sham Partnership for Federz! Income Tax Purposes

1184, As described above, there was no non-tax business purpose for the creation of
Fidelity International. It was created solely for the purpose of avoiding taxes, and
did not engage in activities that either served a reasonable hedging purpose or
provided a reascnable possibility of profit.

1185, The members of Fidelity International did not join together in good faith for the
purpose of conducting a business activity through that entity.

1186. As described above, Samue!l Mahoney did not join Fidelity International for the
purpose of realizing & profit from its option trading activities, Mahoney invested
no capital in, bore no risk as to, and contributed no value to, Fidelity International.
Mahoney had ne reasonable expectation of profit from the activities of Fidelity
International. His expenses were paid by DGI/Helios and Alpha, and his
compensation was paid by those entities under an arrangement that had no

connection to the trading activities of Fidelity Intemnational.
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1187.

RE.

The Sten Trapsaction Doctrine Ap

Likewise, and as described above, Helios and Alpha did not join Fidelity
International for the purpose of realizing a profit from: ifs option trading activities.

nhes to Collapse Steps of the Fidelity High Fech

Trapsaction

1188.

1185,

1150,

1151,

The Steps of the Fidelity Hish Tech Transaction Should Be Collapsed under
the “Interdependence” Test

a, None of the Individual Steps Had ap Independent Business Purpose
The Fidelity High Tech transaction was the product of a carefully planned and
orchestrated series of steps that had been designed in advance by the promoters of
the tax shelter strategy. The steps were set out in memoranda or outlines prepared
by the promoters, and in notes or documents prepared by the Egans’ advisors to
help them understand and implement the transaction. Several of those documents
even used the word “steps” to describe the process. (£ g, Exs. 3240.1, 550, 698).
The steps of the Fidelity High Tech transaction conformed closely to the
sequential steps set forth in the DGI/Helios memorandum dated September S,
2000, titled “Implementation Steps for Purchasing Options - Capital Gain
Strategy.” (Ex. 550).

The only significant difference was that by November 2001, the promoters had
developed the “stock dribble” strategy to replace the final step of the transaction
as originally planned. The “stock dribble” strategy itseif involved a series of
planned, choreographed steps.

Although the final step of the transaction was changed to provide the Egans with
more flexibility on the sale of the stock held by Fidelity High Tech, ever as
restructured, the transaction still had as its ultimate obiective the elimination of
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1192,

1193.

1194,

1195,

1196.

1167.

any capital gain on the Egans’ sale of their stock.

The steps of the Fidelity High Tech transaction were undertaken solely for the
purpcse of stepping up the basis of the stock held by High Tech so as to eliminate
any built-in capital gain that would result on the sale of the stock.

The steps of the transaction were completely interdependent; each individual step
v;fould have been fruitless, and indeed pointless, without the completion of the
entire preplanned service of steps. None of the steps had any independent
business purpose.

. Certaiz Intermediate Stens Had No Business Purpose

As described above, there was no non-tax business purpose for the entire Fidelity
High Tech transaction. In addition, several of the intermediate steps had no non-
tax business purpose, regardless of the overall purpose.

(1) There Was No Business Purpose to the Formation and Use of
the Index A and Option A to Acquire the Options

There was no non-tax business purpose to the formation ard use of Index A and
Option A to acquire the options.

As described above, rather than having Fidelity High Tech enter into the offsefting
options trades, Option A and Index A cach entered into the trades, Maureen Egan
then contributed Option A, and Richard Egan contributed Index A, to Fidelity
High Tech. The opticn positions entered into by Option A and Index A were then
closed out,

The use of Opticn A and Index A to enter inte options that would be ultimately
transferred to High Tech had no business puipose other than tax reduction.

(Kolbe, 38:62-64). Because High Tech already owned the EMC stock, there was
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1158,

1198,

1200.

1201.

1202.

no non-tax reason to incur the costs in forming single-member LLCs and seven
days later to cause those same entities to be transferred to 2 multi-member LLC.
The formation and use of Option A and Index A simply consumed resources and
added unnecessary costs to the transaction. (/d.).

(2) There Was No Business Purpose to the Transfer of Maureen
Egan’s Interest to MEE Holdings

There was no non-tax business purpose for the transfer or Maureen Egan’s interest
in Fidelity High Tech to MEE Holdings.

As described above, Stephanie Denby caused MEE Holdings to be formed as 2
limnited liability partnership. Maureen Egan then contributed her interests in High
Tech to MEE Holdings, which caused a technical termination of High Tech.

The transfer of Maureen Egan’s interest in High Tech to MEE Holdings had no
non-tax business purpose. The sole purpose of Maureen Egan’s transfer of her
interests in High Tech to MEE Holdings was to allow High Tech to make a
Section 754 election in order to step up the basis of the stock i High Tech,
thereby allowing the Egans greater flexibility in disposing of the stock.

The Steps of the Fidelity Hich Tech Trapsaction Should Be Collapsed Under
the “Component” Test

From the outset, the individual steps of the Fidelity High Tech transaction were
planned and implemented to accomplish a single objective — to create an artificial
step-up in the Egans’ basis in their ownership interests in High Tech, and thereby
allow them to eliminate any capital gain on the sale of the stock held by High

Tech.

As aresult, the steps of the transaction—in particular, the steps where Index A

287



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 288 of 357

and Option A acquired NASDAQ 100 options, and where those entities were then
contributed to Fidelity High Tech—should be coliapsed, and the eptiens should be
treated as having been acquired in the first instance by High Tech.

The Sten Transaction Doctrine Apniies to Colianse Steps of the Fidelity
International Transaction

1. The Steps of the Fidelity International Transaction Should Be Collansed
Under the “Interdependence™ Test

&, None of the Individual Stens Had an Independent Business Purnose

12G3. The Fidelity International Transaction was likewise the product of a carefully
planned and orchestrated series of steps that had been designed in advance by the
promoters of the tax shelter strategy. The steps were set out in memoranda or
outlines prepared by the promoters and in notes or documents prepared by the
Egans® advisors to help them understand and implement the transaction. (F.g.,
Exs. 1017, 1034, 1056, 1140, 1202).

1204, Helios sent Outlines of Proposed Transaction to Shea and Denby, which were
circulated to Michael Egan and other Carruth emplovees. Those outlines were
dated September 20, 2001, September 27, 2001, October 16, 2001 and Cctober
25,2001, (Exs. 1034, 1056, 1140, 1202}. The outlines detail most of the steps of
the transaction.

1205, As described above, the two steps not discussed in the cutlines were orally
communicated to Carruth in various meetings and telephone conversations and
were memerialized in notes taken by various Carruth employees. (E.g., Exs.
1024, 1028, 1030, 1045).

1206. The description of the planned steps in these outlines corresponds with the final

implementation of the Fidelity Interational transaction.
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1207.

1208.

1209,

1210,

1211,

1212,

1213.

~

The steps of the actual Fidelity International transaction conformed to the steps on
the Cutlines of Proposed Trangaction,

On at least two occasions in the course of planning and implementing the Fidelity
International transaction, the parties specifically took into account the possibility
that the IRS might invoke the step transaction doctrine.

In a meeting on October 18, 2001, with Haber and Speiss, Pat Shea noted:

... for business purposes, the longer we keep it altve, the better we are for
presentation - we don’t want to [ook as a step transactions in the IRS eyss.” {Ex.
11513

At around the same time, Reiss wrote that the interest-rate trades would not be
terminated “now” because of concerns about the “step transaction” doctrine. (Ex.
1384).

The sequential steps of the Fidelity International transaction were undertaken
solely for the purpose of generating a tax loss that could be used to offset the
ordinary income realized by Richard Egan on the exercise of his EMC stock
ortions.

The steps of the transaction were completely interdependent; each individual step
would have been fruitless, and indeed pointless, without the completion of the
entire preplanned service of steps. None of the steps had any independent
business purpose.

b. Certain [ntermediate Steps Hzd No Business Purpose

As described above, there was no non-tax business puipose for the entire Fidelity
International transaction. In addition, several of the intermediate steps had no

non-tax business purpose, regardless of the overall purpose.
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1214,

1215.

1216.

1217,

[E.
[\
i
o0

(1) There Was No Non-Tax Business Purpose for the Use of
Fidelity Weorld to Purchase the Options

There was no non-tax business purpose for the use of Fidelity World te purchase
the options or the transfer of that entity within days to Fidelity International.
Fidelity World did not engage in any business activity other than the interest rate
option trades. Furthermore, under the terms of the pronosed trades, it had no
economic exposure with respect to those trades beyend the initial net premium
paid.

No economic change would have resulted if Fidelity International and not Fidelity
World had acquired the interest rate options directly. {Rausser, 41:46).

The formation and use of Fidelity World simply consumed resources and added
unnecessary costs to the Fidelity International transaction,

2 None of the OQther Intermediate Steps of the Transaction,
Standing Alone, Had Anv Independent Business Purpose

None of the following intermediate steps of the Fidelity International transaction

had a non-tax business purpose:

(a) the October 22, 2001 contributior by Richard Egan of his interest in
Fidelity World (which included the options purchased by Fidelity World
on October 9, 2001) and cash to Fidelity International in exchange for a
5% common interest in Fidelity International;

(b) the October 29, 2001 termination of the gain legs of the USI/EUR options
and the use of those proceeds, plus an additional cut-of-pocket cost of
$14,491, to purchase new replacement opticns for the options that were

just terminated;
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[215.

122:.

(c) the October 30, 2001 termination of gain legs of the JPY/USD options an
the use of those proceeds, plus an additional out-of-pocket cost of
£14,050, to purchase replacement options for the options that were just
terminated; and

(d) the November 5, 2001 purchase by Richard Egan of 88% of Fiaelity
International’s common interest from Mahoney for $325,500.

The termination of the gain legs of the foreign currency options when Richard

Egan owned 5% of the commeon interests and Mahoney owned 93% of the

common interests, and the termination of the loss legs of the foreign currency

options when Richard Egan owned 93% of the common interests and Mahoney
owned 5% of the common interests, were simply preplanned steps of the
transaction from the beginning. The cbjective of the transaction from the ocutset
was to structure the termination of the currency trades such that a majority of the
gain would be allocated to the foreign partner and 2 majority of the loss would be

allocated to Richard Egan.

The Steps of the Fidelity International Transaction Should Be Collapsed
Under the “Compopent” Test

From the outset, the individual steps of the Fidelity International transaction were

planned and implemented to accomplish 2 single objective—+to create an artificizal

tax loss that could be used to offset ordinary income from the exercise of non-
qualified cptions by the Egens.

As aresult, the steps of the transaction—in particular, the steps where Fidelity
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World acquired interest rate options, and where Fidelity World was then
contributed to Fidelity International—should be collapsed, and the interest rate
options should be treated as having been acquired in the first instance by Fidelity
International.

Alternatively, Richard Egan should be treated as realizing both the gair and the

loss on the Fidelity International transaction.

The Fidelity Hich Tech and Fidelitv International Paired Options Were,
Economically, Single Positions

1223.

1224,

1225.

1226.

The various paired offsetting options in the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity
International transactions were, economically, single positions.

The Partics Treated the Option Pairs as o Single Position

The option pairs were designed jointly and not as separate options. (Kolbe, 38:75-
76).

Refeo treated the options as a single position. Thomas Yorke of Refeo advised
others at Refco that the risk from the option transactions was “identifiable at
inception,” because the transactions were effectively a “paired trade.” (Berhmann
Dep. at 30-31). From Refco’s perspective, “it was important that [they] be able to
link™ the long and short ontions “together and look at the net risk of the two trades
as opposed to [as] separate transactions.” (/4. at 32).

Alpha also treated the options as a single position, as shown in its “Pricing
Matrix” for High Tech. (Ex. 747). In preparing the matrix, Buesinger was only

“nricing a net position, the net economics.” (Buesinger Dep. July 31, 2008 at
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1227.

1228.

1228,

237).

On January 31, 2001, Carolyn Fiddy tock notes of a conversation with Ron
Buesinger of Alpha in which she wrote that the Egans “have bought 2 different
options for [t]ax purposes—but economically [it] is really | item.” {Ex. 728).

Separating the Paired Options Would Have Reguired Huge Amounts of
Collateral or Margin

As to the Fidelity High Tech paired options, Option A and Index A had to pay a
net premium of $3.4 miilion. If the High Tech options in each pair had been
written with separate counterparties, Option A and Index A would have had to pay
$160 million to the counterparty from whom they bought the long options, and
would have had to supply $485 million in margin (in addition to withheld
premiums) to the counterparty to whom they sold the short options. (Kolbe,
38:65-71). The resulting total capital required, $645 million, would have been
nearly 190 times larger than the 83 .4 million actually required. (Kolbe, 38:69-72;
Dem. Exs. 3028, 3030).

Moreover, because of the options’ provisions for determining the “reference
price” (that is, the 15-minute window and the use of multiple indexes to measure
the value of the NASDAQ 160 within that window), there would be a risk at the
end that the counterparty from whom the long options had been purchased would
cenclude they had not paid off, while the counterparty to whom the short options
hzad been sold would conclude they had paid off. (Kolbe, 38:72). Ifthat had

happened, the Egans would have lost their entire $645 miliion. (Jd).
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1230. As to the Fidelity International transaction, the numbers were even larger. As Dr.

1232,

Kolbe, a govemment expert, explained,
Had {the options] been written separately with separate
counterparties . . . the out-of-pocket costs would have gone up
dramatically. It would have cost [$]994 million to buy all the long
options. And the short options would have their payments
withheld and there would have had to be another $3.1 billion
supplied in margin to be held against the risks that the short option
would finish in the money. Sco the total cash outlay would be more
than $4 billion.
({d at 37:92).
The risk to a counterparty from such a trade—that is, where the options were
separate and not one position—would be enormous. (Jd 2t 37:93). Accordingly,
it would have been economically “irrational in the extreme for someone not to
require a margin . . . enough to pay it off.” ({d.).
Refeo did not, however, require such margin or other collateral and therefore
treated the option pairs as if they were economially singie positions.
In summary, as Dr. Kolbe explained, “the end result of this is that separated, the
options are much more costly. They are more risky. And economically ... they
are two products separated and 2 single product combined.” (Jd. at 38:72).

“[Tlogether there’s a single investment; apart, they're two investments.” (Jd at

18:73).

The Egans Did Not Receive Independent Leeal Advice from Proskauer and Sidiey

Austin

I.

1234,

Proskauer znd Sidlev Austin Did Not Provide [pdenendent Legal Adviee

Both Proskauer and Sidley Austin had an inherent conflict of interest in
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J—
]
]

235.

1236.

1239,

1240,

1241,

purporting to render legal advice to the Egans.

As described above, R.J. Ruble of Sidley Austin and Ira Akseirad of Proskauer
Rose actively assisted DGI/Helios in the design, development, marketing, and
implementation of the tax shelter strategy and its variants. (Exs. 797, 798, 3809,
814).

Among other things, Ruble and Akselrad provided input on the strategies,
commented on the marketing materials, and provided or commented on model
legal opinions to use in the promoting tax shelter strategy.

Ruble and Akselrad knew, or reasonably should have known, that DGI/Helios
used the names and reputations of their law firms and their model opinions in
marketing the strategy to prospective clients.

As part of the strategy, Ruble and Akselrad agreed in advance to provide
favorable legal opinions in order to induce taxpayer-investors to utilize the
strategy.

Ruble ang Akselrad knew, or reasonably should have known, that the issuance of
favorable legal opinions from prominent law firms was a central feature of the
successtul promotion of the strategy.

As also described above, in the FDIS marketing materials, DGI/Helios had stated
that one of its “most valuable” contributions to its clients was in “ability to firmly
manage and control the process of getting . . . attorneys . . . to expediticusly reach
the desired conclusions.” (Ex. B80S {emphasis added)).

Ruble and Akselrad knew, or reasonably should have known, that DGI/Helios was
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1245,

i246.

1247,

1248,

1249,

marketing the strategy in that fashion.

Proskauer provided at [east 28 favorable opinions, and Sidley Austin provided at
least 30 favorable opinions, in support of the tax shelter strategy. (Ex. 1519).
Proskauer and Sidley Austin provided legal advice both to DGI/Helios and to the
individual taxpayer/investors who invested in the tax shelter strategy.

Proskauer specifically acknowledged to the Egans, in a draft representation letter
dated April 11, 2002, that it represented DGLHelios and therefore had 2 conflict
of interest if it also represented the Egans. (Ex. 1772).

In addition, Ira Akselrad of Proskauver personally participated in a DGI tax shelter
tremsaction in 2000, (Exs. 669, 2759). The favorable opinion ietter concerning
his personal transaction was issued by Brown & Wood on December 31, 2000.
(Ex. 669},

As described above, DGI/Helios played a substantial role in the drafting and
delivery of the legal opinions by Proskauer and Sidley Austin.

As deseribed above, in nearly all instances, the legal fees of Proskauer and Sidley
Austin were paid by DGI/Helios rather than the taxpayer/investors. Ruble and
Akselrad were aware of that arrangement.

PDGLHeltos paid the fees of Proskauer and Sidley Austin ir order to assert firmer
maragement and greater control over the opinions rendered by the law firms. (Ex.
809).

Proskauer and Sidley Austin derived substantial profit from the promotion and

sale of the tax shelter strategy, and therefore had a financial interest in upholding
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12506,

1252.

1253.

1254,

1255.

1256,

the strategy.

The Ecans Knew That the Levsl Advice from Proskzuer and Sidley Austin
Was Mot Independent

The Egans knew, or reasonably should have known, that the legal advice they
received from Proskauer and Sidley Austin was not independent, and that the
firms had an inherent conflict of interest.

The Egens were highly sophisticated taxpavers with considerable business
experience,

The Egans and their advisors knew that DGU/Helios marketed its ability to
“manage and control the process” of getting attorneys “to expeditiously reach the
desired conclusions.” (Id).

The Egans and their advisors knew, or reasonably should kave known, that
DGl/Helios had arranged in advance for four law firms, including Proskauer and
Sidley Austin, to render favorable opinions to taxpayer/investors.

The Egans and their advisors knew, or reasonably should have known, that
Proskauer and Sidley Austin had developed model opinions, and that they had
rendered favorable opinions for other taxpayer/investors who had used the same
or similar strategies.

The Egans and their advisors knew, or reascnably should have known, that
Proskauer and Sidley Austin intended to render favorable opinions from the onset
of the transactions.

The Egans and their advisors knew that their communications with Proskauer and
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Sidley Austin were frequently shared with DGI/Helios and KPMG.

1257. The Egans and their advisors knew that none of their communications with
Proskauer and Sidley Austin were privileged, or marked “privileged.”

1258. The Egans and their advisors provided their comments on the draft opinicns to
James Haber or Tim Speiss, and not exciusively {or even always directly) to the
law firms.

1259. The Egans received a draft engagement letter from Proskauer that specifically
noted a conflict of interest based on the fact that Proskauer alse represented
BG/Helios.

12630. The Egans and their advisers knew, or reasonably should have known, that
Proskauer had e conflict of interest, because it also represented DGI one of the
principal promoters of the tax shelter strategy.

1261. The Egans and their advisors knew that the fees of Proskauer and Sidley Austin
{(other than the fee for the non-disclosure letter by Proskauer) were paid by
DGl/Helics.

1262, The Egans would not have paid Helios for the transactions until Helios provided

satisfactory and favorable legal opinion letters.

The Proskauer Opinion for Fidelity High Tech Was Based on Unreasonable Factual
Assumptions

1263. The Proskauer opinior letter dated April 5, 2002, on the Fidelity High Tech
transaction was based on unreasonable factual assumptions, including

assumptions that the Egans knew, or reasonably should have known, were untrue.
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1264.

1265.

1266.

1267.

1268,

1268.

1270.

The Egans did not reasonably rely on the April 5, 2002, Proskauer opinion letter
for tax reporting purposes.

The Opinion Contained False and Mislezding Faetual Assumptions

The Proskeuer opinion letter was purportedly based on factual representations that
were false and misleading.

a. Investor Representation No. 1 Was False

Paragraph 1 of the Investor Representations in the Proskauer opinion letter stated:
Investors entered into the options trades to hedge against market volatility
in a large concentrated holding of technology stock se as to produce an
overall economic profit. Investors believed that the options were
correlated to this concentrated position so that the options would produce
an effective hedge.

(Ex. 122 at 8-9). This representation was alsc made verbatim in the Certificate of

Facts executed by Richard and Maureen Egan. (Ex. 1766).

That representation was false from both a subjective and objective standpoint.

From a subjective standpoint, the Egans did not enter inte the option trades “to

hedge against market volatility.” Moreover, the Egans did not believe that the

options “would produce an effective hedge.”

From an objective standpoint, as described above, the transaction was not

reasonably designed to create an effective hedge.

b. Investor Representation No. 2 Was False

Paragraph 2 of the Investor Representations in the Proskauer opinion lefter stated:

Based on advice of the Investment Advisor as to the probability of the
referenced property reaching certain price levels at which the Gption
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1272.

1273.

1274.

would be profitable and on Investors own independent evaluation,
Investors believed they had a reasonable opportunity to eam a profit from
the option trades in excess of all fees and transaction costs without regard
to tax benefits.
(Ex. 122 2t § (emphasis added)). That representation was also made verbatim in
the Certificate of Facts executed by Richard and Maureen Egan. (Ex. 1766).
That paragraph is template language, and is also contained in the Sidley Austin
opinion letter. (Ex. 121 ati2).
That representation was false from both a subjective and obiective standpoint.
From a subiective standpoint, the Egans did not believe that they had “a
reasonable opportunity to carn & profit from the option trades in excess of all fees
and transaction costs without regard to tax benefits.” Moreover, the Egans did not
rely on the advice of the “Investment Advisor [that is, Alpha] as to the probability
of the referenced property reaching certain price levels at which the Option would
be profitable,” nor did they conduct an “independent evaluation.”
From an objective standpoint, as described above, there was no reasonable
possibility of profit on the option trades in excess of all fees and transaction costs
and without regard to tax benefits.

. Investor Representation No. 3 Was False

Peragraph 3 of the Invester Representations in the Proskauer opinion letter stated:

Each investor contributed his or her membership interest in
fIndex] or [Option] to [Fidelity High Tech] for substantial
non-tax business reasons, inciuding the short term risk
management of concentrated stock positions.
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1276.

1277.

1278.

1275.

1280.

(Ex. 122 at 9). That representation was also made almost verbatim in the
Certificate of Facts executed by Maureen Egan and Richard Egan. (Ex. 1766).
That paragraph is template language, and similar language is also contained in the
Sidiey Austin opinion letter. (Ex. 121 at 12).

That representation was false from both a subjective and objective standpoint.
From a subjective standpoint, the Egans did not enter into the transaction for
“substantial nor-tax business reasons,” or indeed any non-tax business reasons;
they did so solely to avoid taxes.

From an objective standpoint, there were no substantial non-tax business reasons
to enter into the transaction. There was no reasonable possibility of profit on the
transaction, and the transactions did not provide “short term risk management of
concentrated stock positions.”

d. Investor Representation Mo, 18 Was False or Misleading

Paragraph 10 of the Investor Representations in the Proskauer opinion letter
stated:

There existed no understanding, agreement, obligation, or
arrangement pursuant to which any of the parties described
herein committed to undertake all or any of the transactions
described herein upen the happening of any other
transaction, except to the extent that owner of the Options
and Bank were contractually obligated to perform under the
Opticns in accordance with their stated terms.

(Ex. 122 at ). That representation was also made verbatim in the
P

Certificate of Facts executed by Maureen Egan and Richard Egan. (Ex.
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1281.

1282,

1283.

1284,

1285.

1286.

1766).

That paragraph is template language, and is also found essentially verbatim in the
Sidley Austin opinion letter. (Ex. 121 at 13},

The language is apparently intended to provide a basis for the inapplicability of
the step-transaction doctrine. In context, the representation was misleading or
faise.

If the language is construed to mean only that there was no legal obligation on the
part of the Egans to undertake any of the steps of the transacticn, it is literally true,
but misleading. The opinion itself recognizes that the “binding commitment test”
is only one of three possible tests in determining the applicability of the step-
transaction doctrine, {Ex. 122 at 36).

if this language is construed to mean that the Egans had no “uncerstanding”™ or
“arrangement” that the parties would undertake the steps of the transaction in a
particular order with a particular end result in mind, the language is false. The
Fidelity High Teck transaction was a planned and choreographed transaction from
start to finish, and implemented for the sole purpose of avoiding taxes.

€. The Date of the Original Contribution of EMC Stock Was False

The High Tech Certificate of Facts falsely stated that Richard and Maureen Egan
had centributed shares of EMC stock to High Tech on February 7, 2001. Those
shares were actually contributed on September 8, 2000.

If the Proskauer opinion letter had correctly stated that Fidelity High Tech had

302



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 303 of 357

1287,

1288.

1289.

1290.

been holding EMC stock since September 8, 2000, it would have been more
obvious that there was no business purpese for the Egans to acquire options in
Index A and Option A, and then within days thereafter transfer those cptions to
High Tech.

The Opinion Omitted Essential Facts

The Proskauer opinion letter did not include any facts concerning the true purpose
of the Fidelity High Tech transaction, which was to create an artificial step-up in
basis in order to reduce the Egans’ tax liability. The orrission of those facts was
unreasonable.

The Proskauer opinion letter did not include any facts concerning the design and
implementation of the Fidelity High Tech transaction, including the fact that it
invelved an orchestrated series of steps that were intended to occur in & particular
order, and were executed in that order. The omission of those facts was
unreasonable.

The Proskauer opinion letter did not include any facts concerning the amounts of
fees paid to Helios and KPMG on the transaction. The omission of those facts
was unreasonzble.

The opinion omitted any reference to the fees paid to Helios and KPMG, even
though it appeared to recognize that a critical question was whether the Egans had
a reasonable opportunify to earn a profit “in excess of all fees and transaction

costs.”
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1291,

1292.

1293,

1294,

1295.

1296,

The omissicn of the fees was deliberate, and was dore at the instruction of Crrin
Tilevitz to Michael Swiader at Proskauer. (Ex. 1621).

Proskauer Knew That the Opinion Contained False and Misleading Factual
Assumptions and Omitted Critical Facts

As described above, Ira Akselrad of Proskauer personally provided substantial
assistance in the design, marketing, and development of the FDIS strategy.

As also described above, Akselrad was personally substantially familiar with the
Fidelity High Tech transaction independent of the Certificate of Facts executed by
the Egans, including the Egans’ purposes in entering into the transaction.

Among other things, Akselrad knew, or reascnably should have known, (1) that
the strategy 1nvolved an elaborate series of planned steps to execute; (2) that the
Egans paid large fees to Helios, KPMG, Refeo, and others in connection with the
transaction; (3) that the transaction was designed and intended to generate an
artificial step-up in basis, and had no other purpose; (4) that the transaction served
no genuine hedging or risk-reduction function; and (5) that there was no economic
substance to the transaction.

Ira Akselrad therefore knew, or reasonably should have known, that the opinion
letter contained false and misleading factual assumptions and omitted critical
facts.

Richard Egan Did Not Read the Certificate of Facts or the Proskauer
Opinion Lefter

Richard Egan did not read the Certificate of Facts relating to the High Tech
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1297.

transaction before signing it. (R. Egan, 3:100-01).
Richard FEgan did not read the legal opinton letter from Proskauer relating to the
High Tech transaction at the time it was issued, and, in fact, did not read it until

the IRS initiated an audit years after the opinion was issued. {(/d. at 3:76-77).

The Sidley Austin Opinion for Fidelitv Interngtionz! Was Based on Unreasonsable

Hactuzl Assumptions

1298,

1269,

1301,

The Sidley Austin opinion letter dated March 8, 2002, on the Fidelity International
transaction was based on unreascnable factual assumptions, including
assumptions that the Egans knew, or reasonably should have known, were untrue.
The Egans did not reasonably rely on the March &, 2002 Sidley Austin opinion
letter for tax reporting purposes.

The Opinion Contained False and Misleadine Factual Assumptions

The Sidley Austin opinion letter wes purportedly based on factual representations
that were false and misleading.

2. Investor Representation No. 1 Was False
Paragraph 1 of the Investor Representations in the Sidiey Austin opinion letter
stated:

Investor entered into the Transaction for substantial non-fax
business reasons, predominately related to offsetting various
investrment risks associated with 2 large single concentrated
holding in a U.S. technology company, and to hedge against
currency fhuctuations in international markets in which this
technology company has significant currency exposure due to
sales. ... Also investor has entered into certain Options to hedge
against interest rate fluctuations . . . .
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1304,

1305.

1306.

(Ex. 121 at 12) (emphasis added). That representation was also made verbatim in
paragraph 1 of the representation letter signed by Richard Egan relating to the
Fidelity International transaction. (Ex. 78).

That representation wes false from both a subjective and objective standpoint.
From a subjective standpeint, the Egans did not enter into the transactions for
“substantial non-tax business reasons,” or indeed any non-tax business reasons;
they did so solely to avoid income taxes.

From an objective standpoint, there were no substantial non-tax business reasons
to enter into the transaction. The transactions did not offset “various investment
risks,” nor was it reasonably designed to create an effective hedge against
“currency fluctuations™ or “interest rate fluctuations.”

k. Investor Representation No. 2 Was False

Paragraph 2 of the Investor Representations in the Sidley Austin opinion letter
stated:
Based on advice of the Investment Advisor as to the probability of
the referenced property reaching certain price levels at whach the
Options would be profitable and on Investor’s own independent
evaluation, /mvestor believed that he had a reasonable opportunity
to earn a reasonable profit from the Transactions in excess of all
fees and transaction costs and without regard to tax benefits.
(Ex. 121 (emphasis added)}. That representation was also made verbatim in
paragraph 2 of the representation letter signed by Richard Egan relating to the

Fidelity International transactien. (Ex. 78).

That paragraph is template language, and is also contained in the Proskauer
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opinion letter, (Ex. 122 at 9).

1367, That representation was false from both a subjective and an objective standpoint.

1308. From a subjective standpoint, the Egans did not believe that they had a
“reasonable opportunity to earn a reasonable profit from the transaction in excess
of all fees and transaction costs and without regard to tax benefits.” Moreover,
the Egans did not rely on the advice of the “Investment Advisor” as to “the
probability of the referenced property reaching certain price levels at which the
Options would be profitable,” nor did they conduect an “independent evaluation.”

1309. From an obiective standpoint, as described above, there was no reasonabie
possibility of profit from the transaction in excess of all fees and transaction cots
and without regard to tax benefis.

c. Investor Representation No. 3 Was False

131Q. Paragraph 3 of the Investor Representations in the Sidley Austin opinion iefter
stated:

Investor contributed the memberskip interest in World to [Fidelity!
International for substaniial non-tax business reasons.

{Ex. 121 at 12). That representation was alsc made verbatim in paragraph 3 of the
representation letter signed by Richard Egan relating to the Fidelity International

transaction. (Ex. 78).

—t
Lad
et
jam—

That representation was false from both a subjective and an objective standpoint.
[312. From a subjective standpoint, the Egans did not enter into the transaction for

“substantial non-tax busiress reasons,” or indeed any non-tax business reasons;
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they did so solely to aveid taxes.
From an objective standpoint, there were no substantial non-tax business reasons
to contribute the membership interest in World to Fidelity International.

d, Invester Representatior No. 9 Was False or Misleading

Paragraph 9 of the Investor Representations in the Sidley Austin opinion letter
stated:

There existed no understanding, agreement, cbligation, or

arrangement pursuant to which any of the partics described herein

committed to underteke all or any of the transactions described

herein upon the happening of any other transaction, except to the

extent that Investor/World {(and International as transferee of

Investor) and Counterparty were contractually obligated to perform

under the Options in accordance with their stated terms.
(Ex. 121 at 13). That representation was also made verbatim in paragraph 9 of the
representation letter signed by Richard Egan relating to the Fidelity International
transaction. {(Ex. 78).
That paragraph is template language, and is also found verbatim in the Proskauer
opinion letter, (Ex. 122 at ).
The language is apparently intended to provide a basis for the inapplicability of
the step-transaction doctrine. In context, the representation was misleading or
Talse.
If the language 1s construed tc mean only that there was no legal ¢bligation on the

part of the Egans to undertake any of the steps of the transaction, it is literally true,

but misleading. The opinion itself recognizes that the “binding commitment test”
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is only one of three possible tests in determining the applicability of the step-
transaction doctrine. (Ex. 121}

1318, 1If this language is construed to mean that the Egans had no “understanding” or
“arrangernent” that the parties would undertake the steps of the transaction in 2
particular order with a particular end result in mind, the language is false. The
Fidelity International transaction was a planned and choreographed transaction
from start to finish, and implemented for the sole purpose of avoiding taxes.

2. The Oninion Omitted Essential Facts

1319. The Sidley Austin opinion letter did not include any facts concerning the true
purpose of the Fidelity International transaction, which was to create an artificial
loss in order to reduce the Egans® tax iability. The omission of those facts was
unreasonable.

1320, The Sidley Austin opinion letter did not include any facts concemning the design
and implementation of the Fidelity International transaction, including the fact
that it involved an orchestrated series of steps that were intended to occur in a
particular order, and were executed in that order. The omission of those facts was
unreasonable.

1321, The Sidley Austin opinicn letter did not include any facts conceming the role of
the foreign partner in the transaction, including the fact the fact that he invested nc
funds, bore no risk, added no value, and was separately compensated by the

promoters for his role in the transaction.
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1322

1323,

1324.

1325.

1326.

1327.

The Sidley Austin opinion letter did not include any facts concerning the amounts
of fees to Helios and KPMG on the transaction. The omission of those facts was
unreasonable.

The opinion omitted the fees paid to Helios and KPMG, even though it appeared
to recognize that a critical question was whether the Egans had 2 reasonable
oppertunity to earn a profit “in excess of all fees and transaction costs.”

Sidiev Austin Krnew That the Oninion Contained False and Misleading
Factual Assumptions and Omitted Critical Facis

As described above, R.J. Ruble of Sidley Austin personally provided substantial
assistance in the design, marketing, and development of the FIDIS strategy.

As also described above, Ruble was perscnally substantially familiar with the
Fidelity International transaction independent of the representation letter executed
by Richard Egan, including the Egans® purposes in entering into the fransaction.
Among other things, Ruble knew, or reasonably should have known, (1} that the
strategy invelved an elaborate series of planned steps to execute; (2) that the
Egans paid large fees to Helios, KPMG, Refco, and others in connection with the
transaction; (3) that Samuel Mahoney was not a true partner; (4} that the
transaction was designed and intended to generate losses for tax purposes, and had
no other purpose; (5) that the transaction served no genuine hedging or risk-
reduction function; and {6} that there was no economic substance to the
transaction.

R.J. Ruble therefore knew, or reasonably should have known, that the opinion
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1329,

letter contained false and misleading factual assumptions and omitted critical
racts.

Richard Egan Did Not Read the Investor Representation Letter

Paragraph 10 of the representation letter relating to the Fidelity International
transaction states as follows: “Investor has reviewed the description of the
Transactions attached hereto and such description is accurate and materially
complete.” {Ex. 78).

Richard Egan did not read the representation letter relating to the Fidelity

International transaction before signing it. (R. Egan, 3:100).

Both the Proskauver Opinion Letter and the Sidley Austin Opinion Letter Were

Based on Unreasonable Legal Assumntions

13390.

The purported purpose of the Proskauer and Sidley Austin opinion letters was to

advise the Egans of the potential tax consequences of the Fidelity transactions.

The April 5, 2002, Proskauer opinion letter, among other things, contained the

following conclusions:

(1) “that for federal income tax purposes it is more likely than not” that the
claimed step-up in basis weuld be “used to compute gain on the sale of the
[stock in Fidelity High Tech!™;

(2> that “[t/he sham transaction doctrine would not apply and, based on the
representations of [the Egans and Alphal], the Transactions would have the
requisite business purpose and economic substance™;

(3) that “[t]he step transaction dectrine would not apply to recharacterize the
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32.

(4

Transactions™;

that “there is a greater than 50 percent likelihood that the tax treatment of
the Transactions would be upheld if challenged by the IRS”; and

the IRS “should not be successfu! were it 1o assert a penalty against an

Investor under Section 6662(b)(2) or (3).”

(Ex. 122 at 10-12).

The March 8, 2002 Sidley Austin opinion letter, among other things, contained

the following conclusions:

()

)

(4)

that “for federal income tax purposes it is more likely than not” that the
claimed step-up in basis, and the claimed aliocations of gains and losses,
would be respected;

that “[tjhe sham transaction doctrine would not apply and, based on the
representations of Investor, the Transactions would have the reguisite
business purpose and economic substance”;

that “[a]lthough the matter cannot be entirely free from doubt because of
the factual nature of the inquiry, on balance, the requisite profit motive
exists to support the deduction of any loss from the Transactions under
Code Section 165(c)(2) and Code Section 183

that “[tThe step transaction doctrine would not apply to the Transactions™;
that “there is a greater than 50 percent likelihood that the tax treatment of

the Transactions would be upheld if challenged by the IRS”; and

L2
[
R



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 313 of 357

{6} that “the IRS should not be successful were it to assert a penalty against
Investor Code Section 6662(b){(2) or {3} for positions taken on Investor’s
federal income tax return with respect to the Transactions.”

(Ex. [21 at 16-18).

1333. A reasonabie opinion letter would have laid out the likely positions that would be
asserted by the IRS, and discussed the relevant authorities, whether favorable or
unfavorable, in order to evaluate the likelihood that the courts would uphold the
positions taken by the Egans.

1334, The opinion letters superficially purport to discuss the relevant authorities, but in
reality their analysis is incomplete, incorrect, and misieading 1n multiple respects.

1335, Furthermore, the opinion letters were not written as a measured or reascned
analysis of a likely legal cutcome, but rather as advocacy pieces intended to
defend a previously determined conclusion.

1336. For example, any reasconable and experienced tax attomey would have recognized
that the IRS would assert that the economic substance doctrine (or 2 variant)
would apply to the Fidelity High Tech and the Fidelity International transactions.
Both opinien letters recognize that fact, and both devote several pages to a
purported analysis of that issue.

1337. The Proskauer opinion letter conciuded that the Fidelity High Tech transaction
would be upheld even if it had no economic substance, as long as the texpayer

was subjectively motivated by a business purpose other than cbtaining tax
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benefits. (Ex. 122 at 2%). It then stated in conclusory lashion that the Egans
“contributed the Options and the Stock to [High Tech], and Maureen {Egan]
contributed her interest in [High Tech] to [MEE Holdings], for substantial non-tax
business reasons including investment management, risk control, and estate
planning purposes which reasons would likely satisfy any business purpose
requirement for engaging in the Transactions.” (/4. at 31).

1338. The Proskauer opinion letter thus effectively assumed that the transaction would
be upheld as long as the Egans represented that they subjectively believed the
transaction had a business purpose.

1339. No reasonable tax attorney would assume that a transaction of that nature would
be recognized and upheld by the courts simply because the taxpayer made a seli-
serving statement about his or her supposed business purpose.

1340. Because Richard Egan was a restdent of Massachusetts, it should have been
obvious that there was a substantial likelihood that the applicability of the
economic substance doctrine would be litigated in the First Circuit. The opinien
Ietter, however, contains no mention of eny relevant First Circuit case law on the
subiect. Among other things, the opinicn letter does not mention, much less
analyze, the First Circuit’s opinion in Dewees v. Comm 'y, 870 ¥.2d 21 (Ist Cir.
1989), a tax shelter case in whick the court noted (in a discussion of Section
165(c)) that where the “cbjective features of the situation are sufficiently clear,

self-serving statements from taxpayers couid make no legal difference.”
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1341, Furthermore, and in any event, Proskauer knew, or reasonaebly should have
known, that the Egans subjectively had no non-tax business reasons of purposes
for entering into the transaction.

1342. The Sidley Austin opinion letter indicated that different circuits tock different
approaches to the economic substance doctrine, but that the “correct” approach
was to uphold the transaction if it had either a business purpose (a subjective
inquiry) or econormic substance (an objective inguiry). (Ex. 121 at 62). The
opinion later, and inconsistently, stated that it is “well-established that a
transaction . . . will not be respected for tax purposes unless the
iransaction . . . [has] economic substance separate and distinct from the sconomic
benefit derived from the tax reduction.” {Jd. at 70).

1343, Like the Proskauer opiniorn letter, the Sidley Austin opinion letter addressed the
Egans’ purported “business purpese” in conclusory fashion:

Investor believed that he had 2 reasconable opportunity to ecarn a
reasonable profit, in excess of all fees and transaction costs, from
the Transaction, without regard to tax benefits, Also as stated
above, Investor confributed the Options to International for
substantial non-tax business reasons, including hedging of risk in a
highly concentrated stock, hedging currency risk as foreign markets
made up an increasingly large component of the business in their
concentrated holdings, and hedging currency risk with respect to a
line of credit, the professional management provided by [Alphal,
and the desire to create a larger pool of capital through the
mvolvement of other investors such as [Samuel Mahoney].

(1d. at 62).

1344. Like the Proskauer opinion letter, the Sidley Austin opinion letter did not mention

)
-
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the Dewees case, or otherwise address the issue of whether the courts were likely
to accept self-serving statements from taxpayers at face value.

1345, Like Proskauer, Sidlev Austin knew, or reasonably should have known, that the
Egans subjectively had no such business reasons or purposes for entering into the
transaction.

1346. The discussion in the Proskauer opinion letter concerning the “economic
substance” of the Fidelity High Tech transaction contained virtually no analysis of
the actual facts of the transaction. {Ex. 122 at 32-34).

1347, The discussion in the Sidley Austin opinion letter concerning the “economic
substance” of the Fidelity Intemational transaction contained some factual
analysis. (Ex. 121 at 70-77). That opinion [etter, however, ignored several
critical issues, such as whether the Fidelity international transaction actually
served a reasonable hedging function, or whether the Egans had a reasonable
possibility of profit in excess of fees and costs associated with the transaction.

1348. The discussion in both opinion letters as to whether the fransactions described in
IRS Notice 2000-44 are the “same as” or “substantially similar to” the High Tech
transaction was incomplete and misleading. (Exs. 122 at 35; 121 at 93-98).
Indeed, the opinion letters disposed of the issue summarily, with virtually no
analysis.

1349. The Proskauer opinion letter stated that in the Notice 2000-44 transaction, the

4

contribution of the option spread “directly results in 2 tax less,” whereas in the
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1350.

1351.

1352.

1353.

High Tech transaction, “the increased cutside basis resulting from the contribution
of the option spread simply permits investors to avoid a taxable grin.” (Ex. [22 at
35). No explanation was given as to why the creation of an artificial basis step-up
through the contributiorn of an option spread is not “substantially similar” to the
creation of an artificial Joss through the contribution of an option spread.
Likewise, the opinion letter stated that in Notice 2000-44, the taxpayer’s net
economic outlay was described as “zero or nominal,” whereas in the High Tech
transaction it was “far greater than ‘nominal.”™ (Jd)). Again, no explanation was
given as tc why a net economic outlay that was a small fraction of the clzimed tax
benefit is not “substantially similar” to an outlay that was “ncminal.”

The Sidley Austin opinion letier contained the same language verbatim. (Ex. 121
at 97-98).

In summary, the neither opinion letter provided a meaningful or ccherent analysis
as to several critical issues, including the applicability of the economic substance
doctrine.

The lack of a meaningful or coherent analysis as te those issues was deliberate.
The authors of the opinion letters knew that it was not likely that the Fidelity High
Tech or Fidelity International transaction would survive a legal challenge in which
all the underlying facts were made known.

The purpose of the opinion letters was not to provide legal guidance, but to

provide a potential defense against the imposition of penalties, and thus to induce
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1354,

the taxpayer/invester t¢ enter into the transaction.
The Egans were highly sophisticated and experienced taxpayers and knew, or
reasonably should have known, that the legal analysis in the opinion letters was

not reasonable.

The Egans Did Not Reasonably Relv on Anv Other Professional Advisors for Tax

Advice

1. The Egans Bid Not Reasorably Relv on the Tax Advice of KPMG

1355. The Egans did not reascnably rely on KPMG for advice concerning the tax
reperting of the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions.

1356. The Egans knew that KPMG was a promoter of the tax shelter strategies, and thus
had an inherent and obvicus conflict of interest with regard to rendering any tax
advice.

1357, The Egans did not seek or obtain an opinion letter from KPMG as to either the
Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions

1358. The Egans deliberately avoided obtaining such an opinion, out of concerns that

1358.

the IRS might obtain & copy and use it as a “guide” to “get information” about the
transactions. (Ex. 2536).

In any event, the Egans deliberately disregarded the advice of KPMG. When
KPMG required the Egans to make z tax shelter disclosure with their 2001
individual tax return pursuant to Temp. Treas. Reg. § 1.6011-4T, the Egans fired

KPMG rather than make the disclosure. {Exs. 2785, 56, 98, 224).
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2. The Egans Did Not Reasonably Relv on the Tax Advice of RSM MeGladrey

1360. The Egans did not reasonably rely on RSM McGladrey for any tax advice
concemning the tax reporting of the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International
transactions.

1361. The Egans knew, or reasonably should have known, that RSM McGladrey had an
inherent conflict of interest with regard to rendering any tax advice. The Egans
knew that RSM McGladrey bad been referred to them by James Haber, a principal
promoter of the tax shelter strategy. Haber told Pat Shea that Ron Wainwright of
REM MecGladrey had experience marketing the tex shelter strategy. (Ex. 1419).

1362. Wainwright reviewed and signed the Egans’ individual tax returns for 2801 within
a matter of days, notwithstanding the immense size of the retums and the
complexity of the underlying Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International
transactions.

1363. The Egans did not seek or obtain an opinion letter from RSM MecGladrey as to
either the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions.

The Egans Did Not Reasonably Rely on the Tax Advice of Stenhanie Denb

1364, 'The Egans did not reasonably rely on Stephanie Denby for advice concerning the
tax reporting of the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions.

1365, The Egans did not seek or obtain an opinion letter from Stephanie Denby as to
either the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions.

1366. The Egans knew, or reasonably should have known, that Stephanie Denby
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1367.

understood that the transactions were so risky, and so unlikely to survive IRS
scrutiny, that they should be concealed from the IRE to the extent possible.
Stephanie Denby knew, or reasonably should have known, that the legal advice
that the Egans received from Proskauer and Sidiey Austin as to the Fidelity High
Tech and Fidelity International transactions was not independent and was based
on unreasonable factual and legal assumptions.

IV, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A, Jurisdiction and Nature of Proceeding

1.

L2

The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 26 U.8.C. § 6226(b), (2),
and (f), and 28 U.S.C. § 1346(e).

This case is governed by the partnership provisions of the Tax Equity and Fiscal
Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA™), now codified in relevant part at 26 U.S.C.
§§ 6221-6234, Since the enactment of TEFRA, the Code provides for a “unified
proceeding in which all items of partnership income, loss, deduction, or credit that
affect cach partner’s tax liability would be uniformly adjusted at the partnership
level.” Chef’s Choice Produce, Lid. v. Comm’r, 95 T.C. 388, 393 (1990); Harrell
v. Comm’r, 51 T.C. 242, 243 (1988); see 26 U.S.C. § 6221.

This Court has jurisdiction to determine all “partnership items™ of Fidelity High
Tech and Fidelity international that were raised in the FPAAs, 26 U.S.C.

§§ 6221, 6226(f). A “partrership item,” ir substance, 1s an item “required to be

talken into account” by the partnership for tax purposes. /4 § 6231(2)(3). Among
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other things, this Court has jurisdiction {o determine whether the partrership was
a sham or lacked economic substance and should be disregarded for tax purposes.
Petaluma FX Partners, LLC v. Comm 'r, 591 F.3d 645, 652-54 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

4, Determinations made as to partnership items in a partnership-level proceeding are
conclusive and binding on all partners. 26 U.S.C. § 6230(c)i{4); Stebie Creck
Invs.,, LLC v. United States, 2008 U.S. Claims LEXIS 75, at *13 (Fec. Cl. 2008).

5. “Affected item” means “any item to the extent such item is affected by &
partnership item.” 26 U.S.C. § 6231(a)(5). Nonpartnership items and affected
items are resolved in separate proceedings following the partnership-leve!l
proceeding, although they may be centrelled by any determinations made at the
partnership level. See Petaluma FX, 591 F.3d at 655; Monahan v. Comm 'r, 321
F.3d 1063, 1066 (11th Cir. 2003).

6. Thus, after the completion of a parinership-level proceeding, adjustments te
partners’ tax items are made based upon the adjustments to partnership items. Ifa
taxpayer believes that the IRS has made a computational error, or has erronecusly
imposed a penalty, the partner may then bring a separate proceeding. See 26
U.S.C. § 6230(c). In such 2 proceeding, however, there is no review of the
substantive partnership issues, as the partnership-level determinations are

conclusive. Id § 6230(c)(4).
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B, The Economic Substance Doctrine
1. The Doctrine Generally
7. As a general matter, transactions that are shams, or without economic substance,

will not be recognized under the Intermal Revenue Code. That principle originates
in the Supreme Court’s holding in Gregory v. Helvering, 293 U.S. 465 (1935).

8. In Gregory, the Supreme Court affirmed the denial of claimed deductions for
losses and expenses incurred in a corporate reorganization. The Court affirmed
the denial, even though the taxpayers followed the literal requirements of the
Internal Revenue Code for the reorganization, because the transaction was a “mere
device” for the “consummation of a preconceived plan” and not a reorganization
within the intent of the Code. /4. at 469. The Court noted:

The lega! right of a2 taxpayer to decrease the amount of what
otherwise would be his taxes, or altogether aveoid them, by means
which the law permits, cannot be doubted. . . . But the question for
determination is whether what was done, apart from the tax
motive, was the thing which the statute intended.

Id The Court went on to conclude:

In these circumstances, the facts speak for themselves and are
susceptible of but one interpretation. The whole

undertaking . . . was in fact an elaborate and devious form of
conveyance masquerading as a corporate recrganization, and
nothing else. The rule which excludes from consideration the
motive of tax avoidance is not pertinent to the situation, because
the transaction upon its face lies outside the plain intent of the
statute. To hold otherwise would be to exalt artifice above reality
and to deprive the statutory provision in guestion of all serious
DUIPOSE.

322



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 323 of 357

10.

I1.

Id at 470.
Similarly, in Knetsch v, United States, 364 U.S. 361, 366 (1960), the Supreme
Court affirmed the denial of claimed deductions arising out of a transaction in
which a taxpayer purported to borrow money and pay interest to acquire an
annuity, but was “lent” back a substantial portion of the “interest” payments. The
Court held that the transaction was a “fiction” with “nothing of substance,” and
that it was a “sham” and would not be recognized. {d. The Court rejected the
taxpayer’s argument that the statute sanctioned the claimed tax deductions and
refused to “attribute to Congress” a statutory meaning that did not “plainly”
anpear. Id. at 367. The Court said that it had “lookfed] in vain” for evidence of
congressional intent “to authorize the deduction of payments made under sham
transactions.” Id.
By contrast, in Frank Lyon Co. v. United States, 435 U.8. 561 (1978), the
Supreme Court noted:

[Wihere . . . there is a genuine multiple-party transaction with

economic substance which is compelled or encouraged by business

or regulatory realities, is imbued with tax-independent

considerations, and is not shaped solely by tax avoidance features

that have meaningless labels attached, the Government should

honer the allocation of rights and duties effected by the parties.
Id. at 583-84.
In short, the economic substance doctrine “prevent|s] taxpayers from subverting
the legislative purpose of the tax code by engaging in transactions that are

fictitious or lack economic reality simply to reap a tax benefit.” Colfec Indus.,
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12.

Inc. v. United States, 454 F.3d 1340, 1353-54 (Fed. Cir. 2008). Although the
basic principle is clear, the precise nature of the doctrine has never been
articulated by the Supreme Court, and has been framed in a bewildering variety of
formulations by the courts. Indeed, even the name of the doctrine—which is
sometimes called the sham transaction doctrine—has never been settied.
Nonetheless, many circuits have adopted some version of a two-part test that takes
into account both the taxpayer’s subjective intent (that is, whether the taxpayer
subiectively had a non-tax business purpose for transaction) and the objective
features of the transaction (that is, whether the transaction from an objective
standpoint had a reasonable possibility of profit or ctherwise reasonably served a
non-tax business function). See, e.g., ACM P’ship v. Comm v, 157 F.3d 231, 247
(3¢ Cizr. 1998) (the subjective and objective factors are “related factors both of
which inform the analysis of whether the transaction had sufficient substance,
apart from its tax consequences, to be respected for tax purposes™); James v.
Comm'r, 89S F.2d 905, 908-09 (10th Cir. 1990} (“The better appreach . . . holds
that the consideration of business purpose and economic substance are simply
inore precise factors to consider in the [determination of] whether the transaction
had any practical economic effects other than the creation of income tax losses.”
{quotation omitted)); Shriver v. Comm’r, 899 F.2d 724, 725-27 (8th Cir, 1990}
(the obiective and suljective prongs are simply factors to be considered when

determining whether a transaction has economic substance); Bail Bonds by
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13.

Marvin Nelson, Inc. v. Comm’r, 820 F.2d 1543, 1549 ($th Cir. 1987) (“In
determining whether a transaction is a sham, courts typically focus on two related
factors: 1) has the texpayer shown that 1t kad a business purpose for engaging in
the transaction other than tax avoidance? 2) has the taxpayer shown that the
transaction had economic substance beyond the creation of tax benefits?™); see
also Compag Computer Corp. v. Comm 'r, 277 F.3d 778, 781-82 (5th Cir, 2001)
(noting existence of competing tests but finding it unnecessary to decide issue).
The Federa! Circuit has held that a lack of ohiective economic substance is
sufficient by itself to disqualify a transaction without proof that the taxpayer’s scle
motive is tax avoidance. Coltec, 454 F.3d at 1355; accord Jade Trading, LLC v.
United States, 598 F.3d 1372, 1376-77 (Fed. Cir. 2010). The court has
emphasized, however, that a fransaction can also be disregarded as an economic
sham “if the taxpayer’s scole subjective motivation is tax aveidance even if the
transaction has economic substance.” Coltec, 454 F.3d at 1355; see also Dow
Chemical Co. v. United States, 435 F.3d 594, 599 (6th Cir. 2006) (“The proper
standard in determining if a transaction is a sham is whether the fransaction has
any practicable economic effects other than the creation of income tax losses.”
{quotation omitted)); Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Comm’r, 254 F.3d 1313, 131¢
{11th Cir, 2001) (the economic-substance doctrine provides that a transaction is
not entitled to tax respect if'it lacks economic effects or substance other than the

generation of tax benefits, or if the transaction serves no business purpose); £54
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Is.

16,

i7.

Investerings P ship v. Cowmm’r, 201 F.3d 505, 511-12 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (“[T]he
absence of a nontax business purpose is fatal.”}.

The Fourth Circuit, by contrast, employs a more rigid two-part test for
disregarding a fransaction under the cconomic substance doctrine. The first prong
locks te whether the transaction could generate a reasonable possibility of profit
(zn objective inquiry) and the second prong considers whether the transaction had
a tax-independent business purpose (a subjective inquiry). The transaction must
fail both prongs before it can be disregarded as lacking economiic substance.
Rice’s Toyota World, Inc. v. Comm’r, 752 F.2d 89, 91-52 (4th Cir. 1985); see also
Black & Decker Corp. v. United States, 436 F.3d 431, 441 (4th Cir. 2006).

The Doctrine in the First Cireuit

The First Circuit appears to have adopted a version of the ecenomic substance
doctrine that looks to both the subjective and obiective features of the transaction,
without a rigid two-part test. See generally Dewees v. Comm'r, 870G F2a 21 (st
Cir. 1989) (Brever, I.).

In Dewees, the court considered a tax shelter scheme involving straddle trades on
the London Metals Exchange. The Tax Court had disallowed loss deductions on
the grounds that the transactions “were shams, without economic substance,” and
because the transactions were not “entered into for profit” within the meaning of
Sections 108 and 165 of the Internal Revenue Code. 7d at 22.

The Dewees court noted that the existence of the econcmic substance doctrine
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20.

(which it called the “sham in substance” doctrine) had its origins in the Supreme
Court’s decision in Gregory v. Helvering and cited later decisions, including
Knetsch. Id at 29-30. It then upheld the Tax Court’s finding that the transaction
was a sham. In making that analysis, the court considered both the objective
features of the transaction and the subjective mtent of the participants.
Hirst, the court neted that Dewees’s case was one of 1,100 similar transactions,
and that the Tax Court was free to drew “reasonable conclusions” from the
“gencral pattern” of the transactions. The court concluded that the pattern “is one
designed to produce tax gains . .. not .. . real gains.” /J at 31.
Second, the court noted that the promoters of the scheme advertised itas a
program “designed (1) to convert ordinary income 1nto capitel gain, and (2) to
defer capital gain taxable in the present year to (possibly long-term) capital gain
taxed in future vears.” Id It also noted that “[n]othing in the brochures suggests
that the brokers would try to make real profits or that the investors risked
significant real losses.” Jd. It concluded:

Whether or not the Deweeses themselves received these

promotional materials, they provide evidence of the general nature

and purpose of the trading strategy, especially since the results of

the actual transactions so closely mirror the promoters’ claims.
id
Third, the Court noted that although the scheme included the opening of 2 margin
account, “none of the 1,100 investors ever received a “margin call’ from his

broker.” id
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This fact is evidence that the brokers éid not believe any investor
would lose more money than his initial margin deposit would
cover. These facts also suggest that the investment program
achieved only what the promotional materials scemed to promise,
namely a tax loss for a set fee, without exposing the investors to
real risks and gains.

Fourth, the court observed:
[Allthough the investors’ account balances at times showed net
profits or losses, in each case, affer completing the whole series of
fransactions, no investor received any net profit, and no investor
was ever asked to pay a loss, beyond the initial margin deposit.
And, no broker ever returned any of the initial margin deposit to an
mvestor.

Id

The court went on to note that none of the 1,160 investors’ trading records

showed “any evidence of the real risks, profits, and losses” that “genuine”

speculation would create.
And the odds against the trades of 1,100 genuine speculators,
secking real profits, just happening to fit the pattern of [the
taxpayer’s] trading, and just happening to lose exactly the amount
of their margin deposits, must be phenomenal. It might not be
reasonable to think a coin was unbalanced because it lands “heads™
once, but that conclusion becomes far more reasonable when
“heads” turns up 1,100 times in a row.

Id. at 32.

It then concluded that “[tihese features of the case are sufficient, in our view, to

permit the Tax Court to find these transactions to be ‘shams.’”” 7d

The Dewees court thus upheld the finding of & sham transaction based both on the
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objective features of the transactions viewed as a whole {that is, considering ali
1,100 transactions, not merely those of the specific taxpayers) and on the
subjective intent of the promoters (that is, even without regard to the subjective
intent of the taxpayers).

The Dewees court then took up the question of whether the transactions were
“entered into for profit” within the meaning of Sections 108 or 165(c), which was
a prerequisite for the deductibility of any losses. Id at 33-36. Among other
things, the court considered whether the taxpayers were entitled o a hearing on
their subjective motives. The court held that no such hearing was necessary, for
three reasons. Id at 34-36,

First, it held that “[wlhere the objective features of the situation are sufficiently
clear, [the Tax Coust] has the legal power to say that self-serving statements from
taxpayers could make no legal difference, and that it would find the transaction
was not primanly for profit, regardless of any such statements.” Id at 35
(quotation omitted). Second, “a taxpayer cannot deduct a ‘sham transaction’ loss,
irrespective of his subjective profit motive.” Id Third, the Tax Court could
employ a traditional ‘sham in substance’ analysis, without regard to the statutory
framework. Id at 36.

The Dewees court did not expressly formulate a test for application of the
economic substance (or sham transaction) doctrine. It is nonetheless clear that (1}

the experiences of other taxpayers in an alleged tax shelter scheme may be
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considered in determining whether the scheme is a sham; and (2) the subiective
intentions of the promoters of the scheme may also be considered for the same
purpose. If the overall features and pattern of the tax shelter scheme, and the
subjective intentions of its promeoters, may be considered in making that
determination, it also follows, as a matter of logic, that (1) the objective features
of the specific taxpayer’s transactions may be considered for the same purpose,
and (2) the subjective intentions of the specific taxpayer may also be considersd.
Plaintiffs rely on a trio of older First Circuit opinions for the proposition that a
transaction that is not fictitious should be upheld, without regerd to the subjective
intent of the taxpayer. See Stone v. Comm v, 360 F.2d 737, 740 (1st Cir. 1966);
Fabreeka Products Co. v. Comm’r, 254 F.24 876, 8738-79 (ist Cir. 1961); Granite
Trust Co. v. United States, 238 F.2d 670, 678 (1st Cir. 1956). The Court notes
that there is no evidence that the Egans or their advisors were even aware of those
cases during the design and implementation of the transactions, or that they relied
upen the cases in their tax treatment decisions.

In Granite Trust, a taxpayer divested itself of some of its shares of stock in a
corporation through sales and gifts. Despite a clear tax-avoidance motive, the
court held that the transactions were not factual economic shams, and that
congressional intent favored the taxpayer. 238 F.2d at 675-77. The court
observed that a transaction that is “not fictitious or so lacking in substance as tc be

anything different from what they purported to be” should be given effect under
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the tax code. 7d at 678.

In Fabreeka Products, the taxpayer bought bonds at a premium, using working
capital to pay for the premium portion of the purchase price. It borrowed the
remainder of the purchase price from a bank, pledging the bonds as collateral for
the loan, and prepaid all interest on the loan. At the time, the tax code allowed
taxpayers to amortize the bond premium, and Fabreeka claimed a deduction for
this amount. Fabreeka then distributed the bonds (sl subject to the loan) to its
stockholders as a dividend, The stockholders then sold the bonds receiving
essentially the same premium that Fabreeka had paid for them, and retained this
premium after paying off the loan. In effect, Fabrecka managed to take a
deduction for amounts that it distributed to its stockholders as dividends, The
court found that the taxpayer “incurred fully all of the risks of ownership,” and
that the “exposure” to risks was “the very matter for which the [applicable] statute
provided the deduction.” 294 F.2d at 878. The court also observed that “unless
Congress makes it abundantly clear, we do not think tax consequences should be
dependent upon the discovery of a purpose, or a state of mind, whether it be
ciaborate or simple.” Id.

In Stone, the taxpayers borrowed bank money, bought bonds from a broker, kept
them beyond the minimum 30 days required for a call, pledged the bonds to the
bank, gave the bonds subject to the bank loan to a family charity, and deducted

both the bond amortization premium and the charitable contributions. The charity
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then sold the bonds to the same broker, paid the bank, and kept essentially the
amourt of the premium. The broker immediately resold the same bonds to the
taxpayers, who executed 2 new loan and pledge, and so on, following the cycle
four times in each taxable year. Reversing the tax court’s disallowance of the
deductions beyond the first transaction, the Stone court cited a Fourtk Circuit case,
Halle v. United States, 346 F.2d 543, 551 {(4th Cir. 1965), also relating to
amortizable bond premiums, for the proposition that the Court should not
“attempt to formulate a rule apportioning to a taxpayer the benefit clearly
provided by Congress.” Stone, 360 I'.2d at 740.

The Dewees court did not expressly overrule the Granite Trust, Fabreeka
FProducts, or Stone cases, or indeed cven mention them. Those cases may be
distinguished based on their particular facts and the relevant congressional intent;
certainly, there is no evidence whatsoever that Congress intended the results the
plaintiff secks here.

It is also accurate to state, however, that the Dewees opinion effectively overruled
those cases, at least as to the broad contours of the economic substance doctrine.
The Dewees opinion is in accordance with the modern view, shared by most
circuits, that the courts may take into account both objective and subjective factors
in assessing whether & particular transaction had economic substance, or was a
sham. To the extent that the three older cases may be read to support the

proposition that a taxpayer’s subjective intent is Irrelevant, that proposition cannot
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survive the holding or the reasoning of Dewees. Put another way, the opinion in
Dewees cannot be read in a way that would permit this Court to uphold &
transaction simply because it was not fictitious, or not “different from what [it]
purported to be,” without regard to all the objective features of the transaction or
the taxpayer’s subjective intent.

Ir the absence of more specific guidance from the Supreme Court or the First
Circutt, this Court will consider both the objective features of the transactions an
the subiective intent of the participants, including the overzll features of the tax
shelter scheme and the intentions of the promoters. Under the circumstances
presented here, it is not necessary to decide what degree of weight should be
accorded to any particular factor, or whether the cbjective or subjective features,
standing alone, would be sufficient to support 2 finding of a lack of economic
substance or & sham. Under either an objective or subjective analysis, the
transactions were without economic substance and were shams. For the sake of
convenience, the Court will use the term “economic substance doctrine” rather
than “sham transaction doctrine.”

The Objective Ingquiry

The objective aspect of the economic substance inquiry normaily focuses on
whether the transaction had a reasonable possibility of 2 profit. See Colfec, 454
F.3d at 1356; Black & Decker Corp., 436 F.3d at 441-42; ACM P’ship, 157 F.3d

at 248-49; Dewees, 870 F.2d at 32, A transaction reasonably designed to serve
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other legitimate business interests, such as presentation of capital or mitigation of
risk, would also suffice for these purposes.

The question is whether there was a “reasonable” possibility of profit, not a mere
possibility. A transaction lacks objective economic substance if it does not
“appreciably affect” a taxpayer’s beneficial interest except to reduce his taxes.
Knetsch, 364 U.S. at 366; ACM P’ship, 157 F.3d at 248. A de minimis economic
eifect 1s insufficient. Knersch, 364 U.S. at 365-66 (finding transaction involving
leveraged annuities to be a “sham” because possible $1,000 cash value of
annuities at maturity was “relative pittance” compared to purported value of
annuities); ASA Investerings P’ship, 201 F.3d at 514; ACM P ship, 157 F.3d at
251-52.

In making its objective inquiry, the court should view the transaction from the

standpoint of 2 “prudent” or “rational” business person—for example, by
considering whether a prudent or raticnal investor would engage in the transaction
with a belief that prefits could be earned. See Gilman v. Comm v, 933 F.2d 143,
146-47 (2nd Cir. 1991) (requiring the plaintiff to demonsirate that 2 prudent
investor could have concluded that there was a realistic opportunity for a profit);
Stobie Creek Invs., LLC v. United Siates, 82 Fed. CL 636, 672-73 (2008}
{requiring determination from standpeint of prudent investor); Long Term Capital

Holdings v. United States, 330 F. Supp. 2d 122, 172 (D. Conn. 2604).

Thus, there must be an objective inquiry into economic reality that would ask
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“whether a reasonable possibility of profit from the transaction existed” and
“whether the transaction has realistic financial benefit.” Colfec, 454 F.3d at 13536
& n. 16 (internal quotations omitted). The transaction will be recognized for tax
purpeses only if, from the perspective of a rational economic investor, the
“transaction offers a reasonable opportunity for economic profit, that is, profit
exclusive of tax benefits.” Long Term Capital Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 172;
see also Jade Trading, 598 F.3d at 1377 {noting that a paired option transaction
“was virtually guaranteed to be unprofitable” and that “[njo reasonable investor
would engage in such a transaction to earn a profit”).

In determining whether there was a reasonable possibility of profit, all reasonably
anticipated expenses and costs associated with the transaction that producec the
tax benefits must be taken into account. See Stobiz Creek, 82 Fed. CL at 651
(“] A} reasonabie investor would take into account all of the costs and fees
associated with entering and completing the fransaction in evaluating whether an
investment has a reasonable possibility of making a profit.”™); Long-Term Capital
Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 175-84.

A negative expected rate of return is evidence of a lack of 2 “reasonable
possibility” of profit. See Dow Chemical Co., 435 F.3d at 661-02 (holding thata
life insurance plan lacked economic substance in part because it was cash-flow-
negative in all relevant years); Stobie Creek, 82 Fed. Cl. at 656 (a negative

expected return indicates “scant profit potential,” and the transactions therefore
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must be disregarded for tax purposes); Long-Term Capital Holdings, 330 F. Supp
at 181-86 (rejecting taxpayer’s transaction in part because it produced an expected
return far below what a reasonable economic actor would accept).

The Subjective [nouiry

The other aspect of the econemic substance inquiry examines the taxpayer’s
subjective business purpose—ithat is, “whether the taxpayers have shown that they
had & business purpose for engaging in the transaction other than tax eveoidance.”
Casebeer v. Comm v, 905 ¥.2d 1360, 1363-64 (9th Cir. 1950).

In determining the taxpayer’s subjective purpese, the Court may consider, among
other things, evidence of the experience and sophistication of the texpayer. See
id. at 1364, Where a taxpayer is sophisticated in economics and/or taxation,
entering into & transaction with no reasonable prospect of profit is strong evidence
of the taxpayer’s true tax-avoidance motivation. See Long Term Capital
Heldings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 186 (“{Tthe absence of reasonableness sheds light
on Long Term’s subjective motivation, particularly given the high level of

sophistication possessed by Long Term’s principals in matters economic.”),

C. The Treatment of Sham Partoerships

43,

An entity is a sham and will not be recognized for tax purposes “if it is fictitious
or if it has no business pwipose . . . other than the creation of tax deductions.”
Fergusonv. Comm r, 26 F.3d 98, 101 (2d Cir. 1954) (quotation omitted); accord

Boca Investerings P’Ship v. United States, 314 F.3d 625, 632 (D.C. Cir. 2003)
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(“In order to satisfy the legal test for this kind of partnership, [there must be] a
non-tax business purpose need for the partnership in order to accomplish the goals
of the partners.”); Merryman v. Comm v, 873 F.2d 879, 881 (5th Cir. 1989).

The “basic inguiry . . . {is] . . . whether, ail facts considered, the parties intended
to join together as partners to conduct business activity for a purpose other than
tax avoidance.” AS54 Investerings, 201 ¥.3d at 513; see Comm v v. Culbertson,
337 U.S. 733, 742 (1949) (the inquiry turns on whether “the parties in good faith
and acting with a business purpose intended to join iogether in the present conduct
of the enterprise™); Comm v v. Tower, 327 U.S. 280, 287 (1946} (“[TTh

guestion . . . [is] whether the partners really and truly intended to join together for
the purpose of carrying on business and shering in the profits or losses or both.”);
Andantech LL.C. v. Comm'r, 331 ¥.3d 972, 978-79 (D.C. Cir. 2003} (partnership
disregarded because foreign partners did not intend to join together o share in
profits and losses of the business but instead were well-compensated to facilitate
the tax avoidance feature of the transaction). The “zbsence of a nontax business
purpose is fatal.” AS4 Fvesterings, 201 F.3d at 512.

Merely engaging in business activity is not sufficient to validate a partnership. Jd
The pursuit of business activity in furtherance of tax avoidance “is no more a
business purpose than actually engaging in tax avoidance.” Id at 513 n.6; see
TIFD HIE, Inc. v. United States, 459 ¥.3d 220, 232 (24 Cir. 2006} (“The IRS’s

challenge to the taxpayer’s characterization is not foreclosed merely because the
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taxpayer can point to the existence cf some business purpose or objective in
addition to its tax-avoidance objective.”).

46, If a partnership is found to be 2 sham, the parinership should be disregarded, and
the partnership’s activitics are deemed to be engaged in by one or more of the
pariners,

. The Sten Transaction Doctrine

47.  The step transaction doctrine is “a judicial manifestation of the more general tax
faw idea! that effect should be given to the substance, rather than the form, of a
transaction, ‘by ignoring for tax purposes, steps of an integrated trensaction.””
Falconwood Corp. v. United States, 422 F.3d 1339, 1346 (Fed. Cir. 2005)
(quoting Dietzsch v. United States, 458 ¥.2d 1344, 1346 (Ct. CL. [974)); see also
Stobie Creek, 82 Fed. Cl. at 698-59; King Enters., Inc. v. United States, 418 F.2d
511, 516 n.6 (Ct. CL 156%).

48.  “The [step transaction] doctrine treats the steps in a series of formally separate but
related {ransactions invelving the transfer of property as a single transaction, if all
the steps are substantially linked. Rather than viewing each step as an isolated
incident, the steps are viewed together as compenents of an overall plan.” Long
Term Capital Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 191 {quoting Greene v. United States,
13 F.3d 5377, 583 (2d Cir. 1994)). Thus, under the doctrine, “interrelated vet
formally distinct steps in an integrated transaction may not be considered

independently of the overall transaction.” Faiconweod, 422 F.3d at 1349 (quoting
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Comm’r v. Clark, 489 U.S. 726, 738 (1989)).

The step transaction doctrine has three tests—(1) the “end result” test; (2) the
“interdependence” test; and (3) the “binding commitment™ test. The three tests
“may have different meanings in different contexts™ and apply differently to
different substantive provisions of the Code. Falconwood, 422 F.3d at 1349-30.
In evaluating whether steps should be combined, particular seritiny is given to
steps taken between related parties. United States v. Gen. Geephysical Co., 296
F.2d 86, 89 (5th Cir. 1961). Two of the tests are relevant here: the
“interdependence” test and the “end-result” test.

The “Interdependence” Test

The “interdependence™ test focuses on the relationship between the steps that 2
taxpayer has taken, examining whether they “were sc interdependent that the legal
relations created by one transaction would have been fraitless without 2
complction of the series.” Falconweood, 422 F.3d at 1349 (guotation omitted); see
also Associated Wholesale Grocers, Inc. v. Unifed States, 927 F.2d 1517, 1523
(10th Ciz. 1991). Application of the test is “especially proper where . .. it is
unlikely that any one step would have been undertaken except in contemplation of
the other integrating acts.” Kuper v. Comm'r, 533 I.2d 152, 156 (5th Cir. 1576).
Courts applying this test have examined whether each of the steps under scrutiny
had a “reasoned economic justification standing alone.” Security Indus. Ins. Co.
v. United States, 702 ¥.2d 1234, 1247 (5th Cir. 1983). Ary intermediate step that

iacks such a justification is a candidate for elimination under the step transaction
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52.

53.

The Partnershi

doctrine. See, e.g., True v. United States, 190 F.3d 1155, 1178-7% (10th Cir.
1999).

The “End Result” Test

The “end-result” test applies when separate transactions were “really component
parts of a single transaction intended from the cutset to be taken for the purpose of
reaching the ulttmate resuit.” Falcomwood, 422 ¥.3d at 1349 {quotation omitted).
When the test is met, “purportedly separate transactions will be amalgamated into
a single transaction.” King Enters., 418 F.2d at 516 {quotation omitted}.
Subjective intent “is especially relevant . . . because it allows [a court] to
determine whether the taxpayer directed 2 series of transactions to an intended

purpose.” True, [SOF.3d at 1175.

Anti-Abuse Rules — Treasurv Regulatiorn § 1.701-2

As a complement to the common-law doctrines addressed above, the Treasury
Department has issued Treasury Regulation § 1.701-2, which establishes an “anti-
abuse” rule for partnerships. In substance, the regulation authorizes the IRS to
disallow or recast partnership transactions that have tax consequences that are
inconsistent with the intent of subchapter K.

The regulation provides that a “partnership must be bona fide and each
partnership transaction . . . must be entered into for a substantial business
purpose.” Id § 1.701-2(2)(1). The regulation goes on to provide that the IRS may
recast a transaction for federal tax purposes “if & partnership is formed or availed

of in connection with a transaction a principal purpose of which is to reduce
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substantiaily the present value of the partners’ aggregate federal tax ligbilityin a
manner that is inconsistent with the intent of subchapter K. 14, § 1.701-2(b).
Among other things, the IRS may determine that

[t]he purported partnership sheuld be disregarded in whole or in

pert, and the partnership’s assets and activities should be

considered, in whole or in part, to be owned and conducted,

respectively, by one or more of its purported partners|.|

Jd. § 1.701-2(bX1).

54.  Whether such treatment is appropriate depends “on all of the facts and
circumstances, including a comparison of the purported business purpose for a
transaction and the claimed tax benefits resulting from the transaction.” 74 §
1.701-2(c). The factors to be considered in the analysis include whether—

(1) The present value of the partners’ aggregate federal tax liability
1s substantially less than had the partners owned the partnership’s
assets and conducted the partnership’s activities directly; fand!
(2) The present value of the partners’ aggregate federal tax liability
is substantially less than would be the case if purportedly separate
transactions that are designed to achieve & particular end result are
integrated and treated as steps in a single transaction.
Id
F. Recharacterization of Transactions Based on Substance Rather than Form
55.  Itis axiomatic that the “Incidence of taxation depends upon the substance of a

transaction” rather than its form. Comum v v. Court Holding Co., 324 1.5, 331,
334 (1945). Courts must therefore “focus on the substance rather than on the
form of a transaction where necessary to reflect the economic realities of the

situation.” Holiday Vill. Shopping Ctr. v. United States, 773 F.2d 276, 280 (Fed.
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Cir. 1985). Such a determination is based on an “assessment of the practical
realities.” Z7IFD II-E, 459 F.3d at 234.

Under this doctrine, the IRS and the courts may “recharacterize 2 {ransaction in
accordance with its commercial significance.” Grojean v. Comm 'r, 248 F.3d 572,
576 (7th Cir. 2001) (citing cases). Here, the court may recharacterize the
offsetting pairs as a single transaction, rather than considering the individual legs
of the transaction in isolation. See Jade Trading, 568 F.3d at 1378 (upholding
determination of lower court that paired option transactions “cannot be separated
because they were totally dependent on one another from an economic an

pragmatic standpoint” (quotation omitted)).

G. Section 163(c)

57.

58.

Section 165(c) is the Tax Code’s “basic loss provision.” Dewees, 870 F.28 at 33.
As relevant here, Section 165(c) limits a taxpayer’s deduction to the “losses
incurred in any transaction entered into for profit.” 26 U.S.C. § 165(c)}2). Asthe
First Circuit held, “transaction entered into for profit [has| a well-established
meaning.” Dewees, 870 F.2d at 33. It means that “the taxpayers, in entering inte
the transaction, must have been primarily motivated by the desire to make a
profit.” Id. (emphasts added); see also United States v. Generes, 405 U.S. 93, 105
(1972) (Section 165 requires dominant profit motive).

Under Section 185(c)(2), in order for individual taxpayvers to be entitled to loss
deductions arising out of their investment in a partnership, the underlying

partnership transactions themselves must have been entered into for a profit
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motive, and, at the partner level, the individual taxpayers must have had a profit
objective for investing in the partnerships, See flles v. Comm'r, 982 F.24 163,
165 (6th Cir, 1992); Marinovichv. Comm v, 77 T.C.M. (CCH) 2075, 1999 WL
339316, at *2 (1999); Farmer v. Comm 'r, 68 T.C.M. (CCH) 178, 1954 WL
386167, at *3 (1994); Wright v. Comm'r, €7 T.C. M. (CCH) 3125, 1594 WL
276507, at *7 (1954}.

Even if taxpayers invest in a partnership with the individua! objective of making a
profit, they are not entitled to deduct any amounts invested in the partnership as
losses under Section 165(c)(2) if the partnership transactions are not entered into
for profit. See Hles, 982 F.2d at 165; Hoffpauir v. Comm v, 71 T.C.M. (CCH)
1968, 1996 WL 43575, at *3 (1956); Schafer v. Comm 'r, 68 T.CM. {CCH) 1216,
1994 WL 652250, at *2 (1894); Farmer, 1994 WL 386167, at *3; Wright, 1594
WL 276907, at *7; Daoustv. Comm’r, 67 T.CM. (CCH) 2514, 1994 W1, 168287,
at *3 (1994). Thus, in this proceeding, the Court’s focus is limited to whether the
“partnerships” entered into the offsetiing options transactions for a profit motive.
Section 165(c) applies to limit the deductibility of losses to individuals. Thus, the
issue of whether the Egans, as partners, are required to limit the losses allocated to
them from the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International “partnerships™ is an
“affected item,” which can only be resolved at the partner level following a final
judgment in these proceedings. But the Court does have jurisdiction to determine
whether the transactions generating the losses were entered in by the pertnerships

primarily for profit. That issue is a partnership-leve! determination.
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Accuracv-Related Penaltics

61.

62.

63.

Tax penalties are gererally determined on an individual partner level. See Carroll
v. United States, 339 F.3d 61, 68 (2d Cir. 2003). However, this Court has
jurisdiction to determine “the applicability of any penalty . . . which relafes to an
adjustment to a partnership item.” 26 U.S.C. § 6226(f); see Trezs. Reg. §
301.6221-1(c). Furthermore, partnership-level determinations “include ali the
legal and factual determinations that underlie the determiration of any penalty,”
other than “partner-level defenses.” Treas. Reg. § 301.6221-1(c). Individual
partners may, however, raise partner level defenses in later proceedings. 26
U.S.C. § 6230(c)(4).
Four penalties potentially apply with respect to thess transactions under 26 U.S.C.
§ 6226. The four penalties are as follows:
(1} a 40% penalty for a gross valuation misstatement {§ 6662(b)(3) anc (&});
(2) a 20% penalty for a substantial valuation misstatement (§ 6662(5)(3));
{3) a 20% penalty for a substantial understatement of income tax
(§ 6662(5)(2)); and
{(4) 3 20% penalty for negligence or disregard of rules and regulations (§
6662(b)(1)).
These penalties are alternatively, and not camulatively, applied. There is no
stacking of penalties, so the maximum penalty is either 20% or 40% of the
underpayment of tax, even if an underpayment is attzibuteble to more than one

fype of misconduct. See Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-2(c).
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64.

56.

68.

Gross Valuation Misstatement Penalty

The first penalty is the “gross valuation misstatement” penalty. A gross-valuation
misstatement exists if the value or adjusted basis of property claimed on the return
1s 400% more than the amount determined to be the correct amount of such value
or adjusted basis. Seze 26 U.S.C. § 6662(a), (b)}(3), {e}2), (h1)-(2).

Where 2 partnership transaction lacks economic substance, the cutside basis of the
partners in that transaction s presumebly zero, See Long Term Capital Holdings,
330 F. Supp. 2d at 199 n.99 (“The Court’s economic substance

ruling . . . producles] a basis of zero for the contributed stock in the hands of Long
Term.”).

‘Where a partoner’s actual outside basis is zero, and the claimed basis is adjusted
accordingly, the 400% threshold would be infinitely exceeded. See Gilman, 933
F.2d at 150-51.

However, the outside basis of a partner is an “affected item,” not a “partnership
item,” and is determined in a partner-ievel proceeding following a final decision
in the partnership-level action. Jade Trading, 598 F.3d at 1378-80; Petaluma FX,
391 F.3d at 654-55.

Under 26 U.S.C. § 6662(e)(2}, no valuation misstatement penalty may be imposed
“unless the portion of the underpayment for the taxable year attributable to
substantial valuation misstatements under chapter 1 exceeds $5,000.” The
determination of whether the dollar [imitation has been exceeded is applied at the

taxpayer level, so that issue is not addressed in this proceeding. See Treas. Reg. §
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1.6662-5(h)(1).

2. Substantial Valoation Misstatement Penalty

69.  The second penalty is the “substantial valuation misstatercent” penalty. The
substantial valuation misstatement penalty applies if the value or adjusted basis of
property claimed on the return is 200% more than the amount determined to be
the correct amount of such value or adjusted basis. See 26 U.S.C. § 6662(e¥1)
(2002).2

70.  Agein, the amount of the outside basis of a partner is determined in a partner-level
proceeding. Jade Trading, 598 F.3d at 1378-80; Petaluma FX, 591 F.3d at 654-
55.

3. Substantial Understatement Penalty

71.  The third penalty is the “substantial understatement of income tax” penalty. See
26 U.S.C. § 6662(b)(2). An “understetement” of tax exists if the correct tax
cxceeds the reported tax. Id § 6662(G}(2)(A). An understatement is “substantial”
if it exceeds the greater of $5,000 or 10% cof the tax required t© be shown on the
return. Id § 6662(A)(1)}(A).

72. Under 26 U.S.C. § 6662(d)(2)}(B), a reduction in the amount of an understatement
of tax may be allowed (1) if there was “substantial authority for such treatment” or
(2) if “the relevant facts affecting the itern’s tax treatment are adequately disclosed
in the return or in a statement attached to the return” and “there is & reasonable

basis for the tax treatment of such item by the taxpaver.”

2 That percentage was reduced in 2006 to 150%. Pension Protection Act of 2066, Pub. L. No. 109-280,
title xii, § 1219(a}1)(A), 120 Stat. 780, 1083,
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73.

74.

76.

The calculations necessary to determinge the amount of an understatement are
conducted at the partner level. 7d § 6662(A)(1)-(2){(A); Treas. Reg. §
301.6221-1(3); see alse Long Term Capital Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 200
n.100. However, to the exient that the tax treatment at issue was claimed by the
partnership certain factual determinations that may affect whether 2 reduction in
any understatement is warranted for the reasons set forth in Section 6662[d)}(2}B)
can be conducted at the partnership level,

a. “Substantial Authority”™

The first prong of § 6662(d)(B) provides for a reduction where there was
“substantial authority” for the treatment claimed by the taxpayer, “Substantial
authority” exists “only if the weight of the authorities supporting the treatment is
substantial in relation to the weight of authorities supporting contrary treatment.”
Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-4(d}{(3)(I). The types of authorities to be considered include
the Internal Revenue Code, as well as other statutory provisions, treasury
regulations, revenue rulings and the like; case law; congressional intent; and other
IRS memoranda, notices, and publications. fd § 1.6662-4(d)(3){iii}.

The substantial authority standard 1s “an objective standard, involving an analysis
of the law and application of the law to relevant facts.” fd § 1.6662-4(d)(2).
There is not “substantial authority” for tax treatment of parimership items where
the transactions lack economic substance or must be recharacterized under the
step transaction doctrine. See Stobie Creek, 82 Fed. CL at 706 n.64 (holding that

where the “plaintiffs’ transactions lack economic substance, or must be
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disregarded pursuant to the step transaction doctrine, plaintiffs cannot contend
successfully that substantial authority supported the tax treatment claimed based
on the form of their transactions rather than their substance™); Long Term Capital
Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 204-05 (helding that, when underlying merits
determination is that trausaction lacks economic substance, taxpayer cannot cite
authority, much less substantial authority, to support claimed tax treatment); Santa
Monica Fictures, LLC v. Comm v, 89 T.C.M. (CCH} 1157,2005 WL 1111792, at
*100-C1 (2005) (finding no substantial autherity when transactions had no
economic substance beyend creation of tax benefits).

b, “Adeguatelv Disclosed” and “Reasonable Basis”

77. The second prong of § 6662(d)2)B) provides for & reduction where the taxpayer
“adequately disclosed” the relevant facts in a tax retum or attached statement and
there was 2 “reasonable basis” for the {ax treatment at issue.

78.  Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-3(b)(3) defines “reasconable basis™ as follows:

Reasonable basis is a relatively high standard of tax reporting, that
is, significantly higher than not frivolous or not patently improper.
The reasonable basis standard is not satisfied by a return pesition
that is merely arguable or that is merely a colorsble claim. If a
return position is reasonably based on ene or more of the
authorities set forth in § 1.6662-4(d)(3)(iii) {taking into account the
relevance and persuasiveness of the authorities, and subsequent
developments}), the return position will generally satisfy the
reasonable basis standard even though it may not satisfy the
substantial authority standard as defined in § 1.6662- 4(d}(2).

¢ Limitation on Relief for Tax Shelter Transactions
75.  Any relief under § 6662(d)(2)(B) is limited where the understatement is

“attributable to a tax shelter.” 26 U.S.C. § 6662(d)(2)(C).
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80. A tax shelter is defined as “a partnership or cther entity,” “any investment plan or

FaL L

arrangement,” or “any other plan or arrangement,” “if a significant purpose of
such partnership, entity, plan, or arrangement is the avoidance or evasion of
Federal income tax.” Id § 6662(d{2)(C).

81. Where the item is attributable to a tax shelter, the taxpayer is not entitied to relief
under the “adequate disclosure/reasonable basis™ prong of the statute,
Furthermore, the “substantial authority” prong can only be satisfied if “the
taxpayer reasonably believed that the tax treatment of such item by the taxpayer
was more likely than not the proper treatment.” Id § 6662()(2WCHD(ID) (2002).°

4. Negligence or Disregard of Rules Penalty

82.  The fourth penaity is the “negligence or disregard of rules or regulations” penalty.
Section 6662(a) and (b)(1) impose a 20% penalty to the portion cf an
underpayment that is attributable to “[niegligence or disregard of rules or
regulations.”

83. Again, the calculations necessary to determine the amount of any underpayment
are conducted at the partner level. Again, to the extent that the tax treatment at
issue was claimed by the partnership, certain factual determinations that may
affect the imposition of a negligence penalty may be conducted at the partnership
level.

B4 The statute defines “negligence” as “any failure to make a reasonable attempt {o

comply with the provisions of this title.” Jd § 6662(c). Negligence includes any

? Section 6662(d)(2)(C) wes amended in 2004. See American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-
357, title viii, § 812(c), 118 Stat. 1418, 1580.
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g6.

failure “to exercise ordinary and reasonable care in the preparation of a tax
return.” Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-3(b). The regulation further states that negligence
“is strongly indicated where . . . [a] taxpayer fails to make a reasonzable attempt to
ascertain the correctness of a deduction, credit or exclusion on 2 return which
would seem to a reasonable and prudent person to be ‘too good to be true’ under
the circurastances.” Id.; see Neonatology Associates, P.A. v. Comm’r, 259 F.3d
221,234 (3d Cir. 2002) (when “a taxpayer is presented with what would appear to
bz a fabulous opportunity to avoid tax obligations, ke should recognize that he
proceeds at his own peril™); see also Stobie Creek, 82 Fed. Cl. at 713-14; Jade
Trading, LLC v. United States, 80 Fed. CL 11, 56 (2007), reversed on other
grounds by 598 F.3d at 1374; Santa Monica Pictures, 2005 WL 1111792, at *99.
The statute defines “disregard” as including “any careless, reckless, or intentional
disregard.” 26 U.S.C. § 6662(c). Under the regulations,

The term disregard includes any careless, reckless or intenticnal

disregard of rules or regulations. The term ‘rules or regulations’

includes the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, temporary or

final Treasury reguletions issued under the Code, and revenue

rulings or notices (other than notices of proposed rulemaking)

issued by the Internal Revenue Service and published in the

Internal Revenue Bulletin, A disregard of rules or regulations is

‘careless’ if the taxpayer does not exercise reasonable diligence to

determine the correciness of a return position that is contrary to the

rule or regulation. A disregard is ‘recldess’ if the taxpayer makes

little or no effort to determine whether & rule or regulation exists,

under circumstances which demonstrate a substantial deviation

from the standard of conduct that a reasonable person would
observe.

Treas. Reg. § 1.6662-3(b)(2).
The negligence standard is an1 objective one, requiring a finding of “the lack of

due care or the fallure to do what a reasonable and prudent person would do under
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87.

88.

similar circumstances.” See Goldman v. Comm’r, 39 F.3d 402, 407 (2d Cir. 1954)
(quoting Allen v. Comm 'r, 925 F.2d 348, 353 (Gth Cir. 1991)).

Defense to Penalties

A taxpayer may avold penalties for any portion of an understatement if ke shows
that “there was a reasonable cause for such portion and that [he] acted in good
faith.]” 26 U.S.C. § 6664(c). Only the partnership itself may raise that defense
in a partnership-level proceeding; the alleged “reasonable cause” of the individual
partners must be asserted in partner-level proceedings. Treas. Reg. § 301.6221-
1{c).

When a taxpayer argues that reasonable cause and good faith is demonstrated by
reliance on professional advice, two threshold requirements must be satisfied:

(1) All facts and circumstances considered The advice must be
based upon all pertinent facts and circumstances and the law as it
relates 1o those facts and circumstances. For example, the advice
must take into account the taxpayer’s purposes (and the relative
weight of such purposes) for entering into a transaction and for
structuring a frensaction in & particuler manner. In addition, the
requirements of this paragraph (¢){1} are not satisfied if the
taxpayer fails to disclose a fact that it knows, or should know, to be
relevant to the proper tax treatment of an item.

(i1) No unreasonable assumptions. The advice must not be based
on unreasonable factual or legal assumptions (including
assumptions as to future events) and must not unreasonably rely on
the representations, statements, findings, or agreements of the
taxpayer or any other person. For example, the advice must nct be
based upen a representation or assumption which the taxpayer
knows, or has reason to know, is unlikely to be true, such as an
inaccurate representation or assumption as to the taxpayer’s
purposes for entering into a transaction or for structuring a
transaction in a partictlar manner.

Id. § 1.6664-4(c)(1)()-(i).
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9.

$0.

91.

The requisite showing was described by the United States Court of Federa! Claims
s follows:

The most important factor in determining whether the taxpayer

acted with reasonable cause and good faith is the extent to which

the taxpayer made efforts to assess huis proper tax liability. See

Treas. Reg. § 1.6664-4(b)(1). In order to appraise the taxpayer’s

efforts, the court “tekfes] into account ali pertinent facts and

circumstances.” Jd. ... As with the standards for the negligence

penalty, the concept of reliance on the advice of professionals is a

hallmark of the exception for reasonable cause and good faith.

However, “[rleliance on . . . the advice of a professional tax

advisor . . . does not necessarily demonstrate reasonable cause and

good faith.” Id. The reliance on professional advice must, under

all the circumstances, be reasonable. See id.
Stobie Creek, 82 Fed. Cl. at 717 (citation omitted).
“Reasonable reliance” on professional advice requires that the advice itself be
reascnable. For professional advice to be reasonable, it must, among cther things,
be based upon accurate information and representations supplied by the taxpayer;
reflect reasonable investigation into the facts; and not be based on unreasonable or
unsupported assumptions. See /lles, 82 F.2d at 164-66.
Professional advice may not be objectively reasonable where the taxpayers knew
or reasonably should have known that the professional had a conflict of interest.
See Am. Boat Co. v. United States, 583 F.3d 471, 481 (7th Cir. 2008);
Neonatology, 299 F.34 at 234 (“{TThe reliance itself must be objectively
reasonable in the sense that . . . the professional himself does not suffer from a
conflict of interest or lack of expertise that the taxpayer knew of or should have

known about.”); Chamberlain v. Comm’r, 66 F.38 729, 732 (5th Cir. 1995) (“The

reliance must be objectively reasonable; taxpayers may not rely on someone with

352



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 353 of 357

an inherent conflict of interest, or somecne with no knowledge concerning that
matter upon which the advice is given.” (footnotes omitted)); Pasternak, 990 F.2d
at 903 (“[Tlhe purported experts were either the promoters themselves or agents
of the promoters. Advice of such persons can hardly be described as that of
‘independent professionals.’™); Illes, 982 F.2d at 166 (reasonable reliance
precluded where accountant was “not a disinterested source” because he was a
tax-shelter promoter.).

An effort to conceal items on tax returns is evidence of a lack of good faith. Long
Term Capital Holdings, 330 F. Supp. 2d at 211,

V. SUMMARY FACTUAL CONCLUSIONS

Fidelity High Tech

=N

The Fideiity High Tech transaction had no business purpose other than tax
avoidance and lacked sconomic substance.

For federal income tax purposes, Fidelity High Tech should not be treated as a
partnership. It was not a partnership in fact; it was not created or maintained for
any business purpose other than tax avoidance, and it was & sham and lacked
cconomic substance.

The intermediate steps of the Fidelity High Tech fransaction should be
disregarded for federal income tax purposes, and the transaction should be treated
as a single integrated transaction.

Fidelity High Tech should be disregarded as an entity, and its assets and activities

skould be considered to be owned and conducted by its partners, pursuant (o
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L

8.

Treas. Reg. § 1.701-2{c).
The offsetting option pairs transferred to Fidelity High Tech should be treated, in
substance, as a single position for federal income tax purposes.

The Fidelity High Tech transaction was not entered into for profit.

Fidelitv International

Yok

Lh

The Fidelity Intemetional transaction had no business purpose other than tax
avoidance and lacked economic substance.

For federal income tax purposes, Fidelity Intemational should not be treated as 2
partnership. It was not a partnership in fact; it was not created or maintained for
any business purpose other than tax aveidance, and it was a sham and lacked
economic substance.

Samuel Mahoney was not a true partner of Fidelity International; he was g mere
nominee who was paid for his services, and he did not join the venture to share
profits or losses.

The intermediate steps of the Fidelity International transaction should be
disregarded for federal income tax purposes, and the transaction should be freated
as a single integrated transaction.

Fidelity International should be disregarded as an entity, and its assets and
activities should be considered to be owned and conducted by its partners,
pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.701-2(¢).

The offsetting option pairs transferred to Fidelity International should be treated,
in substance, as a single pesition for federal income tax purposes.

The Fidelity International transaction was not entered into for profit.
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Penalty Issues

I. There was not “substantial authority” for the tax treatment of the Fidelity High
Tech and Fidelity International transactions on the 200! and 2002 partnership tax
returns within the meaning of 26 U.S.C. § 6662(d)(2X}B)().

2. The relevant facts affecting the tax treatment of the Fidelity High Tech and
Fidelity International transactions were not adequately disclosed in any
partnership tax return or in any statement attached to such a return in 2601 or
2002 within the meaning of 26 U.8.C. § 6662({d)(2}B)ii).

3. There was no reasonable basis for the tax {reatment of the Fidelity High Tech and
Fidelity International transactions on the 2001 and 2002 partnership tax returns
within the meaning of 26 U.8.C. § 6662(){2)B)(ii}.

4, Both the Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International transactions constitute “tax
shelters” within the meaning of 26 U.S.C. § 6662(¢}2)(C).

3. Richard Egan, as managing member and tax matters partner of Fidelity High Tech
and Fidelity International, and Michael Egan, as his attorney-in-fact and as agent
of the entities, did not reasonably believe that the tax treatment of the Fidelity
High Tech and Fidelity international transactions on the 2061 and 2002
partnership tax returns was more likely thar not the proper treatment within the
meaning of 26 U.8.C. § 6662(a)(2YC)(1).

6. Richard Egan, as managing member and tax matters partner of Fidelity High Tech
and Fidelity International, and Michael Egan, as his attorney-in-fact and as agent
of the entities, did not make a reasonable attefnpt to comply with the provisions of

the Internal Revenue Code in claiming the losses and other tax benefits on the
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2001 and 2002 partnership tax returns within the meaning of 26 U.S.C. § 6662(c).
There was no reasonabie cause for the tax treatment of the Fidelity High Tech or
Fidelity International transactions on the 2001 and 2002 partnership tax returns,
and Richard Egan, as managing member and tax matters partner of Fidelity High
Tech and Fidelity International, and Michael Egan, as his attorney-in-fact and as
agent of the entities, did not act in good faith with respect to such tax treatment,
within the meaning of 26 U.S.C. § 6664(c).

Richard Egan, as managing member and tax matters partner of Fidelity tligh Tech
and Fidelity International, and Michael Egan, as his atterney-in-fact and as agent
of the entities, did not rely with reasonable cause or act in good faith on the
professional advice of attorneys and accountants with regard to the 2001 and 2002

partnership tax returns of Fidelity High Tech and Fidelity International.

Other Issues

The Court does not reach the following issues:

Led

Whether Treasury Regulation § 1.752-6, which addresses the treatment of short
opticn positions for partnership tax purposes, was a valid exercise of the rule-
meking authority of the Treasury Department;

Whether the Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity International transactions are
substantially simnilar to the transactions described in IRS Notice 2000-44;
Whether, if the transactions otherwise had economic substance, were not sulsject
to the step transaction doctrine, and involved valid partmerskips, the short options
contributed to the partnerships constituted liabilities within the meaning of 26

U.8.C. § 752; and
356



Case 4:06-cv-40244-FDS Document 36 Filed 05/17/10 Page 357 of 357

4.

Whether specific accuracy-reiated penalties should be assessed against any
member or partner of Fidelity High Tech or Fidelity Intemational.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasorns,

1
E.

L

So Ordered.

The adjustments made by the Internal Revenue Service to the partnership items of
Fidelity High Tech Advisor A Fund, LLC, for the tex year ending December 21,
2001, were not erroneous, and should not be readjusted.

The adjustments made by the Internal Revenue Service to the partnership items of
Fidelity High Tech Advisor A Fund, LLC, for the tax year ending December 31,
2002, were not erroncous, and should not be readjusted.

The adjustments made by the Internal Revenue Service to the partnership items of
Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC, for the tax year ending
December 31, 2001, were not erronecus, and should not be readjusted.

The adjustments made by the Internal Revenue Service to the partnership itemns of
Fidelity International Currency Advisor A Fund, LLC, for the tax year ending
December 31, 2002, were not erroncous, and should not be readjusted.

The request of plaintiffs that the United States return and refund all amounts
depesited with or paid to the Secretary of the Treasury with respect to these

consolidated actions is denicd.

i ; I, !
[y f}r 3 i{f’ T /

F. Dennis Saylor v
United States District Judge

Dated: May 17, 2010



